
Lead Member for Planning and Sustainable 
Development 
Dear Member,

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Lead Member for Planning and 
Sustainable Development to be held as follows for the transaction of the business 
indicated.

Miranda Carruthers-Watt 
Proper Officer

DATE: Thursday, 4 July 2019

TIME: 1.30 pm

VENUE: Salford Suite 3, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton

In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 
2014,’ the press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record 
this meeting. 

AGENDA

1  Apologies for absence. 

2  Declarations of interest. 

3  Decision Items (Part 1 - Open to the Public): 

3a Roe Green / Beesley Green Conservation Area Appraisal. (Pages 1 - 438)

4  Exclusion of the Public. 

5  Decision Items (Part 2 - Closed to the Public): No Items. 

Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 2602
Claire Edwards E-Mail: claire.edwards@salford.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Part 1 - Open to the Public

___________________________________________________________________

REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR PLACE 
___________________________________________________________________

TO LEAD MEMBER FOR PLANNING AND SUSTAINBLE DEVELOPMENT
ON 4 JULY 2019

___________________________________________________________________

TITLE: Roe Green/Beesley Green Conservation Area Appraisal 
___________________________________________________________________

RECOMMENDATION:

It is recommended that the Lead Member for Planning and Sustainable 
Development:

i) Approves the Roe Green/Beesley Green conservation area appraisal
ii) Approves the proposed amendments to the Roe Green/Beesley Green 

conservation area boundary. 

___________________________________________________________________

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:

Salford City Council first consulted on a draft conservation area appraisal for the Roe 
Green/Beesley Green conservation area in February – March 2016.  This identified 
the special characteristics of the conservation area and also proposed a number of 
changes to the conservation area boundary.  

The consultation generated a considerable response from local residents in 
particular, with the majority of representations received relating to the proposed 
boundary changes.    Representations were also received from local community 
groups, Peel Holdings Ltd and Indigo Planning.  All representations from this initial 
consultation were considered and as a result further amendments were proposed to 
the conservation area boundary.  A second consultation was held at the start of 
2018.  This again generated a good response albeit that many of the representations 
submitted were similar to those submitted for the original consultation and there was 
also a further representation submitted from Peel Holdings Limited.   

Having considered all further representations it is now proposed that the 
conservation area boundary should reflect the amendments proposed at the second 
consultation stage (2018). Minor changes have been made to the conservation area 
appraisal to improve its clarity since the 2018 version.  It is considered that this 
proposed boundary accurately reflects the area of special architectural and historic 
interest that should be afforded the additional protection associated with 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3a



2

conservation areas and should therefore be adopted along with the updated 
conservation area appraisal.    

___________________________________________________________________

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:

 Roe Green/ Beesley Green conservation area appraisal
 Roe Green/ Beesley Green Conservation Area Appraisal Consultation Statement 

and accompanying appendices

___________________________________________________________________

KEY DECISION: No.  The draft Roe Green/Beesley Green conservation area 
appraisal and boundary changes to the conservation area do not have a significant 
impact on communities in two or more wards in the city.
___________________________________________________________________

ON FORWARD LOOK:    Yes 
___________________________________________________________________

DETAILS:

Background context

i) A conservation area designation is about the architectural and historic 
character of an area which is considered to be special with the purpose of 
the designation being to protect this special interest.  A conservation area 
appraisal defines what is important about the character and appearance of 
the conservation area and also identifies its special characteristics 
including buildings, spaces and other features that make a positive 
contribution to the area.  Once adopted, the conservation area appraisal 
can inform decisions on planning applications within and around the 
conservation area but does not prevent any future development coming 
forward.  

ii) In relation to any future development it is the policies within the city’s local 
plan that would be given greater weight in the consideration of any 
planning proposal. More specifically, in the case of the Roe Green/Beesley 
Green conservation area, the majority of the conservation area falls within 
the Worsley Greenway as identified in the adopted Unitary Development 
Plan (policy EN2), and now known as the West Salford Greenway in the 
Revised Draft Local Plan (policy GI5).  The Greenway designation 
recognises the importance of this green area to the city and seeks to 
protect and maintain its openness and continuity, and therefore limit any 
new development within it.  Furthermore, the West Salford Greenway is 
also proposed in the Revised Draft Greater Manchester Spatial Strategy to 
be included within the city’s Green Belt.  The purpose of a Green Belt 
designation is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open 

Page 2



3

and would therefore afford this green space much greater protection from 
any future housing development. 

1. Introduction

1.1 The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (the Act) 
provides the legislative basis for the designation of conservation areas.  It 
defines conservation areas as “areas of special architectural or historic 
interest the character or appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or 
enhance” (section 69(1)).  The Act states that, in the exercise of planning 
functions with respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation area, 
“special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing 
the character or appearance of that area” (section 72(1)). Conservation area 
status also introduces limitations on the type of development that can be 
carried out without the need for planning permission and therefore provides 
an additional level of control.  

1.2 The Act requires that authorities review conservation area designations from 
time to time. The purpose of a conservation area appraisal is to define what is 
important about the character and appearance of a conservation area and to 
identify its special characteristics.  It provides a basis for making decisions 
about the future management of the conservation area, helping to determine 
what might be appropriate development within and around its boundary. An 
adopted conservation area appraisal can be a material consideration in 
planning decisions.

1.3 Guidance published by Historic England recommends that authorities 
undertake a conservation appraisal in order to develop an understanding and 
articulation of an area’s character which can be used to develop a robust 
policy framework for planning decisions.  

1.4 The Historic England guidance also recognises that historically, some 
conservation areas may not have been supported by a conservation area 
appraisal.  In these circumstances, the guidance highlights that undertaking 
an appraisal offers the opportunity to re-assess the designated area and to 
evaluate and record its special interest.

2 Roe Green/Beesley Green conservation area

2.1 The Roe Green/Beesley Green conservation area was designated by 
Lancashire County Council in November 1970.  It is the largest of Salford’s 16 
conservation areas, covering an area of some 40 hectares (almost 100 
acres).  It has three listed buildings (all Grade II), and seven locally listed 
buildings located within its boundary.  The majority of the other buildings 
within the conservation area are also considered to make a positive 
contribution to the character of the area albeit that they are not listed or 
included on the local list.

2.2 At the time of its designation in 1970, the identified rationale for its designation 
was:

Page 3



4

“Roe Green was selected for conservation because its arrangement of open 
space and housing gives it the character of a village green, which together 
with the adjoining Beesley Green and undeveloped, and wooded land, 
comprises a well landscaped green area in marked contrast to the 
surrounding heavily developed areas of South East Lancashire.” (Report of 
the City Technical Services Officer to the Planning and Development 
Committee, “Report on Roe Green”, December 1977.)

2.3 There is no record on file of a formal conservation appraisal having been 
undertaken.

3 Initial consultation in 2016

3.1 At the start of 2016, with the progression of the Local Plan and in the 
knowledge of likely future pressure to develop land within and around the 
conservation area, it was considered appropriate to undertake a conservation 
area appraisal for the area and as part of this to reassess the designated area 
and to evaluate and record its special interest.

3.2 The draft conservation area appraisal reflected the format of other 
conservation area appraisals that the city council had previously undertaken 
setting out the historic development of the area, and included a detailed 
character analysis of the area.  The character analysis identified the listed 
buildings, locally listed buildings and also those that whilst not listed or locally 
listed were still considered to make a positive contribution to the character of 
the area.  It also identified the predominant building materials used in the 
conservation area, and any positive and negative features of the area.  As a 
result of the character analysis work that was undertaken, the draft appraisal 
also proposed some minor amendments to the conservation area boundary, 
which can be summarised as follows (and are shown on Plan A in Appendix 
A):

Additional land proposed to be included within the conservation area 
boundary:

 69 &71 Lumber Lane 
 2 – 9 Hardy Grove.  

Land proposed to be removed from the existing conservation area boundary:

 6A Lyon Grove
 6, 8, 10 & 12 Wardley Hall Lane.  
 2, 3, 4, 5 & 7 Mulgrave Road.  
 66 Greenleach Lane.  
 1 – 74 Manthorpe Avenue and surrounding triangular area of 

woodland to the north east. 
 Land to the east of Crossfield Drive 

Page 4



5

3.3 There was a public consultation on the draft conservation area appraisal 
between 12 February and 29 March 2016.  

4 Summary of representations from initial consultation

4.1 As detailed in the consultation statement, almost 400 representations from 
individuals or organisations were received in response to the initial 
consultation in February – March 2016, and over 100 residents attended the 
one-day public drop in event held on 2 March 2016.  

4.2 Representations were submitted from local residents and local community 
groups including the Friends of Roe Green, Residents Against Inappropriate 
Development, Worsley Civic Trust and Amenity Society, and Worsley Woods 
Action Group.  A substantive representation was received from Peel Holdings 
and a representation was also received from Indigo Planning on behalf of 
another landowner in the area.

4.3 Almost all of the submitted representations focused exclusively on the 
proposed boundary changes, with much of the draft conservation area 
appraisal, including its assessment of special interest, its character and 
appearance, and its positive and negative features, being largely uncontested.

4.4 A full summary of the representations received together with the response of 
the city council is set out in the consultation statement.  In brief the 
representations can be summarised as set out in the bullets below.  

 A significant proportion of all representations (approximately 95%) objected to 
the removal of land to the east of Crossfield Drive from the conservation area 
boundary.  Many of these objections were on the basis of the impact of likely 
future housing development on the site (increased traffic, pressure on local 
infrastructure and services etc).  Some also objected on the grounds of the 
contribution that the site makes to the special interest and character of the 
conservation area, the setting of Kempnough Hall and the setting of Beesley 
Hall both of which are Grade II listed buildings, and also the setting to Worsley 
Woods which are considered to be intrinsic to the special interest of the 
conservation area. 

 Support for the removal of land to the east of Crossfield Drive from Peel 
Holdings.

 The conservation area boundary should be extended to include all of the open 
agricultural land to the rear of Crossfield Drive and extending southward 
towards St Mark’s CE Primary School.

 Support for the proposed extension of the conservation area boundary to 
include properties at Hardy Grove, and suggestion that 67 Lumber Lane and 1 
Hardy Grove should also be included.

 Objection from Peel Holdings to the proposed extension of the conservation 
area boundary to include the properties at 69 and 71 Lumber Lane and 2 – 9 
Hardy Grove as they considered the properties to be of low architectural value 
and their association with the Tyldesley family was insufficient to justify 
inclusion within the conservation area boundary.  

Page 5



6

 The proposed boundary extension should include the triangle of open land 
lying between Lumber Lane and the East Lancashire Road.

 The proposed boundary extension should include the terrace of properties at 
8 – 22 Lyon Grove.

 Objection to the removal of land at Manthorpe Avenue from within the 
boundary.

 Indigo Planning supported the proposed removal of land to the north east of 
Manthorpe Avenue but recognised that the extensive tree cover will remain 
protected by a tree preservation order.

 The significance of Worsley Woods had been underplayed in the appraisal.
 Peel Holdings considered that the southern boundary of the conservation area 

should be substantially redrawn to remove all of the land to the immediate 
south and east of Beesley Green including the part of Worsley Woods that 
currently lies within the conservation area and extends to the existing 
southern boundary.   They do not consider this land, to be of special, 
architectural or historic interest as set out in the Historic England guidance.  
They also consider that any rural character of this land has been diminished 
by loss of field boundaries and the construction of the motorway.  They 
contend that the land should be removed from within the conservation area 
boundary.  

 Peel Holdings considered that the draft conservation area appraisal had not 
been prepared in accordance with national planning policy and guidance nor 
with the Historic England guidance.  They considered that the draft appraisal 
was contrary to section 69 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990. 

4.5 A copy of Peel Holding’s full representation is attached in full in Appendix B. 

5 Response to comments on initial consultation, and proposed further 
amendments to conservation area appraisal and boundary

5.1 The responses to all representations received at this consultation are set out 
in full in the Consultation Statement.  However in response to some of the 
representations received, it was considered appropriate to make some further 
amendments to the proposed conservation area boundary.  In addition to the 
original proposed boundary changes as set out in paragraph 3.1, (and which 
is was still considered appropriate to retain with the exception of 6a Lyon 
Grove), the following further revisions were also considered appropriate:  

Additional land proposed to be included within the conservation area:

 1 Hardy Grove and 67 Lumber Lane

It became apparent that these two properties were part of the same 
development on Hardy Grove/Lumber Lane that the cricketer JT Tyldesley 
invested in.  It is considered that because of their architectural value and 
also their close association with the Tyldesley family that all of this group 

Page 6



7

of dwellings including these two additional properties contributes positively 
to the character and special interest of the conservation area and should 
therefore be included within the conservation area. 

 6a, 8 – 22 (even numbers) Lyon Grove

Numbers 8 – 22 (even) Lyon Grove is a row of Victorian terraced houses 
which have now all been rendered.  They all retain their original window 
alignment (except for numbers 14 and 16) doorway with round arch above 
(except for numbers 14 and 8) and chimney detail.  It is considered that 
they have a group architectural value and that they would make a positive 
contribution to the conservation area demonstrating the expansion of the 
area during the Victorian period following the coming of the railway and 
therefore should be included within the conservation area boundary. By 
including this terrace the retention of 6A Lyon Grove within the 
conservation area helps to maintain a logical boundary.   

5.2 Please see Plan B in Appendix C which shows the proposed further revisions 
to the conservation area boundary. `

5.3 A number of other sites were also referenced in the submitted representations 
in 2016 but it was not considered appropriate to make any further 
amendments to the conservation area boundary in response to them, as 
explained in more detail below.

5.4 Land east of Crossfield Drive
As listed in the bullets under paragraph 4.4 there were a number of objections 
to the proposed removal of land east of Crossfield Drive. A significant number 
of the representations objected to removal as they considered the proposed 
boundary change to be a precursor to the future development of the site for 
housing. 

5.5 In response to this, whilst the impact of any future housing development on 
the local area would be a material consideration of a planning application, 
these are not factors that can inform the definition of a conservation area 
boundary.  Legislation in The Act is clear that decisions regarding 
conservation area designation must be based on the special architectural or 
historic interest of an area, the character of appearance of which it is 
desirable to preserve or enhance.   

5.6 Some representations in relation to this land east of Crossfield Drive did seek 
to provide evidence of the contribution that the land makes to the special 
architectural or historic interest of the conservation area.  The key issues 
raised in this context were:

A) The land is important in the setting of Kempnough Hall which is a grade II 
listed building.  
In response to this, the setting of Kempnough Hall is now largely defined 
by its own curtilage as over the course of the 20th century, housing 
development has surrounded the Hall to the north, west, south and south 

Page 7



8

east.  Whilst the setting of the Hall may originally have been framed by a 
wider area of open land, in the context of the 20th century housing which 
now surrounds it, the land east of Crossfield Drive now makes minimal 
contribution to the setting of Kempnough Hall.

B) The land is important in the setting of Beesley Hall. 
 In response to this, the setting of Beesley Hall is formed by the open 
aspect of Beesley Green to the north and by Worsley Woods to the south 
and west.  There is limited intervisibility between the land east of 
Crossfield Drive and Beesley Hall, even in the winter months when the 
trees are not in leaf.  There is also no historical association between this 
land and Beesley Hall which was built as three adjoining cottages in the 
mid 19th century.  This land is therefore considered to make minimal 
contribution to the setting and significance of Beesley Hall.

C) The land reflects historic field boundaries and has always been open land.  
In response to this, historic mapping suggests that this land has always 
been open land in agricultural use.  Whilst the historic field boundaries 
would appear to be largely the same (albeit that the western part of the 
field was developed for housing in the 1930s (now the even numbered 
properties of Crossfield Drive) it is not considered that this is sufficient 
reason to justify its inclusion in the conservation area.  

D) The land has historic association with the Kempnough Hall estate.  
It is acknowledged that the land would historically have formed part of the 
Kempnough estate.  However, as set out above in A), whilst historically the 
field is likely to have framed the setting of Kempnough Hall, the effect of 
subsequent housing development over the course of the 20th century has 
fundamentally altered the relationship between this land and the Hall, such 
that the land east of Crossfield Drive is considered to make minimal, if any, 
contribution to the setting of Kempnough Hall.  The historic association 
that this land once formed part of the landholdings of the Kempnough 
estate is not considered to be sufficient justification for its continued 
inclusion within the conservation area boundary.

E) Worsley Woods are intrinsic to the special interest of the conservation 
area and its character and appearance.  The woods are at their narrowest 
point in this location, and the open nature of the land east of Crossfield 
Drive is important in protecting the setting of Worsley Woods and 
preventing encroachment on their naturalistic character and tranquillity in 
this location.  In response to this representation it is recognised that the 
open aspect of this land contributes to the setting of the adjacent part of 
Worsley Woods that is within the conservation area, maintaining a sense 
of openness, tranquillity and semi-rural character at this narrowest point of 
the woodland.  However, the land is not of itself considered to be of 
sufficient special historic or architectural interest to justify continued 
inclusion within the conservation area boundary. 

5.7 It should be noted that Peel Holdings submitted a representation in support of 
the proposed removal of this land.  They agreed with the city council’s 

Page 8



9

assessment of the value of this land and therefore supported the removal of 
the land from the conservation area.

5.8 Land south and east of Beesley Green

The land that is being referred to here is the land to the south of Beesley 
Green and the cricket ground and extending across to the southern boundary 
of the conservation area.   Peel Holdings in particular did not agree with the 
description of this land or that it should be retained within the conservation 
area.  

5.9 Worsley Woods frames this area of land, extending to the southern boundary 
of the conservation area.  The 1848 historic map indicates a narrow line of 
trees along the course of Kempnough Brook with much of the land which now 
forms Worsley Woods being agricultural fields.  It is likely that most of the 
woodland was planted around the 1850s for the 1st Earl of Ellesmere as 
naturalistic landscaping across his estate to provide opportunities for hunting 
and shooting as a private leisure pursuit.

5.10 The land falls within the Beesley Green and Worsley Woods character area 
as identified on Map 11 within the conservation area appraisal.  This is 
described as having a predominantly rural character and feel within the 
appraisal. The expanse of this open land fringed by Worsley Woods is 
considered to be integral in and intrinsic to defining the character of the Roe 
Green and Beesley Green as a district village within a wider conurbation. It is 
also considered that this land played a key part in the rationale for the original 
conservation area designation in 1970 which was as a landscaped green area 
in contrast to the heavily developed areas of Lancashire (see paragraph 2.2 
above).

5.11 Furthermore, the land serves to separate Roe Green and Beesley Green from 
Worsley and maintains the historic separation which has existed since the 
origins of a settlement at Roe Green in the Medieval period.

5.12 Finally, the land is clearly visible from the cricket ground and the tennis courts 
which are within the conservation area and adjoin this area of land.  The 
cricket ground in particular has a key place in the social history of Roe Green 
through the connections to the Tyldesley cricketing family and it is considered 
that the open views from the cricket ground are an important dimension in 
defining the character of this historic area.

5.13 As part of their objection Peel Holdings referred to loss of field boundaries 
across the area and the presence of the M60 motorway.  In response to this 
there is very little evidence on the historic maps of the area of any remaining 
field boundaries in 1970 when the conservation area was originally 
designated and therefore this would suggest that there has been very little 
change in this respect since the designation.  In relation to the motorway, it 
has to be acknowledged that its usage has increased since it was built, but 
notwithstanding this, it is important to note that it was already in existence in 
1970 when the conservation area was originally designated.   However, with 

Page 9



10

the existence of Worsley Woods together with the surrounding higher land 
levels, the motorway is effectively screened from views within the 
conservation area.  

5.14 For the above reasons therefore it is considered that this land to the south 
and east of Beesley Green is an essential component of the wider historical 
area thereby contributing to the village character of the area, the conservation 
area and an understanding of how it has evolved.  It is considered that the 
inclusion of this area within the conservation area continues to be appropriate.

5.15 Land south of the conservation area boundary to St Mark’s primary 
school
A number of representations proposed the extension of the conservation area 
boundary to include all of the open agricultural land to the rear of Crossfield 
Drive, extending down towards St Marks primary school.  In response to this, 
whilst it is likely that this land historically formed part of the landholdings of the 
Kempnough estate, this is not considered sufficient justification for it to be 
included in an extension to the conservation area boundary.  It is considered 
that the land makes limited contribution to the setting of the conservation area 
given that there are limited public views of the land from within and around the 
conservation area and furthermore, whilst the land adjoins Worsley Woods, it 
has limited visibility from the footpaths which run through the woods due to 
the depth of the woodland in this location.  The land therefore is not 
considered to contribute to the special architectural or historic interest of the 
conservation area and therefore it is not appropriate to extend the 
conservation area boundary to include this land. 

5.16 Hardy Grove
A number of representations supported the proposed extension of the 
conservation area to include the properties at Hardy Grove/Lumber Lane with 
a number also suggesting that the pairs of semi-detached villas at 67 Lumber 
Lane and 1 Hardy Grove also formed part of this same development as set 
out above in paragraph 5.1. 

5.17 Peel Holdings however objected to the proposed extension of the 
conservation area to include these properties.  They consider the properties to 
have low architectural value which have not been well preserved with some 
original doors and windows having been replaced and one of the properties 
having been extended to the side.  They do not consider the association with 
the Tyldesley family sufficient reason to include the properties within the 
conservation area. In response to this, whilst it is acknowledged that some of 
the properties have had alterations including replacement doors and windows, 
and one property has had a side extension, it is still considered that they 
retain much of their original character and they hold a group value.  A number 
of the properties retain their original timber frame windows with Art Nouveau 
glazed motif, and the majority of original external features remain intact.  It is 
therefore considered that taken together with the clear historical associations 

Page 10



11

with the Tyldesley family, the properties contribute positively to the special 
interest of the conservation area.

5.18 Land to the north east of Manthorpe Avenue
The nature of some of the submitted representations implied that this may in 
part have been motivated by a concern that removing this land from the 
conservation area would remove a barrier to the development of the land for 
housing and therefore it should be retained within the conservation area. This 
area of land is shown as being open land up until around 1970 when it is likely 
that the land was planted with trees associated with the development of the 
M60.  The woodland is visible from parts of the conservation area but is not 
considered to contribute to the special historic interest of the conservation 
area.  Therefore it is considered appropriate that the area is removed from the 
conservation area boundary.  The trees however will continue to be protected 
by a tree preservation order.

5.19 Lumber Lane
A number of representations proposed the extension of the conservation area 
boundary to include the triangle of open land between Lumber Lane and the 
A580 East Lancashire Road.  This proposed area of land is part of a wider 
allocation for the development of around 60 houses in the Revised Deposit 
Draft Local Plan under policy H9/12.  Historic mapping suggests that the land 
has always been open agricultural land.  Its extent does not reflect historic 
field boundaries with its current triangular form having been defined in part, by 
the cutting of the railway in the 1860s and the construction of the East 
Lancashire Road in the 1930s.  There is little historical association between 
this land and the conservation area and it is not considered to contribute 
towards the special interest of the conservation area.  Therefore it was not 
considered appropriate to extend the conservation area boundary to include 
this land.

6 Consultation February – March 2018

6.1 Owing to the proposed further changes to the conservation area boundary (as 
set out above) a second public consultation was held.  This was to ensure that 
everyone, and particularly those residents living in the properties affected by 
the proposed conservation area boundary amendments were aware of the 
proposals and were also given the opportunity to submit representations in 
response to the proposals.

6.2 The second consultation was undertaken during February – March 2018. The 
consultation statement details the representations received and also sets out 
the city council’s response to these representations.  A total of 67 written 
representations were received. A summary of the representations received 
from this second consultation is given below.  

 Objection to the removal of land east of Crossfield Drive from the 
conservation area

 Support for the removal of land east of Crossfield Drive by Peel Holdings 
but objection to the assertion that the land contributes to the wider setting 
of the conservation area.

Page 11



12

 Land east of Crossfield Drive is of “special historic interest” as set out in 
S69 of the Town and Country Planning (Listed buildings and conservation 
areas) Act 1990.

 The land east of Crossfield Drive contributes to the setting of Worsley 
Woods, maintaining a sense of openness, tranquillity and semi-rural 
character at this point of the woodland.

 The land to the east of Crossfield Drive contributes to the setting of 
Worsley Woods in the same way that the land to the rear of the cricket 
ground does that is to remain in the conservation area.

 The city council are ignoring local views about the loss of land east of 
Crossfield Drive when they should be finding a way to support the local 
view/public opinion.

 The purpose of removing these two pieces of land (land east of Crossfield 
Drive and land at Manthorpe Avenue) is to allow more houses to be built 
which will increase traffic and air pollution, increase pressure on local 
amenities, and result in a loss of wildlife and the countryside feel of the 
area as well as loss of views and loss of green space.

 Objection to the removal of Manthorpe Avenue from the conservation 
area.

 Support for the removal of Manthorpe Avenue from the conservation area.
 Objection to the inclusion of land at Beesley Green as it is not considered 

to be “an essential component” of a wider historic area.
 This is the largest of Salford’s conservation areas and everything should 

be done to retain it.
 Previous representations have sought to retain the existing conservation 

area boundary if not extend it (down to St Marks Church to the south of the 
conservation area) but these representations appear to have been 
dismissed.  There is no point asking for representations if the city council 
is not going to find a way to support the views given.

 The whole of the existing conservation area fulfils the criteria for 
conservation as set out in the Historic England “Appraisal of conservation 
areas” and the NPPF, together with meeting the “historic interest” 
requirement of S69 of the Act. 

 Support for the inclusion of additional properties on Lumber Lane and 
Hardy Grove.

 Objection to the inclusion of properties on Lumber Lane and Hardy Grove 
by Peel Holdings  as they consider the properties to be of low architectural 
value and there is insufficient association with the Tyldesley family to 
justify inclusion.

 Whilst the appraisal includes a section relating to “Problems, Pressures 
and Capacity for Change”, it does not adopt a positive strategy or identify 
opportunities for new development to make a positive contribution to local 
character and distinctiveness.

 Peel Holdings consider that the city council has failed to properly apply 
relevant guidance and policy in the production of the conservation area 
appraisal and has not taken account of the representations received.  
They consider that the appraisal is flawed in fundamental respects and 
should not be adopted in its current form.

Page 12



13

6.3 A number of the representations related again to the areas of land that 
residents considered should be included or excluded from the conservation 
area at the initial consultation stage eg land east of Crossfield Drive, land at 
Manthorpe Avenue etc.  Again these representations were considered but the 
reasoning for the inclusion/exclusion of the land remains valid as at the first 
stage and as set out below in paragraphs 6.4 – 6.8 below.    It is not proposed 
therefore to make any further amendments to the conservation area boundary 
in response to the representations received from this second consultation.  

6.4 Land east of Crossfield Drive
The response of the city council to the representations regarding land east of 
Crossfield Drive and as set out above in paragraph 5.4 remain valid with the 
land not considered to be of sufficient special architectural or historic interest 
to be included within the conservation area.   It is also important to be mindful 
of paragraph 186 of the NPPF (February 2019) and the requirement for local 
authorities to review their conservation areas from time to time to ensure that 
their value isn’t undermined.   In addition to this, with regards to the potential 
future residential development of the site, any proposal would be assessed at 
the time of an application against the policies of the development plan and 
other material considerations including any impact of the proposal upon the 
conservation area.   

6.5 Land south and east of Beesley Green
The reasoning for retaining this land within the conservation area following the 
initial consultation remains valid with no further evidence having been 
submitted by Peel to change judgement as to whether it should be retained or 
excluded from within the conservation area.  A copy of Peel Holding’s 
representation at this 2018 consultation is attached in Appendix D.

6.6 One representation considered that this area of land was similar to land east 
of Crossfield Drive and therefore the suggestion was that both should be 
retained within the conservation area.  However, the significant difference 
between these two areas of land is their special historic or architectural 
interest and their location in relation to Worsley Woods. As set out above in 
paragraph 5.4 the land to the east of Crossfield Drive is not considered to be 
of sufficient special historic interest to merit retention within the conservation 
area.  It is also unable to be seen from elsewhere within the conservation area 
until you are upon it owing to the undulating nature of the land in this area and 
the existing trees.

6.7 In contrast there is clear historical interest in the land to the south and east of 
Beesley Green as set out in paragraphs 5.8 – 5.14 above.   That land is 
considered to be intrinsic to the rural character and quality of the area which 
was also part of the rationale for the identification of the conservation area 
boundary at the time of the conservation area designation (see paragraph 
2.2).   Furthermore, it is not considered that the character of the land to the 
south and east of Beesley Green has been lost with the construction of the 
motorway as the motorway is effectively screened from views within the 
conservation area.  At the same time however, the very presence of the 
motorway to the immediate south of the conservation area only serves to 

Page 13



14

reinforce the importance of this area of open green space as an essential 
component of the wider historical area thereby contributing to the village 
character of the area.

6.8 Inclusion of properties at Hardy Grove/Lumber Lane within the 
conservation area boundary
The reasoning for the inclusion of the properties on Hardy Grove and Lumber 
Lane within the conservation area as set out above in paragraph 5.1 remains 
valid and therefore it is still proposed that these properties should be included 
within the conservation area boundary.

6.9 Land to the north east Manthorpe Avenue
The reasoning for the removal of land at Manthorpe Avenue given at the time 
of the initial consultation and as set out in paragraphs 5.18 above remain valid 
in response to comments made during this second consultation.

6.10 Judicial Review
It should be noted that the representation submitted by Peel Holdings for both 
consultations in 2016 and 2018 was very similar.  They referred to a number 
of judicial decisions with the inference that there may be a case for judicial 
review if the council were to progress the draft conservation area appraisal to 
adoption in its current form.  In response to this, all of the decisions that were 
referrerd to have been examined in more detail and it is not considered that 
any are of direct relevance here in relation to the Roe Green Beesley Green 
conservation area appraisal.  

6.11 Furthermore, having taken legal opinion it is considered that the legislation 
provides for significant discretion in the scope of the authority’s powers as 
decision maker and that it is for the decision maker to determine which parts 
of their area are of special architectural or historic interest, the character or 
appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance.  A review of 
relevant case law suggests that as long as an authority does not take into 
account an irrelevant consideration, does not fail to take into account a 
relevant consideration, follows due process and meets the tests of 
reasonableness, then it is likely to be difficult for a third party to successfully 
challenge a conservation area designation through judicial review.  It is 
considered that the city council has followed all of the correct and necessary 
procedures in relation to this conservation area appraisal.

6.12 Boundary realignment 

6.13 As part of the production of the conservation area appraisal and upon close 
inspection of the conservation area boundary against the Ordnance Survey 
boundary MasterMap layer, it was found that the conservation area boundary 
line was inaccurately drawn across part of the rear gardens of four properties 
rather than including the whole of the property boundaries within the 
conservation area boundary.  This has now been amended. The relevant 
property boundaries are 40, 42, 44 & 46 Roe Green.  

7. Next Steps

Page 14



15

7.1 The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 sets out a 
number of mandatory requirements in terms of the designation or amendment 
of a conservation area boundary.  Under Section 70(5) the Secretary of State 
and also Historic England should be notified of the proposed amendments. 
Section 70(8) requires a notice to be published in the London Gazette and at 
least one local newspaper detailing the properties which are to be included or 
removed from the conservation area.  Finally under section 69(4) the affected 
properties to be newly included within the conservation area must be 
registered as a local land charge (and equally the conservation area status 
needs to be removed as a local land charge for those properties being 
removed from the conservation area).

7.2 In addition to the above legislative requirements, although not a statutory 
requirement it is proposed that the properties affected by the proposed 
changes to the conservation area boundary are notified in writing of the 
changes and the associated implications of these changes.  It is also 
proposed and considered appropriate that all those who submitted a 
representation or who attended the drop in event are notified of the adoption 
of the conservation area appraisal and the changes to the conservation area 
boundary.  Finally, a copy of the adopted conservation area appraisal and 
associated documents should be placed in Worsley Village Library and in 
Beesley Green Community Centre for public inspection.

8 Recommendation

8.1 All of the representations that have been received following both consultations 
in 2016 and 2018 have been considered and responded to as set out in the 
Consultation Statement and above.  The large majority of representations that 
were received related to the proposed changes to the conservation area 
boundary rather than the assessment in the conservation area appraisal of 
the special interest, character and appearance of the conservation area 
including its positive and negative features.  It is considered that, taking all 
these representations into consideration, the Roe Green/ Beesley Green 
Conservation Area appraisal and the proposed amended conservation area 
boundary now accurately reflect the area of special interest that should be 
afforded the additional protection associated with a conservation area and 
should therefore be adopted.  

___________________________________________________________________

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: 

 Unitary Development Plan 
___________________________________________________________________

COMMUNITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:

Page 15



16

A community impact screening assessment of the draft conservation area appraisal 
has been undertaken and it was found that there would be no disproportionate 
impacts in relation to any of the equality groups.
___________________________________________________________________

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: Low.  All of the submitted representations received from 
both consultations in 2016 and 2018 have been considered and responded to as part 
of this process.  The conservation area appraisal has also been produced in 
accordance with Historic England’s guidance “Conservation Area Appraisal, 
Designation and Management” 2016 and 2019.  

___________________________________________________________________

 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: supplied by the Shared Legal Service (SLS).

The risk to the Council of a legal challenge to the Conservation Area appraisal and 
the amendments to the boundary should be minimal provided the City Council has 
acted in accordance with its powers under the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  The duty to designate/re designate a boundary is a 
continuing duty and it is incumbent on the City Council to consider all new material 
considerations when deciding if the reasons for including land in a conservation area 
historically still existing today, in addition to including new land.  The decision as to 
where the boundary is drawn is within the discretion of the Council and has been 
upheld by the Courts to be a broad discretion.  Therefore provided the City Council 
can show that it has fully considered all representations and objections, as well as all 
other material considerations, and that it has acted reasonably when deciding where 
to draw the boundary, the risk of a legal challenge should hopefully be minimal.

___________________________________________________________________

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: supplied by Martin Anglesey, Finance Officer 0161 793 
3248
No costs applicable from this report.  Any future considerations resulting from this 
will be assessed as applicable.

___________________________________________________________________

 PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: Not applicable 
___________________________________________________________________

 HR IMPLICATIONS: Not applicable 
___________________________________________________________________

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED:

Not applicable. 
___________________________________________________________________

CONTACT OFFICER: Amelia Lucas TEL. NO. 0161 793 3287

Page 16



17

___________________________________________________________________

WARD(S) TO WHICH REPORT RELATE(S): All. 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



!~
The St Botolph Building

138 Houndsditch

London

EC3A 7AR

BY EMAIL AND POST
~'9ans.Gc~nsultation(a~Salford.gov,uk

Spatial Planning
Salford City Council
Civic Centre
Chorley Road
Swinton
M27 5BY

Our Ref Your Ref

I G/1609128

Dear Sirs

Rae Green/Beesley Green Conservation Area
Draft Conservation Area Appraisal

We act for Peel Holdings (Land &Property) Limited.

United Kingdom

Telephone: +44 (0) 20 7876 5000

Facsimile: +44 (0) 20 7876 5111

DX: 160030 Lime Street 5

www.ciydeco.com

ian.ginbey@clydeco.com

Dir Line: +44 (0) 20 7876 4229

Date

29 March 2016

We refer to the draft appraisal ("the Draft Appraisal") in respect of the Roe Green/Beesley
Green Conservation Area ("the Conservation Area"), which was published by Salford City
Council ("the Council") for consultation in February 2016. Our client is the freehold owner of
land within the Conservation Area.

I n response to the Draft Appraisal, our client has commissioned Turley Heritage to produce a
comprehensive, expert heritage assessment ("the Heritage Assessment"), a copy of which is
enclosed.

For reasons set out in the Heritage Assessment (which we need not repeat here), the Draft
Appraisal is flawed in fundamental respects and should not be adopted in its current form. We
refer specifically to appendix 4 to the Heritage Assessment (and related commentary in the
main body of the text), which sets out our client's case (in heritage terms) for amending the
boundary of the Conservation Area. On this, we should emphasise that the Draft Appraisal has
not been prepared (either properly or at all) in accordance with: (i) national planning policy and
guidance, per the NPPF (2012) and the NPPG (2014); and (ii) the advice entitled 'Conservation
Area, Designation, Appraisal and Management' as published by Heritage England in February
2016.

More importantly, the Draft Appraisal is contrary to section 69 of the Planning (Listed Buildings
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. Specifically, it is plain that the Council has taken into
account immaterial considerations when purporting to determine a revised boundary of the
Conservation Area. This is contrary to the established dicta in (amongst others) R (on the
application of Arndale Properties Limited) v Worcester City Council [2008] EWHC 678 (Admin).

1609128 52658170.1.

Clyde & Co LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales under number OC326539 and is authorised and regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority. A list of
members is available for inspection at its registered office The St Botolph Building. 138 Houndsditch, London EC3A 7AR. Clyde & Co LlP uses the word "partner" to refer to a member of
the LLP. or an employee or consultant with equivalent standing and qualifications.

Page 21



We strongly urge the Council to re-visit the basis upon which the Draft Appraisal (as a whole)
has been predicated and the conclusions reached as to the proposed re-designation of the
boundary of the Conservation Area, in each case having full and proper regard to the
established policy/guidance and legal principles to which the Heritage Assessment refers.

Finally, please provide us with: (i) the details (including qualifications) of those persons who
were responsible for preparing the Draft Appraisal on behalf of the Council; and (ii) the letter of
i nstruction(s), which was issued to these persons by, or on behalf of, the Council.

Yours faithfully

% ~1
'~

,J a

Clyde & Co LLP

~r~ ~~
.. ~ _~~~

cc Chris Findlay —Salford City Council (Assistant Director Planning and Transport)

1609128 52658170.1
Page 22



Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

1 New York Street 

Manchester 

M1 4HD 

 

T 0161 233 7676 turley.co.uk 

"Turley is the trading name of Turley Associates Limited, a company (No. 2235387) registered in England & Wales. Registered office: 1 New York Street, Manchester M1 4HD." 

23 March 2018 
Delivered by email 

Sir/Madam 
Roe Green/Beesley Green Conservation Area Appraisal 
Spatial Planning  
Salford City Council 
Civic Centre 
Chorley Road 
Swinton 
M27 5BY 
 
 

Ref: PEEH3006 

 

 

 

Dear Sir/Madam 

Representations to the Roe Green/Beesley Green Conservation Area Appraisal on behalf of Peel Holdings (Land 

and Property) Ltd 

This letter has been prepared by Turley Heritage on behalf of Peel Holdings (Land and Property) Ltd (‘Peel’) who 
have significant landholdings affected by the consultation.  

It sets out representations to the draft Roe Green/Beesley Green Conservation Area Appraisal (the ‘Council 
Appraisal’) as published for consultation by Salford City Council (‘the Council’) in February 2018.  This letter should 
be read in conjunction with the enclosed Heritage Assessment prepared by Turley Heritage dated March 2016 (the 
‘2016 Heritage Assessment’) and submitted in connection with the first draft of the Council Appraisal (dated 
February 2016).   

Summary 
We are concerned that despite serious shortcomings having been pointed out in our representations to the first 
consultation the Council has failed to properly apply relevant guidance and policy and has not taken account of 
representations received.  We request urgent reconsideration of these matters in the light of the representations 
set out below and the Heritage Assessment that accompanies them, which was shared with the Council in response 
to the first consultation. 

For reasons set out in the Heritage Assessment and in this letter, the Council Appraisal is flawed in fundamental 
respects and should not be adopted in its current form. If it is adopted in this form, it is likely to have no weight as a 
planning consideration.  

Page 25



 

2 

The Draft Appraisal has not been prepared (either properly or at all) in accordance with: (i) national planning policy 
and guidance, per the NPPF (2012) and the NPPG (2014); and (ii) the advice entitled 'Conservation Area, 
Designation, Appraisal and Management' as published by Heritage England in February 2016.  

More importantly, the Draft Appraisal is contrary to section 69 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990. Specifically, it is plain that the Council has taken into account immaterial considerations when 
purporting to determine a revised boundary of the Conservation Area. This is contrary to the established dicta in 
(amongst others) R (on the application of Arndale Properties Limited) v Worcester City Council [2008] EWHC 678 
(Admin).  

We strongly urge the Council to re-visit the basis upon which the Council Appraisal (as a whole) has been 
predicated and the conclusions reached as to the proposed re-designation of the boundary of the Conservation 
Area, in each case having full and proper regard to the established policy/guidance and legal principles to which the 
Heritage Assessment and this letter refers. 

Land at Beesley Green 
The Council Appraisal seeks to retain Land at Beesley Green within the conservation area.  In the Council’s response 
to previous representations set out in our 2016 Heritage Assessment it has stated that the land in question forms 
the majority of the Beesley Green and Worsley Woods character area which has been identified as having a 
predominantly rural character and feel. The expanse of the open land which is fringed by Worsley Woods is 
considered by the Council to be integral in and intrinsic to defining the character of Roe Green and Beesley Green 
as a distinct village within a wider conurbation and separates Roe Green and Beesley Green from Worsley. It is also 
considered by the Council that the land played a key part in the rationale for the original conservation area 
designation in 1970 which was as a landscaped green area in contrast to the heavily developed areas of Lancashire.  
The Council response notes that the 1848 historic map identifies a narrow line of trees along the course of 
Kempnough Brook (with much of the land which now forms Worsley Woods being agricultural fields) and states 
that it is likely that most of the woodland was planted around the 1850s for the 1st Earl of Ellesmere as naturalistic 
landscaping for private leisure pursuits. 

The Council concludes that is visible from the tennis courts and cricket ground and that the ‘open views’ from the 
cricket ground are important in defining the character of the historic area.   

The Council notes that there was little evidence of field boundaries on historic maps from the 1970s when the 
conservation area was designated and that the motorway was part of the character of the area at the time of 
designation.  It is considered that the existence of Worsley Woods together with the raised position of the 
motorway, means that the motorway ‘is effectively screened’ from views within the conservation area, however 
the presence of the motorway serves to reinforce the importance of the area of open green space. 

We disagree with this assessment for three principal reasons and would re-iterate and supplement points 
previously set out in the 2016 Heritage Assessment.   

Historic map regression and visual site inspection show that, although the land remains undeveloped, the rural 
and agrarian qualities of it have diminished.  This is due to the loss of historic field boundaries and definition over 
time (including the evidence of clay extraction and a former sand pit), the historic intrusion of rail infrastructure 
and more recent significant road infrastructure.  The land is not part of an area of open countryside. It is bounded 
by the M60 motorway and former mineral railway line (now the Roe Green loopline) and any rural character of the 
land is undermined by the presence of the motorway, acoustically and visually.  Indeed, the impact of the 
motorway is acknowledged by the Council on Map 13 of the Council Appraisal entitled ‘Negative and Neutral 
Factors’.  The M60 is identified on this map as a ‘negative factor’ for reasons of ‘noise and air pollution’ and 
elsewhere within the Council Appraisal, the ‘significant noise impact’ generated by the motorway is noted.  This 
effect is evident all year round but is particularly pronounced during the winter months when, contrary to the 

Page 26



 

3 

Council Appraisal, traffic on the motorway is both visible and clearly audible from the Land at Beesley Green.  
Surrounding residential development is also evident during the winter months when dwellings to the north east of 
the site, beyond the loopline are clearly visible overlooking the land.   

The Salford Landscape Character Assessment prepared by the Council in September 2007 identifies land at Beesley 
Green is within an area classified as an Urban Fringe Lowland.  It forms part of three sub areas described as having 
the following key features:  

• The predominantly open land and relatively few buildings provide a relaxing visual contrast to the more 
densely developed adjoining urban areas; 

• The deciduous woodland still occupying the How, Wardley and Worsley Woods Cloughs and the slopes 
around and above the Worsley Hall garden centre provide a seasonally changing scene; and 

• The continual roar of traffic and bold artificial lines and materials of 2 major road interchanges dominate 2 
of the sub areas. 

These factors, together with those discussed above, combine to reinforce that Land at Beesley Green is open land 
within an urban area. 

As previously stated, today, the Land at Beesley Green comprises open and undeveloped land to the south and 
south east of Beesley Green, beyond the cricket ground, which is largely enclosed and screened from the wider 
Conservation Area. It is not easily appreciable or experienced from a large part of the designated area and its 
physical and visual presence and contribution to the Conservation Area is limited. Views of the land southwards 
from Beesley Green are only glimpsed and interrupted by existing built development (as shown in Figure 9 at 
Appendix 2 of the 2016 Heritage Assessment) or are filtered by tree cover lining the railway cutting to the east of 
Beesley Hall. During winter months the tree cover is less, but views of the land are still filtered and the lawn of the 
cricket ground is the more visible and distinctive area of open space in views from the east (this is illustrated in 
Figures 16 to 21 at Appendix 2 of the 2016 Heritage Assessment.) The only clear and open views across the land are 
from the cricket ground or the land itself. 

As previously stated, the land is not an ‘essential component’ of a wider historic area as referenced in the Historic 
England guidance, nor is it an open area where its character and appearance concerns historic fabric, ‘to which the 
principal protection offered by conservation area designation relates’. The rural origins of the village and its 
‘atmosphere of a village’ are manifested by other features/aspects and characteristics of the Conservation Area, 
such as the retained Roe Green and Beesley Green. Pevsner noted (and this is referenced within the Council 
Appraisal) that Roe Green in contrast to the surrounding suburbia “has the atmosphere of a village, with low 
houses around an ample green”.  The Land at Beesley Green is an area of privately owned agricultural land that is 
distinct and separate to the historic Greens – the open spaces that define the spatial pattern and qualities of the 
village.  The land is not of special interest and should not be retained within the designated area. 

In the Council Appraisal, the Council has sought to attach importance to or elevate the value of the Land at Beesley 
Green by reference to views across the site to Worsley Woods.  Views across the site are not expansive or 
picturesque.  Where views are possible they are of an area of flat open land enclosed by a tree belt.  From a 
comparison between the 1894 Ordnance Survey Map and the current arrangement, it is clear that the woodland 
terminated at Kempnough Brook with only a sparse arrangement of trees to the north between the brook and Land 
at Beesley Green.  This suggests that the woodland around the perimeter of the land is significantly younger.  This is 
supported by specialist arboricultural advice from Christians Environmental who have confirmed that there are 
several large Beech trees situated in the known older part of the woodland with traditional woodland form and one 
singular large Beech tree with a more open grown form that is now within the newer part of the woodland.  It is 
clear that the size of this tree is greatly disproportionate to the trees surrounding it. 

Page 27



 

4 

Further to this, the majority of the trees in the newer part of the woodland are lime trees and this is also not 
representative of the older part of the woodland. These trees have been planted clearly in straight lines and do not 
form a traditional woodland structure. They are estimated to be between 60 and 80 years old which would indicate 
that they could have been part of the works to buffer the noise from the M60 motorway.  This advice confirms that 
the area of Worsley Woods enclosing the Land at Beesley Green is comprised of newer trees that are not of 
heritage value.  The visibility of these trees across the site should not be used as a reason for retention of the Land 
at Beesley Green within the designated area.   

In any event, Paragraph 13 of Historic England guidance ‘Conservation Area Designation, Appraisal and 
Management: Historic England Advice Note 1’ makes it clear that a designation made solely to protect veteran 
trees is unlikely to meet the criteria of special architectural or historic interest.  This does not support the retention 
of the land within the CA 

The Council Appraisal also states that the open aspect of the Land at Beesley Green ‘is intrinsic to the setting of the 
cricket ground’.  ‘Setting’ is defined by the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) as follows: 

“The surroundings in which a heritage asset is experienced. Its extent is not fixed and may change as the 
asset and its surroundings evolve. Elements of a setting may make a positive or negative contribution to the 
significance of an asset, may affect the ability to appreciate that significance or may be neutral.” 

The inference that the Beesley Green land is of value by virtue of being part of the setting of the Cricket Ground is a 
misapplication of the term ‘setting’.  With the exception of the cricket pavilion which is locally listed, the cricket 
ground itself is not a heritage asset and it therefore does not have a ‘setting’ that justifies protection in a heritage 
sense under legislation or under the terms of the NPPF. This is not a valid reason for retention of the Land at 
Beesley Green within the designated area. 

The cricket pavilion is locally listed and described as being of significance for the following reason: 

“A typical Lancashire county league cricket club building of rural character, quite uncommon in an urban 
district, but forming an important component of quintessential English life in a parish such as Worsley.” 

Under the terms of the NPPF it is reasonable for it to be treated as a non-designated heritage asset and for it to 
have a setting.  The Historic England setting guidance makes it clear that all heritage assets have a setting.   
However, having considered all the evidence in detail, we consider that the principal and contributory element of 
the setting of the pavilion is the cricket ground itself and the associated buildings.  The cricket ground has a strong 
functional, historic and associative resonance with the Pavilion rather than the Land at Beesley Green which simply 
forms part of the wider physical surroundings of the asset.  Even if, contrary to this view, the Land at Beesley Green 
was an aspect of setting that contributed to the significance of the cricket pavilion this would not be a valid reason 
for it to form part of the Roe Green/Beesley Green Conservation Area.  We do not contest the social or cultural 
history or value of the cricket ground but do maintain that it is not appropriate to retain Land at Beesley Green 
within the designated area because of a perceived contribution to the setting of the cricket ground.   

Land to the east of Crossfield Drive 

Land to the east of Crossfield Drive is described in the Council Appraisal as a small area of agricultural land. It is 
noted that it is ‘relatively enclosed in character’ and it is concluded that the enclosed nature of the land means that 
it makes a limited contribution to the character and appearance of the Conservation Area. It is concluded that there 
is no key historical association between this land and the rest of the conservation area and that the rationale for its 
inclusion within the designated conservation area boundary in 1970 is unclear. As such it is proposed to remove 
this area of land from the boundary. Peel agrees with the Council's assessment of the value of this land and 
supports its proposed removal from the Conservation Area.   

Page 28



 

5 

We would however object to the assertion that this land contributes to the wider setting of the conservation area.  
Historic England guidance on the setting of heritage assets (‘The Setting of Heritage Assets: Historic Environment 
Good Practice Advice in Planning Note 3 (Second Edition)’) makes the following clear at Paragraph 9: 

“Setting is not itself a heritage asset, nor a heritage designation, although land comprising a setting may 
itself be designated (see below Designed settings). Its importance lies in what it contributes to the 
significance of the heritage asset or to the ability to appreciate that significance.” 

In primary legislation, the setting of conservation areas is not a statutory duty.  However, the NPPF states that the 
setting of a designated heritage asset (including conservation areas) can contribute to its significance.  What 
matters therefore in relation to setting is whether it makes a contribution to the significance of the asset.  In the 
case of Land to the east of Crossfield Drive, there is no evidence or demonstration of any assessment by the Council 
of the contribution this land makes to the conservation area.  Indeed, as the enclosed Heritage Assessment clearly 
demonstrates by virtue of its enclosed nature, lack of functional or historical association and surrounding built 
development it is not a contributory aspect of setting.  As set out above, we are in agreement with the Council that 
the land is not of special interest.  We do not agree that the land contributes to the significance of the conservation 
area and would therefore request that this statement be removed.   

In the Council’s response to objections against removal of this land from the conservation area, it states that the 
land contributes to the wider setting of the conservation area ‘in the context of its contribution to the setting of 
Worsley Woods’.  This approach is incorrect.  By placing heritage value on the Land to the east of Crossfield Drive 
by virtue of the contribution it makes to the ‘setting’ of Worsley Woods, the Council has misinterpreted Paragraph 
9 of the Historic England guidance ‘The Setting of Heritage Assets’.   

Lumber Lane and Hardy Grove 

The Council Appraisal proposes that Nos 67, 69 & 71 Lumber Lane and 1 to 9 Hardy Grove should be included 
within the Conservation Area boundary. The reason for this is attributed to the association that these properties 
have with the Tyldesley family and their ‘architectural value’, the combination of which ‘contributes positively to 
the special interest of the conservation area’. 

As identified within the Council Appraisal, these properties are Edwardian and built in the early 20th century. As 
previously identified, they are typical of the period and are red brick semi-detached houses. They have projecting 
ground floor frontages to the west side of Hardy Grove and are bay fronted to the east side of the street. They are 
not well-preserved. Doors and windows have been replaced with modern UPVC units, former recessed doorways 
have been infilled and one of the properties has been extended to create a garage. 

Given their low architectural value and the extent to which they have been altered, it is not accepted that an 
association with the local Tyldesley family is sufficient reason to include these properties within the conservation 
area. These properties and the streets within which they are located, are not of ‘special architectural or historic 
interest’ and this area should therefore not be added to the conservation area. 

This is reflected on the proposed revised Conservation Area boundary plan included at Appendix 4 of the re-
submitted 2016 Heritage Assessment. 

Development Pressures  

The NPPF states at Paragraph 126 that local planning authorities should set out in their Local Plan ‘a positive 
strategy’ for the conservation and enjoyment of the historic environment.  In developing this strategy and in 
combination with other considerations, local planning authorities should take account of ‘The desirability of new 
development making a positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness’ and ‘Opportunities to draw on 

Page 29



 

6 

the contribution made by the historic environment to the character of a place’.  As with the previous draft, the 
Council Appraisal includes a section entitled ‘Problems, Pressures and Capacity for Change’ but does not adopt a 
‘positive strategy’ or identify opportunities for new development to make a positive contribution to local character 
and distinctiveness. 

Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states that local authorities should ‘look for opportunities for new development within 
conservation areas and World Heritage Sites and within the setting of heritage assets to enhance or better reveal 
their significance’.  Planning Practice Guidance states the following: 

‘local planning authorities should identify specific opportunities within their area for the conservation and 
enhancement of heritage assets. This could include, where appropriate, the delivery of development within 
their settings that will make a positive contribution to, or better reveal the significance of, the heritage 
asset’. 

Paragraph 10 of ‘Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in Planning 1: The Historic Environment in Local Plans’ 
advises that the preparation of Local Plans this should not be a ‘passive exercise’ but requires a plan for the 
maintenance and use of heritage assets and for the delivery of development including within their setting that will 
afford appropriate protection for the asset(s) and make a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness. It also makes it clear that the local plan might need to consider the interrelationship of the 
objectives for the historic environment with other objectives including local housing, retail and transport. 

As previously stated, we consider that in identifying ‘development pressure on open land in private ownership' that 
such factors have improperly influenced the overall conclusions of the Council Appraisal as to the specific extent of 
the Conservation Area, which would be contrary to policy and case law.  

Historic England guidance ‘Conservation Area Designation, Appraisal and Management: Historic England Advice 
Note 1’ highlights that local distinctiveness can ‘inspire well designed new development’ which brings economic 
and social benefits which are valued by both local planning authorities and local communities. It also clearly states 
that change is inevitable, but ‘not necessarily harmful and often beneficial’ and the guidance sets out ways of 
managing change in a way that conserves and enhances historic areas. 

Importantly for the Land at Beesley Green, Land east of Crossfield Drive and Land north of Lumber Lane, the 
Historic England guidance includes guidance on local planning policies and development management policies 
which could include the following: 

• Protection of important views and vistas. 

• An urban design strategy for securing good design quality in new development. 

• Development/design briefs for key sites. 

• Development opportunities for sensitive developments within the conservation area. 

Representations have been submitted on behalf of Peel to the Draft Salford Local Plan indicating how sensitive 
development can be accommodated.   

This is particularly pertinent in relation to Land north of Lumber Lane which is proposed to be allocated for housing 
(H3/16) in the Draft Salford Local Plan.  The draft policy confirms that the development should take access via 
Hardy Grove with a new road bridge spanning the recreation route along the former railway line to the south of the 
site, carefully designed to minimise the visual impact and any potential adverse effects on the amenity of residents 

Page 30



 

7 

of Hardy Grove.  The draft policy also confirms that the development should preserve or enhance the character and 
appearance of the adjacent Roe Green/Beesley Green Conservation Area. 

Notwithstanding the comments we have made about the lack of justification for the inclusion of Hardy Grove 
within the conservation area, the proposed allocation of the Lumber Lane site and the intention for access to be 
gained via Hardy Grove should be acknowledged in the Council Appraisal.    

Yours sincerely 

Katy Lightbody 
Director,  Heritage 

katy.lightbody@turley.co.uk

Page 31



 

8 

Appendix 1: Heritage Assessment: Roe Green / Beesley Green Conservation Area 

Page 32



 

 
 

Heritage Assessment 
Roe Green / Beesley Green Conservation 
Area 

March 2016 

 

Page 33



Contents 

Executive Summary i 

1. Introduction 1 

2. Legislation, Planning Policy and Guidance 2 

3. Character and Appearance of the Roe Green and Beesley Green Conservation Area 9 

4. Assessment of Land to the South of Beesley Green (‘the Land’) 12 

5. Other Observations 22 

Appendix 1: Historic Maps  

Appendix 2: Photographs  

Appendix 3: Desk Based Archaeological Assessment  

Appendix 4: Revised Conservation Area Boundary  

 

 

Client 
Peel Holdings (Land & Property) Ltd 
Our reference 
PEEH3006 
 
 

Page 34



i 

Executive Summary 
1. The Roe Green and Beesley Green Conservation Area was designated in 1970 by 

Lancashire County Council; only three years after conservation areas were first 
introduced by the Civic Amenities Act in 1967.  

2. As acknowledged by the Council, there is no record of any formal appraisal which 
informed the designation of the Conservation Area.  The boundary of the Conservation 
Area has remained unchanged and has never been reviewed.  Indeed, no appraisal has 
been undertaken until now.  Whilst the principle of undertaking the Council Appraisal is 
welcomed, it is important that it is thorough and robust and accords with relevant law, 
policy and guidance.  For reasons set out in this Heritage Assessment, it is not accepted 
that the Council Appraisal complies with these requirements in fundamental respects. 

3. The character and appearance of the Conservation Area can be summarised as follows: 

Historic Development – The Conservation Area has an interesting history dating back to 
medieval times and Kempnough Hall, Roe Green and Beesley Green are tangible 
reminders of its early origins.  Later phases of development are also legible and the 
housing that was developed around the Greens has associations with the Duke of 
Bridgewater. 

Architectural Quality and Built Form – The domestic scale of the built form set around 
Roe Green is a defining feature, together with the strong linear effect of the terraces 
lining Greenleach Lane, contrasted with the more informal and organic arrangement of 
vernacular properties set within larger plots.  There is continuity to the palette of building 
materials within the Conservation Area, albeit these materials have been applied in 
different ways.  There are a number of individually distinctive buildings. 

Open Space, Parks and Gardens and Trees – Roe Green makes a significant 
contribution to the significance of the Conservation Area, together with the more 
enclosed and intimate character of Beesley Green (formed later with the coming of the 
railway).  The mature hedgerows and trees throughout the designated area contribute to 
its character.   

4. Local planning authorities are under duties to designate areas of special architectural or 
historic interest the character or appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or 
enhance as conservation areas and to review those designations. 

5. Land to the south of Beesley Green (‘the Land’) is an area of undeveloped land which 
lies to the immediate south of Beesley Green. It sits on a relatively level plane and is 
surrounded by woodland plantations (Worsley Woods) on all but its northern boundary 
which is bounded by Roe Green Cricket Club.   

6. The Land is not an ‘essential component’ of a wider historic area as referenced in 
Historic England guidance, nor is it an open area where its character and appearance 
concerns historic fabric, ‘to which the principal protection offered by conservation area 
designation relates’.  It is an area of privately owned agricultural land that is distinct and 
separate to the historic Greens – the open spaces that define the spatial pattern and 

Page 35



ii 

qualities of the village.  Any rural character of the Land has been diminished by loss of 
field boundaries and the construction and operation of the motorway.  In addition, the 
high level of enclosure around Beesley Green means that the Land is not easily 
appreciable or experienced from the wider Conservation Area.   

7. In view of the above, the contribution made by the Land is limited to its value as an area 
of open agricultural land that reflects the former rural origins and backdrop of the village.  
Views of the Land from the cricket ground and other glimpsed views, including those of 
the tree belt to the south of the Land make a limited contribution to the character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area.   

8. For these reasons the Land is not of ‘special architectural or historic interest’ and it does 
not meet the high test required for inclusion within the conservation area.  It forms part 
of the setting of the conservation area and to ensure that the designation is not 
devalued, it should be removed from the designated area.  

9. Land to the east of Crossfield Drive is described in the Council Appraisal as a small area 
of agricultural land.  It is noted that it is ‘relatively enclosed in character’ and it is stated 
that the enclosed nature of the land means that it makes limited contribution to the 
character and appearance of the conservation area.  It is concluded that there is no key 
historical association between this land and the rest of the conservation area and that 
the rationale for its inclusion within the designated conservation area boundary in 1970 
is unclear.  As such it is proposed to remove this area of land from the conservation 
area boundary.  Peel Holdings (Land and Property) Ltd agrees with the Council’s 
assessment of the value of this land and supports its proposed removal from the 
conservation area. 

10. Given the low architectural value and the extent to which they have been altered, it is 
not considered that an association with the local Tyldesley family is sufficient reason to 
include Nos 69 and 71 Lumber Lane and Nos 2 to 9 Hardy Grove within the 
conservation area.  These properties and this street are not of ‘special architectural or 
historic interest’.   

11. Importantly for the Land to the south of Beesley Green and Land east of Crossfield 
Drive, Historic England guidance includes advice on local planning policies and 
development management policies which could include the following: 

• Protection of important views and vistas. 

• An urban design strategy for securing good design quality in new development. 

• Development/design briefs for key sites. 

• Development opportunities for sensitive developments within the conservation 
area. 

12. The Council Appraisal has failed to have regard (either properly or at all) to the Historic 
England guidance (and the NPPF).  By way of example, and by reference to the Land, 
the Council Appraisal has omitted to explore ways in which new development could be 

Page 36



iii 

accommodated in such a way that the character and appearance of the Conservation 
Area would be preserved or enhanced.   

Page 37



1 

1. Introduction 
1.1 The following Heritage Assessment is prepared by Turley Heritage on behalf of Peel 

Holdings (Land and Property) Ltd ('Peel') and sets out representations to the draft Roe 
Green / Beesley Green Conservation Area Appraisal (the ‘Council Appraisal’) as 
published for consultation by Salford City Council ('the Council') in February 2016. 

1.2 Section 2 provides a focussed review of the legislation, planning policy and guidance 
framework for conservation area designation, management and appraisal. Section 3 
provides a summary of the character and appearance of the Roe Green/Beesley Green 
Conservation Area ('the Conservation Area') and highlights key aspects of the history 
and development of the settlement.  Section 4 considers in detail, the contribution that 
land to the south of Beesley Green (‘the Land’) makes to the character and appearance 
and overall significance of the designated area, and demonstrates that it should be 
excluded from the Conservation Area 

1.3 This Heritage Assessment culminates with other observations and comments on the 
proposed inclusion of land at Lumber Lane within the Conservation Area and the 
proposed removal of Land East off Crossfield Drive. 

 

Page 38



2 

2. Legislation, Planning Policy and 
Guidance 

Legislation  

2.1 Conservation areas were established by the Civic Amenities Act in 1967.  

2.2 Local planning authorities are under a statutory duty to designate areas of special 
architectural or historic interest the character or appearance of which it is desirable to 
preserve or enhance as conservation areas and to review those designations from time 
to time.  Sections 69(1), (2) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 ('the Act') state the following: 

“1) Every local planning authority –  

a) shall from time to time determine which parts of their area are areas of special 
architectural or historic interest the character or appearance of which it is 
desirable to preserve or enhance, and 

b) shall designate those areas as conservation areas. 

2) It shall be the duty of a local planning authority from time to time to review the past 
exercise of functions under this section and to determine whether any parts or any 
further parts of their area should be designated as conservation areas; and, if they 
so determine, they shall designate those parts accordingly.”  

National Planning Policy Framework (2012) ('NPPF') 

2.3 Conservation areas are 'designated heritage assets' within the meaning of the NPPF. 
Paragraph 126 of the NPPF states that  local planning authorities should set out in their 
Local Plan a positive strategy for the conservation and enjoyment of the historic 
environment, including heritage assets most at risk through neglect, decay or other 
threats. In doing so, they should recognise that heritage assets are an irreplaceable 
resource and conserve them in a manner appropriate to their significance. In developing 
this strategy, local planning authorities should take into account of:  

• The desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets 
and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;  

• The wider social, cultural, economic and environmental benefits that conservation 
of the historic environment can bring; 

• The desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local 
character and distinctiveness; and 

• Opportunities to draw on the contribution made by the historic environment to the 
character of a place. 

Page 39



3 

2.4 When considering the designation of conservation areas, paragraph 127 of the NPPF 
makes it clear that local planning authorities should ensure that an area justifies such 
status because of its special architectural or historic interest, and that concept of 
conservation is not devalued through the designation of areas that lack special interest. 

2.5 Paragraph 137 of the NPPF also states that local planning authorities should look for 
opportunities for new development within conservation areas to enhance or better reveal 
their significance. 

2.6 Paragraph 138 confirms that not all elements of a World Heritage Site or Conservation 
Area will necessarily contribute to its significance. 

2.7 Paragraph 169 sets out that Local planning authorities should: 

‘Have up-to-date evidence about the historic environment in their area and use it to 
assess the significance of heritage assets and the contribution they make to their 
environment.” 

National Planning Practice Guidance – Conserving and Enhancing 
the Historic Environment (2012) ('PPG') 

2.8 PPG also emphasises that local authorities should set out in their Local Plan a positive 
strategy for the conservation and enjoyment of the historic environment. It states that in 
developing their strategy:  

‘local planning authorities should identify specific opportunities within their area for the 
conservation and enhancement of heritage assets. This could include, where 
appropriate, the delivery of development within their settings that will make a positive 
contribution to, or better reveal the significance of, the heritage asset’. 

2.9 Consistent with Paragraph 127 of the NPPF, PPG states that local planning authorities 
need to ensure that the area has sufficient special architectural or historic interest to 
justify its designation as a conservation area. (Paragraph: 024 Reference ID: 18a-024-
20140306).  

2.10 PPG states that local planning authorities must review their conservation areas from 
time to time (in accordance with Section 69 (2) of the Act).  It states that a conservation 
area appraisal can be used to help local planning authorities develop a management 
plan and appropriate policies for the Local Plan. It also states that a good appraisal will 
consider what features make a positive or negative contribution to the significance of the 
conservation area, thereby identifying opportunities for beneficial change or the need for 
planning protection. (Paragraph: 025 Reference ID: 18a-025-20140306).  

Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in Planning 1: The 
Historic Environment in Local Plans (2015) 

2.11 The Good Practice advice note provides guidance on implementation of historic 
environment policy set out in the NPPF. The advice in the document emphasises that all 
information requirements and assessment work in support of plan making and heritage 
protection needs to be proportionate to both the significance of the heritage assets that 

Page 40



4 

are likely to be affected and the impact on the significance of those heritage assets. At 
the same time, those taking decisions need sufficient information to understand the 
issues and formulate balanced policies.  

2.12 The Advice Note reiterates the requirements set out in the NPPF and confirms that 
Local Plans need to:  

“Be based on adequate, up to date and relevant evidence about the economic, social, 
and environmental characteristics and prospects of the area - which would include the 
historic environment. In particular this up to date evidence should be used to assess the 
significance of heritage assets and the contribution they make to the environment 
(NPPF Paragraphs 158 and 168) 

Set out a positive and clear strategy for the conservation, enjoyment and enhancement 
of the historic environment.  

Contain strategic policies to deliver the conservation and enhancement of the historic 
environment 

Identify land where development would be inappropriate because of its (environment or) 
historic significance (NPPF Paragraph 157).”  

2.13 Paragraph 7 states that where the evidence base is weak, local planning authorities 
may need to commission proportionate research, for example: 

“Detailed historic characterisation work, assessing the impact of a proposal for a major 
urban extension or rural development 

Visual impact assessments, considering the potential impact of allocations upon the 
setting of important heritage assets.  

Seeking the views of the local community about what they value about the historic 
environment of their area (NPPF paragraph 155) 

An appropriate archaeological assessment to consider whether heritage assets with 
archaeological potential are likely to be present in areas where the HER indicates that 
there has been little or no previous investigation.”  

2.14 Paragraph 10 confirms that this is not a ‘passive exercise’ but requires a plan for the 
maintenance and use of heritage assets and for the delivery of development including 
within their setting that will afford appropriate protection for the asset(s) and make a 
positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness. It also makes it clear that the 
local plan might need to consider the interrelationship of the objectives for the historic 
environment with other objectives including local housing, retail and transport.  

Conservation Area Designation, Appraisal and Management: 
Historic England Advice Note 1 (2016) 

2.15 Historic England has very recently revised its guidance on conservation area 
designation, appraisal and management.  The purpose of Advice Note 1, which post-

Page 41



5 

dates preparation of the Council Appraisal, is to provide information on conservation 
area designation, appraisal and management to assist local authorities, planning and 
other consultants, owners, applicants and other interested parties in implementing 
historic environment legislation, the policy in the NPPF and the related guidance given 
in the PPG. In addition to these documents, this advice should be read in conjunction 
with the relevant Good Practice Advice and Historic England advice notes. It is noted 
that alternative approaches may be equally acceptable, provided they are demonstrably 
compliant with legislation and national policy objectives. 

2.16 The document advises, in accordance with the NPPF, that work in designating, 
appraising and managing conservation areas should be no more than is necessary, and 
that activities to conserve or invest need to be proportionate to the significance of the 
heritage assets affected and the impact on the significance of those heritage assets. At 
the same time those carrying out this work need enough information to understand the 
issues (NPPF, paragraph 192). This is particularly important in light of the policy in 
paragraph 127 of the NPPF, which requires local planning authorities to ensure that 
conservation area designation is justified because of its special architectural or historic 
interest. 

2.17 The guidance highlights that the way in which building traditions and settlement patterns 
are superimposed and survive over time will be unique to each area.  It also notes the 
following: 

“This local distinctiveness can provide a catalyst for regeneration and inspire well 
designed new development which brings economic and social benefits which are valued 
by both local planning authorities and local communities in the almost 10,000 
conservation areas which have been designated.” 

2.18 The guidance clearly states/acknowledges the following in relation to development 
within conservation areas: 

“Change is inevitable, however, not necessarily harmful and often beneficial, and this 
guidance sets out ways to manage change in a way that conserves and enhances 
historic areas.” 

2.19 Repeating national policy and guidance, the advice note confirms that local planning 
authorities must ensure that an area justifies designation, so that the concept of 
conservation is not devalued through the designation of areas that lack special interest. 

2.20 Paragraph 11 of the advice note sets out a number of potential reasons for conservation 
area designation.  These are as follows: 

• Areas with a large number of assets (designated) and a variety of styles and 
associations 

• Those linked to a particular industry or individual 

• Earlier, historically significant, layout is visible 

• A style or traditional building materials predominate. 

Page 42



6 

• Areas designated because of the quality of the public realm or a spatial element – 
green spaces which are an essential component of a wider historic area. 

2.21 Paragraph 12 of the guidance clearly states that conservation area designation is not 
generally an appropriate means of protecting the wider landscape but it can protect 
open areas particularly where the ‘character and appearance concerns historic fabric, to 
which the principal protection offered by conservation area designation relates’.  

2.22 It is also stated at paragraph 13 that a designation made solely to protect veteran trees 
is unlikely to meet the criteria of special architectural or historic interest. 

2.23 Paragraph 17 states that before finalising the boundary of a conservation area it is worth 
considering whether the immediate setting also requires the additional controls that 
result from designation, or whether the setting is itself sufficiently protected by national 
policy or local plan policy. 

2.24 The advice note includes guidance on local planning policies and development 
management policies which could include the following: 

• Protection of important views and vistas. 

• An urban design strategy for securing good design quality in new development. 

• Development/design briefs for key sites. 

• Development opportunities for sensitive developments within the conservation 
area. 

2.25 Paragraph 32 confirms that design guidance and development briefs will encourage new 
development that complements the established grain, settlement pattern and character, 
while making a positive contribution to the significance of the conservation area. 

2.26 Paragraph 36 addresses opportunities for environmental improvements within 
conservation areas which could include removal of negative factors and sympathetic 
landscaping and planting.  Paragraph 39 adds that the objective of conservation area 
appraisal is 'to understand and articulate exactly why the area is so special and what 
elements within the area contribute to this special quality and which do not, conveying 
this succinctly and in plain English, accessible to all users.  

2.27 The guidance advises that key elements in defining the special interest are likely to 
include the following: 

• the relationship of the conservation area to its setting and the effect of that setting 
on the area 

• the still-visible effects/impact of the area’s historic development on its plan form, 
character and architectural style and social/historic associations 

• how the places within it are experienced by the people who live and work there 
and visitors to the area (including both daily and seasonal variations if possible) 

Page 43



7 

• architectural quality and built form 

• open spaces, green areas, parks and gardens, and trees 

• designated and other heritage assets, their intrinsic importance and the 
contribution they make to the townscape 

• local distinctiveness and the sense of place which make the area unique. 

2.28 Of relevance to a proper consideration of the Land is the Historic England advice on 
open spaces within or immediately outside conservation areas and how these should be 
treated.  The advice note highlights that the enclosure and their visual or other sensory 
contribution to the character of the place will be relevant considerations.  The 
relationship between public space (such as a market place, street, square, public 
garden or car park) and private space (gardens, courtyards or playing fields), the 
qualities they offer and the ways in which the spaces were and are used, and the 
identification of key settlement edges, are all part of this analysis. 

2.29 It is also noted within the guidance that identification of important single trees and 
groups and a description of their location and species, age and assessment of condition 
and potential lifespan will assist in developing a strategy for protection, maintenance 
and replanting. 

City of Salford Unitary Development Plan 2004 – 2016 (Policies 
saved beyond 21 June 2009) 

2.30 Policy CH3 relates to works within conservation areas.  It states that development in 
conservation areas will only be permitted where it would preserve or enhance the 
character or appearance of the conservation area. In determining this, regard will be had 
to the extent to which the proposal: 

• retains or improves features that contribute to the character or appearance of the 
conservation area; 

• is of a high standard of design, consistent with the design policies of the plan; 

• retains existing mature trees; 

• secures environmental improvements and enhancements; and 

• protects and improves important views within, into and out of the conservation 
area. 

2.31 The reasoned justification for this policy confirms that the purpose of designating 
conservation areas is to afford protection not just to individual buildings, but also to the 
quality of the townscape, which makes a significant contribution to local distinctiveness 
and can play an important role in regeneration. Particular regard needs to be had to 
preserving or enhancing the character and appearance of such areas, and this will be 
achieved both through the control of development and advertisements, and by 
undertaking improvement schemes where funds allow. The features that contribute to 

Page 44



8 

the special character of the city’s conservation areas will be set out in individual 
conservation area appraisals. 

2.32 The reasoned justification identifies Roe Green / Beesley Green as one of sixteen 
conservation areas in Salford.  Paragraph 13.14 states that consideration will be given 
as to whether further conservation areas should be designated and existing 
designations will be reviewed from time to time. 

Page 45



9 

3. Character and Appearance of the Roe 
Green and Beesley Green Conservation 
Area 

3.1 The Conservation Area was designated in 1970 by Lancashire County Council; only 
three years after conservation areas were first introduced by the Civic Amenities Act in 
1967.  The original designation report for the Conservation area is not publicly available. 
However the reason for designation is set out in the draft Appraisal and is quoted as 
follows: 

“Roe Green was selected for conservation because its arrangement of open space and 
housing gives it the character of a village green, which together with the adjoining 
Beesley Green and undeveloped, and wooded land, comprises a well landscaped green 
area in marked contrast to the surrounding heavily developed areas of South East 
Lancashire.” 

3.2 As acknowledged by the Council, there is no record of any formal appraisal which 
informed the designation of the Conservation Area.  The boundary of the Conservation 
Area has remained unchanged and has never been reviewed.  Indeed, no appraisal has 
been undertaken until now.  Whilst the principle of undertaking the Council Appraisal is 
welcomed, it is important that it is thorough and robust and accords with relevant law, 
policy and guidance.  For reasons set out in this Heritage Assessment, it is not accepted 
that the Council Appraisal complies with these requirements in fundamental respects. 

The Character and Appearance of the Conservation Area 

3.3 Before considering in greater detail the contribution made by the Land, it is important to 
consider what defines the character and appearance of the Conservation Area. 

3.4 The Council Appraisal highlights that the arrangement of houses around a village green 
is ‘key in defining the special interest of the conservation area’ and this historic 
arrangement is described as ‘relatively unique within Greater Manchester’.  It is noted 
that Roe Green’s form derives directly from its medieval origins and reference is made 
to Pevsner’s observation that ‘in contrast to the surrounding suburbia it has the 
atmosphere of a village, with low houses around an ample green’. 

3.5 The Council Appraisal states that the early vernacular houses surrounding the village 
green (Roe Green) make a significant contribution to the special interest of the 
Conservation Area and despite incremental alterations they still ‘evoke’ the historic 
character of the area.  This is articulated as follows: 

“Roe Green developed as a settlement of modest cottages for the labouring classes and 
the simple vernacular form of the early cottages is central to its character.” 

3.6 The open nature of the land surrounding the Conservation Area is described as ‘key to 
its special interest and the contribution this makes to the impression of Roe Green/ 

Page 46



10 

Beesley Green as a ‘defined village within the urban area’.   This is considered in 
greater detail in Section 4 of this Heritage Assessment. 

3.7 It is also stated that part of the special interest of the Conservation Area is the extent to 
which its form and buildings reflect its historic development over time.  It is noted that 
unlike some other conservation areas that reflect one particular period in time, Roe 
Green/Beesley Green has developed over many centuries.   

3.8 The Council Appraisal divides the Conservation Area into three character areas.  Roe 
Green and the early cottages reflect the early form of the settlement which dates back 
to the medieval period, with groups of cottages arranged around common land.  The 
dwellings in this character area are 18th century in date or earlier.  With some 
exceptions, the form and layout of roads and buildings reflects its medieval form.  The 
Methodist Chapel is recognised as a prominent building within the character area.  The 
village green is described as being ‘central to the character of the Conservation Area as 
a whole’ and the form of rendered cottages in the vernacular style surrounding the green 
is intrinsic to the character of this part of the Conservation Area. 

3.9 The Victorian Terraces at Greenleach Lane is the second character area – this is 
described as an area defined by the terraced properties that were built in the late 
Victorian period following the construction of the railway line.  It is noted that these 
properties are significant in number and make up a large proportion of the total number 
of buildings within this character area.  The series of terraces to the south of Greenleach 
Lane are considered to provide a strong setting to the green with their consistent 
building line and uniformity of scale. 

3.10 Beesley Green and Kempnough Brook is the third character area, reportedly defined 
by its openness with large expanses of open land and woodland. It is noted that Beesley 
Green lies at the heart of the character area, ‘forming an open green surrounded by a 
cluster of buildings’.  Land to the south and east of the green is described as an 
‘extensive area of open land comprising Roe Green Cricket Club and agricultural land’.  
It is noted that at the centre of the agricultural land lies a large pond which may have 
been a former clay extraction pit for brickmaking.  The Council Appraisal states that the 
pond is fringed by vegetation, but the land is otherwise open in nature with far reaching 
views from the buildings around Beesley Green across this open expanse of land to the 
woodland along the course of Kempnough Brook which defines the southern boundary 
of the Conservation Area. 

3.11 In describing the history and development of the settlement, the following broad key 
stages are identified: 

• Medieval settlement consisting of a small rural hamlet.  

• 18th century expansion consisting of simple cottages built around the village green 
– still manifested today with buildings arranged around an open area of common 
land (Roe Green). 

• The Victorian period and the coming of the railway and modest terraced housing.  
The last decades of the 19th century saw the development of terraces of houses 
around Roe Green. 

Page 47



11 

• The coming of the East Lancashire Road in the 1930s and the next wave of 
housebuilding and suburban semi-detached houses.  The road lies to the north of 
Roe Green and its construction fundamentally altered the character of the village 
by dividing it from the open agricultural land which lay to the north.  ‘The 
construction of the road effectively resulted in the containment of Roe Green 
within a triangle of infrastructure, with the new road to the north, the Manchester 
to Wigan rail line to the south, and the colliery railway to the east’. 

3.12 It is noted within the Council Appraisal that over the course of the 20th century, the 
village of Roe Green has increasingly become subsumed within the wider conurbation of 
Greater Manchester.  Despite this, the Council Appraisal acknowledges that Roe 
Green/Beesley retains its identity as a ‘distinct village’ within the wider conurbation, with 
a ‘semi-rural’ character which is described as an ‘intrinsic part of its special interest’.    It 
is noted that the village has made a transition from a ‘solidly working class village’ to 
what is now described as a ‘highly desirable residential area within the wider suburban 
area of Worsley’.  

3.13 The character and appearance of the Conservation Area can be summarised as follows: 

Historic Development – The Conservation Area has an interesting history dating back to 
medieval times and Kempnough Hall, Roe Green and Beesley Green are tangible 
reminders of its early origins.  Later phases of development are also legible and the 
housing that was developed around the Greens has associations with the Duke of 
Bridgewater. 

Architectural Quality and Built Form – The domestic scale of the built form set around 
Roe Green is a defining feature, together with the strong linear effect of the terraces 
lining Greenleach Lane, contrasted with the more informal and organic arrangement of 
vernacular properties set within larger plots.  There is continuity to the palette of building 
materials within the Conservation Area, albeit these materials have been applied in 
different ways.  There are a number of individually distinctive buildings. 

Open Space, Parks and Gardens and Trees – Roe Green makes a significant 
contribution to the significance of the Conservation Area, together with the more 
enclosed and intimate character of Beesley Green (formed later with the coming of the 
railway).  The mature hedgerows and trees throughout the designated area contribute to 
its character.   

3.14 The woodland backdrop and glimpsed views of the fields beyond Beesley Green make a 
limited contribution to the character and appearance of the Conservation Area and this 
is considered in greater detail in the following sections of this Heritage Assessment. 

 

 

 

 

Page 48



12 

4. Assessment of Land to the South of 
Beesley Green (‘the Land’) 

Introduction and Context 

4.1 The Land is undeveloped and lies to the immediate south of Beesley Green. It sits on a 
relatively level plane and is surrounded by woodland plantations (Worsley Woods) on all 
but its northern boundary which is bounded by Roe Green Cricket Club.  Within the 
woodland runs the course of Kempnough Brook and along the eastern border of the 
Land is the Roe Green loop line Heritage Trail and National Cycle Route 55. 

4.2 Section 3 of the Council Appraisal is dedicated to defining the special interest of the 
Conservation Area. In addition to the other key attributes of the Conservation Area set 
out in Section 3 of this Heritage Assessment, paragraph 3.5 of the Council Appraisal 
states: 

“The open nature of the land surrounding the conservation area is also key to its special 
interest Whilst Roe Green witnessed significant expansion from the late 19th century to 
the mid 20th century, the open land which lies to the south of the village contributes 
significantly to the sense of Roe Green/Beesley Green as a defined village within the 
urban area.  This open land separates Roe Green from Worsley to the south and 
provides a semi-rural setting for Beesley Green and for Roe Green Cricket Ground, 
affording open views south and east towards Worsley Woods.  The expanse of open 
land fringed by woodland which characterises the southern half of the conservation area 
in integral in defining the character of Roe Green and Beesley Green as a distinct village 
within the wider conurbation.”  

4.3 In describing the Beesley Green and Kempnough Brook character area, the Council 
Appraisal states that it is defined by its openness with large expanses of open land and 
woodland.  Beesley Green itself is described as being at the heart of the character area, 
forming an open green surrounded by a cluster of buildings. 

4.4 The Council Appraisal states the following in relation to the Land at paragraph 6.16: 

“The semi-rural character of this area, with its expanse of open land fringed by 
woodland, makes a major contribution to the character of the conservation area as a 
whole.  The open nature of this area is central to retaining the form of Roe Green and 
Beesley Green as a distinct village surrounded by open land.  It serves to separate the 
village from Worsley and maintains this historic separation which has existed since the 
origins of the settlement at Roe Green in the medieval period.  The cricket ground has a 
key place in the social history of Roe Green, and the open views from the cricket ground 
are an important dimension in defining the semi-rural village character of Roe Green 
and Beesley Green.” 

4.5 In terms of identifying key views – the open views south and eastwards from the cricket 
ground across agricultural land are identified at paragraph 6.17 as being key in defining 
the semi-rural character of this part of the Conservation  Area, and it is stated that this 
‘evokes the sense of a cricket ground on the edge of a rural village’ and that the 

Page 49



13 

‘established woodland along the course of the Kempnough Brook frames these views 
and marks the extent of their reach’.  

4.6 The following is stated at paragraph 6.53: 

“There is a large expanse of agricultural land to the south and east of the cricket ground, 
which extends to the woodland which follows the course of Kempnough Brook.  There is 
a large pond at its centre which may have been a former clay extraction pit for 
brickmaking.  The land is in private ownership and whilst there is no private access, its 
open aspect is intrinsic to the setting of the cricket ground, and makes a significant 
contribution to the character of the conservation area as a whole.  It affords physical 
separation from the suburban development of Worsley and thereby reinforces the sense 
of Roe Green and Beesley Green as a distinct village within the wider conurbation.  In 
affording extensive open views from the cricket ground towards the woodland it also 
evokes the aspect of a semi-rural village which is a key component of the special 
interest of the conservation area.” 

4.7 Within the Council Appraisal, the Council refers to ‘development pressure on open land 
in private ownership’ within a section entitled ‘Problems, pressures and capacity for 
change’.  It states the following: 

“The open land to the south and east of Roe Green Cricket Ground is in private 
ownership.  In 2012 the landowner published plans which identified their aspiration to 
develop housing in this location.  As set out above, the open aspect of this land is 
intrinsic to the setting of the cricket ground, and makes a significant contribution to the 
character of the conservation area as a whole.” 

Overview of History and Development of the Land 

16th Century and 17th Century 
4.8 The settlement at Roe Green is first documented in the Manchester Parish Register of 

1588 which records a land dispute between Sir Richard Brereton of Worsley Hall and 
Gilbert Sherington of neighbouring Wardley Hall. Richard Brereton stated that he had 
inherited a “parcel of waste called Roe Green, and a parcel of turbary and moss ground 
called Linnyshaw”1.  

4.9 This land dispute2 continued until 1598 when Francis Sherington finally agreed to a 
settlement, resulting in Roe Green becoming under the jurisdiction of Sir Richard 
Brereton and the Manor of Worsley3. A plan produced in c.1590 (Figure 1, Appendix 1) 
as part of the land dispute4 identifies the area as ‘The Roogrine the land in varafied’.  

4.10 This plan shows a recognisable settlement at Roe Green comprising an area of open 
land crossed by tracks and surrounded by around twenty dwellings.  Known then as 
‘Roogrine’ it appears as the largest settlement in the surrounding area at this time.  By 
the 16th century it was well established as a settlement of farms and cottages around an 
area of common land; however it is likely that a hamlet had existed in this location since 

                                                      
1  Victoria County History,  A History of the County of Lancaster: Volume 4, Worsley, 1911 
2  STAC 5/S18.35 – 1 D – 27 Eliz – Gilbert Sherington v Richard Brereton 
3  H R Hart-Davis & Strachan Holme, A Short History of Wardley Hall, 1908 
4  H Wickham, Worsley in the Eighteenth Century: A Study of Lancashire Landscape 

Page 50



14 

at least the 13th century, having developed to house agricultural labourers working the 
manorial land of the Manors of Worsley and Walkden.   

4.11 The 1590 map (Figure 1, Appendix 1) provides the first reference to the name ‘Beesley’ 
and a building situated next to ‘The Haule of Kempnough’ is named ‘The Besley’, well 
enclosed by a track/road and separated from the land to the east and south. This, 
together with the fact that it is given a specific name and there is a distinction from the 
neighbouring ‘Haule of Kempnough’ implies that it was in separate ownership to the 
Kempnough estate.  Indeed, it is believed that the site may have been occupied by 
Thomas Besley, a local farmer5. 

17th Century and 18th Century 
4.12 During this period Roe Green comprised a small number of farms and cottages which 

housed the labouring classes employed in agriculture and land loom weaving.  In 1716 a 
Thomas Collier left in his will a property yielding a yearly rental to endow a school for the 
education of poor young boys in Worsley.  In 1727 the First Duke of Bridgewater gave 
land at Roe Green on which to build a school. The school and an adjoining school 
house were built in the 1730s on land to the north of the land, at the eastern end of 
Beesley Green.  By 1752 a three storey district poorhouse had been built next to the 
school, and this collection of buildings remains today as cottages at 253, 253A and 254 
Beesley Green.   

4.13 During the latter half of the 18th century Worsley underwent a period of significant 
expansion associated with the industrial activities of the Third Duke of Bridgewater and 
he and his associates constructed a network of underground tunnels (over 40 miles) 
which transported coal from the mines at Worsley to the industrial centres of Salford and 
Manchester. 

4.14 In 1764 the Manor of Worsley was mapped (Figure 3, Appendix 1) in order to record the 
land ownership of the Third Duke. The Manor Map clearly shows the boundaries of the 
Manors of Worsley Hall and Wardley Hall with ‘Row Green’ situated in the middle. The 
map depicts ‘Roe Green’ as being comprised of an area of common land crossed by 
several un-named route ways and ringed by a small collection of dwellings.   

4.15 A collection of enclosed fields lay to the immediate south of the school and Beesley Hall 
– several of which formed part of the Land.   

Late 18th Century to Early 19th Century 
4.16 During the late 18th century and shortly after the Manor Map was prepared, Roe Green 

saw some expansion and several cottages were constructed from brick and slate on the 
perimeter of the Green by the Third Duke of Bridgewater to house the workers of his 
various enterprises. The Duke commissioned the first commercial canal in 1769, created 
principally for transporting coal from the various pits he established. The Manor Map 
suggests that by 1764, the principal green at the centre of the village had been formally 
laid, having grown organically since the 15th century.   

4.17 Upon the death of the Third Duke, the Bridgewater Trust was established to manage the 
estate on behalf of his beneficiaries.  It has been suggested that the stunted growth of 

                                                      
5  B Tyldesley, The Duke’s Other Village. The Roe Green Story, 1993 

Page 51



15 

Roe Green during this period was due to a deliberate embargo on expansion and 
development by the Bridgewater Trust.  There is however no evidence of this restriction 
in the archives of the Trust and it is more likely that development waned as younger 
occupants of the settlement moved out to surrounding settlements to seek more 
profitable work. 

4.18 During this period the land to the south of Beesley Green is mapped as being comprised 
of a series of enclosed fields which contained three small ponds (OS Map 1848) (Figure 
4, Appendix 1). 

Mid to Late 19th Century  
4.19 During the nineteenth century, the Trust continued to consolidate the estate, acquiring 

Walter Bagot’s land to the north and a Mr Cooks land to the south, amongst other areas.  
In 1874, the Bridgewater Trust acquired the former estate of Kempnough Hall including 
large swathes of land to the south of Roe Green from the Starkie family.  

4.20 By 1850, the first section of the Eccles/Wigan railway line had been cut by the second 
Earl of Ellesmere, supported by the directors of the North Western Railway Company. 
This was the culmination of a twelve year long struggle against the principal landowners, 
the Bridgewater Trustees, who feared a railway line would threaten their canal, and the 
various coaching companies and turnpike trusts serving the routes to Manchester and 
elsewhere. 

4.21 By 1864, another line was constructed which widened the cut to the southern perimeter 
of Roe Green. One immediate result of the cutting of the railway line was the separation 
of the Beesley area from Roe Green, creating two separate and distinct entities.  It is 
noted within the Council Appraisal that the coming of the railway ‘had a very significant 
impact on Roe Green’, the most obvious of which was the physical subdivision of the 
village.  The railway effectively cut through the middle of Roe Green with a smaller area 
of common land and a cluster of dwellings around Kempnough Hall and Lumber Lane 
lying to the west of the line.  A road bridge was constructed over the line at Lumber 
Lane, to connect the two parts of the village.  Following this forced subdivision, the 
common land to the west of the railway line subsequently became known as Beesley 
Green.  

4.22 The coming of the railway prompted the sale of many of the plots within the eastern half 
of the settlement by the Bridgewater Trust and these are now occupied by rows of 
terraced houses. 

4.23 The area which now forms Beesley Green however remained relatively unchanged.  
The Land remained undeveloped although several of the field boundaries had been 
removed and a sand pit appeared along its eastern boundary – likely as a result of the 
construction of the Manchester to Wigan railway line. 

4.24 Following the expansion of the village, the green became an area of concern for 
residents and this led to an Inquiry in 1895 into Roe Green and Beesley Green and their 
use as common land.  The Council’s representatives resolved that: 

“There is no doubt that Roe Green and Beesley Green are common lands and we would 
suggest the signboards be affixed to that effect.” 

Page 52



16 

“...the road across the centre of Roe Green beginning at Green Leach Lane and running 
towards Daub Hole (Old Clough Lane) be reserved for foot passengers only and that a 
sign board be placed at the end of the road directing vehicles to use the paved road on 
the South side of the Green”, and 

“There was also a unanimous opinion that arrangements should be made for placing the 
Greens under control and management of the Council.” 

4.25 Soon afterwards this last recommendation was acted upon, and an agreement was 
reached in 1898 between the Bridgewater Estates and the Council whereby jurisdiction 
passed to the latter, on the understanding that the Green was maintained as a public 
recreation ground and the roads surrounding were kept in good order. 

Early 20th Century 
4.26 The village continued to expand into the twentieth century.  The period to the late 1920s 

saw modest expansion and infilling. Between 1930 and the mid-1960s there was more 
extensive development within much of the surrounding area, including large elements of 
the former Kempnough Hall Estate, being redeveloped for housing and transport 
infrastructure.  The East Lancashire Road (A580) was constructed in 1934. 

4.27 The eastern part of the settlement remained relatively unchanged.  The OS survey of 
1909 shows that the Land remained in use as agricultural pasture land and the ponds at 
its centre had begun to merge to form one large pond. To the south of the study area 
the Worsley Woods plantation had been extended so that the woods now followed the 
line of the Kempnough Brook bordering both the southern and western boundaries of 
the study area.  To the north of the study area the school had once again been 
extended and a Cricket Ground and small changing block had been laid out along the 
northern border of the study area. 

4.28 The OS survey map of 1928-29 (Figure 8, Appendix 1) shows no change to the Land.  
The survey does however show that the Worsley Wood Plantation had been further 
extended and at this time occupied the entire southern and western borders of the Land. 

Late 20th Century    
4.29 The most significant intervention in the late 20th century was the construction of the M60 

in the late 1960s/early 1970s.  The M60, together with the East Lancashire Road 
contain the village and are a strong presence physically, visually and acoustically. 

4.30 Since the late 20th century the Land has remained open and is occasionally used as 
pasture for grazing. The area surrounding the Land has been subject to some change 
and redevelopment which includes the construction of an ‘L’ shaped block of housing to 
the immediate south-east of Beesley Hall, the construction of a Tennis Club to the 
immediate north of the court and the widening of the cricket ground. The former 
Manchester to Wigan Railway Line now forms the Roe Green Loop Line. 

Page 53



17 

Contribution made by the Land to the Character and Appearance of 
the Conservation Area 

Legislation, Policy and Guidance Context 
4.31 As set out in Section 2 of this Heritage Assessment, conservation area designation 

(including subsequent review) is concerned with the protection of areas of ‘special 
architectural or historic interest’. It must be desirable to preserve the character or 
appearance of such areas.  It is trite law that designation is not a mechanism for the 
protection of individual buildings or sites (see R (Arndale Properties Ltd) v Worcester 
City Council (2008)). 

4.32 In addition, in the case of R. v. Canterbury City Council ex p. Halford (1992) the High 
Court held that not every part of a conservation area needed to be of special historic or 
architectural interest.  The Court said that a conservation area could include the 
landscape setting of a village which was of special historic or architectural interest.  
However that was not to allow the creation of a buffer zone but on the basis that the 
area of special interest extended that far.  The designation in that case was quashed 
because the committee was not informed of the protection that could be given by tree 
preservation orders or the existing area of outstanding natural beauty.   

4.33 As stated at paragraph 2.15 of this Assessment, Historic England recently published 
revised guidance on conservation area designation, appraisal and management.  The 
Council Appraisal pre-dates this guidance and has therefore not been prepared in 
accordance with it. The revised guidance published by Heritage England refers to 
conservation areas that are designated because of green spaces; it states ‘green 
spaces’ should be an ‘essential’ component of a wider historic area.  More specifically, 
paragraph 12 of the guidance clearly states that conservation area designation is not 
generally an appropriate means of protecting the wider landscape.  It states that it can 
protect open areas, but particularly where: 

“the character and appearance concerns historic fabric, to which the principal protection 
offered by conservation area designated relates.” 

4.34 An example of this could be a park laid out by an industrialist, a village green or a rural 
context integral to a hamlet and to which the principal protection relates. 

4.35 Of relevance to the consideration of the Land is the Historic England advice on 
treatment of open spaces within or immediately outside the Conservation Area.  It notes 
the following key considerations: 

• Their enclosure and their visual, and/or other sensory contribution to the 
character of the place.  

• The relationship between public space (such as a market place, street, square, 
public garden or car park) and private space (gardens, courtyards or playing 
fields). 

• The qualities they offer and the ways in which the spaces were and are used, and 
the identification of key settlement edges.  

Page 54



18 

Historic Interest   
4.36 A plan of 1590 (Figure 1, Appendix 1) prepared as part of a land dispute depicts the 

Land as potentially forming part of open land crossed by several route ways and 
surrounded by around 20 dwellings, which formed the settlement ‘Roogrine’.  The Duke 
of Bridgewater Estate Map of 1764 (Figure 2, Appendix 1) shows the Land in more 
detail and reveals that it contained a series of field boundaries which divided it into 
seven enclosed fields, Beesley Green and the nearby school to the east are identified to 
the North West.   

4.37 By the OS survey of 1848 (Figure 4, Appendix 1) several of the field boundaries within 
the northern half of the Land had disappeared most likely as a result of the construction 
of the Manchester to Wigan Railway.  By the end of the 19th century all but two of the 
field boundaries had been removed and by the mid-20th century the Land appears as 
one large open plot.  This map also shows the effect of the Eccles/Wigan railway 
divorcing and physically disconnecting the Land from the principal area of Roe Green.   
By 1864, another railway line was formed which widened the cutting between the 
southern perimeter of Roe Green and the Land.  

4.38 Between the Bridgewater Estate Plan of 1764 and the OS survey of 1848, three 
amorphous shaped ponds appear within the centre of the Land.  The OS survey of 1893 
(Figure 6, Appendix 1) depicts the ponds as being interconnected with issues running 
southwards into the Kempnough Brook. The ponds appear unaltered on all subsequent 
OS mapping up to 1970, by which time the most southerly pond had disappeared.  The 
ponds still survive onsite today however they now form one large pond which is 
surrounded by trees and shrubs. The Council Appraisal suggests that they may have 
been former clay extraction pits for brickmaking. 

4.39 The OS survey of 1848 (Figure 4, Appendix 1) depicts a footpath running across the 
centre of the Land from Toad Lane to the south-east up towards the Beesley Green 
School. By the OS survey of 1894 the footpath had disappeared. 

4.40 The OS survey of 1893 (Figure 6, Appendix 1) depicts a linear feature labelled ‘Sand Pit’ 
on the north-eastern boundary of the Land, abutting the western edge of the Manchester 
to Wigan Railway Line. Although not labelled, the sand pit does appear on the OS 
surveys of 1909, 1937 and 1970; however after the dismantling of the former railway line 
the site was occupied by the new plantations which today form part of Worsley Woods.  

4.41 Historic map regression and visual site inspection show that, although the Land remains 
undeveloped, the rural and agrarian qualities of it have diminished due to: (i) the gradual 
loss of historic field boundaries and definition; and (ii) the  intrusion/change created by 
significant road and rail infrastructure.  The Land is not part of an area of open 
countryside.  It is bounded by the M60 motorway and former railway line (now the Roe 
Green Loopline).  Any rural character of the Land is undermined by the presence of, and 
noise intrusion arising from, the M60 motorway.  Indeed, the Council Appraisal states 
that the heavily trafficked M60 results in significant noise impact at this part of the 
Conservation Area and the traffic on the motorway is visible from the Land during the 
winter months. 

4.42 An Archaeological Desk Based Assessment of the Land has been prepared by The 
Centre for Applied Archaeology.  (This is included at Appendix 3.) 

Page 55



19 

4.43 In considering the baseline significance conditions, cartographic and documentary 
sources have identified the following surface and possibly below ground remains within 
the Land: 

• Field Boundaries – Late 16th century, possibly earlier. 

• Ponds and Footpath – Early to Mid-19th century. 

• Sand Pit – Mid to Late 19th century. 

4.44 The significance of these remains is described as follows: 

“The sites identified within the study area are common historic elements within the 
North-West region and as such would not be considered to have any archaeological 
rarity….The heritage assets contained within the study area represent a contemporary 
group of features which are commonly found on the rural fringes of most urban 
settlements within the North-West region.” 

4.45 Cartographic sources alongside the site visit undertaken by The Centre for Applied 
Archaeology established that only two of the four sites identified by the archaeological 
desk based report survive as surface remains.  These include the pond at the centre of 
the Land which survives intact and the former sand pit which is still visible as a tree filled 
hollow. Even if traces of the former field boundaries and footpath may survive below 
ground however these remains are unlikely to be substantial and may have been 
damaged through animal grazing. 

4.46  The Centre for Applied Archaeology conclude as follows: 

“On the evidence available the archaeological remains identified within the study area 
are of negligible or little archaeological value and as such could not be considered to 
have national, regional or local significance.”   

Architectural/Visual Interest 
4.47 Historic photographs of the Roe Green Junction Railway show that there was limited 

planting between the Land, Beesley Green and Roe Green. This will mean that there 
were wider views of Worsley Woods from much of the Roe Green area up until the 
Bridgewater Trust constructed cottages along the railway line in the mid to late 20th 
century6. Since that time, there has been extensive/widespread introduction of planting 
to the boundaries of the railway cutting which has gradually screened the Land in views 
from Roe Green and the north.  

4.48 This additional planting may have coincided with the planting undertaken in the early 
20th century (OS map of 1909) to the south, principally focussed along the boundary of 
Worsley Woods. This shows a large area of new plantations to the south east and south 
of the Land. The Roe Green Cricket Ground was also introduced in the 20th century to 
the north of the Land, adjacent to Beesley School. During this time, there was no built 
was less built development in or around Beesley Hall and historic photographs identify 
that there was a greater degree of visibility between the Land and Beesley Hall.  

                                                      
6  B Tyldesley, The Duke’s Other Village. The Roe Green Story, 1993 

Page 56



20 

4.49 By 1937, additional planting had been added to the south of Worsley Woods, to the 
south of the Land. The construction of the M60 in the late 1960s/early 1970s involved 
the removal of large areas of Worsley Woods to the south east of the Land. This was 
later replaced by a ‘New Plantation’ as evidenced by the OS map of 1970). The map 
also identifies an area for tennis courts to the east of Beesley Hall and the bowling 
green is formally identified.  

4.50 In the late 20th century, a large residential dwelling was constructed to the immediate 
east of Beesley Hall and further development took place adjacent to the nearby school. 
These buildings, together with the existing school, modern and historic cricket pavilion 
buildings and later planting have largely enclosed the formerly open Beesley Green. 
This visual enclosure has substantially reduced intermittent views of Worsley Woods 
from Beesley Green.  

4.51 Today, the Land comprises open and undeveloped land to the south and south east of 
Beesley Green, beyond the cricket ground, which is largely enclosed and screened from 
the wider Conservation Area.  It is therefore not easily appreciable or experienced from 
a large part of the designated area and its physical and visual presence and contribution 
to the Conservation Area is limited.  Views of the land southwards from Beesley Green 
are only glimpsed and interrupted by existing built development (as shown in Figure 9 at 
Appendix 2) or are filtered by tree cover lining the railway cutting to the east of Beesley 
Hall.  During winter months the tree cover is less, but views of the Land are still filtered 
and the lawn of the cricket ground is the more visible and distinctive area of open space 
in views from the east (this is illustrated in Figures 16 to 21 at Appendix 2.)  The only 
clear and open views across the Land are from the southern extent of the cricket 
ground.   

4.52 The Council Appraisal notes that Beesley Green is considerably smaller than Roe 
Green ‘and is generally more enclosed in its character’.  This is true and the ‘open 
views’ across it are limited to glimpsed views from Beesley Green itself and from the 
cricket ground. 

Proposed Boundary Amendment 
4.53 Much of the Conservation Area has an interesting history dating back to medieval times 

and Kempnough Hall, Roe Green and Beesley Green are tangible reminders of its early 
origins.  Later phases of development are also legible and the housing that was 
developed around the Greens has associations with the Duke of Bridgewater. 

4.54 The domestic scale of the built form set around Roe Green is a defining feature, 
together with the strong linear effect of the terraces lining Greenleach Lane, contrasted 
with the more informal and organic arrangement of vernacular properties set within 
larger plots.  There is continuity to the palette of building materials within the 
Conservation Area, albeit these materials have been applied in different ways.  There 
are a number of individually distinctive buildings. 

4.55 Roe Green makes a significant contribution to the significance of the Conservation Area, 
together with the more enclosed and intimate character of Beesley Green (formed later 
with the coming of the railway).   

Page 57



21 

4.56 However, when read as a whole it is evident that the Council Appraisal purports to retain 
the Land within the Conservation Area by virtue of its openness.  It is not accepted that 
this represents a legitimate approach.  In particular, the Land is not an ‘essential 
component’ of a wider historic area as referenced in the Historic England guidance, nor 
is it an open area where its character and appearance concerns historic fabric, ‘to which 
the principal protection offered by conservation area designation relates’.  Indeed the 
rural origins of the village and its ‘atmosphere of a village’ are manifested by other 
features/aspects and characteristics of the Conservation Area, such as the retained Roe 
Green and Beesley Green.  Whereas, the Land is an area of privately owned agricultural 
land that is distinct and separate to the historic Greens – the open spaces that define 
the spatial pattern and qualities of the village.  Any rural character of the Land has been 
diminished by the loss of field boundaries and the construction and operation of the 
motorway. In addition, the high level of enclosure around Beesley Green means that the 
Land is not easily appreciable or experienced from the wider Conservation Area.  
Indeed, it is only visible in views from the cricket ground, beyond the cricket ground and 
in glimpsed views from Beesley Green. 

4.57 In view of the above, the contribution made by the Land is limited to its value as an area 
of open agricultural land that reflects the former rural origins and backdrop of the village.  
Views of the Land from the cricket ground and other glimpsed views, including those of 
the tree belt to the south of the Land make a limited contribution to the character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area.   

4.58 For these reasons the Land is not of ‘special architectural or historic interest’.  Whilst it 
forms part of the setting of the Conservation Area, it is plain that it does not meet the 
high test required for inclusion within the Conservation Area itself.  To ensure that the 
designation is not devalued, and to accord with established policy and legal 
requirements, the Land, should be removed from the Conservation Area.  

4.59 Sufficient safeguards are in place to ensure that any development within the setting of 
the Conservation Area would need to preserve those elements of setting that contribute 
to its significance.  In addition to the relevant statutory test set out in the Act and 
national policy in the NPPF, Historic England has published specific guidance on how 
the setting of heritage assets and the effect of development on setting should be 
assessed, including advice on now to maximise enhancement and minimise harm.    

4.60 A plan showing the proposed revised Conservation Area boundary (excluding the Land) 
has been prepared and is included at Appendix 4. 

Page 58



22 

5. Other Observations 
5.1 It is trite law that, when discharging its duty pursuant to Section 66 of the 1990 Act, the 

Council must act fairly and consistently having regards to all material policy and 
guidance and disregarding all immaterial considerations; and in this context, the 
following additional comments are made. 

Land east of Crossfield Drive 

5.2 Land to the east of Crossfield Drive is described in the Council Appraisal as a small area 
of agricultural land.  It is noted that it is ‘relatively enclosed in character’ and it is 
concluded that the enclosed nature of the land means that it makes a limited 
contribution to the character and appearance of the Conservation Area.  It is concluded 
that there is no key historical association between this land and the rest of the 
Conservation Area and that the rationale for its inclusion within the designated 
Conservation Area boundary in 1970 is unclear.  As such it is proposed to remove this 
area of land from the Conservation Area boundary.  Peel agrees with the Council's 
assessment of the value of this land and supports its proposed removal from the 
Conservation Area. 

69 and 71 Lumber Lane and 2 – 9 Hardy Grove 

5.3 The Council Appraisal proposes that Nos 69 & 71 Lumber Lane and 2 to 9 Hardy Grove 
should be included within the Conservation Area boundary.  The reason for this is 
attributed to the association that these properties have with the Tyldesley family and the 
‘handsome construction’ of the properties.  It is concluded that ‘their architectural value 
contributes positively to the character of the conservation area’. 

5.4 As identified within the Council Appraisal, these properties are Edwardian and built in 
the early 20th century.  They are typical of the period and are red brick semi-detached 
houses.  They have projecting ground floor frontages to the west side of Hardy Grove 
and are bay fronted to the east side of the street. These properties are not well-
preserved.  Doors and windows have been replaced with modern UPVC units, former 
recessed doorways have been infilled and one of the properties has been extended to 
create a garage.   

5.5 Given their low architectural value and the extent to which they have been altered, it is 
not accepted that an association with the local Tyldesley family is sufficient reason to 
include these properties within the Conservation Area.  These properties and the  
streets within which they are located, are not of ‘special architectural or historic interest’ 
and this area should therefore not be added to the Conservation Area.   

5.6 This is reflected on the proposed revised Conservation Area boundary plan included at 
Appendix 4. 

Development Pressures  

5.7 The Council Appraisal identifies ‘Development pressure on open land in private 
ownership'.  We are concerned that such factors have improperly influenced the overall 

Page 59



23 

conclusions of the Council Appraisal as to the specific extent of the Conservation Area, 
which would be contrary to policy and case law.  This erroneous approach is 
exacerbated by the fact that the Council Appraisal fails to set out a ‘positive strategy’ or 
management plan for the conservation and enjoyment of the historic environment.  This 
is contrary to the NPPF, which emphasises the desirability of new development making 
a positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness and opportunities to draw 
on the contribution made by the historic environment to the character of a place.   

5.8 The Council Appraisal is also contrary to paragraph 137 of the NPPF which states that 
local planning authorities should actively ‘look for opportunities for new developments 
within conservation areas to enhance or better reveal their significance’.   

5.9 The Historic England guidance ‘Good Practice Advice in Planning 1’ refers to the 
evidence base for plan making, but makes it clear that it should not be a ‘passive 
exercise’.  It requires a plan for the maintenance and use of heritage assets and for the 
‘delivery of development’ including within their setting that will afford adequate protection 
for the asset and make a ‘positive contribution to character and distinctiveness’.  

5.10 The guidance highlights that local distinctiveness can ‘inspire well designed new 
development’ which brings economic and social benefits which are valued by both local 
planning authorities and local communities.  It also clearly states that change is 
inevitable, but ‘not necessarily harmful and often beneficial’ and the guidance sets out 
ways of managing change in a way that conserves and enhances historic areas. 

5.11 Importantly for the Land to the south of Beesley Green, Land east of Crossfield Drive 
and off Lumber Lane, the Historic England guidance includes guidance on local 
planning policies and development management policies which could include the 
following: 

• Protection of important views and vistas. 

• An urban design strategy for securing good design quality in new development. 

• Development/design briefs for key sites. 

• Development opportunities for sensitive developments within the conservation 
area. 

5.12 The Council Appraisal has failed to have regard (either properly or at all) to the Historic 
England guidance (and the NPPF).  By way of example, and by reference to the Land, 
the Council Appraisal has omitted to explore ways in which new development could be 
accommodated in such a way that the character and appearance of the Conservation 
Area would be preserved or enhanced.   

5.13 The same principles apply in relation to any future development potential of land to the 
east of Crossfield Drive and land off Lumber Lane.  

5.14 The Roe Green/Beesley Green Conservation Area is an area that has experienced 
development and change.  This has been accommodated in such a way that its 
character and appearance is preserved and the area is still worthy of statutory 

Page 60



24 

designation.  There are further opportunities for new sensitive development and this 
should be acknowledged in the Council Appraisal. 

Page 61



 

Appendix 1: Historic Maps 
  

Page 62



 

 

 

Figure 1: Map of 1590 
(Source: H Wickham, Worsley in the Eighteenth Century: A Study of Lancashire 
Landscape) 

  

Page 63



 

Figure 2: Duke of Bridgewater’s Estate Plan of 1764 
(Source: Salford City Council – Roe Green Beesley Green Draft Conservation Area 
Appraisal) 

  

Page 64



 

 

 

Figure 3: Manor Map of 1764 
(Source: H Wickham, Worsley in the Eighteenth Century: A Study of Lancashire 
Landscape) 

Page 65



 

 

 

Figure 4: Ordnance Survey Map of 1848-50 
(Source: Landmark) 

Page 66



 

 

Figure 5: Map of Kempnough Hall Estate, 1874 
(Source: Salford City Archives) 

Page 67



 

 

 

Figure 6: Ordnance Survey Map of 1893 
(Source: Landmark) 

Page 68



 

 

 

Figure 7: Ordnance Survey Map of 1928-29 
(Source: Landmark) 

Page 69



 

 

 

 

Figure 8: Ordnance Survey Map of 1963-73 
(Source: Landmark) 

 
 

Page 70



 

Appendix 2: Photographs 
  

Page 71



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 9: Beesley Hall & Green, looking south  
(source:  Archaeological Desk-Based Assessment Report, The Centre for Applied 
Archaeology, Salford University) 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 10: Beesley Green and Community Centre, looking south-east  
(source:  Archaeological Desk-Based Assessment Report, The Centre for Applied 
Archaeology, Salford University) 

 

Page 72



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 11: Land within the study area looking north-east  

(source:  Archaeological Desk-Based Assessment Report, The Centre for Applied 
Archaeology, Salford University) 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 12: Land within the study area looking north  
(source:  Archaeological Desk-Based Assessment Report, The Centre for Applied 
Archaeology, Salford University) 
 

Page 73



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 13: Land within the study area looking north-west  
(source:  Archaeological Desk-Based Assessment Report, The Centre for Applied 
Archaeology, Salford University) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 14: Land within the study area looking south-west  
(source:  Archaeological Desk-Based Assessment Report, The Centre for Applied 
Archaeology, Salford University) 

 
 

Page 74



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 15: Pond at centre of the study area, now surrounded by trees, looking west  
(source:  Archaeological Desk-Based Assessment Report, The Centre for Applied 
Archaeology, Salford University) 

 
Figure 16: View towards the Cricket Ground, looking south east  

Page 75



 

Figure 17: View towards the Cricket Ground, looking south east 

Figure 18: View towards the Cricket Ground, looking south 

  

Page 76



 

Figure 19: View towards the Cricket Ground with the Land beyond, looking south east 

Figure 20: View towards the Cricket Ground with the Land beyond, looking south east  

 

Page 77



 

Figure 21: View from the railway cutting towards the Cricket Ground, looking south east 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 78



 

Appendix 3: Desk Based Archaeological 
Assessment 

 

  

Page 79



Page 80



 

Page | 1  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

Site Location:    The study area lies to the south of Beesley Green which forms part of the 
township of Worsley in Salford, Greater Manchester. 

 
 
NGR:                    NGR: SD 74973 01406 
 
 
Internal Ref:     (CfAA/15/2016) 
 
 
Planning Ref:     N/A 
 
 
Prepared for:       Peel Holdings 
 
 
Document Title:  Archaeological Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley. 
 
                                 
Document Type:  Desk-Based Assessment. 
 
 
Version:     Version 2.0 
  
  
Author:      Vicky Nash, BA Hons, PG dip.  
Position:       Senior Archaeologist   
Date:                   March 2016                                                Signed:…………………..   
 
 
Approved by:       Adam J Thompson BA Hons, MA, MIFA    
Position:                Director of Archaeology  
Date:                   March 2016                                                Signed:………………….. 
 
 
Copyright:      Copyright for this document remains with the Centre for Applied  
                               Archaeology, University of Salford. 
 
Contact:      Salford Archaeology, Centre for Applied Archaeology, LG 19 – 25 Peel Building,     
                            University of Salford, the Crescent, Salford, M5 4WU.  
 
      Telephone: 0161 295 4009            Email: v.nash@salford.ac.uk 
 
 
Disclaimer:  
 
This document has been prepared by the Centre for Applied Archaeology, University of Salford for the titled project or 
named part thereof and should not be used or relied upon for any other project without an independent check being 
undertaken to assess its suitability and the prior written consent and authority obtained from the Centre for Applied 
Archaeology.  The University of Salford accepts no responsibility or liability for the consequences of this document being 
used for a purpose other than those for which it was commissioned. Other persons/parties using or relying on this document 
for other such purposes agrees, and will by such use or reliance be taken to confirm their agreement to indemnify the 
University of Salford for all loss or damage resulting therefrom.  The University of Salford accepts no liability or 
responsibility for this document to any other party/persons than by whom it was commissioned. 

  

Page 81



 

Page | 2  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

Contents 

 

 

Summary……………………………………………………………………………………..3 

1. Introduction …………………………………………………………………………4 

2. Methodology Statement …………………………………………………………….6 

3. The Setting …………………………………………………………………………..7 

4. Archaeological and Historical Background ………………………………………10 

5. Gazetteer of Sites …………………………………………………………………...16 

6. Significance of the Remains ………………………………………………………..22 

7. Sources ………………………………………………………………………………26 

8. Archive ……………………………………………………………………………...28 

9. Appendix 1: Mapping ……………………………………………………………...29 

10. Appendix 2: Site Visit Photographs ……………………………………………….37 

11. Appendix 3: Historic Environment Record Data…………………………………43 

  

Page 82



 

Page | 3  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

Summary 

 
 
In March 2016 Salford Archaeology was commissioned by Turley acting on 
behalf of Peel Holdings, to undertake an archaeological Desk-Based Assessment 
on land to the south of Beesley Green in Worsley, Greater Manchester, which 
forms part of the Roe Green and Beesley Green Conservation Area (NGR: SD 
74973 01406) .  

 
The aim of the archaeological assessment was to identify as far as possible the 
nature, extent and significance of the archaeological resource so as to enable 
informed recommendations to be made for the future treatment of any surviving 
remains. This information was required in light of a conservation area appraisal 
document currently under public consultation, which will be used as a material 
consideration in decision making on all planning applications that may impact 
upon the character or appearance of the Roe Green / Beesley Green conservation 
area. 
 
Historical research has revealed that from the late 16th century through to the 
present day, the land contained within the study area has been open pasture used 
for grazing livestock, (Figures 2 to 8). The only notable developments to have 
taken place within the study area, were the establishment of three ponds (Site 2) 
and a footpath (Site 3) during the early 19th century and a sand pit (Site 4) during 
the late 19th century, which was most likely associated with the construction of the 
Manchester to Wigan Railway line in the 1860’s (Site 5), which ran along the 
eastern border of the study area, (Figures 2 to 4). The site has remained unaltered 
since the late 19th century and is today used to graze horses. 

On the evidence available the archaeological remains identified within the study 
area are of negligible or little archaeological value and as such could not be 
considered to have national, regional or local significance. The significance of the 
site with regards to its contribution to the special interest of the Roe Green/Beesley 
Green conservation area is something which does not fall within the remit of this 
report and as such would require further specialist assessment. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 83



 

Page | 4  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

1. Introduction 

 

 

1.1           Planning Background 
 

In March 2016 Salford Archaeology was commissioned by Turley acting on 
behalf of Peel Holdings, to undertake an archaeological Desk-Based Assessment 
on land to the south of Beesley Green in Worsley, Greater Manchester, which 
forms part of the Roe Green and Beesley Green Conservation Area (NGR: SD 
74973 01406) .  

 
The aim of the archaeological assessment was to identify as far as possible the 
nature, extent and significance of the archaeological resource of the site. 

 
 
1.2          Government and Local Planning Policies 

 

1.2.1        National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

The significance of the archaeological resource identified within this report has 
been assessed as recommended in National Planning Policy Framework 
(Department for Local Communities, March 2012). 

NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies and outlines the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development, which is defined by three principles: economic, 
social and environmental.  Of the twelve core planning principles underpinning 
plan and decision making, conserving “heritage assets in a manner appropriate to 
their significance, so they can be enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life 
of this and future generations” is one. 

Section 12 specifically deals with the historic environment (paragraphs 126-141) 
and local planning authorities should consider: 

 The desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and 
putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation 

 The wider social, cultural, economic and environmental benefits that conservation 
of the historic environment can bring 

 The desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local 
character and distinctiveness; and 

 Opportunities to draw on the contribution made by  the historic environment to the 
character of a place 

Page 84



 

Page | 5  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

Paragraph 128 states that local planning authorities, when determining 
applications, should require the applicant to describe the significance of any 
affected heritage assets.  This should be sufficient so as to understand the potential 
impact on their significance and this should be done using the appropriate expertise 
where necessary. 

Paragraph 135 indicates that the effect of the proposal on non-designated heritage 
assets (designated assets are covered in paragraphs 132-134) should be taken into 
account.  Paragraph 141 requires developers to record and advance understanding 
of heritage assets to be lost, in a manner appropriate to their importance and 
impact. 

 

1.2.2        Local Development Framework 

NPPF outlines the need for local planning authorities to create local plans and 
frameworks to implement NPPF at a local level.  The Salford Local Development 
Scheme (Salford City Council: 2016) summarises the approach the local authority 
will take in determining planning applications which may affect heritage assets.  
Specifically relating to the study area is Policy CH3 which outlines the local 
authorities approach to development within Conservation Areas. 

In addition to this, there is the Salford District Report of the Greater Manchester 
Urban Historic Landscape Characterisation Project (Greater Manchester 
Archaeological Unit), which gives an overview of the complex aspects of Salford’s 
historic environment. This project provides a neutral and descriptive understanding 
of the cultural and historical aspects of Manchester’s landscape, and provides a 
context in which other information can be considered within a framework for 
decision-making with regards to planning. 

Salford City Council is advised on archaeological matters by the development 
control archaeologist at Greater Manchester Archaeology Advisory Service 
(GMAAS) formerly the Greater Manchester Archaeological Unit (GMAU). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 85



 

Page | 6  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

2. Methodology Statement 

 

 

The assessment comprised an archaeological desk-based study and a site 
inspection. The works followed the C IfA standard and guidance for 
undertaking archaeological desk-based assessments (Institute for 
Archaeologists, Standard and Guidance for Archaeological Desk- based 
Assessment, 1994, revised 2010). 

 

2.1           Research 
 

The desk-based assessment made use of the following sources: 
 

 Published and unpublished cartographic, documentary and photographic 
sources. 
 

 The Greater Manchester Historic Environment Record (HER), formerly the Sites 
and Monuments Record (SMR), held by the Greater Manchester Archaeological 
Advisory Service (GMAAS) at the University of Salford, Manchester. 
 

 Salford Archives & Local Studies Library. 
 

 Salford Council Conservation Area Appraisal Documents & Maps  
 

 Historical Trade Directories, Census Returns & Rate Books. 
 
 
 

2.2            Site Inspection 
 

The aim of the site inspection was to relate the findings of the desk-based 
study to the existing land use of the study area in order to identify any 
evidence of the archaeological remains identified within the report. The site visit 
was conducted on Wednesday 16th March 2016, (See Appendix 2). 
 

Page 86



Page 87



 

Page | 8  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

The Roe Green / Beesley Green conservation area lies within the Salford district of 
Worsley, approximately 9.0km north-west of Manchester city centre. The study 
area comprises an area of undeveloped land which lies to the immediate south of 
Beesley Green. The study area sits on a relatively level plane and is surrounded by 
woodland plantations (Worsley Woods) on all but its northern boundary which is 
occupied by the Roe Green Cricket Club (Figure 1). Within the woodland along 
the study areas western and southern borders runs the course of the Kempnough 
Brook and along the eastern border of the study area is the Roe Green Loop Line 
Heritage Trail and National Cycle Route 55. 

Cartographic sources have revealed that from the late 16th century through to the 
present day, the land contained within the study area has been open pasture used 
for grazing livestock, (Figures 2 to 8). The only notable developments to have 
taken place within the study area, were the establishment of three ponds (Site 2) 
and a footpath (Site 3) during the early 19th century and a sand pit (Site 4) during 
the late 19th century, which was most likely associated with the construction of the 
Manchester to Wigan Railway line in the 1860’s (Site 5), which ran along the 
eastern border of the study area, (Figures 2 to 4). The site has remained unaltered 
since the late 19th century and is today used to graze horses. 

 

3.2           Geology & Topography 

The underlying solid geology of the study area as mapped by the British 
Geological Survey is comprised of the Pennine Upper and Middle Coal Measure 
Formations (mudstone, siltstone & sandstones), intersected by a band of Worsley 
Delf Sandstone. The overlying drift geology is comprised of a broad band of 
Glacial Till (formerly termed Boulder Clay), with a band of undifferentiated 
alluvium deposits of clay, silt, sand and gravel across the eastern edge of the study 
area, (http://www.bgs.ac.uk) 

The study area sits at a height of 53m AOD and forms part of an undulating 
landscape which is bisected by wooded valleys belonging to the Worsley Wood 
and minor stream tributaries such as the Kempnough Brook which runs along the 
western and southern boundaries of the study area, extending southwards, into the 
Worsley Brook, a tributary of the river Mersey. 

 

3.3            Designations 

The study area occupies the south-eastern half of the Roe Green/ Beesley Green 
Conservation Area, which was designated by Lancashire County Council in 
November 1970 (HER: DGM1623). Both Greens were awarded conservation area 
status because of their arrangement of open space and housing which gave them  

Page 88



 

Page | 9  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

the character of village greens, which together with the undeveloped pasture and 
woodland surrounding Beesley Green, comprises a well landscaped green area in 
marked contrast to the surrounding heavily developed areas of South East 
Lancashire, (Salford City Council, 2016: 8). 

Although there are no known heritage assets to fall within the study area, there are 
several grade II listed buildings to the immediate north and west within Beesley 
Green, (Appendix 3). These include Beesley Hall - 19th century (List Entry: 
1162850 / HER: 1678.1.0), Kempnough Hall - 17th century (List Entry: 1162933 
/ HER: 518.1.0) and Littlewood and Sisley cottages and the adjoining stable block 
- 18th century (List Entry: 1356708 / HER: 1507.1.0). 

In addition to the designated sites listed above there are also several non-
designated heritage assets within Beesley Green, which are listed on the Historic 
Environment Record for Greater Manchester, (Figure 10). These include Roe 
Green Cricket Pavilion – 20th century (HER: 16221.1.0), the Manchester to Wigan 
Railway Line – 19th century (HER: 855.1.0), Beesley Green Cottages, Orchard 
House / School House – 18th century (HER: 1581.1.0), School / Beesley 
Community Centre – 19th century (HER: 7028.1.0), School (site of) – 18th century 
(HER: 1826.1.0), Kempnough Place – 19th century (HER: 7001.1.0) and a Coach 
House – 19th century (HER: 12535.1.0). 

 

Page 89



 

Page | 10  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

4. Archaeological & Historical Background 

 

 

This section of the report is based on cartographic and documentary research in 
addition to previous historical research undertaken by the University of 
Manchester Archaeological Unit (UMAU, 1995: 4 & 5), Centre for Applied 
Archaeology (Nash, 2011: 9-15) , Dr Peter Arrowsmith (2014: 3-11) and 
Salford City Council (2016: 11 – 28). 

 

4.1           Prehistoric Period 
 

No prehistoric finds are known to have come from within the study area. 
Within the north- west evidence for prehistoric activity tends to be sporadic 
and is based on chance finds, which maybe largely due to the local geology, as 
the poorly drained and heavy boulder clays were not conductive to early farming 
techniques. In addition the intensity of the development which has occurred 
within the region over the past 200 years means that the chances for any 
prehistoric remains to survive, is generally slight.  
 

However there is growing regional evidence for prehistoric settlement and other 
activities to be concentrated on well grained sand and gravel sites adjacent to 
rivers and moss lands. Recent archaeological investigations approximately 4.0km 
to the south of the study area at the site of the Salford City Stadium have 
uncovered the remains of prehistoric settlement dating to the Late Mesolithic and 
Late Iron Age Periods (Nash & Noble: 2012). 

 

4.2          Roman Period  

 

No finds of a Roman date have been found within the study area. However 
documentary research has established that two Roman coin hoards have been 
discovered within 3.0km of the study area, one at Booths Bank Farm and the 
second at Boothstown, (UMAU, 1995: 4). Further research suggests that both 
hoards were found close to the assumed route of the Roman road from Wigan to 
Manchester  (HER: 25.1.0), which the OS survey of 1948 traced running to the 
south and east of the study area. However, the intensity of the development which 
has occurred within the study area over the last 150 years means that the potential 
for any Prehistoric or Roman remains to survive within the study area is slight.  

 
 
 

Page 90



 

Page | 11  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

4.3           Medieval Period 

Historically the study area lay within the township of Worsley, which was first 
referenced in the Pipe Roll of 1195-96 where it is described as ‘a half a plough-
land, held of the king by the Barton family in thegnage, and of them by a family 
which took the local name Worsley’ (Brownbill & Farrer, 1911: 376). In 1376 the 
Worsley Estate was passed by marriage to Sir John Massey (Sheriff of Cheshire in 
1389), son of Hugh Massey of Tatton (Brownbill & Farrer, 1911: 379). In 1399 
John sided with Richard II and was imprisoned at Chester Castle and four years 
later joined the Hotspur rising and was killed at the battle of Shrewsbury. Upon his 
death the Estate passed to his eldest son Thomas and upon his death in 1420 his 
younger brother Geoffrey inherited. Geoffrey died without lawful issue in 1457 
and the Worsley Manors passed to his nephew William, son of Richard de Massey 
(Brownbill & Farrer, 1911: 376 – 392). William died eleven years later leaving the 
Estate to his son Geoffrey. Upon Geoffrey’s passing the Estate passed to his only 
child Joan, who by her first husband William Stanley also left an only daughter 
also called Joan who became the heiress of Worsley upon her mother’s death in 
1511. Joan had two sons and a daughter by her second husband Sir Richard 
Brereton, a younger son of Sir Randle Brereton of Malpas. Their eldest son 
Thomas died without issue before his parents, however their younger son left 
Geoffrey had an only son also called Richard who inherited the Estate upon the 
death of his grandfather in 1570 (Brownbill & Farrer, 1911: 376 – 392).  
 
During this period the settlement at Roe Green is first documented. The 
Manchester Parish Register of 1585, records a land dispute between Sir Richard 
Brereton of Worsley Hall and Gilbert Sherington of neighbouring Wardley Hall 
with regards to the ownership of a parcel of manorial waste called ‘Roogrine’. The 
dispute was settled in 1598 when Sir Richard Brereton was confirmed as the 
rightful owner, (Salford City Council, 2016: 11). A plan produced in c.1590 as part 
of the land dispute shows a parcel of open land crossed by tracks and surrounded 
by twenty or so dwellings, which included Kempnough Hall which lies to the 
immediate north-west of the study area and Besley Hall, which lay on the northern 
border of the study area Hart-Davis: 1908). By this period Roe Green appeared to 
be a well-established hamlet comprising farms and cottages and common land most 
likely occupied by agricultural labourers who worked the manorial lands in the 
Manor of Worsley.  

 
 

4.4            17
th

 & 18
th

 Centuries 

 
Richard Brereton died in 1598 without issue and the Worsley Manors were granted 
to his wife’s brother, Sir Thomas Egerton who was the illegitimate son of Sir 
Richard Egerton. Sir Thomas was a distinguished lawyer who rose to be Lord 
Chancellor and was created Viscount Brackley in 1616. Upon his death in 1617, 

Page 91



 

Page | 12  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

his son John was created Earl of Bridgewater. John died in 1649 and was 
succeeded in turn by two namesakes who died in 1687 and 1701. Scrope, the son of 
the Third Earl was created the Duke of Bridgewater in 1720 and the Estate then 
passed to his son John the second Duke and then his son Francis, the celebrated 
canal builder (Farrer & Brownbill, 1922: 377 – 392).  
 
During this period Roe Green comprised of a small number of farms and cottages 
which housed the labouring classes employed in agriculture and hand loom 
weaving (Salford City Council, 2016: 13). Documentary research has established 
that in 1716 a Thomas Collier left in his will property yielding a yearly rental of 
five pounds to endow a school for the education of poor young boys in Worsley. In 
1727 the First Duke of Bridgewater gave land at Roe Green on which to build a 
school and school, (Wickham, H, 1984 – HER: 1826.1.0). The school and 
adjoining school house were built in the 1730’s and by 1752 a three storey district 
poorhouse had been erected next to the school, (Site 6). 

During the latter half of the 18th century Worsley underwent a period of significant 
expansion associated with the industrial activities of the Third Duke of 
Bridgewater, which centred on Worsley Delph, which lies less than 1.0km to the 
south of Roe Green. During this period the Duke and his associates constructed a 
network of underground tunnels (over 40 miles) which transported coal from the 
mines at Worsley to the industrial centres of Salford and Manchester (Salford City 
Council, 2016: 14). The Bridgewater Canal opened on the 17th July 1761 and was 
the first canal in Britain to be built without following an existing watercourse 
(Salford Council, 2016: 14). 

In 1764 the Manor of Worsley was mapped in order to record the land ownership 
of the Third Duke, (Figure 2). The map depicts ‘Row Green’ as being comprised 
of an area of common land crossed by several un-named route ways and ringed by 
a small collection of dwellings. Although unnamed on the map it is possible to 
identify three of the route ways as being Greenleach Lane, Lumber Lane and Old 
Clough Lane. To the south of the common land and route ways the map depicts the 
aforementioned School (Site 6), and a rectangular structure recognisable as 
Beesley Hall (Site 9), a collection of enclosed fields lay to the immediate south of 
these structures, several of which fall within the study area.  

 

4.5           Late 18
th

 to Early 19
th

 Century 

By the late 18th century Roe Green had been overtaken in size by its surrounding 
settlements including Worsley Village which had experienced significant 
population growth as a result of the development of the Bridgewater Canal and its 
associated industrial operations. Documentary sources establish that during the late 
18th century Roe Green saw some small scale expansion through the construction 

Page 92



 

Page | 13  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

of several cottages which housed the Third Dukes increasing workforce. In 1803 
upon the death of the Third Duke the Bridgewater Trust was established in order to 
manage the estate on behalf of his beneficiaries (Salford City Council, 2016: 17). 
The stunted growth of Roe Green during this period has been seen by some to have 
been a result of the Bridgewater Trust purposely preventing further expansion 
(Salford City Council, 2016: 17). However it is more likely that the settlements 
younger occupants were moving out to surrounding settlements where better paid 
work was available within the Dukes many industrial enterprises. 

The first edition OS survey of 1848 shows Roe Green as being very little changed 
since the earlier estate plan of 1764, (Figure 3). However the enclosed agricultural 
fields which surrounded the settlement had become dotted with coal pits and 
collieries, the most notable of which  was the Saunderson Colliery, which lay on 
the on the western fringe of Roe Green on the eastern side of Greenleach Lane. As 
well as the colliery the Saunderson site also included a Mill and House, a Damn 
and a colliery railway line which took the coal from Saunderson’s pit to the 
Worsley Boat Yard, allowing the coal to then be transported onwards via the 
Bridgewater Canal.   

During this period the study area is mapped as being comprised of a series of 
enclosed fields (Site 1) which contained three small ponds (Site 2), (Figure 3). The 
Kempnough Brook (Site 11) is depicted as running along the western and southern 
borders of the study area and to the east ran Toad Lane and Greenleach Lane along 
which were a handful of dwellings. Along the northern border of the study area 
were a couple of structures which included the School (Site 6), Beesley Hall (Site 
9) and along with a coal pit (Site 7) most likely worked by the Saunderson 
Colliery. 

 

 4.6           Mid to Late 19
th

 Century 

Documentary sources have established that by the middle of the 19th century Roe 
Green comprised of approximately eighty dwellings and had a population of 
around five hundred, (Salford City Council, 2016: 18). At this time the population 
was largely working class, with many being employed as mill workers and colliers. 
In 1861 the London and North Western Railway began work on the construction of 
the Manchester to Wigan Railway line (Site 5) which joined the earlier constructed 
Liverpool to Manchester railway (1831) at Eccles, from where it extended north-
westwards calling at Monton Green and Worsley. At Roe Green the line divided 
with a branch running north-westwards towards Bolton.  

The OS survey of 1894 shows that the construction of the Railway had effectively 
divided the settlement at Roe Green in two halves and a road bridge was 
constructed over the line at Lumber Lane in order to connect to two parts of the 
settlement (Figure 4). The majority of the village lay on the eastern side of the line 

Page 93



 

Page | 14  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

and this retained the name Roe Green. However the cluster of dwellings and a 
small portion of common land (Site 1) which lay on the western side of the line 
became known as ‘Beesley Green’, most likely named after the Beesley Family 
who had occupied the area since the 16th century, (Salford City Council, 2016: 19). 

The coming of the railway had a huge impact on Roe Green which was now within 
walking distance of a growing rail network which linked the village to the 
industrial centres of Manchester, Salford, Bolton and Wigan. As a result many of 
the plots within the eastern half of the settlement were sold off by the Bridgewater 
Trust and these plots were soon occupied by rows of terraced housing which still 
survive to this date. The construction of these houses had enabled the village to 
grow and by the end of the 19th century the population of Roe Green had exceeded 
a thousand (Salford City Council, 2016: 21). 

Unlike Roe Green, the area which now forms Beesley Green remained relatively 
unchanged. During this period the study area remained undeveloped however 
several of the field boundaries (Site 1) had been removed and a sand pit (Site 4) 
appeared along its eastern boundary, most likely as a result of the construction of 
the Manchester to Wigan Railway line (Site5), which formed the eastern border of 
the study area. Along the northern border of the study area Beesley Hall (Site 9) 
had been sub-divided into three dwellings and the school (Site 6) had been 
extended (Figure 4). 

 

4.7           Early 20
th

 Century 

During the first quarter of the 20th century the Bridgewater Trust was dissolved and 
Roe Green continued to grow with the construction of more housing. However the 
eastern part of the settlement known as Beesley Green remained largely 
unchanged. The OS survey of 1909 shows that the study area remained in use as 
agricultural pasture land and the ponds at its centre (Site 2) had begun to merge to 
form one large pond, (Figure 5). To the south of the study area the Worsley Woods 
plantation (Site 12) had been extended so that the woods now followed the line of 
the Kempnough Brook (Site 11) bordering both the southern and western 
boundaries of the study area, (Figure 5). To the north of the study area the school 
(Site 6) had once again been extended and a Cricket Ground and small changing 
block (Site 8) had been laid out along the northern border of the study area, 
(Figure 5). 

By the second quarter of the 20th century the former agricultural land which 
surrounded Roe Green and Beesley Green had been subject to substantial housing 
redevelopment presumably as a result of the construction of the East Lancashire 
Road in the 1930’s. In contrast Roe Green and Beesley Green remained relatively 
unaltered. The OS survey of 1937 shows no change to the study area, (Figure 6). 
The survey does however show that the Worsley Wood Plantation (Site 12) had 

Page 94



 

Page | 15  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

been further extended and at this time occupied the entire southern and western 
borders of the study area, (Figure 6). To the north of the study area a Pavilion had 
been constructed in place of the small changing block and once again the school 
(Site 6) had been extended. 

 

4.8           Late 20
th

 Century to Present Day 

The late 20th century brought further changes to Roe Green and Beesley Green. In 
1954 the Manchester to Wigan Railway was closed and in 1960 the first stretch of 
motorway in Greater Manchester was opened and by the late 1960’s the M60 had 
been constructed to the south of the Roe Green resulting in the removal of part of 
Worsley Woods (Figure 7). 

By the OS survey of 1970 the study area appeared little changed, the only thing of 
note would be that the southern extent of the pond (Site 2) appeared to have silted 
up, (Figure 7).  Within Beesley Green to the immediate north of the study area that 
been some small scale alterations which including the former school being 
‘Beesley Green Community Centre’, the laying out of  a tennis court (Site 10) to 
the east of Beesley Hall (Site 9) and the extension of the cricket club pavilion (Site 
8), (Figure 7).  

The site visit undertaken in March 2016 has established that since this period the 
study area had remained completely unchanged and remains in use as pasture land 
for grazing horses. The area surrounding the study area has been subject the some 
small scale redevelopment which includes the construction of  an ‘L’ shaped block 
of housing to the immediate south-east of Beesley Hall (Site 9),  the construction 
of a Tennis Club to the immediate north of the court (Site 10) and the widening of 
the cricket ground (Site 8). In addition the former Manchester to Wigan Railway 
Line now forms the Roe Green Loop Line which is a 7.2 kilometre traffic free 
cycle and pedestrian route that links Manchester and Bolton via Salford. The route 
forms part of National Cycle Network route 55, a key strategic cycle route linking 
Manchester to Bolton via Salford. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 95



 

Page | 16  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

5. Gazetteer of Sites 

 

 

                 The following gazetteer provides a summary of the sites identified within the   
                   study area and those within 100m of its boundary (Figure 9).   
 
 

5.1           Within the Study Area: 

 
Site Number: 1  
Site Name: Field Boundaries (south of Beesley Green) 
NGR: SD 74977 01438 
Site Type: Agricultural  

A plan of 1590, prepared as part of a land dispute depicts the study area as forming 
part of an area of open land which lay to the south of the ‘Roogrine’ settlement, 
(Hart-Davis 1908 in Arrowsmith, 2014: 15). The Duke of Bridgewater Estate map 
of 1764 shows the study area in more details and reveals that it contained a series 
of field boundaries which divided the land into seven enclosed agricultural fields, 
(Figure 2). By the OS survey of 1848 several of the field boundaries within the 
northern half of the study area had disappeared most likely a result of the 
construction of the Manchester to Wigan Railway (Site 5), (Figure 3). By the end 
of the 19th century all but two of the field boundaries had been removed however 
by the mid-20th century the site appeared as one large open plot and remains as 
such to this date (Figures 4 to 8).  

 

Site Number: 2 
Site Name: Ponds (south of Beesley Green) 
NGR: SD 74963 01399 
Site Type: Unknown 

Between the Bridgewater Estate Plan of 1764 and the OS survey of 1848, three 
amorphous shaped ponds appear within the centre of the study area, (Figures 2 & 
3). The OS survey of 1894 depicts the ponds as being interconnected with issues 
running southwards into the Kempnough Brook (Site 11), (Figure 4).The ponds 
appear unaltered on all subsequent OS mapping up to 1970, by which time the 
most southerly pond had disappeared (Figures 5 – 7). The ponds still survive 
onsite today however they now form one large pond which is surrounded by trees 
and shrubs. Documentary research could glean no evidence as to the origin or 
function of these ponds however the conservation area appraisal document 
suggests that they may have been former clay extraction pits for brickmaking 
(Salford City Council, 2016: 70).  

Page 96



 

Page | 17  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

Site Number: 3 
Site Name: Footpath  
NGR: SD 75030 01408 
Site Type: Route way 

The OS survey of 1848 depicts a footpath running across the centre of the study 
area from Toad Lane to the south-east up towards the Beesley Green School (Site 
6), (Figure 3). By the OS survey of 1894 the foot path had disappeared. 

 
 
Site Number: 4 
Site Name: Sand Pit 
NGR: SD 75115 01437 
Site Type: Industrial 

The OS survey of 1894 depicts a linear feature labelled ‘Sand Pit’ on the north-
eastern boundary of the study area, abutting the western edge of the Manchester to 
Wigan Railway Line (Site 5), (Figure 4). Although not labelled, the sand pit does 
appear on the OS surveys of 1909, 1937 and 1970, however after the dismantling 
of the former railway line the site was occupied by the new plantations which 
today form part of Worsley Woods, (Figures 5 – 7).  The site is visible today as a 
tree filled hollow within the western cutting of the former railway line. 
 
 
 

5.2           Bordering the Study Area 
 
Site Number: 5 
Site Name: Manchester to Wigan Railway Line (HER: 855.1.0) 
NGR: SD 75038 01532 
Site Type: Industrial 

Between the OS surveys of 1848 and 1894 the Manchester to Wigan Railway line 
was constructed to the immediate west of the study area (Figures 3 to 6). The line 
joined the earlier constructed Liverpool to Manchester railway (1831) at Eccles, 
from where it extended north-westwards calling at Monton Green and Worsley. 
The 1894 OS survey named this line as the Eccles, Tyldesley & Wigan Line. At 
Roe Green the line divided with a branch running north-westwards towards Bolton 
with the Eccles, Tyldesley & Wigan line continuing westwards Wigan.  

Documentary research has established that London and North Western Railway 
began work on the railway in 1861 and it was opened between 1870 and 1874. The 
line was constructed within a cutting which ran through Roe Green so that it lay 
below the level of the surrounding settlement. The line was closed on 29th March 
1954 from which time it was labelled on OS mapping as ‘Dismantled Railway’ 
(Figure 7), (Salford City Council, 2016: 18 & HER: 855.1.0).  

Page 97



 

Page | 18  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

The cutting for the railway still survives today and now forms the Roe Green Loop 
Line which is a 7.2 kilometre traffic free cycle and pedestrian route that links 
Manchester and Bolton via Salford. The route forms part of National Cycle 
Network route 55, a key strategic cycle route linking Manchester to Bolton via 
Salford (https://www.salford.gov.uk/roegreenloopline.htm). 

 

                Site Number: 6 
Site Name: Beesley Green School & Cottages (HER: 1826.1.0 & 7028.1.0) 
NGR: SD 74831 01580 
Site Type: Industrial 

The Bridgewater Estate Plan of 1764 depicts a rectangular shaped structure 
labelled, ‘School’ to the immediate north of the study area, (Figure 2). The school 
appears unaltered on the OS survey of 1848 however by the survey of 1894 the 
school appeared to have been extended and a second structure and garden appeared 
to the immediate south, (Figures 3 & 4). Both the school and later structure were 
subject to further extension during the early and mid-20th century but appear 
unchanged after the OS survey of 1952. 

The structures still survive on site today and now collectively form the Beesley 
Green Community Centre and 253, 253a and 254 Beesley Green. Documentary 
research has established that in 1716 a Thomas Collier left in his will property 
yielding a yearly rental of five pounds to endow a school for the education of poor 
young boys in Worsley. In 1727 the first Duke of Bridgewater gave land at Roe 
Green on which to build a school and school house and by 1752 a three storey 
building had been erected next to the school house to serve as a poor house 
(Wickham, H, 1984 – HER: 1826.1.0).  

 
 

Site Number: 7 
Site Name: Coal Pit 
NGR: SD 75038 01532 
Site Type: Industrial 

The OS survey of 1848 depicts a small circular feature labelled ‘Coal Pit’ to the 
south of the Beesley Green School (Site 6), on the land which is now occupied by 
the Roe Green Cricket Pavilion (Site 8), (Figure 3). By the OS survey of 1894 the 
pit had disappeared and no reference is made to this site on any subsequent OS 
mapping. 

              
                
 Site Number: 8 

Site Name: Roe Green Cricket Pavilion (HE_LLWO26 / HER: 16221.1.0) 
NGR: SD 74846 01531 

Page 98



 

Page | 19  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

Site Type: Recreational 

The OS survey of 1909 depicts a rectangular enclosure labelled ‘Cricket Ground’ 
to the immediate east of Beesley Green School (Site 6), (Figure 5). A small ‘L’ 
shaped structure is shown within the south-west corner of the cricket ground, most 
likely an early shelter or changing room for the cricketers. The cricket ground 
appears unaltered on the OS survey of 1929 however the small rectangular 
structure appeared to have been extended or replaced by a larger structure labelled 
‘Pavilion’. By the OS survey of 1937 a small rectangular structure had been 
erected to the south of the pavilion and the site remains unaltered until the OS 
survey of 1970 which shows that the smaller structure to the south of the pavilion 
had been cleared and replaced by two rectangular structures (Figures 6 & 7). The 
site appears unaltered to this date. 

Today the cricket pavilion is a locally listed heritage asset and its listing details are 
below: 

‘Cricket pavilion c1920. Timber with Welsh slate roof Simple orthogonal shed with 
integral canopy and veranda to front and clock in gablet to roof. A typical 
Lancashire county league cricket club building of rural character, quite uncommon 
in an urban district, but forming an important component of quintessential English 
life in a parish such as Worsley’. 

 

                 Site Number: 9 
Site Name: Beesley Hall (List Entry: 1162850 / HER: 1678.1.0) 
NGR: SD 74755 01539 
Site Type: Residential 

A land dispute plan of Roe Green or ‘Roogrine’ dating to 1590 depicts a small 
house labelled ‘Thomas Besley’ to the east of Kempnough Hall and Brook, on the 
site of what is now Beesley Green. The Bridgewater Estate Plan of 1764 shows a 
rectangular structure within a roughly rectangular enclosure labelled ‘99’ in 
approximately the same location, (Figure 2). The OS survey of 1894 labels the site 
as ‘Beesly Hall’ and the later survey of 1909 shows that the structure was 
comprised of three houses (Figures 3 to 5). The structures appear unaltered on all 
subsequent OS mapping, however the eastern extent of its enclosure was 
redeveloped for use as a tennis court during the mid-20th century and a small 
housing development during the late 20th / early 21st century. Today the site is a 
Grade II listed building, which comprises two dwellings 252 Beesley Green and 
250 & 251 Beesley Green which has been extended to the side to form addition 
accommodation and a double garage (Salford City Council, 2016: 35).  
 
Although the mapping suggests that the site has been occupied since at least the 
late 16th century, the structures which survive onsite today are of 19th century 

Page 99



 

Page | 20  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

origin and no remains of any earlier structures are visible. The structure is thought 
to have originally been a farmhouse which was later converted into three dwellings 
during the mid-19th century. The structure is believed to have taken its name from 
the Beesley family who farmed the area for several generations. 

 

The Historic England listing for the structure states: 
 

‘3 Houses. Said originally to date from C17 or earlier but appearing wholly 
to be of the mid C19. English garden wall bond brick with picturesque 
timber-framing in parts and graduated stone slate and slate roof. 
Symmetrical elevations of 6 bays and 1 storey (plus attic). 3 boarded doors 
with cambered brick arches and brick hoodmoulds obscured by later porches 
in Nos. 251 and 252 and with small addition to right in the former. Total of 
four 2-light casements with single glazing bars, cambered brick heads and 
brick hoodmoulds. Bays 2 and 5 are gabled projections and are of 2 storeys 
in timber-framing. They have 3-light windows one of which is a later bow. 
Zig-zag brick band below eaves. 3-light dormer windows. 4 ridge chimney 
stacks. The rear has a central gable and 2 gabled dormer windows all with 
raised lozenge panels in brick. Similar windows and doors as front’. 
 
https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/list-entry/1162850 

 
                 
                 Site Number: 10 

Site Name: Roe Green Tennis Court 
NGR: SD 74816 01515 
Site Type: Recreational 

Between the OS surveys of 1937 and 1952 a tennis court had been constructed 
within the eastern extent of the Beesley Hall enclosure (Site 9), (Figure 5). The 
tennis court appears on all subsequent OS mapping and today forms the Roe Green 
Tennis Club (Figures 6 to 8). 

                 
                  
                 Site Number: 11 

Site Name: Kempnough Book  
NGR: SD 74791 01355 
Site Type: Water Course 

Running along the western and southern boundaries of the study area runs the 
Kempnough Brook which continues southwards to join the Worsley Brook, which 
is a tributary of the river Mersey. The Brook is depicted on cartographic sources 
from as early as the late 16th century through to the present day, (Figures 2 to 8). 

 
 

Page 100



 

Page | 21  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

Site Number: 12 
Site Name: Woodland 
NGR: SD 75037 01257 
Site Type: Plantation 

Between the OS surveys of 1848 and 1894, a wooded plantation was established to 
the south of the study area (Figures 2 & 3). By the OS survey of 1909 the 
plantation had spread north-westwards along the western boundary of the study 
area. The plantation continued to spread and by the late 20th century the eastern, 
southern and western extents of the study area had become wooded. Today these 
woodlands form part of the Worsley Woods which is a local Nature Reserve and a 
series of public footpaths run through the woodland along the course of the 
Kempnough Brook (Site 11). The woods also act as a buffer to reduce the impact 
of traffic noise from the M60 on Roe Green and Beesley Green.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 101



 

Page | 22  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

6. Significance of the Remains 

 

 

6.1           The Policy Context of Heritage Assets 

The archaeological resource of an area can encompass a range of assets, including 
below ground remains, earthworks, and standing buildings and other structures. 
Some of these remains may have statutory protection, as Scheduled Ancient 
Monuments or Listed Buildings. Others do not but may nevertheless be of 
archaeological significance. Under both national and local planning policy, as 
outlined below, both statutory and non-statutory remains are to be considered 
within the planning process. 

The NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework, March 2012) sets out the 
Secretary of State’s policy on planning and includes a section on the conservation 
of the historic environment (including historic, archaeological, architectural and 
artistic heritage assets, NPPF paras 126-141), and its wider economic, 
environmental and social benefits. NPPF emphasises the significance of an 
individual heritage asset within the historic environment and the value that it holds 
for this and future generations in order to minimise or avoid conflict between the 
heritage asset’s conservation and any aspect of the planning proposals. NPPF 
draws a distinction between designated heritage assets of national importance and 
heritage assets that are not designated but which are of heritage interest and are 
thus of a material planning consideration (paras 134 and 135). In the case of the 
former, the presumption should be in favour of conservation; in the case of the 
latter, where this is warranted by its significance, the developer is required to 
record and understand the significance of the heritage asset before it is lost, in a 
way that is proportionate to the nature and level of the asset’s significance, by the 
use of survey, photography, excavation or other methods. 

NPPF states that non-designated assets of archaeological interest that are 
demonstrably of equivalent significance to scheduled monuments should be 
considered in the same manner as designated sites (NPPF para 139). Regarding 
this policy a lack of formal designation does not itself indicate a lower level of 
significance; in this instance the lack of designation reflects that the site was 
previously unknown and therefore never considered for formal designation. 
Wherever possible, development should be located and designed so as to avoid 
damage to archaeological remains, ensuring that they are preserved in situ. Where 
this is not possible, or appropriate, the developer will be required to make suitable 
provision to ensure that the archaeological information is not lost, and in many 
cases to secure the preservation of the remains. 

Page 102



 

Page | 23  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

The Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service (GMAAS) act as 
archaeological curator for the Greater Manchester Region and provide 
archaeological advice to Salford City Council and have been consulted for the 
present assessment. 

 

6.2          Assessment Methodology and Significance Criteria 

The most commonly accepted methodology for assessing archaeological 
significance is the Secretary of State’s criteria for the scheduling of ancient 
monuments, outlined in Annex 1 of Scheduled Monuments: identifying, protecting, 
conserving and investigating nationally important archaeological sites under the 
Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act 1979 (DCMS March 2010). 
These criteria have all been utilised in this assessment and are listed below: 

 Period 
 Rarity 
 Documentation 
 Group Value 
 Survival/Condition 
 Fragility/Vulnerability 
 Diversity 
 Potential 

 

6.3           Baseline Significance Conditions for the land within the Study Area 

Period 

Cartographic and documentary sources have identified the following surface and 
possibly below ground archaeological remains within the study area: Site 1: Field 
Boundaries - Late 16th century, possibly earlier; Sites 2 & 3: Ponds and Footpath - 
Early to Mid-19th century and Site 4: Sand Pit – Mid to Late 19th century. 

 

                 Rarity 

The sites identified within the study area (Sites 1 to 4) are common historic 
elements within the North-West region and as such would not be considered to 
have any archaeological rarity. 

                 

                 Documentation 

The landscape history of the site has been recovered from the historic map base, 
the use of archival material such as the census returns and trade directories, from 

Page 103



 

Page | 24  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

local historical sources and previous historical research and archaeological work. 
More detail could undoubtedly by learned about the development and use of the 
site through the examination of further documentary sources, but these are unlikely 
to alter significantly the archaeological and historical importance of the sites 
identified in this report. 

 

Group Value 

The heritage assets contained within the study area represent a contemporary group 
of features which are commonly found on the rural fringes of most urban 
settlements within the North-West region. 

 

Survival / Condition 

Cartographic sources alongside the site visit have established that only two of the 
four sites identified by this report survive as surface remains. These include the 
pond (Site 2) at the centre of the study area which survives intact and the former 
sand pit (Site 4) which is still visible as a tree filled hollow which truncates the 
western edge of Manchester to Wigan Railway cutting.  

The condition of the archaeological remains associated with the field boundaries 
(Site 1) and footpath (Site 3) are presently unknown. However as the land within 
the study area has not been subject to any development it could be suggested that 
traces of the former field boundaries and footpath may survive below ground 
however these remains are unlikely to be substantial and may have been damaged 
through animal grazing.  

 

Fragility/Vulnerability 

See below section 7.1 The Identification and Evaluation of the Key Impacts on the 
Archaeology.’ 

 

Diversity 

Cartographic sources alongside the site visit suggest that the study area does not 
contain a diverse range of archaeological remains. Any intact remains would most 
probably relate to the remains of post medieval field boundaries (Site 1), early to 
mid-19th century pond (Site 2) and a former sand pit associated with the 
Manchester to Wigan railway line constructed in the mid-19th century (Site 3). 

 

Page 104



 

Page | 25  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

Potential 

Cartographic and documentary source suggest that the land contained within the 
study area has been used as pasture land since the late medieval period and at no 
time has it been subject to development. Therefore the study area is not expected to 
yield any archaeological remains other than those identified by this report. 

 

6.4          Significance 

On the evidence available the archaeological remains identified within the study 
area are of negligible or little archaeological value and as such could not be 
considered to have national, regional or local significance.  

The significance of the site with regards to its contribution to the special interest of 
the Roe Green/Beesley Green conservation area is something which does not fall 
within the remit of this report and as such would require further specialist 
assessment. 

  

Page 105



 

Page | 26  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

7. Sources 

 

 

Bibliography  

 
Arrowsmith, P. 2014 Kempnough Hall, 248 Kempnough Hall Road, Worsley: 
Historical Research, Unpublished Report.  
  
Ashmore, O. 1969, Industrial Archaeology of Lancashire. David & Charles: 
Newton Abbot. 

Chartered Institute for Archaeologists. 1994, revised 2010.  Standard and 
Guidance for Archaeological Desk-Based Assessment. 

Department for Communities & Local Government, March 2012. National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 

Hart-Davis H V. 1908 History of Wardley Hall, Lancashire, Manchester, Sherratt 
& Hughes. 

Farrer, W & Brownbill, J.  1911, A History of the County of Lancaster: Volume 4. 
Victoria County History. 

GMAU, 2010 Greater Manchester Urban Historic Landscape Characterisation: 
Salford District Report. Greater Manchester Archaeological Unit. 

UMAU, 1995, Worsley Park, Salford: Archaeological Evaluation, unpublished 
report, University of Manchester Archaeological Unit. 

Matrix Archaeology, 2014 Kempnough Hall, 248 Kempnough Hall Road, Worsley: 
Archaeological Excavation, unpublished report, Matrix Archaeology, Report No: 
2014-14. 

Nash, V & Noble, P. 2012 Enhanced Archaeological Desk-Based Assessment & 
Evaluation Report: Port Salford (A57 realignment), Salford, Greater Manchester, 
unpublished report, Centre for Applied Archaeology, Report No: 23/2012. 

Nash, V. 2011, Archaeological Desk-Based Assessment: Worsley New Hall, 
Salford, Greater Manchester, unpublished report, Centre for Applied Archaeology, 
Report No: 29/2011. 

Salford City Council, February 2016, Conservation Area Appraisal: Roe Green / 
Beesley Green, Draft for Consultation. 

Salford City Council, February 2016, Salford City Council Local Development 
Scheme 2016 – 2019. 
 

Page 106



 

Page | 27  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

Salford City Council, 2006, Supplementary Planning Document: Salford 
Greenspace Strategy, Adopted 19th July 2006. 
 

 
Maps 

 
Land Dispute Plan of c.1590 (Hart-Davis: 1908). 
 
Duke of Bridgewater Estate Plan of 1764 (Photocopy held by Salford Archive & 
Local Studies).  
 
OS County Series: Lancashire & Furness, 1: 10,560 First Edition, published 1848. 
  
OS County Series: Lancashire & Furness, 1: 2,500, Edition, published 1893. 

  
OS County Series: Lancashire & Furness, 1: 2,500Revision, published 1908 -12. 
  
OS County Series: Lancashire & Furness, 1: 2,500, Revision, published 1928 - 9. 

  
OS County Series: Lancashire & Furness, 1: 2,500, Revision, published 1936. 

  
OS County Series: Lancashire & Furness, 1: 2,500, Revision, published 1952 - 4. 

  
OS Plan:  1: 1,250, published 1963-73. 

 
OS Plan:  1: 10,000, published 2016. 

 
 
 

Web Sources 

 
Ancestry: http://ancestry.co.uk (accessed 14/03/2016)  
 

                 Find My Past: http://www.findmypast.co.uk/ (accessed 15/03/2016)  
 

British Geological Survey: http://www.bgs.ac.uk/ (accessed 14/03/2016)  
 
Salford City Council Heritage List: http://www.salford.gov.uk/maps/heritage/list/ 
(accessed 11/03/2016) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 107



 

Page | 28  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

8. Archive 

 

 
The archive comprises a historical map regression, historical photographs and 
historical research notes. This archive is currently held by Salford Archaeology 
and a copy of this report will be forwarded to Peel Holdings, following the 
publication of the site report. 
 
A copy of this report will be deposited with the Greater Manchester Historic 
Environment Record held by the Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory 
Service (GMAAS). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 108



P
age 109



P
age 110



P
age 111



P
age 112



P
age 113



P
age 114



P
age 115



P
age 116



 

Page | 37  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

Appendix 2: Site Visit Photographs 

 

                                     

  
Figure 10: Beesley Hall & Green, looking south. 

 

Figure 11: Beesley Green and Community Centre, looking south-east. 

 

Page 117



 

Page | 38  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

  

Figure 12: Kempnough Brook, looking north-west. 

 

Page 118



 

Page | 39  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

 

  Figure 13: Woodland Plantation on the western border of the study area, looking south 

 

Figure 14: Woodland Plantation on the western border of the study area, looking south-west 

 

Page 119



 

Page | 40  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

 

  Figure 15: Land within the study area looking north-east. 

 

Figure 16: Land within the study area looking north. 

 

Page 120



 

Page | 41  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

 

  
Figure 17: Land within the study area looking north-west. 

 

Figure 18: Land within the study area looking south-west. 

 

Page 121



 

Page | 42  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

 

 

  

Figure 19: Pond at centre of the study area, now surrounded by trees, looking west. 

 

Figure 20: Railway cutting now occupied by the Roe Green Loop Line, looking north-west. 

 

Page 122



 

Page | 43  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

Appendix 3: H.E.R Data 

 

The table and map which follow, provide the details of all known heritage assets 
which fall within the Roe Green/Beesley Green conservation area, as listed by the 
Historic Environment Record for Greater Manchester. This archive is held by the 
Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service. 

 

Map  
Reference 

H.E.R  
Number 

 

Site Name Site Type 

1 7001.1.0 Kempnough Place 
 

House, Settlement 

2 518.1.0 Kempnough Hall Great House, Timber Framed 
Building 

3 1678.1.0 Beesley Hall Great House 
 

4 16221.1.0 Roe Green Cricket Club Pavilion Sports Pavilion 
 

5 1581.1.0 Beesley Green Cottages, Orchard 
House/School House 

House, Settlement 

6 1826.1.0 School (site of) Public Building, School 
House 

7 7028.1.0 School (now Beesley Green 
Community Centre) 

Public Building, School 
House 

8 12535.1.0 The Coach House Coach House 
 

9 1507.1.0 Littlewood & Sisley including 
Stable Block 

Stable, House & Private 
Chapel 

10 7080.1.0 Spinney End House 
 

11 855.1.0 Disused Railway Railway 
 

12 6901.1.0 2 & 4 The Coppice House, Settlement 
 

13 6902.1.0 Cottages, Old Clough Lane House, Settlement 
 

14 6932.1.0 Roe Green Farm Farmstead, Farmhouse 
 

15 6931.1.0 The Farm, Roe Green Farmstead, Farmhouse 
 

16 1536.1.0 26 & 28 Roe Green House 
 

17 13893.1.0 Briar Cottage, 32 Roe Green (site 
of) 

House, Settlement 

18 6928.1.0 38 – 42 Roe Green House 
 

19 1535.1.0 Tyldesley Fold, Roe Green Farmstead, Farmhouse 
 

20 6926.1.0 2 – 6 Coachman’s Cottages House, Settlement 
 

21 6927.1.0 71 Tyledsley Fold (site of) House, Settlement 
 

Page 123



 

Page | 44  
 

© CfAA: Desk-Based Assessment: Land South of Beesley Green, Worsley, March 2016, (15) 

22 6994.1.0 86 Roe Green House, Chimney 
 

23 6993.1.0 Greenview Cottage House 
 

24 6954.1.0 90 & 92 Roe Green House 
 

25 6934.1.0 94 Roe Green House, Settlement 
 

26 7000.1.0 Roe Green Independent Methodist 
Chapel 

Chapel, Church 

27 6933.1.0 Preaching Stone at Roe Green Preaching Cross, Religious 
Ritual and Funerary 

28 6999.1.0 Sparrow Wood Cottage House 
 

29 6998.1.0 Lilac Cottage House, Settlement 
 

30 6997.1.0 Old Water Mill House, Industrial Site, Mill, 
Watermill 

31 6995.1.0 175 & 177 Greenleach Lane House 
 

32 6996.1.0 157 Greenleach Lane House, Terraced House 
 

33 7002.1.0 Ackerley House House, Shop 
 

Page 124



P
age 125



Page 126



 

Appendix 4: Revised Conservation Area 
Boundary 

 

 

Page 127



P
age 128



P
age 129



 

 

 

Page 130



1

Community Impact Assessment (CIA) - Initial Screening

Service/ Programme Area: Regeneration – Planning Policy
Date of assessment: April 2017
Lead CIA Officer: Amelia Lucas – x 3287

The initial screening is a quick and easy process. It should:

 Identify if the proposal requires a CIA
 Provide justification for why a CIA is not going to be completed

The purpose of community impact assessment is to have “due regard” to the equality 
impact of proposals on protected groups, identifying if this impact is disproportionate and 
how it will be reduced, eliminated or mitigated. Community impact assessment, together 
with other sources of evidence, should inform decision-making. 

You must consider the following protected groups and indicate overleaf if a full community 
impact assessment is required:

 Age
 Disability 
 Gender
 Gender reassignment
 Marriage and Civil Partnership
 Pregnancy and maternity
 Race
 Religion and belief
 Sexual orientation

You may also want to consider other groups, including; people on a low income, carers, ex-
offenders refugees and people seeking asylum, gypsies and travellers, where appropriate.

If you are unsure about any areas, you should undertake more research before you decide 
whether or not a full CIA is required, but this must be done BEFORE a decision is made. 
You should return the screening form as soon as possible indicating that you are 
undertaking more research. 

The findings of the initial screening MUST be included within the report for decision and this 
document attached as evidence of your consideration of potential impact on communities.

Page 131

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/private-and-public-sector-guidance/guidance-all/protected-characteristics


2

 
1. Title(s) of proposal(s) Is a CIA 

required? 

Yes or No

Roe Green/Beesley Green Conservation Area Appraisal No

2. Where you have identified that a CIA is NOT required,  please detail below how 
you arrived at this decision

The purpose of a conservation area appraisal is to define what is important about the 
character and appearance of a conservation area.  It identifies, records and describes the 
area’s special characteristics and analyses and assesses the value and significance of the 
area in terms of its architectural or historic interest.  It provides a basis for making decisions 
about the future management of the conservation area, helping to determine what might be 
appropriate development in and around its boundary.

The Roe Green/Beesley Green conservation area was designated in 1970 but a 
conservation appraisal was never undertaken.  By undertaking one now this offers the 
opportunity to re-assess the designated area and to evaluate and record its special interest.  

A copy of the draft conservation area appraisal can be viewed at:

http://www.salford.gov.uk/planning-building-and-regeneration/conservation-and-listed-
buildings/salfords-heritage-assets/conservation-areas/roe-greenbeesley-green/roe-
greenbeesley-green-conservation-area-appraisal/ 

The only changes that are proposed relate to minor amendments to the existing boundary 
of the conservation area.  A plan is attached detailing these areas but in summary they  
would exclude the following:

 6 – 12 (E) Wardley Hall Lane
 2 – 5 & 7 Mulgrave Road
 66 Greenleach Lane
 1 – 74 Manthorpe Avenue and the woodland to the rear

Page 132

http://www.salford.gov.uk/planning-building-and-regeneration/conservation-and-listed-buildings/salfords-heritage-assets/conservation-areas/roe-greenbeesley-green/roe-greenbeesley-green-conservation-area-appraisal/
http://www.salford.gov.uk/planning-building-and-regeneration/conservation-and-listed-buildings/salfords-heritage-assets/conservation-areas/roe-greenbeesley-green/roe-greenbeesley-green-conservation-area-appraisal/
http://www.salford.gov.uk/planning-building-and-regeneration/conservation-and-listed-buildings/salfords-heritage-assets/conservation-areas/roe-greenbeesley-green/roe-greenbeesley-green-conservation-area-appraisal/


3

 Land at Crossfield Drive

Additional land that is proposed to be included within the conservation area:

 67 – 71 (O) Lumber Lane, 1 – 9 Hardy Grove
 8 – 22 Lyon Grove

The public consultation for the draft conservation area appraisal generated a good 
response with representations received mainly from local residents and a couple of 
landowners.  . A further consultation was undertaken at the start of 2018 and there was no 
change to the assessment.

Conservation area designation brings scope for relaxing Building Regulation requirements 
under Part M where these would otherwise adversely affect the character of the area.  This 
could disadvantage disabled people in the event that conservation is judged to be of a 
higher priority.  This issue, however, would need to be judged on a case by case basis.

Overall there is no evidence to suggest that the proposal for the conservation area 
appraisal including the proposed amendments to the conservation area boundary will 
disproportionately affect people with protected characteristics. 

3. Once form is completed, please sign and date below

Name Signature Date

All initial screenings and CIAs are reported to Corporate Management Team. Please 
forward your completed form to Rachel Todd (rachel.todd@salford.gov.uk) in Strategy and 
Change as soon as possible. It will then be confirmed (with Legal Services) that either a full 
CIA or no further actions are required. 

Page 133

mailto:rachel.todd@salford.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Roe Green / Beesley Green  
Conservation Area Appraisal 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Salford City Council 

June 2019 
 
 

Page 135



Contents 

 

  Page 
number 

1 Introduction 3 

2 Planning framework 6 

3 Definition of special interest 8 

4 Location and setting 10 

5 Historic development 11 

6 Character analysis 30 

7 Approach to preparing this appraisal 80 

8 Amendments to the conservation area boundary 81 

9 Adoption and next steps 84 

10 Bibliography and references 85 

11 Glossary 87 

 Annex A – Listed buildings 92 

 Annex B – Locally listed buildings 99 

 Annex C – Commemorative plaques 101 

 Annex D - Maps 105 

 Map 1 - Conservation area boundary  

 Map 2 – Location plan  

 Map 3 – 1764 map of Duke of Bridgewater’s Estate  

 Map 4 – 1848 Ordnance Survey map  

 Map 5 – 1894 Ordnance Survey map  

 Map 6 – 1909 Ordnance Survey map  

 Map 7 – 1937 Ordnance Survey map  

 Map 8 – 1970 Ordnance Survey map  

 Map 9 – Historic development  

 Map 10 – Listed buildings, locally listed buildings, and 
buildings that make a positive contribution 

 

 Map 11 – Character areas  

 Map 12 – Green spaces and key views  

 Map 13 – Negative and neutral factors  

 

Page 136



 

3 
 

1 Introduction 
 
Definition of a conservation area 
 
1.1 The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 provides 

the legislative basis for the designation of conservation areas. It defines 
conservation areas as “areas of special architectural or historic interest, the 
character or appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance”.  
 

1.2 Salford currently has sixteen designated conservation areas, which vary 
significantly in character and appearance, reflecting the patterns of historic 
development across the authority’s area. 

 
What does conservation area status mean 
 
1.3 As a designated area of special architectural or historic interest, the legislation 

places a duty on local authorities through the exercise of their planning 
functions to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing 
the character and appearance of the conservation area. 
 

1.4 The city council must therefore have regard to the conservation area 
designation when determining planning applications within the area, or those 
which are located outside of the conservation area but have the potential to 
impact on its character or appearance. 

 
1.5 Conservation area status also introduces additional limitations on the type of 

development that can be carried out without the need for planning permission. 
Where certain forms of development benefit from permitted development 
rights and can be carried out without the need for planning permission, there 
are additional restrictions in place within conservation areas which mean that 
such works may require planning permission. Guidance on when planning 
permission is required for works within a conservation area is available via the 
Planning Portal.  
 

1.6 Conservation area status also introduces controls over works to trees, and 
controls over the demolition of buildings within the conservation area. 
Additional information is available on the heritage and conservation pages of 
the city council’s website. 

 
1.7 It is recommended that those intending to undertake works within a 

conservation area seek advice from the city council’s development 
management service to determine whether planning permission is required, 
using the contact details set out below: 

 
Urban Vision  
 
T: 0161 779 6195 
E: planning.contact@salford.gov.uk  

 
  

Page 137

http://www.planningportal.gov.uk/permission/
http://www.salford.gov.uk/planning-building-and-regeneration/conservation-and-listed-buildings/salfords-heritage-assets/conservation-areas/controls-within-conservation-areas/
mailto:planning.contact@salford.gov.uk


 

4 
 

Purpose of a conservation area appraisal 
 
1.8 The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires 

that authorities review conservation area designations from time to time. 
 

1.9 Guidance published by Historic England identifies the benefits of undertaking 
a conservation area appraisal, in order to understand and articulate why the 
area is special and what elements within the area contribute to this special 
quality1. It recognises that an adopted conservation area appraisal will be a 
material consideration in planning decisions. 
 

1.10 The purpose of a conservation area appraisal is to define what is important 
about the character and appearance of a conservation area and to identify its 
special characteristics. It provides a basis for making decisions about the 
future management of the conservation area, helping to determine what might 
be appropriate development in and around its boundary. 

 
1.11 This conservation area appraisal will be used as a material consideration in 

decision making on all planning applications that could impact on the 
character or appearance of the Roe Green / Beesley Green conservation 
area. It identifies those elements that make a positive contribution to the 
conservation area, and provides a range of detailed information regarding its 
special interest. Regard will therefore be had to the conservation area 
appraisal as a whole in informing decision making on relevant planning 
applications.  

 
Roe Green / Beesley Green Conservation Area 
 
1.12 The Roe Green / Beesley Green conservation area was designated by 

Lancashire County Council in November 1970. It is the largest of Salford’s 
conservation areas, covering an area of 36 hectares (88.96 acres).  
 

1.13 The conservation area lies within the western part of Salford, approximately 
9km to the west of Manchester City Centre. It lies adjacent to the intersection 
of the M60 and the A580 East Lancashire Road.  
 

1.14 There has been a settlement at Roe Green since the Medieval period, when 
Roe Green comprised a small rural hamlet. There have been a number of 
defined stages in the development of the village. The 18th century was a 
period of expansion for Roe Green, with a series of simple cottages built 
around the village green to house the growing community. The next stage of 
expansion was the Victorian period when the coming of the railway ushered in 
a wave of housebuilding with modest terraced housing constructed. The 
coming of the East Lancashire Road in the 1930s initiated the next wave of 
housebuilding with suburban semi-detached homes built around the periphery 
of the village.  
 

                                            
1 “Conservation area designation, appraisal and management – Historic England Advice Note 1”, 
Historic England (February 2019). 

Page 138



 

5 
 

1.15 Over the course of the 20th century, the village of Roe Green increasingly 
became subsumed within the wider conurbation of Greater Manchester. 
Despite this, Roe Green / Beesley Green retains its identify as a distinct 
village within the wider conurbation, and the semi-rural character which it 
evokes is an intrinsic part of its special interest. From its origins as a solidly 
working class village, it is now a highly desirable residential area within the 
wider suburban area of Worsley.  

 
 

  

Page 139



 

6 
 

2 Planning framework 
 
Legislation 
 
2.1 Section 69 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 

1990 imposes a duty on local authorities to designate as conservation areas 
those “areas of special architectural or historic interest, the character or 
appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance”. The legislation 
also requires that authorities review from time to time the extent of 
conservation areas within their districts. 
 

2.2 Section 71 of the Act requires local planning authorities to formulate and 
publish proposals for the preservation and enhancement of conservation 
areas and to submit them for consideration to a public meeting. Following 
designation, the local authority, in exercising its planning powers, must pay 
special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of the conservation area (Section 72 of the Act). 

 
National planning guidance 
 
2.3 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) identifies as one of its core 

principles that the planning system should conserve heritage assets in a 
manner appropriate to their significance, so that they can be enjoyed for their 
contribution to the quality of life of this and future generations. It identifies that 
local authorities should set out a positive strategy for the conservation and 
enjoyment of the historic environment and that in doing so, they should 
recognise that heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource and conserve 
them in a manner appropriate to their significance. 
 

2.4 Paragraph 186 of the NPPF identifies that when considering the designation 
of conservation areas, local planning authorities should ensure that an area 
justifies such status because of its special architectural or historic interest, 
and that the concept of conservation is not devalued through the designation 
of areas that lack special interest. 
 

2.5 In terms of decision making, the NPPF identifies that local planning authorities 
should identify and assess the particular significance of any heritage asset 
that may be affected by a proposal. Paragraphs 193 and 194  state that when 
considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s 
conservation, and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should 
be. Paragraph 197 confirms that any effect on the significance of a non-
designated heritage asset should also be taken into account when 
determining an application. 
 

2.6 Paragraph 200 identifies that authorities should look for opportunities for new 
development within conservation areas to enhance or better reveal their 
significance. It makes clear that proposals that preserve those elements of the 
setting that make a positive contribution to or better reveal the significance of 
the asset should be treated favourably.  

Page 140



 

7 
 

 
2.7 Paragraph 201 confirms that not all elements of a conservation area will 

necessarily contribute to its significance. It states that loss of a building (or 
other element) which makes a positive contribution to the significance of the 
conservation area should be treated either as substantial harm or less than 
substantial harm, as appropriate, taking into account the relative significance 
of the element affected and its contribution to the significance of the 
conservation area. 
 

2.8 The ‘Conserving and enhancing the historic environment’ section of the 
Planning Practice Guidance provides additional guidance in relation to 
conservation areas.  

 
Salford’s development plan 
 
2.9 The following saved policies of the unitary development plan (UDP) provide 

the basis for decision making in relation to conservation areas and heritage 
assets more generally: 
 

 Policy CH3 – Works within conservation areas identifies that 
development within conservation areas will only be permitted where it 
would preserve or enhance the character or appearance of the 
conservation area. It sets out a series of criteria to which regard will be 
had in determining this, including the extent to which the proposal i) retains 
or improves features that contribute to the character or appearance of the 
conservation area; ii) is of a high standard of design; iii) retains existing 
mature trees; iv) secures environmental improvements and 
enhancements; and v) protects and improves important views within, into 
and out of the conservation area. 

 Policy CH4 – Demolition of buildings within conservation areas sets 
out the specific circumstances which will need to be satisfied in order for 
demolition to be permitted. The policy identifies that if demolition is 
considered to be acceptable, consent will only be given if detailed 
proposals for the reuse of the site have been approved. 

 Policies CH1 – Works to, and demolition of, listed buildings, and CH2 
– development affecting the setting of a listed building apply to works 
that would affect a listed building or its setting. 

 Policy CH8 – Local list of buildings, structures and features of 
architectural, archaeological or historic interest identifies that the 
impact of development on any building, structure or feature that is 
identified on the council’s local list of heritage assets will be a material 
planning consideration.  

 

Page 141



 

8 
 

3 Definition of special interest of the Roe Green / 
Beesley Green conservation area 
 

3.1 The Roe Green / Beesley Green conservation area was designated by 
Lancashire County Council in November 1970. The identified rationale for its 
designation as an area of special architectural or historic interest was as 
follows: 
 
“Roe Green was selected for conservation because its arrangement of open 
space and housing gives it the character of a village green, which together 
with the adjoining Beesley Green and undeveloped, and wooded land, 
comprises a well landscaped green area in marked contrast to the 
surrounding heavily developed areas of South East Lancashire.”2 

 
3.2 There is however no record of any formal conservation area appraisal which 

may have informed the area’s designation. This appraisal therefore presents 
the opportunity to reassess the designated area and to evaluate and record its 
special interest.   
 

3.3 The arrangement of houses around a village green is key in defining the 
special interest of the conservation area. There has been a settlement at Roe 
Green since the Medieval period, and the form and layout of the village today 
still largely reflects these historic origins. From the Medieval period, Roe 
Green developed as a small hamlet of cottages and crofts arranged around 
an open area of common land. The construction of the railway through the 
village in the 1860s severed the village green in two, and from this point 
onwards the smaller area of common land to the west of the railway became 
known as Beesley Green. This historic arrangement of dwellings around a 
village green is relatively unique within Greater Manchester. Other such 
examples of this form have largely been lost, and whilst neighbouring Worsley 
Village has the appearance of cottages around a village green, this is a 
designed form dating from the aesthetic remodelling of the village in the early 
20th century. By contrast, Roe Green’s form derives directly from its Medieval 
origins. As cited in Pevsner, “in contrast to the surrounding suburbia it has the 
atmosphere of a village, with low houses around an ample green”3.  
 

3.4 The series of early vernacular cottages surrounding the village green make a 
significant contribution to the special interest of the conservation area. Many 
of these cottages date from the 18th century, and whilst there have typically 
been a range of later alterations, the form of these early cottages with their 
single-pile plan, modest appearance, and casement windows tucked under 
low eaves still evokes the historic character of the area. Roe Green developed 
as a settlement of modest cottages for the labouring classes and the simple 
vernacular form of the early cottages is central to its character.      

                                            
2 “Draft report on proposals for the conservation and improvement of the Roe Green Beesley Green 
Conservation Area”, Lancashire County Council (undated but assumed to be 1971/72). 
3 “The buildings of England – Lancashire: Manchester and the South East”, Hartwell, C., Hyde, M. & 
Pevsner, N. (Yale University Press, 2004). 
 

Page 142



 

9 
 

 
3.5 The open nature of the land surrounding the conservation area is also key to 

its special interest. Whilst Roe Green witnessed significant expansion from 
the late 19th century to the mid 20th century, the open land and woodland 
which lies to the south of the village contributes significantly to the sense of 
Roe Green / Beesley Green as a defined village within the urban area. This 
open land separates Roe Green from Worsley to the south and provides a 
semi-rural setting for Beesley Green and for Roe Green Cricket Ground, 
affording open views south and east towards Worsley Woods. The expanse of 
open land fringed by woodland which characterises the southern half of the 
conservation area is integral in defining the character of Roe Green and 
Beesley Green as a distinct village within the wider conurbation. 
 

3.6 Part of the special interest of the conservation area is the extent to which its 
form and buildings reflect its historic development over time, from the 
Medieval period to the present day. Where some of the city’s conservation 
areas designate areas that were developed at one particular point in time, the 
settlement at Roe Green / Beesley Green has developed over the course of 
many centuries and this contributes positively to its special interest.  
 

3.7 The boundary of the conservation area is shown at Map 1.  
 
 
 
 

Page 143



 

10 
 

4 Location and setting 
 

4.1 The Roe Green / Beesley Green conservation area lies within the western 
part of Salford. There has been a settlement at Roe Green since the Medieval 
period, when Roe Green comprised a small rural hamlet. Over the course of 
the 20th century, the village of Roe Green increasingly became subsumed 
within the wider conurbation of Greater Manchester.  
 

4.2 Roe Green lies approximately 9km to the west of Manchester City Centre. 
The village lies adjacent to the intersection of the A580 East Lancashire Road 
and the M60 motorway, and these two key routes serve to define the extent of 
Roe Green to the north and east. The conservation area is bounded to the 
south by Worsley Woods, whilst to the west the conservation area adjoins an 
area of 20th century suburban housing within Worsley. 
 

4.3 The former Manchester to Wigan rail line runs through the conservation area 
where it lies in cutting, separating Roe Green from Beesley Green. The former 
line is now heavily wooded and functions as a recreation route for walking and 
cycling.   
 

4.4 Roe Green is located at the northern edge of the Lancashire Plain, where the 
topography begins to rise towards the West Pennine hills. The area lies at 
approximately 50 metres above ordnance datum (AOD) and the topography is 
one of undulating plateau areas, bisected by wooded valleys containing minor 
stream tributaries. Kempnough Brook runs south through the conservation 
area, beyond which it flows in to Worsley Brook and then on to the 
Manchester Ship Canal.  
 

4.5 Despite now forming part of the western suburbs of Greater Manchester, Roe 
Green retains its identity as a distinct village within the wider conurbation. This 
derives in part from its setting, being largely surrounded by open land. To the 
south, Worsley Woods and the open land which forms Worsley Greenway 
serves to separate Roe Green from Worsley Village and its suburban housing 
areas. To the north and east, the A580 and M60 define the northern and 
eastern extent of the village, beyond which lies designated Green Belt at 
Ellesmere Golf Course, and at Wardley Wood and Hazelhurst respectively.  
 

4.6 Map 2 shows the location of the conservation area in the context of the 
surrounding area.  

 

Page 144



 

11 
 

5 Historic development 
 
5.1 This section provides a summary of the historic development of Roe Green 

and Beesley Green. An understanding of the historic development of the 
conservation area is particularly important in the case of Roe Green and 
Beesley Green, given that part of its special interest is the extent to which its 
form and buildings reflect its historic development over the course of many 
centuries. 
 

5.2 The historic mapping reproduced on Maps 3 to 8 may be referred to alongside 
this narrative, as it presents snapshots of the area’s development at defined 
points in time4. In addition, Map 9 – Historic development provides a visual 
representation of the key phases of historic development of the village. Map 
10 is also referred to via footnotes, which allows for the buildings referred to in 
the text to be identified spatially. It should be noted that all historic 
photographs and sketches within this section are reproduced from the public 
archive at Salford Local History Library, unless otherwise stated. 

 
Early origins 
 
5.3 Following the Norman period, it is likely that the area now known as Roe 

Green formed part of the Manor of Worsley, under the control of the de 
Worsley family. The first documentary reference to Roe Green is not until the 
late 16th century when the Manchester Parish Register of 1585 refers to Roe 
Green in the context of a land dispute. Sir Richard Brereton of Worsley Hall 
stated that he had inherited a parcel of manorial waste called Roe Green in 
1580, but the boundaries of his ownership were disputed by Gilbert 
Sherington of neighbouring Wardley Hall. The dispute was finally settled in 
1598, and the hamlet of Roe Green was confirmed within the ownership of Sir 
Richard Brereton. 
 

5.4 A plan of 1590, prepared as part of the land dispute, shows a recognisable 
settlement at Roe Green comprising an area of open land crossed by tracks 
and surrounded by around twenty dwellings. ‘Roogrine’ appears as the largest 
settlement in the surrounding area at this time, with no notable settlement in 
evidence at neighbouring Worsley. By the 16th century Roe Green was well 
established as a settlement of farms and cottages around an area of common 
land, however it is likely that a hamlet had existed in this location since at 
least the 13th century, having developed to house agricultural labourers 
working the manorial land of the Manors of Worsley and Walkden. 

 

                                            
4 Map 3 – 1764 map, Map 4 – 1848 map, Map 5 – 1894 map, Map 6 – 1909 map, Map 7 – 1937 map, 
and Map 8 – 1970 map.  

Page 145



 

12 
 

 
1590 map, reproduced from “Worsley in the eighteenth century – a study of a 
Lancashire Landscape”, Helen Wickham (1984) (Neil Richardson)    
 
5.5 It is likely that the occupants of Roe Green in the 16th century were crofters 

and farming hands. There existed a pound or pinfold located on what is now 
Beesley Green, where stray animals found grazing on the common land 
would be kept, until their owners claimed them from the pound keeper upon 
payment of a fee. 
 

5.6 Kempnough Hall5 is the oldest surviving building within the conservation area. 
‘The Haule of Kempnough’ appears on the 1590 map, and whilst the present 
building largely dates from the late 16th or early 17th century, the Kempnough 
estate can be traced back to the 13th century and it is likely that a hall 
occupied the site from that date. Kempnough was the estate of a minor South 
Lancashire gentry family which passed from the de Worsley family to the Parr 
family in the 15th century upon marriage. Then in 1578 it passed to the Starkie 
family upon marriage, who continued to own the Kempnough estate until its 
sale to the Bridgewater Trust towards the end of the 19th century.  

 

                                            
5 Building 2 shown on Map 10. 

Page 146



 

13 
 

 
Sketch of Kempnough Hall (dated 1915)  

 
The 18th century and the coming of the Industrial Age 
 
5.7 At the start of the 18th century, the community of Roe Green would have 

comprised of a small number of farms together with cottages housing the 
labouring classes, who were employed in agriculture and hand loom weaving. 
By this point, the Starkie family were no longer residing at Kempnough Hall, 
which was tenanted to a range of occupants of considerably lower social 
standing. For a period of time the Hall appears to have been a lodging inn and 
public house, and at some point in the 19th century the Hall was subdivided to 
form three properties, as it remains to the present day as a Grade II listed 
building. 
 

5.8 In 1727 the First Duke of Bridgewater gave land at Roe Green on which to 
build a school for the education of the poor. The school and adjoining 
schoolhouse were built in the 1730s at the western extent of Roe Green. By 
1752 a three storey district poor house had been erected adjoining the school, 
and this collection of buildings remains today as cottages at 253, 253A and 
254 Beesley Green6. 

 

                                            
6 Building 13 shown on Map 10. 

Page 147



 

14 
 

 
Sketch of the school, schoolhouse and district poor house viewed from the east 

 
5.9 The Manor of Worsley was mapped in 1764 in order to record the land 

ownership of the Third Duke of Bridgewater. On this map, the settlement of 
Roe Green is again clearly recognisable, largely reflecting the present 
arrangement of open land crossed by tracks and ringed by dwellings. 
Although the tracks are not named, the settlement is clearly defined at the 
intersection of four lanes which exist to the present day; Lumber Lane, Old 
Clough Lane, Wardley Hall Lane, and Greenleach Lane. Map 3 reproduces 
the 1764 map of the Duke of Bridgewater’s Estate.  
 

5.10 The enterprises of the Third Duke of Bridgewater ushered in an era of change 
for Roe Green in the latter half of the 18th century. In this period, Worsley was 
at the centre of pioneering work by Francis Egerton, the Third Duke of 
Bridgewater and his associates. A series of industrial enterprises rapidly 
developed at Worsley, centred around The Delph where a network of over 40 
miles of underground canals allowed the transport of coal from the Duke’s 
mines. He saw an opportunity to better exploit his coal reserves through the 
construction of a canal to transport coal from the mines at Worsley to the 
heart of the developing industrial areas of Manchester and Salford. Opened 
on 17th July 1761, the Bridgewater Canal was the first canal in Britain to be 
built without following an existing watercourse. During the second half of the 
18th century, Worsley experienced significant expansion associated with the 
industrial enterprises of ‘the Canal Duke’, and the proximity of this burgeoning 
industrial hub also shaped the development of neighbouring Roe Green.     

 
5.11 Between 1770 and 1790 there were a host of cottages built across the 

Worsley and Roe Green area by the Duke of Bridgewater in order to house 
the workers associated with his various enterprises. Around 20 cottages were 
built around Roe Green as part of this, most of which remain today. 
 

Page 148



 

15 
 

5.12 The late 18th century also saw the construction of Brook House7, which was 
an imposing brick built residence erected within its own grounds to the north 
east of the Green. Sources suggest that the Duke of Bridgewater may have 
given the land to a principal contractor working on the new canal as payment 
for work undertaken. At this point, Brook House would have been the most 
eminent residence of Roe Green – the ‘big house’, given that Kempnough Hall 
was no longer occupied by the Starkie family, and the hamlet’s other 
dwellings comprised of modest cottages and smallholdings.  

 

 
Brook House prior to its subsequent demolition (photograph dated 1966) 

 
Independent Methodism 
 
5.13 Independent Methodism played an important role in the history of Roe Green, 

and its associations with the village date from the early years of the 19th 
century. Independent Methodism was formed around the same time as the 
foundation of mainstream Methodism by a group of dissident members of the 
Church of England in Oldham together with a number of Quaker-Methodists 
from Warrington.  
 

5.14 In 1808 Humphrey Harper, a member of the Manchester Independent 
Methodist Church, travelled to Roe Green to deliver a sermon. Due to the 
gathering of people, he stood upon a large stone in order to address the 
crowd, and preached the first Gospel Sermon on Roe Green. The preaching 
stone continued to be used for subsequent open air sermons, and today 
occupies a prominent position in front of the Independent Methodist Chapel 
where a commemorative plaque marks its significance8. 
 

                                            
7 Demolished in the 1970s, Brook House stood on the site of what now forms Roe Green Avenue 
(Point 23 shown on Map 10). 
8 Building 27 shown on Map 10. 

Page 149



 

16 
 

5.15 As the congregation grew, a number of local families offered their homes as a 
place for sermons to be held during inclement weather. One of these was the 
Clarke family who resided at Lumber Lane in what now forms the pair of 
adjoining dwellings of Littlewood and Sisley9. The property was constructed 
around 1740, and the Clarke family resided here from the late 18th century. 
Samuel Clarke was a handloom weaver, and his son Richard and daughter-
in-law Mary are generally accredited with the firm establishment of 
Independent Methodism in Roe Green.   
 

5.16 The Clarkes became a prominent family in Roe Green, whose social standing 
grew alongside their increasing financial status. Upon his father’s death, 
Richard Clarke transformed the handloom weaving business, through 
becoming a ‘putter out’ who supplied yarn to home weavers and then 
purchased the cloth from them to sell to the market. Capitalising on industrial 
progress, Richard Clarke then built Sindsley Mill for the steam powered 
manufacture of cloth. Sindsley Mill was located to the east of Roe Green 
around Hazelhurst, on the site now occupied by Lambton Road and Douglas 
Road. The family residence at Lumber Lane was substantially extended in the 
1820s as a result of Richard’s Clarke growing prosperity, to form a large 
dwellinghouse together with coachhouse and outbuildings. As part of this 
extension, a large preaching room was established on the first floor of the 
dwelling which became the meeting place for the growing Independent 
Methodist congregation of Roe Green. The property is also associated with 
the early childhood of the eminent suffragist and proponent of women’s rights, 
Elizabeth Wolstenholme Elmy. Richard Clarke became guardian to his 
orphaned granddaughter Elizabeth in 1844, and much of her early life was 
spent in Roe Green. Following the death of Richard and his wife in the mid 
19th century, the property was subdivided to accommodate separate 
households for two of their sons, and it is in this form which the Grade  II listed 
building remains today as two adjoining dwellings, Littlewood and Sisley.      

 

 
Littlewood and Sisley (photograph dated 1950s) 

                                            
9 Building 1 shown on Map 10. 

Page 150



 

17 
 

 
 
5.17 The growing size of the congregation and the uncertainty regarding the future 

of their meeting place prompted by the death of Richard and Mary Clarke led 
the Roe Green Independent Methodists to develop a plan for the erection of a 
dedicated chapel. A plot of land was granted to the church, and the first 
Independent Methodist Chapel at Roe Green was built in 1855 on the site 
which the present chapel now occupies10. 

 

 
The first Independent Methodist Chapel at Roe Green, completed in 1855 

 
The Bridgewater Trust 
 
5.18 The Bridgewater Trust was established in 1803 upon the death of the Third 

Duke of Bridgewater, in order to manage the estate on behalf of his 
beneficiaries. The Bridgewater Trust continued to manage the estate until it 
was dissolved in 1903. During the course of the 19th century the Bridgewater 
Trust continued to acquire land across the area, including the purchase of the 
Kempnough Hall estate from the Starkie family towards the end of the 19th 
century. 
 

5.19 The 1848 Ordnance Survey map (of which Map 4 presents an extract) 
demonstrates that by this date there had been limited further development in 
Roe Green since the erection of workers cottages under the Third Duke of 
Bridgewater in the late 18th century. Bert Tyldesley’s history of Roe Green, 
‘The Duke’s Other Village’, suggests that the reason for this was a deliberate 
policy of the Bridgewater Trust to prevent further expansion of the village. 
However, it is not clear why restricting further development would be in the 
interests of the Trust. It is perhaps more likely that this period of limited growth 
in the size of the village resulted from new households choosing to move 
outside of Roe Green to pursue work in the mills and collieries.  

 

                                            
10 Building 27 shown on Map 10. 

Page 151



 

18 
 

5.20 The 1848 map shows further industrial development around the area. To the 
south east of Roe Green around the area now occupied by Manthorpe 
Avenue and the M60 the mapping shows a coal pit, reservoir and mill 
identified as Saunderson Coal Pit, Dam and Mill. A colliery railway is shown 
running south from Saunderson Coal Pit to Worsley Boatyard, allowing for the 
onward transport of coal via the Bridgewater Canal. The landscape 
surrounding Roe Green comprises of enclosed agricultural fields, dotted with 
collieries and pits. By this period, Roe Green had been overtaken in size by its 
surrounding settlements, with Worsley Village having experienced significant 
growth since the mid 18th century associated with the development of the 
Bridgewater Canal and the industrial enterprises centred around Worsley 
Delph. 
 

5.21 By the middle of the 19th century, Roe Green comprised around 80 dwellings 
housing approximately 500 people. The population of Roe Green at this time 
was solidly working class, comprising predominantly of colliers and power 
loom operatives, with the remainder being employed in industries associated 
with the Bridgewater Trust enterprises, including joiners, stonemasons, 
blacksmiths, cokeburners and wheelwrights. Whilst the population of Roe 
Green had not increased significantly since the middle of the 18th century its 
employment base had been transformed by the industrial revolution and the 
wave of industrial enterprise that swept through the area over this period, 
ushering in much wider social changes. 
 

5.22 It is around this time that much of what now forms Worsley Woods is likely to 
have been planted as woodland. The 1848 map identifies just a narrow line of 
trees along the course of Kempnough Brook, with much of the land which now 
forms Worsley Woods being agricultural fields. Around 1850 the 1st Earl of 
Ellesmere, residing at Worsley New Hall, had a hunting and fishing lodge built 
overlooking Old Warke Dam, known as The Aviary. It is likely that the much of 
the woodland was planted around this time as naturalistic landscaping across 
his estate to provide opportunities for hunting and shooting as a private 
leisure pursuit. A number of estate keeper’s lodges were also constructed 
around this time to manage the estate and its woodland, including the 
property now known as Kempnough Lodge at 249 Kempnough Hall Road11. 

 
The coming of the railway 
 
5.23 The first sod of the Manchester to Wigan railway was cut in 1861 by the 

London and North Western Railway. The railway had been strongly opposed 
by the Bridgewater Trust, whose trustees recognised that it would undermine 
the commercial operation of the Bridgewater Canal. The line joined the 
Liverpool to Manchester railway of 1831 at Eccles, from where the new line 
extended north-westwards calling at stations at Monton Green and Worsley. 
The line cut through Roe Green and then divided, with one branch continuing 
northward to Bolton, and the Manchester to Wigan line continuing westward to 
stations at Ellenbrook and Tyldesley. As it passed through Worsley and Roe 

                                            
11 Building 11 shown on Map 10. 

Page 152

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Monton_Green_railway_station
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Worsley_railway_station
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bolton
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Ellenbrook_railway_station
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Tyldesley_railway_station


 

19 
 

Green the railway was constructed in cutting, such that it lay below the level of 
the surrounding land.  
 

5.24 The coming of the railway had a very significant impact on Roe Green, the 
most obvious of which was the physical subdivision of the village. The railway 
effectively cut through the middle of Roe Green. The majority of the village 
and its Green now lay to the east of the line, with a smaller area of common 
land and a cluster of dwellings around Kempnough Hall and Lumber Lane 
lying to the west of the line. A road bridge was constructed over the line at 
Lumber Lane, to connect the two parts of the village.  

 

 
Roe Green Junction, where the Manchester to Wigan line and the Bolton line 
meet, and showing the Lumber Lane road bridge crossing the railway 

 
5.25 Following this forced subdivision, the common land to the west of the railway 

line subsequently became known as Beesley Green. There had been a 
dwelling on this site belonging to the Beesley family from the 16th century, with 
a dwelling belonging to a ‘Thomas Besley’ identified on the 1590 map. The 
Grade II listed Beesley Hall12 which occupies the site today was built around 
1850 as three adjoining cottages. The Beesley name had however 
persevered through the centuries. It was therefore the coming of the railway 
which established Roe Green and Beesley Green as distinct entities. 

 

                                            
12 Building 3 shown on Map 10. 

Page 153



 

20 
 

  
Beesley Hall, front elevation (photograph dated 
1900s) 

Beesley Hall, rear elevation 
(photograph dated 1900s) 

 
5.26 The impact of the railway extended far beyond the physical subdivision of the 

village. Upon the line’s opening in 1864, the new station at Worsley meant 
that Roe Green became within walking distance of the developing rail network 
and its connections to Manchester, Salford, Wigan, Bolton and beyond. Bert 
Tyldesley suggests in ‘The Duke’s Other Village’ that following the 
development of the railway the Bridgewater Trust relaxed their veto on further 
housebuilding and plots of land alongside the rail line were sold for 
development. The last decades of the 19th century saw the development of 
terraces of houses around Roe Green. Terraces were constructed to the 
south of the Green along the line of the railway, and to infill plots to the north 
of the Green. The terraces were typical of the era and built to a standard 
layout, comprising modest two storey dwellings with a rear outrigger and small 
back yards. The 1894 map demonstrates that around eighty of these terraced 
houses had been erected by this date, effectively doubling the number of 
dwellings within the village. By the turn of the century the population of the 
village had swelled to over one thousand. To meet the needs of the 
burgeoning population, a new Independent Methodist Chapel13 was built in 
1884 to replace the earlier chapel, and a new school extension14 was built at 
Beesley Green in 1892. 

 

                                            
13 Building 27 shown on Map 10. 
14 Building 12 shown on Map 10. 

Page 154



 

21 
 

 
The new Roe Green Independent Methodist Chapel, built in 1884 on the site of the 
earlier chapel (photograph dated 1930s) 

 
 

  
The old school, prior to construction 
of the new school buildings 
(photograph dated 1890s) 

The school was extended in 1892 to meet 
the needs of the growing population 
(photograph dated 1930s), and now forms 
part of Beesley Green Community Centre 

 
5.27 The new era of housebuilding introduced many new families to the village, 

and the employment base of the area also shifted reflecting wider trends in 
society. The number of men employed in mining within the local area had 
started to decline due to increased mechanisation and the exhaustion of the 
local pits. Although the village was still very much dominated by the labouring 
classes with tradesmen like joiners, bricklayers, plumbers and mechanics, an 
increasing number of residents were now employed in clerical work. 

 

Page 155



 

22 
 

 
The late Victorian terraces - view north along Greenleach Lane, showing Fairyfall 
Cottages (179 – 197 Greenleach Lane) 

 
5.28 Across the wider area, many of the smaller pits had closed and Saunderson’s 

Mill and its associated reservoir had been demolished and infilled. By the end 
of the 19th century there was a creeping suburbanisation from the south and 
east, where new estates were being developed at Broadoak Park and Egerton 
Park. Land that had been predominantly agricultural in the mid 19th century 
was now being developed for the mansions and villas of the new middle 
classes who were increasingly choosing to settle away from the overcrowding 
and pollution of their workplaces in industrial Manchester and Salford. The 
railway both facilitated and hastened this process, with the estates of villas 
developing around the new railway stations. 

 
The start of the twentieth century and a cricketing heritage  
 
5.29 The first decades of the twentieth century saw these established trends 

continue. There was further development of terraced housing on those 
remaining plots fronting on to Roe Green, and the development of villas for 
the middle classes continued beyond the village to the east at Broadoak Park 
and Egerton Park, where the villas extended towards Roe Green along 
Greenleach Lane. By this stage, the majority of the buildings which now lie 
within the extent of the conservation area were present, with only limited 
changes having occurred since this point where individual plots have been 
redeveloped and plots subdivided to form additional dwellings. 
 

Page 156



 

23 
 

5.30 Around the turn of the century, Roe Green Cricket Ground was formally laid 
out in its current location15. There had been a strong history of cricket within 
Roe Green from the latter half of the 19th century. The village green had long 
been used for sporting activities, and Roe Green Cricket Club was founded 
around 1880 and a cricket ground laid out to the north of Roe Green. 
Following destruction of the pavilion in a storm, the cricket ground was 
relocated to its present site at Beesley Green.  
 

5.31 Roe Green’s place in cricketing history was secured by the Tyldesley 
brothers, in the early years of the twentieth century. For thirty two of the thirty 
six years up to 1934 one or both of the Tyldesley brothers, JT and Ernest, 
appeared in the top twenty of the first-class averages. In his career, Ernest 
scored over 40,000 runs at an average of over 45 runs per innings and scored 
over 100 centuries. The brothers were born and brought up in Roe Green, 
and their family history was long established within the village. JT invested his 
cricketing income in the erection of ten houses at Hardy Grove and Lumber 
Lane, to the west of Roe Green. The largest of the houses, 71 Lumber Lane, 
was occupied by the Tyldesley family and the house was named Aigburth in 
commemoration of Ernest’s County debut at the Liverpool ground in 1909. 
The house remains as Aigburth to this day, and several commemorative 
plaques exist around the village recording the history of the Tyldesley family, 
their places of residence, and their connections with the Independent 
Methodist Chapel. 

 

 
View westwards along Lumber Lane showing ‘Aigburth’ 

 
5.32 The pavilion at Roe Green Cricket Club16 dates from the 1920s and is 

identified on the local list of heritage assets for its significance as a typical 
Lancashire County League cricket club building of rural character. 

 
 

                                            
15 Point 7 shown on Map 10. 
16 Building 7 shown on Map 10. 

Page 157



 

24 
 

The coming of the East Lancashire Road 
 
5.33 By the end of the 1920s there had been relatively limited further development 

within Roe Green, with the exception of the development of twenty houses at 
Mulgrave Road as part of the Homes for Heroes programme after the First 
World War. The creeping suburbanisation across the wider area had shifted 
into a higher gear with estates of modest semi-detached housing constructed 
in the interwar period around Hazelhurst and Broadoak Park to the south east, 
and at Lumber Lane and Greenleach Lane to the west. 
 

5.34 The development of the East Lancashire Road in the 1930s would accelerate 
these trends and see the character of Roe Green transformed from a semi-
rural village surrounded by fields, to a village increasingly subsumed within 
the wider conurbation.  

 

 
Early cottages at Daub Hole, just outside the conservation area boundary around 
Old Clough Lane, which were demolished in the 1930s to make way for the East 
Lancashire Road 

 
5.35 The East Lancashire Road was opened in 1934 as the first intercity highway 

in the country, to provide better access between the Port of Liverpool and the 
industrial areas of East Lancashire and Manchester. The new highway was a 
showpiece of its time, with segregation of traffic and providing a fast road link 
between the two major cities of Lancashire. The road lies just to the north of 
Roe Green and its construction fundamentally altered the character of the 
village by dividing it from the open agricultural land which lay to the north. The 
construction of the road effectively resulted in the containment of Roe Green 
within a triangle of infrastructure, with the new road to the north, the 
Manchester to Wigan rail line to the south, and the colliery railway to the east.   
 

5.36 The new road also hastened the successive waves of housebuilding across 
the wider area and the march of suburbanisation. The 1930s saw the 
continued development of suburban housing to the west of Kempnough Hall 

Page 158



 

25 
 

at Greenleach Lane, Kempnough Hall Road and the northern part of 
Crossfield Drive. Semi-detached housing was also built in this interwar period 
at Old Clough Lane which had been newly realigned to connect with the East 
Lancashire Road, and at Mulgrave Road and Glen Avenue to the east of the 
Green. The bowling green at Beesley Green was also laid out at this time. 

 
Suburbanisation and the new motorway 
 
5.37 Housebuilding resumed after the Second World War and saw the completion 

of the suburban housing estates that were under construction when war broke 
out. Housing was built to the north of Roe Green at Blandford Avenue and 
Crawford Avenue. The 1950s saw further small scale development around 
Roe Green, with new housing built at the rear of the Victorian terraces on 
Greenleach Lane. The historic Toad Lane (itself a corruption of ‘t’owd lane’, or 
‘the old lane’) and its thatched cottages were demolished at this time, 
replaced by new development at Parrfield Road and Summerfield Road. Toad 
Lane allotments to the south of Roe Green were laid out at this time, and a 
plant nursery occupied the land where Manthorpe Avenue now stands.  

 

 
May Day celebrations on Beesley Green (photograph dated 1954) 

 
5.38 In 1950 the local community raised in excess of £3,000 in order to purchase 

Worsley Woods from Bridgewater Estates, to secure the protection of the 
woodland and access for the public in perpetuity. The Woods were officially 
opened to the public in 1951 and subsequently transferred in Trust to Worsley 
Urban District Council and Swinton and Pendlebury Urban District Council. 

 

Page 159



 

26 
 

 
Dedication ceremony to officially open Worsley Woods to the public (photograph 
dated 1951) (image courtesy of Mr P Burgess) 

 
5.39 In 1960 the first stretch of motorway in Greater Manchester opened. The 

Stretford - Eccles Bypass comprised what now forms J7 to J13 of the M60. 
The following years saw the rapid expansion of the motorway network, with 
the westward expansion of the M62 towards Liverpool, and the proposed 
expansion eastwards towards Rochdale, Leeds and ultimately Hull. This 
eastwards expansion was implemented during the late 1960s, running to the 
south of Roe Green and resulting in the removal of part of Worsley Woods.  

 
 

Page 160



 

27 
 

 
Removal of woodland around Greenleach Lane in the late 1960s for the new 
motorway (showing the former estate keeper’s lodge which was also demolished)  

 
5.40 Greenleach Lane was realigned to run beneath the new motorway in a tunnel, 

and a number of dwellings at Greenleach Lane and Hawthorne Drive were 
demolished to accommodate the route of the motorway. This included the 
demolition of one of the estate keeper’s lodges which was built by the 
Bridgewater Trust in the mid 19th century. Alongside the construction of the 
motorway, which terminated the historic lane that had connected the village to 
Wardley Hall, there was a further housing estate developed at Wardley Hall 
Lane to the north of the village.    
    

Page 161



 

28 
 

 
Aerial photograph of Roe Green showing the construction of the new motorway, 
and construction of the Wardley Hall Lane estate (photograph dated 1969) 

 
5.41 In 1968, the school at Beesley Green closed. The complex of buildings was 

taken over by Worsley Urban District Council in 1970 for use as a community 
centre, which continues as Beesley Green Community Centre today17. The 
Manchester to Wigan rail line running through Roe Green closed in 1969 as 
part of the Beeching cuts, and was subsequently converted into a linear 
recreation route. 
 

5.42 The Roe Green / Beesley Green Conservation Area was formally designated 
by Lancashire County Council in 1970, recognising its heritage value. With its 
excellent connections to the strategic highway network and its picturesque 
cottages set around the village green, Roe Green was increasingly becoming 
a highly desirable residential area. The social composition of the village had 
fundamentally shifted from the solidly working class community of the early 
twentieth century.  

 
To the present day 
 
5.43 Upon local government reorganisation in 1974 and the creation of the 

metropolitan boroughs, the area came under the administration of Salford City 
Council. The increasing desirability of the area as a place to live and the 

                                            
17 Building 12 shown on Map 10. 

Page 162



 

29 
 

associated escalation in property values created significant pressures for new 
development within the conservation area. In the late 1970s Brook House was 
demolished and replaced by a development of 42 low-rise apartments set 
within its former grounds, which is now known as Roe Green Avenue. It also 
led to other pressures on the conservation area, including proposals for the 
substantial extension, remodelling or demolition and replacement of historic 
properties, and the subdivision of residential gardens for the erection of 
additional dwellings. These pressures continue to the present day. The last 
major development in Roe Green was at the start of the 21st century, with the 
former nursery site lying to the east of the village developed for housing, 
comprising 20 houses and 27 apartments at Manthorpe Avenue. In 2006 
Worsley Woods was designated as a local nature reserve, and more recently 
were dedicated as Queen Elizabeth II Fields in Trust to protect the land in 
celebration of the 2012 Diamond Jubilee. 
 

 
 
 
     
 
 
 

Page 163



 

30 
 

6 Character analysis 
 
Definition of character areas 

 
6.1 The Roe Green / Beesley Green conservation area can be divided into three 

broad character areas. The character areas are shown spatially at Map 11. 
 
Roe Green and the early cottages 
 
6.2 This character area reflects the early form of settlement at Roe Green which 

dates back to the Medieval period, with groups of cottages arranged around 
common land. Around 24 of the dwellings within this character area date from 
the 18th century or earlier, and are typically of a simple single-pile plan in the 
vernacular style with low eaves and casement windows. Painted render and 
slate roofs are the dominant materials within this character area. Whilst the 
early cottages would originally have been faced in brick, all of the cottages 
within this area with the exception of one have subsequently been rendered.  
 

6.3 The form and layout of roads and buildings within this part of the conservation 
area reflects its Medieval form. With the exception of limited infilling of plots, 
the 1764 map of the area demonstrates that the layout and form that existed 
in the mid 18th century has largely remained intact to the present day.  
 

6.4 The Victorian period saw only limited development of terraced housing within 
this part of the conservation area, of which 20 such dwellings remain today. 
All of these houses have subsequently been rendered to their front elevation, 
which reinforces the cottage-style character that defines this area.  
 

6.5 The Independent Methodist Chapel is a prominent building within this 
character area, due to both its scale and appearance which distinguish it from 
other buildings within the conservation area. 
 

6.6 The village green is central to the character of the conservation area as a 
whole. It is largely open in nature, formed of large expanses of mowed grass 
and bounded by trees which form loose avenues18 along the line of roads 
crossing the Green and around its perimeter. There are parts of the Green 
which are less open in character due to established trees and vegetation, 
including the area planted with birch trees at the western extent of the Green, 
the children’s playground at the northern extent, and an area known as 
Sparrow Park at the eastern extent.  
 

6.7 The form of rendered cottages in the vernacular style surrounding the Green 
is intrinsic to the character of this part of the conservation area.    

 

                                            
18 This term is used to reflect that whilst the Green is largely bounded by lines of trees around its 
perimeter, these do not comprise a formal avenue with consistent and regularly spaced trees. 

Page 164



 

31 
 

 
Rendered cottages in the vernacular style surrounding the Green 

 
Victorian terraces at Greenleach Lane 
 
6.8 The character of this part of the conservation area is defined by the series of 

terraced properties which were built in the late Victorian period following the 
construction of the railway line. There are 93 such properties within this 
character area which date from this period, which comprises a very significant 
proportion of the total number of buildings within this character area.  
 

6.9 The construction of the railway had a significant impact on the historic 
development of Roe Green, in terms of severing the settlement in two to form 
Beesley Green as distinct from Roe Green, and by ushering in a wave of 
housebuilding which would double the size of the village’s population. The 
former railway line lies in cutting through the area, and following its closure in 
1969 it now functions as a recreation corridor for walking and cycling, with 
mature trees lining its route. 
 

6.10 The series of terraces to the south of Greenleach Lane provide a strong 
setting to the Green with their consistent building line and uniformity of scale. 
The predominant character of this area is of modest brick faced terraces with 
slate roofs, albeit that a number of the properties have been subsequently 
rendered. There are four small cul-de-sacs running south off Greenleach Lane 
which mainly comprise of dwellings built in the mid 20th century.  
 

6.11 Toad Lane allotments lie at the southern extent of this character area. 
 

Page 165



 

32 
 

 
Terraces to the south of Greenleach Lane provide a strong setting to the Green 
with their consistent building line and uniformity of scale 

 
Beesley Green and Worsley Woods 
 
6.12 This character area is defined by its openness with large expanses of open 

land and woodland. 
 

6.13 Beesley Green lies at the heart of the character area, forming an open Green 
surrounded by a cluster of buildings including the Grade II listed Beesley Hall, 
Beesley Green Community Centre, and a number of dwellings. Part of 
Beesley Green is laid out as a bowling green, and there are adjoining tennis 
courts to the south.  
 

6.14 To the south and east of the Green lies an extensive area of open land 
comprising Roe Green Cricket Club and agricultural land. At the centre of the 
agricultural land lies a large pond which may have been a former clay 
extraction pit for brickmaking. The pond is fringed by vegetation, but the land 
is otherwise open in nature with far reaching views from the buildings around 
Beesley Green across this open expanse of land to Worsley Woods which 
defines the southern boundary of the conservation area.  
 

6.15 To the west of Kempnough Brook and its associated woodland, lies the Grade 
II listed Kempnough Hall which is the oldest building within the conservation 
area. This area to the west of Kempnough Brook is characterised by large 
dwellings in substantial plots. This includes the Grade II listed Littlewood and 
Sisley, which dates largely from the 18th century with later 19th century 
additions. There is extensive tree cover across this part of the character area, 
with mature trees making a significant contribution to the appearance of the 
area. 

Page 166



 

33 
 

 
6.16 Worsley Woods forms the southern extent of the conservation area. Much of 

Worsley Woods was planted in the mid 19th century as a naturalistic 
landscape for the private leisure pursuits of the 1st Earl of Ellesmere 
associated with his hunting lodge overlooking Old Warke Dam. The woodland 
broadly follows the course of Kempnough Brook, and positively contributes to 
the semi-rural character of the conservation area, with its historic context as a 
designed naturalistic landscape adding to the special interest.  
 

6.17 The semi-rural character of this area, with its expanse of open land fringed by 
woodland, makes a major contribution to the special interest of the 
conservation area as a whole. The open nature of this area is central to 
retaining the form of Roe Green and Beesley Green as a distinct village 
surrounded by open land. It serves to separate the village from Worsley and 
maintains this historic separation which has existed since the origins of a 
settlement at Roe Green in the Medieval period. The cricket ground has a key 
place in the social history of Roe Green, and the open views from the cricket 
ground are an important dimension in defining the semi-rural village character 
of Roe Green and Beesley Green.       

 

 
Beesley Green evokes the charm of a semi-rural village setting with its bowling 
green and cricket ground 

 
Key views and vistas 
 
6.18 There are a series of key views within and around the conservation area (as 

identified on Map 12): 
 

 The village green at Roe Green – views of the Green and across the 
Green are key in defining the character of the conservation area. The low 

Page 167



 

34 
 

cottages in vernacular style and the modest terraces which surround the 
Green positively frame these views. The Green is mainly open in 
character, with trees forming loose avenues around the perimeter of the 
Green and lining routes which cross it. 

 

 The village green at Beesley Green – views of the Green and across the 
Green are important in defining the character of this part of the 
conservation area. The mature woodland which forms part of Worsley 
Woods frames views across the Green to the south and west. 

 

 Roe Green Cricket Ground – the open views south and eastwards from 
the cricket ground across agricultural land are key in defining the semi-
rural character of this part of the conservation area, and evokes the sense 
of a cricket ground on the edge of a rural village. The mature woodland 
which forms part of Worsley Woods frames these views and marks the 
extent of their reach.   

 

 
Extensive open views south and eastwards from Roe Green Cricket Ground to 
Worsley Woods 

 
Architectural qualities 
 
6.19 Architecturally, the Roe Green / Beesley Green conservation area has a 

number of significant buildings, many of which are statutorily listed or are 
designated as heritage assets via the city council’s local list. 
 

6.20 Kempnough Hall is the oldest building within the conservation area and is a 
sub-manorial timber framed hall dating from the late 16th or early 17th century. 
The building’s form is that of a traditional H-plan, comprising a central hall with 
right-angled wings at either end. 
 

Page 168



 

35 
 

6.21 The majority of buildings of note within the conservation area fall within the 
category of Vernacular Domestic and are cottages dating from the 18th 
century. These modest cottages were built to house crofters and labourers. 
The cottages are typically of a single-pile plan and are of a low two-storey 
construction. The cottages are all brick built and whilst all are now slate 
roofed, there is evidence that some of the cottages were originally thatched. 
The cottages are of a simple vernacular style with low ceiling heights and 
small casement windows tucked under the eaves. There is very limited 
architectural embellishment to the cottages, which reflects the status of the 
dwellings at the time of their construction, designed for occupation by the 
labouring classes. The majority of these early cottages are located 
surrounding the village green at Roe Green. 
 

6.22 The form and architectural style of Littlewood and Sisley at Lumber Lane 
reflect the higher social status of the household that altered and extended the 
building in the early 19th century, featuring greater ceiling heights and larger 
windows, and the erection of a coachhouse in the grounds. 
 

6.23 The terraces of housing which were built to the south of Greenleach Lane in 
the late Victorian period make a positive contribution to the conservation area 
by framing the Green to the south and through reflecting the historic 
development of the village over time. Whilst some of the terraces feature 
attractive detailing typical of the period such as brick arches, moulded 
cornices and polychromatic brickwork, the terraces are not individually of 
notable architectural value. Instead, it is their group value which positively 
contributes to the character and appearance of the conservation area. 

 
Listed buildings 
 
6.24 Listed buildings are buildings of national significance and are designated by 

Historic England for their contribution to the historical, cultural, social and 
economic development of the nation. Such buildings are protected by specific 
legislation, and works that would impact on the building’s features of special 
architectural or historic interest require formal consent. Local planning 
authorities are also required via legislation to have regard to the effect of 
proposed works on the setting of any listed building. 
 

6.25 There are three buildings within the conservation area included on the 
National List of Buildings of Special Architectural or Historic Interest 
maintained by Historic England: 
 

 Kempnough Hall, 246 – 248 Kempnough Hall Road (Grade II)19 – a timber 
framed H-plan hall dating from the late 16th or early 17th century, that was 
subsequently subdivided in the 19th century to form three dwellings. There 
is evidence of a dwelling on this site from the 13th century. In 2014, No.248 
was substantially extended in a contemporary style to form an additional 
dwelling. The site now comprises four dwellings. The properties retain the 
numbering (246 – 248) that they were accorded in the Bridgewater Trust 

                                            
19 Building 2 shown on Map 10. 

Page 169



 

36 
 

estate roll, hence their distinction from the conventional numbering system 
across the majority of properties on Kempnough Hall Road. 

 

  

Kempnough Hall, following its programme of restoration and extension 

 

 Beesley Hall, 250 – 252 Beesley Green / Greenleach Lane (Grade II)20 – a 
mid 19th century building designed as three dwellings. There is evidence of 
a dwelling on this site from the 16th century. The building now comprises 
two dwellings, as 250 & 251 have been combined to form a single 
dwelling. 250 & 251 have subsequently been extended to the side to form 
additional accommodation and an attached double garage. The two 
dormers on the front roofslope represent 20th century additions. The 
properties retain the numbering (250 – 252) that they were accorded in the 
Bridgewater Trust estate roll. 
 

 
Beesley Hall 

 

 Littlewood and Sisley including adjoining stable block, Lumber Lane 
(Grade II)21 – original dwelling dating from the mid 18th century with later 
additions in the early 19th century to provide additional accommodation 
and a preaching room. The building was subdivided to form two dwellings 

                                            
20 Building 3 shown on Map 10. 
21 Building 1 shown on Map 10. 

Page 170



 

37 
 

in the mid 19th century. In 2007 the stable block was substantially 
extended to form a separate dwelling, accessed via Greenleach Lane. 

 

 
Littlewood and Sisley 

 
6.26 The full descriptions of these listed buildings together with photographs are 

set out at Annex A. The location of the buildings is shown on Map 10.  
 
Locally listed buildings 
 
6.27 Local listing is a mechanism for a local community to decide what it is in their 

area that makes a contribution to its character and historical legacy and as 
such what should be recognised as a local heritage asset. Whilst local 
heritage assets do not enjoy the protection of statutory listing, which is the 
responsibility of Historic England, they are given some degree of protection 
through the planning system. Salford's adopted local list of heritage assets 
includes buildings, townscapes, landscapes, infrastructure, public art and 
other objects within the built environment. 
 

6.28 There are four buildings within the conservation area identified on Salford’s 
local list of heritage assets: 

 

 2 & 4 Roe Green22 – this pair of 18th century cottages occupies a prominent 
position overlooking Roe Green. The 1764 map shows a pair of cottages in this 
location and it is likely that the cottages were present by this time. The cottages 
comprise a long range with a single-pile plan, with casement windows at first floor 
level directly under the eaves. The cottages are constructed of brick which has 
been smooth rendered at a later date. They have a slate roof however the 
projecting bricks from the central chimney stack indicate that the cottages would 
originally have been thatched.  

 

                                            
22 Building 4 shown on Map 10. 

Page 171



 

38 
 

 
2 & 4 Roe Green 

 

 26 & 28 Roe Green23 – this pair of 18th century cottages also occupy a prominent 
position overlooking Roe Green. The cottages comprise a single-pile plan, with 
casement windows at first floor directly under the eaves. A building is shown in 
this location on the 1764 map and it is likely that the cottages were present by 
this time. The cottages are smooth rendered with a slate roof. Both cottages have 
simple gabled canopies above the front door.  

 

 
26 & 28 Roe Green 

 

                                            
23 Building 6 shown on Map 10. 

Page 172



 

39 
 

 301A & B Old Clough Lane24 – pair of 18th / 19th century dwellings. 301A was the 
farmhouse for the former Daub Hole Farm, and it is likely that 301B was a later 
addition to form a cottage adjoining the farmhouse. A building is shown in the 
position of 301A on the 1764 map, however it is not clear whether the present 
building represents a later replacement. The farmhouse (301A) is clearly shown 
on the 1848 map, with the adjoining cottage (301B) not being shown until the 
1894 map. The farmhouse and collection of buildings at Daub Hole was 
historically accessed via How Clough Lane running north from Roe Green, the 
line of which remains in part as a cobbled track alongside 301B. Upon 
construction of the East Lancashire Road, the lane was widened and realigned to 
the east to form Old Clough Lane. The buildings are identified as Daub Hole 
Farm on mapping until the 1930s, however it is likely that their farming 
association ceased following the construction of the East Lancashire Road which 
severed the farmhouse from its land. The cottages are constructed of brick which 
has been rendered, and have a slate roof. Whilst 301A largely retains the form of 
the original farmhouse, 301B has been substantially altered and extended.   
 

 Roe Green Cricket Club Pavilion, Greenleach Lane25 – this cricket pavilion forms 
part of Roe Green Cricket Club and faces the cricket ground. The cricket ground 
was laid out in this location at the end of the 19th century, and this pavilion dates 
from the 1920s. It is constructed of timber with a slate roof. It comprises a simple 
orthogonal shed with an integral canopy over a veranda at the front. The building 
is of importance as a typical Lancashire county league cricket club building of 
rural character. The building therefore positively contributes to defining the 
character of the wider cricket ground and its environs.  
 

 
Roe Green Cricket Club Pavilion 

 
 

                                            
24 Building 5 shown on Map 10. 
25 Building 7 shown on Map 10. 

Page 173



 

40 
 

6.29 The full descriptions of these locally listed buildings together with photographs 
are set out at Annex B. The location of the buildings is shown on Map 10. 

 
Buildings that make a positive contribution 
 
6.30 In addition to the listed and locally listed buildings identified above, there are 

many other buildings that make a positive contribution to the character and 
appearance of the conservation area. In determining whether a building or 
group of buildings makes a positive contribution, regard has been had to its 
contribution to both the appearance and the character of the conservation 
area. So for example, a building dating from the 18th century which exists 
largely in its original form will clearly make a positive contribution to both the 
appearance and character of the conservation area. By contrast, a building of 
the same period which has been substantially altered from its original form 
may make a more limited contribution to the appearance of the conservation 
area. Notwithstanding this, it may still make a positive contribution to the 
character of the conservation area through reflecting the historic pattern of 
development within the area and how this has changed over time.  
 

Early cottages 
 
6.31 The conservation area includes a series of cottages dating largely from the 

18th century which reflect the historic form of Roe Green in this period. Whilst 
some of these cottages have been substantially extended and remodelled, 
they still contribute positively to the character of the conservation area in 
reflecting the historic settlement pattern and the vernacular style of labourers’ 
cottages. These cottages reflect the essence of Roe Green’s character up 
until the mid 19th century, as a small rural settlement of modest workers’ 
cottages.  

 

 6 Roe Green26 – a building is shown on this site on the 1764 map, albeit that the 
present cottage may be a later replacement dating from the early 19th century. 
The detached cottage is two-storey with a low eaves height and the first floor 
windows set within projecting gables. The cottage is brick built and smooth 
rendered, with a slate roof and two prominent ridge chimney stacks. The cottage 
has been substantially extended in the late 20th century with new wings and a 
large porch to the front.  

 

 8 Roe Green27 – formerly the farmhouse for Roe Green Farm, a building is shown 
in this location on the 1764 map. It is recorded as Roe Green Farm on mapping 
until the 1960s however its association with agriculture may have ceased before 
this date as the construction of the East Lancashire Road severed the farmhouse 
from its land. It is brick built and smooth rendered with a slate roof. The building 
has been substantially altered and extended so that its external appearance 
retains little of its original character. The building is set back from Roe Green 
behind high hedging and therefore whilst of historic value to the character of the 

                                            
26 Building 14 shown on Map 10. 
27 Building 15 shown on Map 10. 

Page 174



 

41 
 

area, it presently makes limited contribution to the appearance of the 
conservation area.  

 

 38, 40 & 42 Roe Green28 – this row of cottages is shown on the 1764 map and is 
likely to date from the mid 18th century. The cottages are brick built with a slate 
roof. Nos. 38 and 40 are rendered, and whilst no. 42 is brick fronted it appears 
that the façade has been recently rebuilt using reclaimed brick. The two end 
cottages have been substantially extended with additional wings set back from 
the main frontage. No. 40 has a simple gabled canopy above the door, with no.42 
having sought to replicate this feature as part of its side extension.  

 

 
38, 40 & 42 Roe Green 

 

 78, 80 & 82 Roe Green29 – this row of cottages is shown on the 1764 map and 
may date from the 17th or early 18th century. The cottages form a long range 
which has been substantially extended over time with additional wings to the front 
and sides. The row is brick built and rendered with a slate roof featuring a 
decorative pattern on the southern elevation, however projecting bricks on the 
principal ridge chimney stack indicate that the cottages were originally thatched. 
Whilst much of the detailing and character of the cottages has been lost through 
substantial alteration and extension, the row makes a positive contribution to 
understanding the character of the conservation area through its age and form. 

  

                                            
28 Building 18 shown on Map 10. 
29 Building 22 shown on Map 10. 

Page 175



 

42 
 

 

 84, 86 & 88 Roe Green30 – this row of cottages forms a long range single-pile 
plan, with two projecting wings to the front. Historic mapping suggests that no.86 
is the oldest building in the range dating from the 18th century, with no.88 
representing a mid 19th century addition, and no.84 having been formed in 2009 
from a subdivision of no. 86 and an additional extension. Notwithstanding this, 
the cottages present a cohesive appearance as a range and make a positive 
contribution to the appearance of the conservation area. They are brick built and 
smooth rendered with a slate roof. The cottages have a simple vernacular 
appearance with casement windows at first floor directly beneath the eaves. 
Unusually, they are set back from the road with long front gardens. No. 88 has 
been extended to the side to form an additional wing comprising a double garage 
with accommodation above. 

 

 
84, 86 & 88 Roe Green 

 

 90 & 92 Roe Green31 – this pair of cottages has a similar form to nos. 86 & 88 
Roe Green, and the frontage has the appearance of a long range single-pile plan. 
The cottages are brick built and smooth rendered with a slate roof and ridge 
chimney stacks. A building is shown in this location on the 1764 map and it is 
likely that the cottages date from this period. The cottages are of a simple 
vernacular style with casement windows at first floor level directly beneath the 
eaves. Historic mapping suggests that the row may originally have comprised 
three cottages, with two single bay cottages being merged around the 1930s to 
form no. 90 as a single dwelling. No. 90 has subsequently been extended to the 
side with a projecting gabled wing, however no. 92 appears to have retained its 
original appearance as a two bay cottage. As with nos. 84, 86 & 88, the cottages 
maintain a consistent building line set back from the road with long front gardens. 

 

                                            
30 Building 24 shown on Map 10. 
31 Building 25 shown on Map 10. 

Page 176



 

43 
 

 
90 & 92 Roe Green 

 

 94 Roe Green32 – this detached two bay cottage is double-pile in plan. It is first 
shown on the 1848 plan and may date from the early 19th century. The cottage is 
brick built with smooth render and a slate roof. The cottage is of a simple 
vernacular style with low eaves height and casement windows just beneath the 
eaves. The porch overhang and projecting two-storey bay to the right of the front 
door is a later addition. 
 

 
94 Roe Green 

 

                                            
32 Building 26 shown on Map 10. 

Page 177



 

44 
 

 98 & 100 Roe Green33 – this pair of cottages dates from the late 18th or early 19th 
century. The cottages are brick built with a slate roof and ridge chimney stacks. 
The cottages were subsequently roughcast rendered at some point after the late 
19th century on the basis of historic photographic evidence. The cottages have 
been very substantially altered and extended, with the addition of new wings, 
porches and bay windows.  

 

 2, 4 & 6 Lyon Grove34 – this row of cottages is shown on the 1764 map, which is 
corroborated by the plaque on the façade, ‘Coachmans Cottages c1740’. These 
cottages are brick built and rendered with a slate roof and three ridge chimney 
stacks. They are of a simple and unadorned vernacular style with windows at first 
floor set directly beneath the eaves. Each cottage originally comprised of one 
bay, with later extensions to nos. 2 and 6 to create an additional bay to each.  

 

 
2, 4 & 6 Lyon Grove 

 

 1 Roe Green Avenue35 – this detached building originally formed part of the 
Brook House estate and may have been the coachhouse or gardener’s lodge. 
Brook House was built in the late 18th century, however this building may have 
been a later addition. The building appears to have been substantially altered in 
the late 20th century following the demolition of Brook House. It is brick built to a 
single-pile plan, however retains little of its original character due to extensive 
remodelling. 

  

                                            
33 Building 28 shown on Map 10. 
34 Building 21 shown on Map 10. 
35 Building 23 shown on Map 10. 

Page 178



 

45 
 

 50 Greenleach Lane36 – this dwelling is likely to date from the 18th century, when 
it originally formed two cottages. A building is shown on this site on the 1764 
map, and is shown on the 1894 map as being a pair of attached cottages. The 
form of the building reflects this, suggesting that it originally comprised a three 
bay cottage with an attached two bay cottage, with a step-down in eaves height 
reflecting the division between the two cottages. Historic mapping suggests that 
the cottages were combined to form a single dwelling in the 1960s. The dwelling 
is of a single-pile plan, and is brick built with a slate roof and two ridge chimney 
stacks.  

 

 
50 Greenleach Lane 

 

 175 & 177 Greenleach Lane37 – the 1764 map shows a building in this location, 
enclosed by a small croft and it may be that part of the building dates from the 
16th or 17th century. No. 175 comprises the oldest part of the building, being brick 
built to a single-pile plan with a slate roof formed of large irregularly shaped 
slates and simple ridge chimney stacks. The casement windows are tucked close 
under the eaves at first floor level, and the cottage is constructed in a simple 
vernacular style with no architectural detailing other than a small run of corbelled 
brickwork across part of the façade. The cottage is notable amongst the other 
early cottages within the village for not having been subsequently rendered, and 
therefore gives a valuable insight into how the early cottages of Roe Green would 
have looked in the 18th century. No. 177 appears to have been formed as a 
separate dwelling in the late 19th century with the addition of the gabled wing 
projecting from the single-pile plan, and the building is first shown as being 
subdivided to form two dwellings on the 1894 map. No. 177 features Tudor style 
timber cladding to the first floor of the gabled wing, however this is a much later 
addition.   

                                            
36 Building 30 shown on Map 10. 
37 Building 32 shown on Map 10. 

Page 179



 

46 
 

 

 
175 & 177 Greenleach Lane 

 

 Spinney End, 77 Lumber Lane38 – a detached cottage dating from the 18th 
century, of a single-pile plan with three bays. The cottage is brick built with a slate 
roof, casement windows under the eaves at first floor level, and ridge chimney 
stacks. The cottage appears to have experienced limited change over time, not 
having been subsequently rendered, and retains much of its original form and 
character. 

 

 253, 253A & 254 Beesley Green39 – three attached buildings which date from the 
early and mid 18th century. No. 253A was built in the 1730s as a school room and 
adjoining school house, representing the first school to be built at Roe Green. It 
comprises a two-storey cottage in simple single-pile plan with ridge chimney 
stack. It is brick built and has subsequently been roughcast rendered, with a slate 
roof. The building would originally have comprised two bays around the large 
central chimney stack, with an extension to the south in the late 20th century 
forming an additional bay. The three-storey building which now forms nos. 253 
and 254 was built in 1752 as the district poor house, with the top floor used for 
handloom weaving. The building’s use as a poor house ceased in the late 18th 
century when it was replaced by a new district poor house at Hazelhurst, at which 
stage the building became part of the school. It was not converted to dwellings 
until the end of the 19th century upon the erection of the new school buildings. 
The three-storey building is brick built and rendered with a slate roof. An 
additional two-storey wing was added to No. 254 in the early 21st century. The 
properties retain the numbering (253 – 254) that they were accorded in the 
Bridgewater Trust estate roll. 

 
  

                                            
38 Building 10 shown on Map 10. 
39 Building 13 shown on Map 10. 

Page 180



 

47 
 

Victorian terraces 
 
6.32 The opening of the Wigan to Manchester railway through Roe Green in 1864 

ushered in a period of extensive housebuilding across the conservation area. 
A succession of modest two-storey brick built terraces were erected around 
the perimeter of the Green. Whilst individually there are many of examples of 
this type of housing across Salford, taken together the terraces have a group 
value that makes a positive contribution to the character and appearance of 
the conservation area. The terraces fronting Greenleach Lane define the 
perimeter of the Green and positively frame its setting. The series of terraces 
erected at this time reflect the changing character of the village in the late 19th 
century. 

 

 10 – 14 Roe Green (even numbers)40 – a terrace of three houses, likely to date 
from the 1870s. All three houses have subsequently been rendered, and have 
later porch additions. The chimney stacks have been removed and with the 
exception of a simple dentil band detailing at the eaves, all former architectural 
detailing has been obscured beneath the render. Only no. 12 retains the original 
window alignment. 

 

 
10 – 14 Roe Green 

 
  

                                            
40 Building 16 shown on Map 10. 

Page 181



 

48 
 

 

 16 – 24 Roe Green (even numbers)41 – a terrace of five houses, identified via a 
date stone as ‘Woodland View 1878’. Historic mapping demonstrates that the 
terrace originally comprised six houses, with the additional dwelling occupying 
the site that is now occupied by a garage between nos. 14 and 16. This dwelling 
had been demolished by the 1960s. All five houses have subsequently been 
rendered to the front elevation, but a simple dog tooth brick dentil band with 
moulded detail beneath the eaves remains across each. The brick chimney 
stacks remain largely intact. 

 

 64 – 70 Roe Green (even numbers)42 – a terrace of four houses, dating from 
1871. The terrace was built by the Roe Green Co-operative Society, with what 
now forms no.70 being occupied by the Co-operative Society shop between 1871 
and 1885. The terrace is brick built, but all four houses have subsequently been 
rendered, obscuring any former architectural detailing. A simple dentil band at the 
eaves does however remain, as do the arches above the doors. Only no. 66 
retains its original window alignment, and the gabled canopy above the door at 
no.70 is a modern addition. 

 

 8 – 22 Lyon Grove (even numbers)43 – a terrace of eight houses, likely to date 
from the 1870s. The terrace is brick built, but all eight houses have subsequently 
been rendered, largely obscuring any former architectural detailing. A simple 
dentil band at the eaves does remain, as do some of the arches above the doors 
and stone cills. The majority of the properties retain their original window 
alignment and chimney stacks. 

 

 40 – 46 Greenleach Lane (even numbers)44 – a terrace of four properties, likely to 
date from the 1870s. The end property which now forms no.40 and is occupied 
by the Post Office and General Store appears to have been purpose built as a 
shop with accommodation above. Historic mapping demonstrates that this 
property was built with a two bay form, and from 1909 it is recorded as the Post 
Office. Only no. 46 retains its original brick façade, as nos. 40 – 44 have 
subsequently been rendered. No. 46 is therefore the only property to retain the 
brick arches above the door and first floor window, albeit that nos. 42 and 44 do 
retain the arch formation above the doorway. 

 

 65 – 75 Greenleach Lane (odd numbers)45 – a handed terrace of six houses, 
likely to date from the 1890s. All six houses retain their original brick facing, 
featuring round brick arches above the doorways, segmental brick arches above 
the first floor windows, and stone lintels and cills to the ground floor windows. 
There is a simple course of chromatic brickwork to the first floor cill level and at 
the eaves. 

 

                                            
41 Building 17 shown on Map 10. 
42 Building 19 shown on Map 10. 
43 Building 20 shown on Map 10. 
44 Building 29 shown on Map 10. 
45 Building 42 shown on Map 10. 

Page 182



 

49 
 

 
73 Greenleach Lane retains much of its original character 

 

 77 – 83 Greenleach Lane (odd numbers)46 – a terrace of four houses identified 
via stone gatepost as ‘Woodlands Terrace’, likely to date from the 1880s. All four 
houses retain their original brick facing, featuring round brick arches above the 
doorways, segmental brick arches above the first floor windows, and stone lintels 
and cills to the ground floor windows. There is a simple course of chromatic 
brickwork to the first floor cill level and at the eaves. The chimney stacks remain 
intact. 

  

                                            
46 Building 41 shown on Map 10. 

Page 183



 

50 
 

 85 – 103 Greenleach Lane (odd numbers)47 – a handed terrace of ten houses, 
which are likely to have been built in the late 1890s. The terrace is faced in red 
Accrington brick featuring segmental brick arches above the doorways and 
windows with an unusual corbelled detailing. Alternate pairs feature square bay 
windows to the ground floor. The slate roof is topped by crested ridge tiles. There 
has been limited alteration over time and the houses retain much of their original 
character.     
 

 
95 Greenleach Lane retains much of its original character 

 

 105 – 115 Greenleach Lane (odd numbers)48 – a handed terrace of six houses, 
which are likely to have been built in the late 1890s. The terrace is faced in red 
Accrington brick featuring round brick arches above the doorways, and stone 
lintels and cills to the windows. Nos 113 and 115 feature square bay windows to 
the ground floor. There has been limited alteration over time and the houses 
retain much of their original character.     

 
  

                                            
47 Building 40 shown on Map 10. 
48 Building 39 shown on Map 10. 

Page 184



 

51 
 

 117 Greenleach Lane49 – a commercial building identified via a date stone as 
‘Ackerley House 1883’. The ground floor formed the new premises for the Roe 
Green Co-operative Society from 1885, with an assembly room above. The 
building has an attractive parapet gable with a small obelisk feature at its apex. 
The upper floor comprises an arched window, framed by a pair of mullioned 
windows, and features simple corbelled brickwork detailing. At ground floor level 
the original features have been replaced by a modern shopfront.   

 

 119 & 121 Greenleach Lane50 – a handed pair of houses dating from 1883, 
constructed at the same time as adjoining Ackerley House, and joined to the 
earlier terrace at nos. 123 – 131. The houses are more decorative in form than 
the surrounding terraces, and have the appearance of a modest pair of villas with 
overhanging eaves supported by decorative brackets and single-storey splayed 
bay windows with deep lintels and cills. There has been limited alteration over 
time and the houses retain much of their original character.     

 

 
121 Greenleach Lane  

 

                                            
49 Building 38 shown on Map 10. 
50 Building 37 shown on Map 10. 

Page 185



 

52 
 

 123 – 131 Greenleach Lane (odd numbers)51 – a terrace of six properties, likely 
to date from the 1870s. No. 131 comprises a shop with accommodation above, 
and was formerly the home of the cricketing Tyldesley family from 1888 to 1911, 
as recorded by a commemorative plaque. Two of the houses retain their brick 
frontage with attractive architectural detailing, however the remaining four have 
been rendered thereby obscuring some of the detailing. Nos 125 and 127 retain 
their round brick arches to the doorways with a central key stone, flat brick arches 
and stone cills to the windows, and string courses of chromatic brickwork. 

 

 
125 Greenleach Lane retains much of its original character 

 

 133 – 145 Greenleach Lane (odd numbers)52 – a terrace of seven houses, likely 
to date from the 1870s. With the exception of no.133 which has been 
substantially modified and rendered, the remaining properties retain much of their 
original character. This includes brick frontages and architectural detailing 

                                            
51 Building 36 shown on Map 10. 
52 Building 35 shown on Map 10. 

Page 186



 

53 
 

including round brick archways to the doorways, stone cills and lintels to the 
windows and a simple chromatic brickwork course to the first floor cill level and 
beneath the eaves. 

 

 
141 Greenleach Lane retains much of its original character 

 

 147 – 161 Greenleach Lane (odd numbers)53 – a terrace of eight houses, 
identified via a date stone as ‘Chapel View 1883’. The terrace is attached to nos. 
133 – 145 but the different eaves height and architectural treatment indicate that 
the terraces were built independently. No. 161 appears to have been built as a 
shop given its wider frontage. The majority of the houses have been rendered, 
with the exception of nos. 159 and 161 which retain their original brick frontage 
with decorative architectural detailing. This includes round brick arches to the 
doorways, segmental brick arches and stone cills to the windows, and 
polychromatic detailing to the brick arches and within a string course. The brick 
chimney stacks remain largely intact. Whilst the window alignment has been 

                                            
53 Building 34 shown on Map 10. 

Page 187



 

54 
 

modified on a number of the properties, all of the houses retain their doorway 
arches and there have been no porch additions. 

 

 163 – 171 Greenleach Lane (odd numbers)54 – a terrace of five houses, identified 
via a date stone as ‘Roe Green Terrace 1878’, but known locally as ‘Salt’s 
Houses’. All five houses have been rendered to the front elevation which has 
obscured any former architectural detailing, but a simple dog tooth dentil band 
beneath the eaves remains across each. The window alignment has been 
modified on a number of the properties and two have had porches added.  

 

 179 – 197 Greenleach Lane (odd numbers)55 – a terrace of ten houses, identified 
via a date stone as ‘Fairyfall Cottages 1878’. Whilst two of the houses have been 
rendered, the majority retain their original brick frontage with decorative 
architectural detailing. This includes round brick arches to the doorways with a 
central key stone, cambered brick arches and stone cills to the windows, and 
string courses of polychromatic and moulded brickwork creating a strong 
horizontal rhythm along the terrace. The brick chimney stacks remain largely 
intact. Whilst a number of the houses have been modified with enlarged windows 
and projecting porch treatments, the original character of the terrace is readily 
discernable. 

 

                                            
54 Building 33 shown on Map 10. 
55 Building 31 shown on Map 10. 

Page 188



 

55 
 

 
179 Greenleach Lane retains much of its original character 

 

 2 – 12 Starkie Street (even numbers)56 – a terrace of six houses built by the Roe 
Green Co-operative Society in 1900. The terrace is faced in a red Accrington 
brick and features attractive architectural detailing including round brick arches 
with hood moulding above the doorways and oak leaf detailed label stops, a 
moulded brick dentil band to the eaves, and stone lintels and cills. The chimney 
stacks remain intact, and with the exception of a recent porch addition to no. 6, 
there have been very few changes to the terrace which retains much of its 
original character.    

 

 1, 2 & 3 Forrester Street57 – a terrace of three houses built by the Roe Green Co-
operative Society in 1907. The terrace is faced in a red Accrington brick and 
features segmental brick arches to the doorways and windows, and a moulded 
brick dentil band to the eaves. There have been few changes to the terrace which 
retains much of its original character.    

 

                                            
56 Building 44 shown on Map 10. 
57 Building 43 shown on Map 10. 

Page 189



 

56 
 

 
1, 2 & 3 Forrester Street 

 
Other buildings that make a positive contribution 
 
6.33 In addition to these two forms of building which define the character of the 

conservation area, the following buildings also make a positive contribution to 
its character albeit that they fall outside of the basic categorisation set out 
above. 

 

 Roe Green Independent Methodist Chapel58 – the chapel dates from 1884, and 
replaced an earlier chapel of 1855. It is built of red brick with stone detailing, and 
has a slate roof featuring a flèche. The front elevation is formed of a parapet 
gable, with a central entrance bay framed by piers terminating as pinnacles, and 
paired doorways beneath a round arch. The chapel features attractive mullioned 
and leaded windows which positively contribute to its character. To the front of 
the chapel is a preaching stone from which the first open air sermon was 
preached at Roe Green in 1808. 
 

                                            
58 Building 27 shown on Map 10. 

Page 190



 

57 
 

 
Roe Green Independent Methodist Chapel 

 

 Beesley Green Community Centre59 – the buildings which now form Beesley 
Green Community Centre were originally built as a school. A school had 
occupied this site since the 1730s, however following the significant expansion in 
the local population associated with the wave of housing development in the late 
Victorian period, new school buildings were built in 1892 (identified via decorative 
brickwork to the side elevation). The school building is of a simple single storey 
form with a steeply raked gable roof and projecting eaves, affording high internal 
ceilings. The hall which forms the northern wing of the building was a later 
addition dating from 1928, and was built as a Sunday School Church Hall. The 
school closed in 1968, and the buildings were taken over by Worsley Urban 
District Council for use as a community centre. The buildings have been 
extensively altered over time, however the late Victorian school building still 
retains much of its original character externally.  

 

                                            
59 Building 12 shown on Map 10. 

Page 191



 

58 
 

 
School buildings (dating from 1892) which now form part of Beesley Green 
Community Centre 

 

 73 & 75 Lumber Lane60 – a pair of semi-detached mid 19th century dwellings, the 
houses are built to a handed layout each with a projecting gable to the front. The 
houses are brick built with a slate roof, which unusually for the Roe Green area 
has deep projecting eaves. 
 

 Kempnough Lodge, 249 Kempnough Hall Road61 – a detached lodge house 
constructed in 1850 by the Bridgewater Trust as an estate keeper’s lodge. The 
lodge is of brick construction with a slate roof and features some Tudor style 
timber detailing to its gable. Decorative brickwork to the side elevation identifies 
its date of construction. The lodge has been extensively remodelled in the 20th 
century which has substantially eroded its original character, however the large 
and ornate brick chimney stacks remain which emphasise its architectural form in 
the lodge style. The property retains the number (249) that it was accorded in the 
Bridgewater Trust estate roll, hence its distinction from the conventional 
numbering system across the majority of properties on Kempnough Hall Road.  
 

                                            
60 Building 9 shown on Map 10. 
61 Building 11 shown on Map 10. 

Page 192



 

59 
 

 
Kempnough Lodge 

 

 67, 69 & 71 Lumber Lane, and 1 – 9 Hardy Grove62 – six pairs of semi-detached 
Edwardian villas, built around 1910. The villas are faced with red Accrington brick 
featuring decorative mouldings, and feature single-storey bay windows, stone 
cills and lintels. The four pairs of villas at 2 – 9 Hardy Grove have crested ridge 
tiles. A number of the properties retain their original decorative glazed tiling to the 
recessed entrance vestibule, and some properties also retain their original 
windows with Art Nouveau glazed motifs. The houses are closely associated with 
the Tyldesley family of Roe Green. The cricketer JT Tyldesley invested some of 
his earnings in the development of these twelve houses, which were built by his 
brother Frank Tyldesley who had a builder’s yard on Starkie Street within the 
village. Upon their completion, the Tyldesley’s parents moved to 71 Lumber 
Lane. The house was named ‘Aigburth’ to commemorate their son Ernest 
Tyldesley’s County Cricket debut in 1909 at Aigburth Cricket Club in Liverpool. 
The house retains the name Aigburth to the present day, and a commemorative 
plaque records this as the home of the Tyldesley family. 

 

                                            
62 Buildings 8 shown on Map 10. 

Page 193



 

60 
 

 
3 & 5 Hardy Grove 

 
6.34 The location of all buildings identified as making a positive contribution to the 

character or appearance of the conservation area is shown on Map 10. 
 
Commemorative plaques 
 
6.35 Within the conservation area there are several commemorative plaques 

marking the historical significance of the area. The full descriptions of the 
plaques together with photographs are set out at Annex C and their locations 
are identified on Map 10. 
 

 Littlewood, Lumber Lane – recording the former home of Richard Clarke 
and the preaching room within the building which was used as a meeting 
place for the Independent Methodists between 1824 and 1855. 

 

 Aigburth, 71 Lumber Lane – recording the former home of the Tyldesley 
family, and the naming of the house which commemorates Ernest 
Tyldesley’s County Cricket debut in 1909. 

 

Page 194



 

61 
 

 Cottages adjacent to Beesley Green Community Centre – recording that 
this was built as the district poor house, which operated here between 
1752 and 1769.  

 

 131 Greenleach Lane – recording the former home of the Tyldesley family 
between 1880 and 1911, who made a major contribution to cricket at both 
Lancashire and England level. 

 

 Roe Green Independent Methodist Chapel – recording that the 
distinguished England cricketers JT Tyldesley, Ernest Tyldesley, and 
Michael Vaughan were baptised in this chapel. 

 

 1914 – 1919 Roll of Honour War Memorial – housed within the 
Independent Methodist Chapel, in commemoration of the fallen and those 
who fought in the Great War. 

 
6.36 In addition, there is a wrought iron circular bench located in Sparrow Park at 

the southern extent of Roe Green, commemorating Bert Tyldesley for his 
contributions as a local historian and poet.  
 

Building materials 
 
Red brick 
 
6.37 Almost all of the buildings within the conservation area are constructed of red 

brick, ranging from the coarser brick of the 18th century cottages, through to 
the smooth Accrington brick used in the late 19th and early 20th century. A 
number of the late 19th century terraces feature attractive polychromatic 
brickwork decoration.  
 

6.38 Historic photographs demonstrate that almost all of the buildings within the 
conservation area would originally have been faced with brick, however over 
the course of the 20th century, a high proportion of the buildings were 
subsequently rendered. 

 

  
The early cottages were faced with brick, with render representing a later addition 
(Left: 28 Roe Green, and Right: 98 & 100 Roe Green) 

 

Page 195



 

62 
 

  

 
 

Attractive polychromatic brickwork and detailing on the Victorian terraces 

 
Render 
 
6.39 Whilst not an original feature of the conservation area, the use of render has 

become an increasingly defining characteristic of many buildings within Roe 
Green. Almost all of the early cottages dating from the 18th century or before 
have been rendered. It is likely that this was done to weatherproof failing 
brickwork and mortar, or for aesthetic reasons to hide rough brickwork and 
better integrate repairs and later extensions. A significant proportion of the 
Victorian terraces have also been rendered to the front elevation. In some 
cases all properties within the terrace have been rendered, and in other 

Page 196



 

63 
 

instances only isolated properties have been rendered. In many cases, the 
use of render on the Victorian terraces is unfortunate as it has obscured the 
decorative architectural detailing such as brick arches and polychromatic 
brickwork.  
 

6.40 The use of render varies from smooth to roughcast render, which is almost 
uniformly painted white or off-white across the conservation area. Due to the 
extent of its use, painted render is now an important feature in defining the 
character of the conservation area, suggestive as it is of cottages of a semi-
rural character.       

 

  

  
Almost all of the early cottages have been rendered, albeit that they would 
originally have been faced in brick 

 
  

Page 197



 

64 
 

 

  

  
A significant number of the Victorian terraces have also been rendered, such that 
the use of painted render is now a defining characteristic of the conservation area. 
It is however unfortunate that this has obscured the original decorative brickwork 
and detailing on the facades of the terraces. 

 
Stone 
 
6.41 There is limited use of stone within the conservation area, other than for 

decorative detailing on those buildings dating from the Victorian and 
Edwardian period where it is used for lintels and cills, and for boundary 
treatments including gateposts and wall coping. 
 

Roof materials 
 
6.42 Almost all of the buildings within the conservation area have a grey slate roof. 

Whilst there is evidence that some of the early cottages were thatched, there 
is now no thatch within the area. Slate would have replaced thatch from the 
18th century onwards as the canal network facilitated its transport to the area. 
The use of slate is now uniform across the area, with new and replacement 
roofing within the conservation area having been in slate. This contributes to 
the character of the area, where modern concrete roof tiles would represent 
an inappropriate incursion. 

 

Page 198



 

65 
 

  
The use of thatch would have been common on the earliest cottages, as shown at 
Daub Hole cottages which were demolished in the 1930s (Left) and the cottages at 
Toad Lane which were demolished in the 1950s (Right) 

 
Windows 
 
6.43 The early cottages have wooden casement windows which are typically small 

in size. Whilst all of the windows in these cottages will be later replacements, 
many retain the simple vernacular character with plain wooden casements 
featuring a single cross bar. The Victorian and Edwardian properties were 
constructed with wooden sash windows. Whilst almost all of the original 
windows have been replaced, some have retained the appearance of wooden 
sash windows. It is however unfortunate that across the terraces many of the 
properties have had their window openings altered and enlarged. This has 
undermined the rhythm and uniformity across the terrace, and has also 
resulted in the loss of architectural detailing such as segmental brick arches 
above the windows and stone cills below. 

 

  
Plain wooden casement windows of the early cottages 

 

Page 199



 

66 
 

  
Sash windows on the Victorian terraces 

 

  
Alteration to window alignment has undermined the rhythm and uniformity of the 
terrace 

 
Boundary treatments 
 
6.44 Boundary treatments play an important role in defining the character of the 

conservation area. Many of the early cottages are bounded by hedges of 
hawthorn and privet presenting a green and semi-rural character. Some of the 
cottages have low brick walls or picket fencing however these are likely to 
represent later additions. Boundary treatments are generally low in height 
allowing views in to the cottage garden at the front, and are simple and 
unostentatious in form and style. This boundary treatment reinforces the 
vernacular semi-rural character of cottages arranged around the Green, and 
reflects that the cottages were built to house a small labouring class 

Page 200



 

67 
 

community and therefore imposing boundary treatments would have been 
unnecessary. 
 

6.45 The Victorian terraces would originally have been bounded by low brick walls, 
typically with stone coping and gateposts. The majority of the terraces are set 
back behind small front gardens, rather than being built at pavement. A 
significant proportion of the properties retain their original boundary treatment. 
There is evidence of some of the stone coping having originally been topped 
with iron railings, however these were removed as part of the war effort during 
the 1940s. Boundary treatments are again typically of a low height allowing 
open views in to the small front gardens, and are modest in form.   

  

Page 201



 

68 
 

 

  

  

  
Boundary treatments are characteristically open and informal, with extensive use 
of hedging and low boundary treatments affording views of the front garden 

 
  

Page 202



 

69 
 

Streetscape materials 
 
6.46 The pavements and footpaths within the conservation area comprise a mix of 

paving and tarmac. The street furniture is of a standard design and is 
generally in reasonable condition. Whilst the footpath materials and street 
furniture do not serve to enhance the appearance of the conservation area, 
they are generally well maintained and do not detract from its character and 
appearance. The Roe Green loopline which runs through the area along the 
line of the former railway has seen recent investment which has enhanced the 
attractiveness of this route for walking and cycling. 

 
Green spaces 
 
6.47 The conservation area’s green spaces are intrinsic to its character and a 

major component of its special interest. The historic village greens at Roe 
Green and Beesley Green, with the origins of their form dating back to the 
Medieval period, are what makes this conservation area unique within this 
part of Greater Manchester. Similarly, the expanse of open land fringed by 
woodland, which characterises the southern half of the conservation area, is 
integral in retaining the character of Roe Green and Beesley Green as a 
distinct village within the wider conurbation. Worsley Woods which forms the 
southern extent of the conservation area makes a significant contribution to its 
character and appearance, and links to a wider network of woodland which 
provides a valuable local resource.  
 

6.48 There are a wide range of green spaces across the area which make a 
positive contribution to the character and appearance of the conservation 
area. These include spaces that are public spaces, and those that are 
privately owned and which may have no public access. The predominant tree 
species within the conservation area are sycamore, ash, common lime, oak, 
horse chestnut and silver birch. Many of the trees within the conservation area 
are protected via tree preservation orders, including individual trees and those 
that are protected as part of a group designation. Worsley Woods is also 
protected via its designation as a local nature reserve and its subsequent 
dedication as Queen Elizabeth II Fields in Trust. 

 
Roe Green 
6.49 The Green is largely open in nature, formed of large expanses of mowed 

grass which provide space for a range of activities including informal sport 
and recreation. The Green is crossed by a number of roads and paths. It is 
bounded by trees which form loose avenues along the line of roads crossing 
the Green and around its perimeter. There are parts of the Green which are 
less open in character due to established trees and vegetation. At the western 
extent of the Green, the triangle of land to the west of Old Clough Lane has 
been planted with a series of silver birch trees. At the northern extent of the 
Green is an equipped children’s play area which is surrounded by mature 
trees. The eastern extent of the Green is known locally as Sparrow Park and 
comprises an area planted with mature trees and rhododendron forming a 
space that is relatively enclosed in character with a memorial bench located at 
its centre.   

Page 203



 

70 
 

 

  
Open character of Roe Green, lined by trees and framed by houses 

 
Beesley Green 
6.50 The Green is considerably smaller than at Roe Green, and is generally more 

enclosed in its character. The eastern half of the Green comprises areas of 
open mowed grass with picnic benches which form an entrance to Worsley 
Woods and the footpaths around Kempnough Brook. The western half is more 
wooded and includes the hard surfaced car parking area serving Beesley 
Green Community Centre. The bowling green occupies a prominent position 
at the centre of the Green, surrounded by a white picket fence and a number 
of small ancillary structures. There are tennis courts located to the south of 
the bowling green, and both facilities are privately managed by Roe Green 
Cricket Club.  

 

  
Beesley Green 

 
Worsley Woods 
6.51 Worsley Woods comprises woodland that was largely planted in the mid 19th 

century to facilitate the 1st Earl of Ellesmere’s leisure pursuits, associated with 
the hunting lodge that he had built overlooking Old Warke Dam. Part of the 
Woods lie within the conservation area, following the line of Kempnough 
Brook which runs through the area in a broadly north to south direction, where 
it then flows in to Worsley Brook. The woodland provides a highly attractive 
recreation route in a naturalistic setting. The woodland also serves to act as a 
buffer to reduce the impact of traffic noise from the M60 on Roe Green and 
Beesley Green. There is a sculpture trail along the course of the paths 
through the woodland. 

Page 204



 

71 
 

 

  
Worsley Woods provides a naturalistic retreat along the course of Kempnough 
Brook with footpaths providing a series of attractive recreation routes that connect 
to the wider area 

 
Roe Green loopline 
6.52 This recreation route lies in cutting through the conservation area, along the 

line of the former Manchester to Wigan railway. It forms National Cycle Route 
55 and connects to Ellenbrook to the west, Walkden to the north, and Monton 
to the south. There has been recent investment in the route including 
resurfacing, new seating, and improvements to access points to the route. It 
can be accessed from four points within the conservation area, at Greenleach 
Lane (two access points located close to the junction with Old Clough Lane), 
at Starkie Street, and to the south of Toad Lane allotments. 
 

 

  
The loopline has been subject to recent improvements 

 
Roe Green Cricket Ground 
6.53 The cricket ground comprises a pitch surrounded by seating areas, a club 

house and a pavilion. It is accessed via Greenleach Lane and has its own 
dedicated parking area. The cricket ground is privately managed by Roe 
Green Cricket Club. From the cricket ground, there are extensive open views 
across the agricultural land to the south and east towards Worsley Woods. 
 

Page 205



 

72 
 

 
Roe Green Cricket Club affords extensive open views towards Worsley Woods 

 
Open land to south and east of Beesley Green 
6.54 There is a large expanse of agricultural land to the south and east of the 

cricket ground, which extends to Worsley Woods. There is a large pond at its 
centre which may have been a former clay extraction pit for brickmaking. This 
land is in private ownership and whilst there is no public access, its open 
aspect makes a significant contribution to the character of the conservation 
area as a whole. It affords physical separation from the suburban 
development of Worsley and thereby reinforces the sense of Roe Green and 
Beesley Green as a distinct village within the wider conurbation. In affording 
extensive open views from the cricket ground towards Worsley Woods it also 
evokes the aspect of a semi-rural village which is a key component of the 
special interest of the conservation area. 

 

Page 206



 

73 
 

 
Open land to south and east of Beesley Green affording open views to Worsley 
Woods 

 
Toad Lane allotments 
6.55 The allotments comprise ten plots which are managed by the city council and 

are accessed from a track off Greenleach Lane. The allotments are a 
relatively enclosed space in character, being bounded by mature trees to the 
south and west, and by the rear gardens of dwellings. 
 

Green spaces immediately outside of the conservation area 
 

Land east of Crossfield Drive 
6.56 To the south and west of the conservation area lies an extensive area of 

agricultural land. It is bounded by the rear gardens of dwellings on Crossfield 
Drive to the west, and by Worsley Woods to the east and north. The land is 
divided into two fields by a band of trees along the line of a tributary of 
Kempnough Brook. The northern field is smaller and more enclosed in 
character.. The southern field is considerably more extensive, extending south 
to the M60. Both fields are in private ownership with no public access. 

 
Land north of Lumber Lane 
6.57 Just outside of the conservation area boundary, a triangle of open land lies to 

the north of Lumber Lane bounded by the Roe Green and Tyldesley looplines 
and the A580 East Lancashire Road. The land is in private ownership but 
there is a public right of way across it. The land is relatively enclosed in 
character with the mature trees which line the looplines screening the land 
from the conservation area. 
 

6.58 The location of the identified green spaces is shown on Map 12. 
 
 
 

Page 207



 

74 
 

Negative factors 
 
6.59 There are a number of factors which have a negative impact on the 

conservation area. 
 

Traffic noise 
6.60 The M60 which adjoins the conservation area results in a significant noise 

impact across parts of the area. The noise impact is greatest at the southern 
and eastern extent of the conservation area, where the M60 crosses 
Greenleach Lane and within that part of Worsley Woods adjoining the 
motorway. The M60 is raised on an embankment for much of this stretch and 
whilst the woodland does serve to partially mitigate the impact, this effect is 
reduced when the broadleaved trees are not in leaf. Traffic noise from the 
M60 is discernible across much of the conservation area. There is also traffic 
noise at the northern extent of the conservation area associated with the A580 
East Lancashire Road. The impact of this is however less significant given the 
lower vehicle speeds.  

 

 
The heavily trafficked M60 which adjoins the conservation area results in 
significant noise impact at the southern and eastern extent of the conservation 
area, and traffic noise is discernible across much of the area  

 
Air quality 
6.61 Associated with the impact of its proximity to the M60 and A580 East 

Lancashire Road, all of the conservation area lies within a designated Air 
Quality Management Area.  
 

Car parking across Roe Green 
6.62 The Green at Roe Green is crossed by a number of vehicular routes. On 

weekdays there are typically vehicles parked along these routes. Wooden 
bollards have been installed along the periphery of these routes to prevent 
vehicles damaging the grass around the edges of the Green. This appears to 

Page 208



 

75 
 

operate successfully, however there is still a negative visual impact 
associated with this number of vehicles parked across the Green, which 
detracts from its open character.  
 

 

  
Car parking across the Green at Roe Green 

 
Rat-running through the area 
6.63 Greenleach Lane and Old Clough Lane are used at peak times as a cut-

through for vehicles passing through the area. The highest levels of rat-
running occur when there is congestion on the M60 or on the A580 East 
Lancashire Road, which encourages drivers to use Greenleach Lane as a 
shortcut to alternative routes. Associated with this, speeding is also common 
along Greenleach Lane. 
 

6.64 The location of the identified negative factors is shown on Map 13. 
 
Neutral factors 
 

Page 209



 

76 
 

6.65 There are a number of neutral areas within the conservation area which 
neither positively contribute nor notably detract from its character and 
appearance. 
 

6.66 The development of low-rise apartment blocks at Roe Green Avenue was built 
on the site of the former Brook House. The demolition of Brook House in the 
1970s was unfortunate. Constructed in the late 18th century, the imposing 
brick built residence set within its own grounds was at one stage the most 
eminent residence of Roe Green, given that Kempnough Hall had been 
tenanted and subdivided. Whilst the mature trees and pond remain within the 
site and evoke the grounds of the former residence, the two-storey apartment 
blocks constructed in the late 1970s are not of a design that is in-keeping with 
the character of the conservation area. Notwithstanding this, the buildings are 
largely screened from the wider conservation area by a mature beech hedge 
which fronts Roe Green. The impact of the development on the conservation 
area is therefore neutral.  

 
6.67 Development from the mid 20th century onwards is generally neutral in its 

impact on the conservation area. This includes the housing built in the 1950s 
at Summerfield Road and Parrfield Road, together with development on a 
number of smaller infill plots across the conservation area. Some of the more 
recent development has been designed to reflect the character of the 
conservation area, with 46a Greenleach Lane, 63 Greenleach Lane, and 62 
Roe Green being examples where the design of new development references 
the established character through the style and architectural detailing of the 
new dwellings.   

  

Page 210



 

77 
 

 

 
 

 

  
Examples of modern development within the conservation area which reference its 
character and appearance 

 
6.68 The location of the identified neutral factors is shown on Map 13. 
 
General condition 
 
6.69 As a desirable residential area with high property values relative to the 

surrounding area, the buildings across the conservation area are generally 
maintained to a high standard. There are no derelict buildings within the 
conservation area, and no buildings are in a condition that is detrimental to 
the appearance of the area. The condition of the listed and locally listed 
buildings within the area is generally good, and none are identified on the 
Buildings at Risk Register. 
 

6.70 The village is provided with a small range of local facilities at Greenleach 
Lane including a general store and post office, and a butcher’s shop. Beesley 
Green Community Centre provides a valued local facility, and the area is well 

Page 211



 

78 
 

served with sporting and recreational facilities with Roe Green Cricket Club, 
together with a bowling green, tennis courts and allotments. With the Greens 
at both Roe Green and Beesley Green, together with the looplines, and the 
routes along Kempnough Brook through Worsley Woods, the conservation 
area has a wide range of recreation opportunities within its immediate vicinity.   
 

6.71 The Greens at both Roe Green and Beesley Green are maintained to a good 
standard. Wooden bollards have been installed along vehicular routes across 
the Greens to prevent vehicle parking eroding the edges of the grassed areas. 
The public realm and footway materials used across the conservation area 
are of a standard specification and are generally maintained to a satisfactory 
standard. There has been recent investment in resurfacing the Roe Green 
loopline and improving access points to it, which has significantly improved its 
recreation value. There are similar improvements planned for the Tyldesley 
loopline.  

 
Problems, pressures and capacity for change 
 
Development pressure on open land in private ownership 
6.72 The open land to the south and east of Roe Green Cricket Ground is in 

private ownership. In 2012 the landowner published plans which identified 
their aspiration to develop housing in this location. As set out above, the open 
aspect of this land makes a significant contribution to the character of the 
conservation area as a whole. 
 

6.73 The landowner has also published their development aspirations for the 
agricultural land to the east of Crossfield Drive and the triangle of land to the 
north of Lumber Lane, which lie immediately outside of the conservation area 
boundary. 

  
Demolition and remodelling of existing properties 
6.74 The high property values across the Roe Green area place considerable 

development pressures on existing properties within the conservation area. 
This development pressure has existed from the 1960s onwards, as 
demonstrated through the demolition and rebuilding of dwellings, the 
subdivision of plots to create additional dwellings, and the substantial 
extension and remodelling of properties. As identified within this appraisal, 
there are a significant number of buildings within the conservation area which 
make a positive contribution to its character and appearance. The demolition 
or substantial remodelling of these buildings is therefore likely to have a 
detrimental impact on the conservation area. Works to those buildings which 
are identified as having a neutral impact on the character of the conservation 
area can also result in a detrimental impact, where those works do not serve 
to preserve or enhance the character of the conservation area.  
 

Other alterations to existing properties 
6.75 It can be that even relatively minor alterations to the exterior of a building can 

have a negative impact on the character and appearance of the conservation 
area. For example, as discussed earlier within this appraisal, a number of the 
Victorian terraces across the area have been subject to alterations to the size 

Page 212



 

79 
 

and alignment of windows. In many cases this has resulted in a negative 
impact on the appearance of the terrace as a whole by undermining its 
uniformity and rhythm. It may also have resulted in the removal of 
architectural detailing such as decorative brickwork, lintels and cills. It will 
therefore be important that alterations to those buildings identified as making 
a positive contribution to the character or appearance of the conservation 
area63 are sympathetic to the original character of the building.  

 
Rendering of properties 
6.76 As discussed earlier in this appraisal, whilst the use of painted render was not 

an original feature of the conservation area, render has become an 
increasingly defining characteristic of many buildings within Roe Green. The 
external rendering of properties does however obscure the original brickwork. 
In the context of the early cottages, the majority of these have already been 
rendered and this therefore heightens the importance of retaining the original 
brickwork facing on those cottages which have not been rendered. In the 
context of the Victorian terraces, the use of render will typically obscure the 
attractive architectural detailing and brickwork. In general terms therefore, 
proposals to render those properties which are identified as making a positive 
contribution to the character or appearance of the conservation area will be 
resisted. Proposals to render buildings which make a neutral contribution to 
the conservation area will be considered on a case by case basis, and it may 
be that the use of render on new build properties is appropriate given that it 
does now represent an important feature in defining the character of the area. 

 
Boundary treatments 
6.77 As identified within this appraisal, boundary treatments play an important role 

in defining the character of the conservation area. Boundary treatments are 
typically of a simple and unostentatious form, comprising hedges, open 
fencing, or low walling. These relatively informal treatments reflect the historic 
character of Roe Green as a working class rural village. The remodelling of 
the existing properties can create pressures for more prominent boundary 
treatments, such as high boundary walls, closed fencing and secure gates. 
Such boundary treatments conflict with the established character of the 
conservation area and will generally be resisted.  
 

Pressures created by increases in road traffic 
6.78 Continuing increases in road traffic using the M60 motorway and the A580 

East Lancashire Road will exacerbate existing issues facing the conservation 
area in terms of air quality and noise pollution. Highway infrastructure 
schemes designed to manage traffic movement would also have the potential 
to impact on the area.    

 
 
 
 
 

                                            
63 Including those that are listed, locally listed, or identified as making a positive contribution within 
this conservation area appraisal. 

Page 213



 

80 
 

7 Approach to preparing this appraisal 
 
7.1 This appraisal has been prepared in accordance with Historic England 

guidance on carrying out conservation area appraisals64.  Survey work was 
carried out in September 2015 with additional survey work undertaken in April 
2016 in response to a number of specific points raised through public 
consultation. 

 
7.2 A draft conservation area appraisal was subject to a six week public 

consultation in February to March 2016.  During this period, the city council 
notified stakeholders and consultees of the consultation, distributed leaflets to 
all properties within the conservation area and held a community drop in event 
at Beesley Green Community Centre.  Over 380 written representations were 
submitted in response to this consultation. 

 
7.3 Following the initial consultation further revisions were proposed to the 

conservation area boundary in particular, and a second public consultation 
was held.  A total of 67 representations were received from this second public 
consultation.  These were all considered and some further changes were 
made resulting in this final conservation area appraisal and the amended 
conservation area boundary.  It is considered that the amended boundary for 
the conservation area now accurately reflects the area of special architectural 
or historic interest the character or appearance of which it is desirable to 
preserve or enhance. 

 
 
 

                                            
64 “Conservation area designation, appraisal and management – Historic England Advice Note1” 
Historic England (February 2016 and updated February 2019) 

Page 214



 

81 
 

8 Amendments to the conservation area boundary 
 
8.1 An integral part of the appraisal process is to review the boundary of the 

conservation area to establish whether there is a case to expand the 
boundary to include adjoining land, or whether there are parts of the area 
which are no longer considered to positively contribute to the character or 
appearance of the conservation area and could therefore be removed from 
the protective designation. 
 

8.2 Historic England guidance identifies that the special interest of areas 
designated many years ago may now be so eroded by piecemeal change or 
by single examples of poorly designed development that parts of the area 
may no longer have special interest, and that in such cases boundary 
revisions will be appropriate to exclude them. The guidance also recognises 
that in some cases it will be appropriate to extend the boundary of the 
conservation area, to include adjoining areas that are considered to be of 
special interest65. 
 

8.3 The draft conservation area appraisal proposed a number of changes to the 
conservation area boundary.  A number of representations were received in 
response to the initial consultation and as a result further amendments to the 
conservation area boundary were considered appropriate to reflect the area of 
architectural or historic interest the character or appearance of which it is 
desirable to preserve or enhance.  
 

8.4 All of the changes made to the original conservation area boundary, and 
which now reflect the amended conservation area boundary, are summarised 
below:  

 
Additional land included within the conservation area: 
 

 67, 69 & 71 Lumber Lane, and 1 – 9 Hardy Grove – .six pairs of semi-
detached Edwardian villas, built around 1910.  The villas are faced with red 
Accrington brick featuring decorative mouldings, and feature single storey bay 
windows, stone cills and lintels.  The four pairs of villas at Hardy Grove have 
crested ridge tiles.  A number of the properties retain their original decorative 
glazed tiling to the recessed entrance vestibule and some properties also 
retain their original windows with Art Nouveau glazed motifs.  The houses are 
closely associated with the Tyldesley family of Roe Green.  The cricketer JT 
Tyldesley invested some of his earnings in the development of these houses, 
which were built by his brother Frank Tyldesley who had a builder’s yard on 
Starkie Street within the village.  Upon their completion, the Tyldesley’s 
parents moved to 71 Lumber Lane.  The house was named “Aigburth” to 
commemorate their son Ernest Tyldesley’s County Cricket debut in 1909 at 
Aigburth Cricket Club in Liverpool.  The house retains the name Aigburth to 
the present day, and a commemorative plaque records this as the home of 
the Tyldesley family.  Their architectural value and close association with the 

                                            
65 “Conservation area designation, appraisal and management – Historic England Advice Note 1”, 
Historic England (February 2019), paragraph 106. 

Page 215



 

82 
 

Tyldesley family contributes positively to the special interest of the 
conservation area.  

 
8 – 22 Lyon Grove (even numbers) –this terrace of eight houses is likely to 
date from the 1870s.  It was built around the same time as the series of 
terraces built around Roe Green, as part of the significant expansion of the 
village in the Victorian period following the coming of the railway.  The terrace 
is brick built, but all eight houses have subsequently been rendered, largely 
obscuring any former architectural detailing.  A simple dentil band at the 
eaves does remain, as do some of the arches above the doors and stone cills.  
The majority of the properties retain their original window alignment and 
chimney stacks.  As with the other terraces within the area, the terrace is 
considered to contribute to the special interest of the conservation area by 
demonstrating its expansion during the Victorian period following the coming 
of the railway. 
 

Land removed from the conservation area: 
 

 6, 8, 10 & 12 Wardley Hall Lane – these comprise two pairs of semi-detached 
houses built in the 1960s. Given that they are located at the edge of the 
conservation area and make a neutral contribution to its special interest, they 
have been removed from the boundary.  

 

 3, 5 & 7 Mulgrave Road – these three detached houses were built in the 
1980s, after the conservation area designation. The land had previously been 
occupied by a single dwelling and its curtilage, but this building had been 
demolished at the point of the conservation area designation in 1970.  Given 
that these three detached houses are located at the edge of the conservation 
area and make a neutral contribution to its special interest, they have been 
removed from the boundary.  

 

 2 & 4 Mulgrave Road – these properties were built in the 1980s, after the 
conservation area designation.  The land appears to have been occupied by 
garages from the 1950s up until the construction of the present dwellings.  
Given that this pair of houses is located at the edge of the conservation area 
and  make a neutral contribution to the special interest of the conservation 
area they have been removed from the boundary.  

 

 1 to 74 Manthorpe Avenue – this housing estate comprises 20 houses 
together with 27 apartments across two three-storey blocks and was built in 
2002.  Part of the site had been occupied by early cottages known as “Barn 
Houses”, however these were demolished in the 1970s.  The remaining part 
of the site had historically been open agricultural land, with a plant nursery 
occupying the site from the 1960s.  The design of the estate,  in the manner of 
a classical Georgian style, does not respect the character of the remainder of 
the conservation area and therefore it was considered to make a neutral 
contribution to the area’s special interest.  

 

 66 Greenleach Lane – this detached house was built in the 1920s. Its 
immediate neighbours to the south were demolished in the late 1960s during 

Page 216



 

83 
 

the construction of the M60, and the estate at Manthorpe Avenue which 
adjoins the property to the north was subsequently developed in 2002.  Given 
that the building was considered to make a neutral contribution to the special 
interest of the conservation area it has been removed from the boundary.  

 

 Woodland area surrounding Manthorpe Avenue – this small area of woodland 
comprises mature broadleaved trees which are protected by group 
preservation orders.  It comprises a steep sided bank along the course of a 
tributary of Kempnough Brook, and a triangle of woodland to the north east of 
Manthorpe Avenue which was planted following construction of the M60.The 
land is located at the edge of the conservation area and was considered to 
make a limited contribution to its special interest.  

 

 Land east of Crossfield Drive – this small area of agricultural land is relatively 
enclosed in character, being bounded to the west by the rear gardnes of 
properties on Crossfield Drive, to the north and east by Worsley Woods, and 
to the south by a line of mature trees following a tributary of Kempnough 
Brook. The relatively enclosed nature of the land meant that it makes a limited 
contribution to the character or appearance of the conservation area. The 
woodland along the course of Kempnough Brook means that in visual terms 
there is a clear separation between this land and the open land to the south 
and east of Roe Green Cricket Ground.  There is also no key historical 
association between this land and the rest of the conservation area, and the 
rationale for its inclusion within the designated conservation area boundary in 
1970 was unclear.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 217



 

84 
 

9 Adoption and Next Steps 
 
9.1 This final version of the conservation area appraisal, including the 

amendments to the conservation area boundary, was reported to, and 
approved by, the Lead Member for Planning on the 18 June 2019. 

 
Next Steps 
 
9.2 The recommendations in this appraisal will provide the basis for developing 

and publishing management proposals for the area. 
 
Review and updating 
 
9.3 Conservation area appraisals need to be reviewed and updated on a regular 

basis.  Ideally this review process should take place every five years.  The 
character and appearance of most conservation areas, the special interest 
that warrants designation, generally does not change that rapidly although the 
related management proposals may need to be updated.  Rather than 
requiring wholesale rewriting, the five-yearly review might result in an 
addendum to an existing appraisal, recording what has changed, redefining 
(or confirming) the special interest that warrants designation and setting out 
any new recommendations.  If the review only noted a few minor changes 
then a report would be produced outlining these changes which would be 
published on the city council’s website.   

 
 

Page 218



 

85 
 

10 Bibliography and references 
 
Aldred, J. (1988) Worsley – an historical geography of Worsley Village 1200 – 1850 
(Worsley Civic Trust). 
 
Arrowsmith, P. (October 2014) Kempnough Hall, 248 Kempnough Hall Road, 
Worsley – historical research. 
 
Cavanagh, R. (undated) The Tyldesley’s of Lancashire. 
 
De Figueiredo, P. (December 2013) Kempnough Hall, 248 Kempnough Hall Road, 
Worsley – heritage statement. 
 
Farrer, W. and Brownbill, J. (1911) Townships: Worsley, in ‘A History of the County 
of Lancaster: Volume 4’ (London), pp. 376-392.  
 
Fletcher, M. (April 2014) Kempnough Hall, 248 Kempnough Hall Road, Worsley – 
historic building recording (Matrix Archaeology). 
 
Haigh, S. (November 2009) Kempnough Hall, 247 Kempnough Hall Road, Worsley – 
historic building assessment and recording. 
 
Hart-Davis, H.R. and Strachan Holme (1908) A short history of Wardley Hall 
(Sherratt and Hughes). 
 
Hartwell, C., Hyde, M. & Pevsner, N. (2004) The buildings of England – Lancashire: 
Manchester and the South East (Yale University Press). 
 
Morgan, N. (May 2004) Littlewood Cottage, Lumber Lane, Worsley – a historical and 
archaeological record on behalf of Padiham Property Development Ltd. 
 
Mullineux, C.E. (1989) Halls of the Manor of Worsley (Streetgate). 
 
Mullineux, C.E. & F. (1990) Origins of street names – Worsley and Little Hulton 
(Streetgate). 
 
Mullineux, C.E. & Tyldesley, B. (2001) Out and about with Elsie and Bert – vignettes 
of local history (Worsley Civic Trust). 
 
Nevell, N. & King, C. (August 2004) The Coach House, Lumber Lane – 
archaeological building survey of an early 19th century stable block. 
 
Pratt, I.S. (1977) Workedslegh – a history of Worsley (Fields Press Ltd). 
 
Tyldesley, B. (1993) The Duke’s other village – the Roe Green story (Neil 
Richardson). 
 
Wickham, H. (1984) Worsley in the eighteenth century – a study of a Lancashire 
landscape (Neil Richardson). 
 

Page 219



 

86 
 

Worsley Urban District Council (1973) Old Worsley and Little Hulton – a book of 
photographs. 
 
Wright, M. (2011) Elizabeth Wolstenholme Elmy: the biography of an insurgent 
woman (Manchester University Press). 
 
All of the historic photographs and sketches within this draft conservation area 
appraisal derive from the public archive at Salford Local History Library, unless 
otherwise stated: 
 
Salford Local History Library 
Salford Museum and Art Gallery 
Crescent 
Salford 
M5 4WU 
T: 0161 778 0814 
E: local.history@scll.co.uk 
 

Page 220

mailto:local.history@scll.co.uk


 

87 
 

11 Glossary 
 

Accrington brick: a type of hard engineering brick with a smooth appearance and a 
deep colouring. It is more expensive to manufacture than standard rough textured 
brick and therefore in domestic architecture it is typically only used for the 
construction of principal elevations or for decorative detailing. 
 
Apex: the top or highest part of something, particularly one which forms a point. In 
the context of a building it typically refers to the point at the top of a gable elevation 
where two roof planes meet.  
 
Art Nouveau: an international movement of art, design, architecture and the 
decorative arts, which in Britain dated between around 1880 – 1910.  
 
Bay (as in a two bay dwelling): in this context a bay refers to the horizontal form of 
a building’s principal elevation in relation to window openings. So for example a 
simple two-storey terrace with a door and window at ground floor, and a window at 
first floor, would be described as having one bay. Similarly a house comprising a 
central entrance passage with a room either side would be described as having two 
bays.   
 
Beeching cuts: the extensive programme of railway line and station closures across 
Britain that were implemented following the publication of two reports by Dr Richard 
Beeching, who was the Chairman of British Railways through the 1960s. 
 
Buildings at Risk Register: Historic England maintains a register of listed buildings 
and structures which are considered to be at risk. Buildings or structures are 
assessed for inclusion on the register on the basis of condition and occupancy 
or use. 
 
Cambered arch: an arch above a window or door which is typically formed of brick, 
with the top line of the arch (the extrados) being horizontal and the bottom line (the 
intrados) being curved. 
 
Casement window: a window that is attached to its frame by one or more side 
hinges. 
 
Cill: a shelf or slab of stone, wood, or metal at the foot of a window opening or 
doorway. 
 
Conservation area: an area that has been designated by a local authority as being 
of special architectural or historic interest. Legislative requirements place a duty on 
local authorities through the exercise of their planning functions to pay special 
attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance 
of a designated conservation area. There are also additional limitations on the type 
of development that can be carried out within a conservation area without the need 
for planning permission. 
 
Coping: a finishing or protective course or cap to an exterior masonry wall, which is 
typically formed of natural or reconstituted stone. 

Page 221



 

88 
 

 
Corbel (and corbelled): where a series of brick or stone courses are laid on top of 
each other with each successive course projecting out marginally beyond the lower 
course to form a stepped projection. Whilst originally designed to serve a structural 
purpose, corbelling can also be used for decorative purposes. 
 
Cornice: a horizontal decorative form that crowns a building. The cornice will 
typically project from a building to throw rainwater free of the building’s walls. 
 
Crested ridge tile: a ridge tile is an angled tile that is specifically formed to cap the 
ridge at the top of two roof planes. ‘Crested’ refers to a decorative moulding that 
forms part of the tile, and which forms a decorative ridge along the top line of the 
roof. 
 
Croft (and crofter): an archaic expression for the form of a dwelling with an 
associated small area of enclosed land used for crop-growing to serve the 
subsistence needs of the household. A croft would therefore be considerably smaller 
than a farm or smallholding, and is distinguished by virtue of its scale and that its 
produce is for subsistence purposes rather than for commercial sale. A crofter is a 
person who resides on a croft. 
 
Cross bar: a horizontal glazing bar used to divide a window. It can either divide 
separate panes of glass, or can lie across a single pane of glass to add strength and 
rigidity to the glazing. 
 
Cutting (in the context of a railway line): where the ground has been excavated 
such that the railway line lies below the level of the surrounding ground, it is said to 
lie in cutting.  
 
Dentil band: a horizontal course of repeated blocks for decorative purposes. In the 
context of the architecture of Roe Green, the dentil bands are formed of a course of 
brick or moulded brick laid in such a way as to create a repeated horizontal pattern in 
relief.  
 
Dog tooth dentil band: as dentil band above, but where bricks are laid at right 
angles to each other to form a repeated zig-zag form in relief. 
 
Double-pile: a form of dwelling that is two rooms deep from front to back. 
 
Eaves: the projecting overhang at the lower edge of a roof. 
 
Edwardian: the period in the history of the United Kingdom covering the reign of 
King Edward VII (1901 to 1910), and which is sometimes extended to the outbreak of 
the First World War in 1914. 
 
Flat arch: an arch above a window or door which is typically formed of brick, with 
both the top line of the arch (the extrados) and the bottom line (the intrados) being 
horizontal. 
 

Page 222



 

89 
 

Flèche: used in ecclesiastical architecture, a flèche is a lead-covered timber spire, or 
spirelet, that is typically smaller than a traditional spire. They are positioned on the 
ridge of a church or cathedral roof and will typically incorporate a bell housing. 
 
Gabled canopy: a canopy providing a weather shield over an external door, which 
comprises two roof planes forming a simple gable.  
 
H-plan hall: a form of high status dwelling dating originally from the Medieval period, 
comprising a central hall flanked by two projecting wings at right angles to the central 
hall thereby giving the appearance of a H-shape when viewed in plan form. 
 
Handed: refers to the form of two or more adjoining dwellings where the party wall 
between the dwellings acts as the axis for a mirrored form and layout. For example 
the form of a traditional pair of semi detached dwellings is handed, where the layout 
of one house is the mirror of its adjoining house with the party wall serving as the 
mirrored axis. Handing may also refer to a terrace, where the internal layout and the 
associated expression of doors and windows on the external elevations switches left 
to right, and right to left, on alternate dwellings in the terrace. 
 
Heritage asset: a building, monument, site, place, area or landscape identified as 
having a degree of significance meriting consideration in planning decisions, 
because of its heritage interest. The term includes nationally designated heritage 
assets, and assets identified by the local planning authority via its local list of 
heritage assets. 
 
Historic England: the public body with responsibilities across England's historic 
environment.  Historic England champions historic places and as part of its remit 
publishes guidance relating to the management of the historic environment, 
including conservation areas and listed buildings. 
 
Hood mould: a feature typically made of stone or moulded brick which forms a 
shallow ridge projecting above a doorway or window, designed to deflect rainwater. 
 
Key stone: the wedge-shaped piece at the apex of an arch, which locks the arch in 
position and enables the form to fulfil its structural function to bear weight. 
 
Label stop: a decorative form designed to terminate either end of a hood mould 
(see above). 
 
Lintel: a structural horizontal block that spans the space or opening between two 
vertical supports (such as those forming a door, or a window). It can serve a load-
bearing function or simply be a decorative architectural element.  
 
Listed building: a building that has been placed on the Statutory List of Buildings of 
Special Architectural or Historic Interest, which is maintained by Historic England. 
Such buildings are protected by specific legislation and works that would impact on 
the building’s features of special architectural or historic interest require formal 
consent. Local planning authorities are also required via legislation to have regard to 
the effect of proposed works on the setting of any listed building.  
 

Page 223



 

90 
 

Locally listed building (and local list of heritage assets): local listing is a 
mechanism for a local community to decide what it is in their area that makes a 
contribution to its character and historical legacy and as such what should be 
recognised as a local heritage asset. Whilst local heritage assets do not enjoy the 
protection of statutory listing, which is the responsibility of Historic England, they are 
given some degree of protection through the planning system. Salford's adopted 
local list of heritage assets includes buildings, townscapes, landscapes, 
infrastructure, public art and other objects within the built environment. 
 
Long range: a term which is typically used to describe the form of one or more 
cottages. Early cottages of a single-pile plan (see below) typically present a long 
principal elevation as they are only one room in depth and therefore all internal 
rooms are arranged side by side. Where this creates an elongated form, this can be 
referred to as a long range, where it is typically topped by a gable roof that presents 
a long ridge along the length of the principal elevation. 
 
Manorial waste: dating from the Medieval period, this refers to manorial land under 
English land law which was neither let to tenants nor did it form part of manorial 
demesne lands. 
 
Medieval: the period in European history (also known as the Middle Ages) which 
lasted from the 5th to the 15th century. It began with the collapse of the Western 
Roman Empire, and in England 1485 typically marks the end of the Medieval and the 
start of the Early Modern period. 
 
Mullioned window: a window that is formed from vertical elements typically made of 
stone, with the glazing sitting within this framing. 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF): a document published in March 
2012 which sets out the Government's planning policies for England and how these 
are expected to be applied by planning authorities. 
 
Obelisk: a tapering stone pillar that typically has a square or rectangular cross 
section. 
 
Orthogonal: of a right-angled form, such as a square or rectangle. 
 
Parapet gable: where the gable end of a building extends above the line of the roof 
to form a raised parapet. 
 
Paired doorway: a Gothic architectural form typically used in ecclesiastical 
architecture where two adjoining doorways are paired together beneath an arch 
formation.  
 
Pediment: an element in Classical and Neo-classical architecture comprising a 
triangular shaped gable form, which can form the crown of a building or be a smaller 
architectural element above a doorway or window. 
 
Picket fence: a simple wooden fence made of spaced uprights connected by two or 
more horizontal rails. 

Page 224



 

91 
 

 
Pier: an upright support for a structure, such as a brick pier which can serve to 
provide structural support to an elevation and prevent movement. 
 
Pinnacle: an architectural ornament that has the appearance of a dwarf spire that 
can form the crown of a buttress, pier or turret. 
 
Polychromatic brickwork: a style of architectural brickwork which emerged in the 
mid 19th century and used bricks of different colors (typically brown, cream and red) 
in patterned combination to highlight architectural features. 
 
Rake: the pitch or steepness of a roof plane. 
 
Ridge chimney stack: a chimney stack sited upon the ridge line of a roof. 
 
Round arch: an arch where the curve forms a complete semi-circle.  
 
Sash window: a window formed of two frames fixed one above the other, that open 
by being moved up and down. To facilitate operation, the weight of the glazed panel 
is usually balanced by a counter-weight concealed within the window frame. 
 
Segmental arch: an arch in which the curve forms a segment of a semi-circle (i.e. 
less than a complete semi-circle).   
 
Single-pile plan: an early form of dwelling that is one room deep from front to back. 
 
Splayed bay window: a window that projects from a building’s elevation, where the 
sides are splayed forming a trapezoid when viewed in plan form. 
 
Square bay window: a window that projects from a building’s elevation, where the 
sides are set at right angles. 
 
String course: a thin course of brickwork or stone that runs horizontally around a 
building as architectural detailing, that is distinguished from the rest of the façade by 
its relief, colour or form. 
 
Stucco: a fine plaster used for coating wall surfaces or moulding into architectural 
decorations. The use of stucco or smooth render to simulate finely dressed 
stonework became popular in parts of Britain in the early 19th century. 
 
Sub-manorial: denoting the sub-division of manorial land into sub-manors, which 
occurred under the feudal system in the Medieval period.  
 
Tudor style: a pastiche of the Tudor architectural style (which itself dates from the 
period 1485 – 1603 in English history). 
 
Vernacular: a category of architecture based on local needs, construction materials 
and reflecting local traditions. Originally, vernacular architecture did not use formally-
schooled architects, but relied on the design skills and tradition of local builders. 
 

Page 225



 

92 
 

Annex A – Listed buildings 

 
There are three buildings within the conservation area included on the List of 
Buildings of Special Architectural or Historic Interest: 
 

 Kempnough Hall, 246 – 248 Kempnough Hall Road (Grade II) 

 Beesley Hall, 250 – 252 Beesley Green / Greenleach Lane (Grade II) 

 Littlewood and Sisley including adjoining stable block, Lumber Lane (Grade II) 
 
The full descriptions of these listed buildings together with photographs are set out 
below. 
 
  

Page 226



 

93 
 

Kempnough Hall, 246 – 248 Kempnough Hall Road 
 
Name: KEMPNOUGH HALL 
List entry number: 1162933 
Grade: II 
Date first listed: 29-Jul-1966 
Date of most recent amendment: 02-Sep-1987 
National Grid Reference: SD 74640 01529 
 
Details: 
 
WORSLEY KEMPNOUGH HALL ROAD SD 70 SW (north side) 1/36 Nos. 246, 
247 and 248 (Kempnough Hall) (formerly listed as 29/7/66 Nos. 246 and 248) - II 
 
House, now 3 houses. C17 perhaps including earlier work but with alterations 
and rebuilding of C19. Timber-framed with a rendered wing to left and a slate 
roof. H-shaped plan with a total of 5 bays and 2 storeys. Between the projecting 
crosswings the central range has a 4-panel door and C19 porch and casement 
windows of various dates. The principal posts have diagonal bracing and the 
framing panels are roughly square. The left crosswing is completely rendered 
whereas the right crosswing projects considerably and appears to contain the 
earliest fabric. The first floor jetty has been hidden by a brick supporting wall on 
the ground floor. The gable is also jettied but concealed by painted boarding. A 
3-light ovolo-moulded timber mullion window lights the first floor and projects 
slightly above a coved sill panel which is carved with rosettes. A brick chimney 
stack projects on the left return whereas a massive stone stack with brick shaft 
projects on the right return. C20 porch adjoing the stone stack. C19 wing to rear 
of central range. Interior: ovolo-moulded floor beams and other original features 
including roof construction. A previous building was the seat of the Starkies by 
1594. 
 
Listing NGR: SD7464001529 
 
Note: Description requires updating to include subsequent extensions and 
alterations. 
 

Page 227



 

94 
 

 
 

  
 
   

Page 228



 

95 
 

Beesley Hall, 250 – 252 Beesley Green / Greenleach Lane 
 
Name: BEESLEY HALL 
List entry number: 1162850 
Grade: II 
Date first listed: 09-Jul-1979 
Date of most recent amendment: 02-Sep-1987 
National Grid Reference: SD 74754 01538 
 
Details: 
 
WORSLEY BEESLEY GREEN SD 70 SW (off Greenleach Lane) 1/28 Nos. 250, 
251 and 252 (Beesley Hall) (formerly listed under Greenleach 9/7/79 Lane) - II 
 
3 Houses. Said originally to date from C17 or earlier but appearing wholly to be 
of the mid C19. English garden wall bond brick with picturesque timber-framing 
in parts and graduated stone slate and slate roof. Symmetrical elevations of 6 
bays and 1 storey (plus attic). 3 boarded doors with cambered brick arches and 
brick hoodmoulds obscured by later porches in Nos. 251 and 252 and with small 
addition to right in the former. Total of four 2-light casements with single glazing 
bars, cambered brick heads and brick hoodmoulds. Bays 2 and 5 are gabled 
projections and are of 2 storeys in timber-framing. They have 3-light windows 
one of which is a later bow. Zig-zag brick band below eaves. 3-light dormer 
windows. 4 ridge chimney stacks. The rear has a central gable and 2 gabled 
dormer windows all with raised lozenge panels in brick. Similar windows and 
doors as front. 
 
Listing NGR: SD7475401538 
 
Note: Description requires updating to include subsequent extensions and 
alterations. 
  

Page 229



 

96 
 

 

 

  
 
    

Page 230



 

97 
 

Littlewood and Sisley including adjoining stable block, Lumber Lane 
 
Name: LITTLEWOOD AND SISLEY INCLUDING ADJOINING STABLE BLOCK 
List entry number: 1356708 
Grade: II 
Date first listed: 29-Jul-1966 
Date of most recent amendment: Not applicable to this List entry. 
National Grid Reference: SD 74593 01632 
 
Details: 
 
WORSLEY LUMBER LANE SD 70 SW (south side) 1/41 Littlewood and Sisley 
including adjoining stable 29/7/66 block - II 
 
House, now 2 houses. c.1740 with later additions largely of the early C19. 
English garden wall bond brick with slate roof. 3-bay 2-storey house which was 
extended firstly to left and then as a parallel range to rear. The original house 
(to the south) has 3 windows on each floor with replacement casements and 
cambered brick arches on the ground floor. 4-panel door between bays 2 and 3. 
A gabled wing was added to the left and a taller 2-storey range to rear. The 
additions have various mullion and transom casements and 16-pane sash 
windows and now form a separate house. Brick chimney stacks. Arched 
entrance to stable block. The interior retains many original features including 
doors, a dogleg staircase and built in furniture. The house was at one time the 
residence of John Clarke, mill-owner, to whom the Bishop of Chester granted 
faculty for use as a preaching house. The first floor contained a chapel. 
 
Listing NGR: SD7459301632 
 

 
 

Page 231



 

98 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 232



 

99 
 

Annex B – Locally listed buildings 

 
There are four buildings within the conservation area identified on Salford’s local list 
of heritage assets: 
 

 2 & 4 Roe Green 

 26 & 28 Roe Green 

 301A & B Old Clough Lane 

 Roe Green Cricket Club Pavilion, Greenleach Lane 
 
The full descriptions of these locally listed buildings are set out below. 
 
2 & 4 Roe Green 
o Reference: HE_LLWO15 
o Description: Two cottages (c.1800). Long range two storey cottage, single pile 

plan. Rendered brick with Welsh slate roof. Small casement windows set at first 
floor directly under the eaves. There is a central chimney stack with projecting 
bricks, showing that the cottage was once thatched. 

o Significance: Typical example of vernacular cottage building in the area 
contributing positively to the enclosure of the common land of Roe Green. See 
252 & 254 and 192 &194 Worsley Road. The surrounding area has changed 
although the buildings still sit within a largely intact setting. 

o Number of buildings: 2 
o Criteria: Age (3), Aesthetic value (4), Group value (6).  

 
26 & 28 Roe Green 
o Reference: HE_LLWO16 
o Description: Pair of cottages (C18th and C19th). Single cell plan. The windows 

comprise simple small casements with those at first floor tucked tight under the 
eaves. 

o Significance: Typical example of vernacular cottage building in the area 
contributing positively to the enclosure of the common land of Roe Green. See 2 
& 4 Roe Green, 252 & 254 Worsley Road and 192 & 194 Worsley Road). The 
surrounding area has changed although the buildings still sit within a largely 
intact setting. 

o Number of buildings: 2 
o Criteria: Aesthetic value (4), Group value (6). 
 
301A & B Old Clough Lane 
o Reference: HE_LLWO13 
o Description: Cottages (early/mid C19th). Pair of single cell cottages, heavily 

refurbished and extended. Rendered brick with Welsh slate roof. Landscape 
windows with simple casement fenestrations inset. Shallow pitched roof and 
central ridge chimney. 

o Significance: Very late vernacular cottages typical of the area prior to suburban 
expansion of the city. 

o Number of buildings: 2 
o Criteria: Aesthetic value (4), Group value (6). 

 
  

Page 233



 

100 
 

Roe Green Cricket Club Pavilion, Greenleach Lane 
o Reference: HE_LLWO26 
o Description: Cricket pavilion. C1920. Timber with Welsh slate roof over. Simple 

orthogonal shed with integral canopy and veranda to front and clock in gablet to 
roof.  

o Significance: A typical Lancashire county league cricket club building of rural 
character, quite uncommon in an urban district, but forming an important 
component of quintessential English life in a parish such as Worsley. 

o Number of buildings: 1 
o Criteria: Aesthetic value (4), Group value (6).  
 
 
 
  

Page 234



 

101 
 

Annex C – Commemorative plaques 

 
Within the conservation area there are six commemorative plaques marking the 
historical significance of the area. The full descriptions of the plaques together with 
photographs are set out below. 
 
Richard Clarke, Littlewood, Lumber Lane, Roe Green 
o Reference: HE_PQ043 
o Type: Commemorative plaque proposed by Worsley Civic Trust in 1996 (circular 

blue plaque with red rim and white lettering) 
o Description: Home of Richard Clarke, the upstairs room being a preaching room 

for the Independent Methodists between 1824 & 1855 when the first chapel was 
built 
 

 
 
 
The Tyldesley Family Home - "Aigburth", Aigburth, 71 Lumber Lane, Roe 
Green 
o Reference: HE_PQ044 
o Type: Commemorative plaque proposed by Worsley Civic Trust in 1996 (circular 

blue plaque with red rim and white lettering) 
o Description: The Tyldesley family home, named to commemorate Ernest's county 

cricket debut for Lancashire (against Warwickshire) at Aigburth, Liverpool on 7th 
June 1909 

Page 235



 

102 
 

 
 
 
The Second District Poor House, Cottage adjacent to Beesley Green 
Community Centre, Worsley 
o Reference: HE_PQ059 
o Type: Commemorative plaque proposed by Worsley Civic Trust in 1996 (circular 

blue plaque with red rim and white lettering) 
o Description: THE SECOND DISTRICT POOR HOUSE. Purpose-built with the 3rd 

floor designed and used for hand loom weaving, it later became a Sunday and 
Day school 

o  

 
 
John Tommy and Ernest Tyldesley, 131 Greenleach Lane, Roe Green 
o Reference: HE_PQ042 
o Type: Commemorative plaque proposed by Worsley Civic Trust in 1996 (circular 

blue plaque with red rim and white lettering) 
o Description: Here, from 1880 to 1911, lived the Tyldesley family. John Tommy 

and Ernest played cricket for Lancashire & England. Ernest was born here on 5th 
February 1889. 

Page 236



 

103 
 

 

 
 
 
JT Tyldesley, Ernest Tyldesley, Michael Vaughan, Roe Green Independent 
Methodist Church 
o Reference: HE_PQ045 
o Type: Commemorative plaque proposed by Worsley Civic Trust in 1996 (circular 

blue plaque with red rim and white lettering) 
o Description: Worsley History Trail. Roe Green Independent Methodist Church. 

The distinguished England Cricketers JT Tyldesley (1874) Ernest Tyldesley 
(1889) and Michael Vaughan (1976) were all baptised in this chapel. Worsley 
Civic Trust 1996 
 

 
 
  

Page 237



 

104 
 

1914 - 1919 Roll of Honour 
o Reference: HE_WM178 
o Address: Roe Green Independent Methodist Church, Roe Green, Worsley, 

Manchester, M28 2RN 
o Type: Roll of Honour 
o Description: Wooden roll of honour, inscribed "This roll of honour is erected to the 

memory of the fallen and in grateful commemoration of those also who fought in 
the Great European War 1914 – 1919 all of whom were connected with this 
church and school and whose names are hereunder inscribed”. 
 

 
 

Page 238



ROE GREEN
8

2

1

5

7

4

9 6

3

Brook

M 60

M 61

Centre

Church

Kempnough

Roe Green

11

Kempnough Brook

Wardley Wood

Beesley Green

EAST LANCASHIRE ROAD

New Plantation

73

23

39

92

28

18

25

19

40

22

67

87

34

10

21

14

26

15

37

13

17

12

47

8a
53

20

83

44
31

24

38

33

81

78

61

32

27

57

49

71

35

85

45

36

74

86
90

48

63 94

88

50

30

43

65

29

77

66

68
60

89 95

96

58

41

46

69

98

59

42

82

70

Path

El

Dr
ain

Pond

House

55.2m

56.6m

53.3m

52.5m

55.5m

52.1m

51.2m

51.0m

53.4m

56.7m

55.8m

58.8m

57.7m

52.6m

52.9m

54.2m

52.2m

50.4m

LB

HALL

115
117

FB

Pavilion

Littlewood

Path (um)

Tennis Court

Double Wall

Thornbank

412

129

22a

179

100

25
3

175

106

105

432

44
8

452

189

147

248

88
a

250

446

418

252

161

197

19b

24
9

246

256

171

229

39a

36
a

34
a

232

416

177

104

242

163

133
46a

Playground

El Sub Sta

Kempnough Hall

Bowling Green

CR

Sisley Cottage
Egerton Court

Dis
ma

ntl
ed

 R
ail

wa
y

112a

Cricket Ground

Kempnough Hall Road

Allotment Gardens

LYNDENE AVENUE

LUMBER LANEPIN
E 

GR
OV

E

LYON GROVE301b
301a

ALFRED AVENUE

MABEL AVENUE
OLD CLOUGH LANE

Mast

SA
ND

ER
SO

N 
CL

OS
E

ST
AR

KIE
 ST

RE
ET

GREENLEACH LANE

Track

MAYHILL DRIVE

CRAWFORD AVENUE

BL
ANDFO

RD AV
ENUE

CROSSFIELD DRIVE

FO
RR

ES
TE

R S
TR

EE
T

HAWTHORNE DRIVE

WOODLANDS ROAD

WARDLEY HALL LANE

MAN
TH

ORP
E A

VE
NU

E

Posts

1 to 9

KEMPNOUGH HALL ROAD

TCB

Sinks

Issues

ESS

Gantry

Stones

53.0m

52.7m

Newstead

ROAD

12 to 34

36
 to

 64

Ward Bdy

Greenend

Newholme

226 to 230

Brookdale

AV
EN

UE

Bo
ro 

Co
ns

t B
dy

TH
E 

NO
OK

TH
E 

RE
TR

EA
T

Co
 C

on
st 

& 
Wa

rd 
Bd

y

HA
RD

Y G
RO

VE GLEN AVENUE

MEADOWGATE

MO
OR

FIE
LD

TH
E C

OPP
ICE

WESLEY DRIVE

PEEL GROVE

30

Path

15
27

M 60

Path

2

1

35

12

2

M 60

3

2

6

5

2

15

10

14

9

28

3

12

Pa
th 

(um
)

24

1

Pond

15

9
Pond

15

20

10

13
22

6

2

37

Drain

1

22a

2

39

4

1

17

1

9

4

46

5

17

2

66

12

8

26

57

31

8

FB

GREENLEACH LANE

52.1m

3

1

26

2

1

El Sub Sta

9

15

10

22

1 38

3
11

32

11

3

CR

33

67

2

20

78

11

14

21

9

14

11

17

21

10

5

14

1

28

5

8

1

2

40

53

2

3

36

1

8

18

67

17

11

Path (um)

2

7

41

15

14

1

1

9

2

21

26

11

24

18

Gantry

4

10

34

2

8a

7

29

2

19

11

25

11

1

3

24

1

12

2

2

2

9

1

FB

55.5m
18

8

12

92

21

18

M 60

6

17

12

22

1

WA
RD

LE
Y 

HA
LL

 LA
NE

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

1

2

Path (um)

22

2

Pond

18

12

8

4

1

12

31

50

21

8

4

1

20

2

12

1

14

32

5

18

19

15

24

30

2

21

Path

5

39
94

30

26

55.2m

10

59

34

73

Pa
th

M 
60

9

EAST LANCASHIRE ROAD

1

3

12

2

6

41

11

2

7

86

1

1

1

10

ALFRED AVENUE

52.5m

12

28

Posts

25

17

Path

7

15

15

71

4

1

29

1

69

Path

1 2

13

2

2

11

23

47

3

11

90

2

2

5

3

34

19
38

1

7

6

23

1

24

Legend
Conservation area boundary
Previous conservation area boundary

Map 1 - Conservation area boundary

P
age 239



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Map 2 - Location Plan Legend
Conservation area boundary

M60

A580 East Lancashire Road

M60
Junction 14

A580

M6
0

A575

A572 
Worsl

ey R
oad

Greenleach Lane

Walkden Road

Old
 Clo

ugh
 La

ne

Worsley Village

Ellesmere
Golf Course

Worsley Woods

Wardley Wood

M60
Junction 13

P
age 241



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Map 3 - 1764 map of Duke of Bridgewater's Estate Legend
Conservation area boundary

P
age 243



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Map 4 - 1848 Ordnance Survey map

Reproduced by permission of the National Library of Scotland

Legend
Conservation area boundary

It should be noted that the map from which this has been
 reproduced indicates that the Manchester to Wigan railway line
 shown on the map was inserted subsequent to the initial date of
 publication of the map. The first cutting of the railway line
 commenced in 1861 and the line opened in 1864. The identification 
of the railway line on this 1848 map is therefore anachronistic. 

P
age 245



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Map 5 - 1894 Ordnance Survey map Legend
Conservation area boundary

P
age 247



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Map 6 - 1909 Ordnance Survey map Legend
Conservation area boundary

P
age 249



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Map 7 - 1937 Ordnance Survey map Legend
Conservation area boundary

P
age 251



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Map 8 - 1970 Ordnance Survey map Legend
Conservation area boundary

P
age 253



T
his page is intentionally left blank



ROE GREEN

EGERTON PARK

8
2

1

5

7

4

9 6

3

New Plantation

Brook

M 60

M 61

Centre

Church

Kempnough

Roe Green

11

Kempnough Brook

Wardley Wood

Beesley Green

EAST LANCASHIRE ROAD

73

39

23

92

18

28

19

25

40

22

67

87

34

10

21

14

26

15

37

13

17

12

47

8a
53

20

83

31
44

24

38

33

81

78

61

16

32

27

57

49

71

35

45

85

36

86
90

74

48

63

88

94

50

30

65

43

29

77

66

60
68

89 95

96

58

41

46

69

98

59

42

82

70

Path

El

Dr
ain

Pond

House53.4m

53.3m

55.2m

58.8m

52.5m

58.0m

52.1m

51.2m

51.0m

57.7m

55.5m

55.8m

56.6m

56.7m

50.4m

52.2m

52.9m

54.2m

52.6m

LB

HALL

115 117

114

FB

Pavilion

Littlewood

Path (um)

Tennis Court

Double Wall

Thornbank

412

129

22a

179

100
25

3
175

106

105

432

44
8

452

189
147

248

88
a

250

418

446

252

161

197

19b

24
9

246

256

171

229

39a

36
a

34
a

232

416

104

242

163

133

46a

Playground

El Sub Sta

Kempnough Hall

Bowling Green

CR

Sisley Cottage
Egerton Court

Dis
ma

ntl
ed

 R
ail

wa
y

112a

Cricket Ground

Kempnough Hall Road

Allotment Gardens

LYNDENE AVENUE

LUMBER LANEPIN
E 

GR
OV

E

LYON GROVE301b
301a

ALFRED AVENUE

WALKDEN ROAD

MABEL AVENUE

OLD CLOUGH LANE

Mast

SA
ND

ER
SO

N 
CL

OS
E

ST
AR

KIE
 ST

RE
ET

GREENLEACH LANE

Track

MAYHILL DRIVE

CRAWFORD AVENUE
BL

ANDFO
RD AV

ENUE

CROSSFIELD DRIVE

FO
RR

ES
TE

R S
TR

EE
T

HAWTHORNE DRIVE

WOODLANDS ROAD

WARDLEY HALL LANE

MAN
TH

ORP
E A

VE
NU

E

Posts

1 to 9

KEMPNOUGH HALL ROAD

TCB

Sinks

Issues

ESS

Gantry

Stones

53.0m

52.7m

Newstead

ROAD

12 to 34

36
 to

 64

Ward Bdy

Greenend

Newholme

226 to 230

Brookdale

AV
EN

UE

Bo
ro 

Co
ns

t B
dy

TH
E 

NO
OK

TH
E 

RE
TR

EA
T

14

25

Posts

2

M 60

Pond

2

15

8

2

4
2

17

37

6

11

2

9

M 
60

6

2

3

Drain

11

71

WA
RD

LE
Y 

HA
LL

 LA
NE

Pa
th 

(um
)

22a

2

46

26

1

5

1

4

18

90

Pa
th

5

12 9

32

31

1

10

25

2

El Sub Sta

24

Path

Pond

8

M 60

6

6

1

29

5

1

14

11

7

10

12

1

15

18

9

3

9

22

55.5m

2

1

67

10

9

9

11

10

1

57

New Plantation

47

7

11

3

41

10

FB

9

78

12

22

CR

38

31

1

20

14

24

11

15

Pond

9

20

17

18

17

1

8

15

36

2

7

34

1

5

19

7

2

1

7

2

13

19

Path (um)

15

18

8

69

2

2

21

1

8

21

Pond

21

1

4

24

28

Gantry

14

1

10

1

8a
35

2

8

66

1

11

28

40

67

15

34

14

12

11
2

3

26

94

FB

52.1m

21

12
23

2 3

17

12

22

1
1

ALFRED AVENUE

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

17

15

Path (um)

22

Path

32

Pond

18

1

47

4

EAST LANCASHIRE ROAD

12

24

30

21

39

5

11

20

3

12

12
14

26 39

28

25

2

1

2

38

2

21

Path 5

92

30

29

26

55.2m

10

2

2

73

Path

M 60

1

2

12

11

6

59

2

34

2

50

1

1

1

10

GREENLEACH LANE

52.5m

12

18

19

17

Path

4

15

864

1
1

Path

Path

1

3

13

2

2

8

3

30

2

2

5

3

33

1

21

3

23

53

1

24

Pond

Legend
Historic Development

Pre 1764
1765 - 1850
1850 - 1910
1910 - 1945
Post 1945
Conservation area boundary

Map 9 - Historic development

P
age 255



T
his page is intentionally left blank



ROE GREEN
8

2

1

5

7

4

9

6

3

Brook

M 60

M 61

Centre

Church

Ladyhill

Kempnough

Roe Green

11

Kempnough Brook

Wardley Wood

Beesley Green

EAST LANCASHIRE ROAD

New Plantation

73

39

23

92

28

18

25

19

40

22

34

67

87

10

21

14

26

15

37

13

17

12

47

8a
53

20

83

31
44

24

38

33

81

78

61

16

32

27

57

49

71

35

85

45

36

86
90

74

48

63 94

88

50

30

65

43

29

77

66

68

60

89
95

96

58

41

46

69

98

59

42

82

70

Path

El

Dr
ain

Pond

House

57.7m

58.8m

52.5m

56.7m

52.1m

51.2m

51.0m

56.6m

55.8m

58.0m

53.3m

53.4m

55.5m

55.2m

50.4m

52.6m

52.9m

54.2m

52.2m

LB

HALL

115
117

114

FB

Pavilion

Littlewood

Path (um)

Tennis Court

Double Wall

Thornbank

412

345

129

22a

179

100

25
3

175

106

105

432

44
8

452

189

147

248

88
a

250

446

418

252

161
25

4

197

19b

24
9

246

256

171

229

39a

36
a

34
a

247

232

416

104

177

242

127

163

133
46a

Playground

El Sub Sta

Bowling Green

CR

PO

Sisley Cottage
Egerton Court

Dis
ma

ntl
ed

 R
ail

wa
y

112a

Cricket Ground

Kempnough Hall Road

Allotment Gardens

LYNDENE AVENUE

LUMBER LANE

PIN
E 

GR
OV

E

LYON GROVE301b

301a

ALFRED AVENUE

WALKDEN ROAD

MABEL AVENUE
OLD CLOUGH LANE

Mast

SA
ND

ER
SO

N 
CL

OS
E

ST
AR

KIE
 ST

RE
ET

GREENLEACH LANE

Track

MAYHILL DRIVECRAWFORD AVENUE

BL
ANDFO

RD AV
ENUE

CROSSFIELD DRIVE

FO
RR

ES
TE

R S
TR

EE
T

HAWTHORNE DRIVE

WOODLANDS ROAD

WARDLEY HALL LANE

MAN
TH

ORP
E A

VE
NU

E

Posts

1 to 9

KEMPNOUGH HALL ROAD

TCB

Sinks

Issues

ESS

Gantry

Stones

52.7m

53.0m

Newstead

ROAD

12 to 34

36
 to

 64

Ward Bdy

Greenend

Newholme

226 to 230

Brookdale

AV
EN

UE

Bo
ro 

Co
ns

t B
dy

Spinney End

TH
E 

NO
OK

TH
E 

RE
TR

EA
T

Co
 C

on
st 

& 
Wa

rd 
Bd

y

HA
RD

Y G
RO

VE

GLEN AVENUE

MEADOWGATE

MO
OR

FIE
LD

TH
E C

OPP
ICE

WESLEY DRIVE

PEEL GROVE

PARRFIELD ROAD

BRIARFIELD ROAD

AS
HB

OU
RN

E G
RO

VE

LITCHFIELD GROVE

BR
ER

ET
ON

 D
RI

VE

ELM CRESCENT

SU
MMER

FIE
LD

 RO
AD

12

Ward Bdy

M 60

35

1

KEMPNOUGH HALL ROAD

9

1

10

9

1

11

22a

2

12

7

4

13

94 36

5

17

1

El Sub Sta

47

Posts

1

69

1

Pond

21

24

1

2

TCB

10

1

Pond

15

15

31

15

Path

10

CR

8

2

2

2

33

14

M 
60

8

6

2

Pond

10

2

92

14

17

9

8

WA
RD

LE
Y 

HA
LL

 LA
NE

11

CR

9

18

Pond

6

7

FB

FB

1

22

11

17

37

113

12

19

71

El Sub Sta

4

34

22

15

2

18

1

15
27

10

34

ALFRED AVENUE

8

1

Path

9

14

28

9

Pond

15

31

3

11

1

5

11

1

14 52.1m

2

1

28

11

Path

32

7

30

7

3

22

2

25

Pa
th 

(um
)

13

38

25

1

3

2

9

6

1

21

2

9

5

24

20

Gantry

26

6

10

8

2

20

2

86

2

2

41

19

2

25

11

34

15

ROE GREEN

1

14

12

12

41

8

26

50

Path (um)

55.2m

18

21

12

5

21

3

78

M 60

24

17

2

22

1

GREENLEACH LANE

Posts

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

17

2

Path (um)

34

2

32

Pond

18

1

8a

4

12

24

29

8

39

4

11
20

3

12

26

57

5

23

18

40

Path

1

2

38

29

2

21

Drain

5

28

2

66

26

1

21

Path

Ward Bdy

67

39

Path

M 60

73

1

2

12

11

6

59

2

4

30

1

1

1

10

GREENLEACH LANE

55.5m

12

18

TCB

19

12

Pa
th

7

15

15

90

4

1

RO
E G

REE
N46

1

Pa
th

Path

1

3

17

2

2

11

23

3

EAST LANCASHIRE ROAD

30

2

2

5

3

67

19

1

14

3

53

1

24

52.5m

Legend
Commerorative plaques
Buildings that make a positive contribution
Locally listed buildings
Listed buildings
Conservation area boundary

Map 10 - Listed and locally listed buildings, and other buildings that make a positive contribution

Buildings are listed in their entirety, there is no such thing as just a listed facade or interior. Any object or 
structure fixed to a listed building is treated as part of the building. Also any object or structure included 
within the curtilage (the area of enclosed land associated with the use of a building, such as the garden 
of a house) of the building which, although not fixed to the building, forms part of the land and has done 
so since before 1 July 1948, is included in the listing.
From 26 June 2013, some new list entries or listed entries amended after that date may expressly exclude 
such curtilage buildings as well as certain attached structures or objects from protection. However to date, 
none of Salford's listed building entries have been affected by this change, so you should presume that 
the rules above apply when determining the extent of the listing.

14

13
12

11

10
9

1

2 3

4

5

6

7

15

16
17 18

19

21

22
23

24
25

26
27

28

29

30

31
32

33
34

353637383940
4142

43
44

8

20

P
age 257



T
his page is intentionally left blank



ROE GREEN

EGERTON PARK

8
2

1

5

7

4

9 6

3

New Plantation

Brook

M 6
0

M 61

Centre

Church

Kempnough

Roe Green

11

Kempnough Brook

Wardley Wood

Beesley Green

EAST LANCASHIRE ROAD

73

39

23

92

18

28

19

25

40

22

67

87

34

10

21

14

26

15

37

13

17

12

47

8a
53

20

83

31
44

24

38

33

81

78

61

16

32

27

57

49

71

35

45

85

36

86
90

74

48

63

88

94

50

30

65

43

29

77

66

60
68

89 95

96

58

41

46

69

98

59

42

82

70

Path

El

Dr
ain

Pond

House53.4m

53.3m

55.2m

58.8m

52.5m

58.0m

52.1m

51.2m

51.0m

57.7m

55.5m

55.8m

56.6m

56.7m

50.4m

52.2m

52.9m

54.2m

52.6m

LB

HALL

115
117

114

FB

Pavilion

Littlewood

Path (um)

Tennis Court

Double Wall

Thornbank

412

129

22a

179

100
25

3
175

106

105

432

44
8

452

189
147

248

88
a

250

418

446

252

161

197

19b

24
9

246

256

171

229

39a

36
a

34
a

247

232

416

104

177

242

163

133

46a

Playground

El Sub Sta

Bowling Green

CR

Sisley Cottage
Egerton Court

Dis
ma

ntl
ed

 R
ail

wa
y

112a

Cricket Ground

Kempnough Hall Road

Allotment Gardens

LYNDENE AVENUE

LUMBER LANEPIN
E 

GR
OV

E

LYON GROVE301b
301a

ALFRED AVENUE

WALKDEN ROAD

MABEL AVENUE

OLD CLOUGH LANE

Mast

SA
ND

ER
SO

N 
CL

OS
E

ST
AR

KIE
 ST

RE
ET

GREENLEACH LANE

Track

MAYHILL DRIVE

CRAWFORD AVENUE
BL

AN
DFO

RD AV
EN

UE

CROSSFIELD DRIVE

FO
RR

ES
TE

R S
TR

EE
T

HAWTHORNE DRIVE

LEACONFIELD DRIVE

WOODLANDS ROAD

WARDLEY HALL LANE

MAN
TH

ORPE
 AV

EN
UE

Posts

1 to 9

KEMPNOUGH HALL ROAD

TCB

Sinks

Issues

ESS

Gantry

Stones

53.0m

52.7m

Newstead

ROAD

12 to 34

36 
to 

64

Ward Bdy

Greenend

Newholme

226 to 230

Brookdale

AV
EN

UE

Bo
ro 

Co
ns

t B
dy

TH
E 

NO
OK

TH
E 

RE
TR

EA
T

Co
 C

on
st 

& 
Wa

rd 
Bd

y

HA
RD

Y G
RO

VE GLEN AVENUE

MEADOWGATE

MO
OR

FIE
LD

TH
E C

OPP
ICE

WESLEY DRIVE

PEEL GROVE

PARRFIELD ROAD

BRIARFIELD ROAD

AS
HB

OU
RN

E G
RO

VE

LITCHFIELD GROVE

BR
ER

ET
ON

 D
RI

VE

ELM CRESCENT

SU
MMER

FIE
LD

 ROAD

14

25

Posts

2

CR

M 60

Pond

2

15

8

2

4
2

17

37

6

11

2

9

M 
60

6

2

3

Drain

11

71

WA
RD

LE
Y 

HA
LL

 LA
NE

Pa
th 

(um
)

22a

2

46

26

1

5

1

4

18

90

Pa
th

5

12 9

32

31

1

10

25

2

El Sub Sta

24

Path

Pond

8

M 60

6

6

1

29

5

1

14

11

7

10

12

1

15

18

9

3

9

22

55.5m

2

1

67

10

9

9

11

10

1

57

New Plantation

47

7

11

3

41

10

FB

9

78

12

22

CR

38

31

1

20

14

24

11

15

Pond

9

20

17

18

17

1

8

15

36

2

7

34

1

5

19

Path

7

2

1

7

2

13

19

Path (um)

15

18

8

69

2

2

21

1

8

21

Pond

21

1

4

24

28

Gantry

14

1

10

1

8a
35

2

8

66

1

11

28

40

67

15

ROE GREEN

34

14

12

11
2

3

26

94

FB

52.1m

21

12

23

2 3

17

12

22

1
1

ALFRED AVENUE

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

17

15

Path (um)

22

Path

32

Pond

18

1

47

4

EAST LANCASHIRE ROAD

12

24

30

21

39

5

11

20

3

12

12
14

26 39

28

25

2

1

2

38

2

21

Path 5

92

30

29

26

55.2m

10

2

2

73

Path

M 60

1

2

12

11

6

59

2

34

2

50

1

1

1

10

GREENLEACH LANE

52.5m

12

18

KEMPNOUGH HALL ROAD

19

17

Path

4

15

15

864

1

RO
E G

RE
EN

1

Path

Path

1

3

13

2

2

11

8

3

30

2

2

5

3

34

33

1

21

3

23

53

1

24

Pond

Legend
Character areas

1. Roe Green and the early cottages
2. Victorian cottages at Greenleach Lane
3. Beesley Green and Worsley Woods
Conservation area boundary

Map 11 - Character areas

1

2

3

P
age 259



T
his page is intentionally left blank



ROE GREEN

EGERTON PARK

8
2

1

5

7

4

9 6

3

New Plantation

Brook

M 60

M 61

Centre

Church

Kempnough

Roe Green

11

Kempnough Brook

Wardley Wood

Beesley Green

EAST LANCASHIRE ROAD

73

39

23

92

18

28

19

25

40

22

67

87

34

10

21

14

26

15

37

13

17

12

47

8a
53

20

83

31
44

24

38

33

81

78

61

16

32

27

57

49

71

35

45

85

36

86
90

74

48

63

88

94

50

30

65

43

29

77

66

60
68

89 95

96

58

41

46

69

98

59

42

82

70

Path

El

Dr
ain

Pond

House53.4m

53.3m

55.2m

58.8m

52.5m

58.0m

52.1m

51.2m

51.0m

57.7m

55.5m

55.8m

56.6m

56.7m

50.4m

52.2m

52.9m

54.2m

52.6m

LB

HALL

115 117

114

FB

Pavilion

Littlewood

Path (um)

Tennis Court

Double Wall

Thornbank

412

129

22a

179

100
25

3
175

106

105

432

44
8

452

189
147

248

88
a

250

418

446

252

161

197

19b

24
9

246

256

171

229

39a

36
a

34
a

232

416

104

242

163

133

46a

Playground

El Sub Sta

Kempnough Hall

Bowling Green

CR

Sisley Cottage
Egerton Court

Dis
ma

ntl
ed

 R
ail

wa
y

112a

Cricket Ground

Kempnough Hall Road

Allotment Gardens

LYNDENE AVENUE

LUMBER LANEPIN
E 

GR
OV

E

LYON GROVE301b
301a

ALFRED AVENUE

WALKDEN ROAD

MABEL AVENUE

OLD CLOUGH LANE

Mast

SA
ND

ER
SO

N 
CL

OS
E

ST
AR

KIE
 ST

RE
ET

GREENLEACH LANE

Track

MAYHILL DRIVE

CRAWFORD AVENUE
BL

ANDFO
RD AV

ENUE

CROSSFIELD DRIVE

FO
RR

ES
TE

R S
TR

EE
T

HAWTHORNE DRIVE

WOODLANDS ROAD

WARDLEY HALL LANE

MAN
TH

ORP
E A

VE
NU

E

Posts

1 to 9

KEMPNOUGH HALL ROAD

TCB

Sinks

Issues

ESS

Gantry

Stones

53.0m

52.7m

Newstead

ROAD

12 to 34

36
 to

 64

Ward Bdy

Greenend

Newholme

226 to 230

Brookdale

AV
EN

UE

Bo
ro 

Co
ns

t B
dy

TH
E 

NO
OK

TH
E 

RE
TR

EA
T

14

25

Posts

2

M 60

Pond

2

15

8

2

4
2

17

37

6

11

2

9

M 
60

6

2

3

Drain

11

71

WA
RD

LE
Y 

HA
LL

 LA
NE

Pa
th 

(um
)

22a

2

46

26

1

5

1

4

18

90

Pa
th

5

12 9

32

31

1

10

25

2

El Sub Sta

24

Path

Pond

8

M 60

6

6

1

29

5

1

14

11

7

10

12

1

15

18

9

3

9

22

55.5m

2

1

67

10

9

9

11

10

1

57

New Plantation

47

7

11

3

41

10

FB

9

78

12

22

CR

38

31

1

20

14

24

11

15

Pond

9

20

17

18

17

1

8

15

36

2

7

34

1

5

19

7

2

1

7

2

13

19

Path (um)

15

18

8

69

2

2

21

1

8

21

Pond

21

1

4

24

28

Gantry

14

1

10

1

8a
35

2

8

66

1

11

28

40

67

15

34

14

12

11
2

3

26

94

FB

52.1m

21

12
23

2 3

17

12

22

1
1

ALFRED AVENUE

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

17

15

Path (um)

22

Path

32

Pond

18

1

47

4

EAST LANCASHIRE ROAD

12

24

30

21

39

5

11

20

3

12

12
14

26 39

28

25

2

1

2

38

2

21

Path 5

92

30

29

26

55.2m

10

2

2

73

Path

M 60

1

2

12

11

6

59

2

34

2

50

1

1

1

10

GREENLEACH LANE

52.5m

12

18

19

17

Path

4

15

864

1
1

Path

Path

1

3

13

2

2

8

3

30

2

2

5

3

33

1

21

3

23

53

1

24

Pond

Legend
Public open space
Woodland
Open land in private ownership
Tree lined spaces
Recreational footpath
Key views
Watercourses and ponds
Conservation area boundary

Map 12 - Green spaces and key views

1

2

4

5

6
7

8

9

1a

3

1

2

3

   
   The village green at Roe Green
   The vilage green at Beesley Green
   Roe Green Cricket Ground

   Roe Green
   Sparrow Park
   Beesley Green
   Roe Green Loopline
   Worsley Woods
   Roe Green Cricket Ground
   Open land to the south and east of Beesley Green
   Toad Lane allotments
   Land east of Crossfield Drive
   Land north of Lumber Lane

Key views and vistas

Green spaces
1
1a
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

1
2
3

P
age 261



T
his page is intentionally left blank



M 60

M 61

ROE GREEN

EGERTON PARK

Walkden High School

8
2

1
5

7

4

9 6

3

Wardley Wood

New Plantation

Brook

Centre

Church

Ladyhill

Kempnough

Roe Green

Hall

11

Kempnough Brook

Beesley Green

EAST LANCASHIRE ROAD

ETL

73

19

39

23

92

18

28

25

40

22

24

87

67

34

10

14

21

26

15

37

13

6a

17

12

47
8a

53

20

83

44
31

38

33

81

78

61

46

16

32

27

57

49

71

35

48

45

85

36

86

74

90

63 94

88

50

30

65

43

29

77

66

68
60

89 95

96

58

41

69

98

59

42

51

82

70

Path

El

Drain

Pond

House

53.9m

53.4m

53.3m

60.7m

57.7m

54.9m

58.8m

52.5m

58.0m

52.1m

51.2m

51.0m

56.7m

55.2m

55.5m

55.8m

56.6m

50.4m

52.9m

54.2m

52.2m

52.6m

LB

HALL

115 117

116

114

FB

Pavilion

Littlewood

Path (um)

Tennis Court

Double Wall

Thornbank

219

412
345

129

46
4

22a

331

179

25
3

175

106

105

432

44
8

452

189

147

248

88
a

250

418

446

252

404
161

197

19b

24
9

246

256

337
335

410 171

229

39a

36
a

319

34
a

232

416

104

242

163

133

217

46a

Playground

El Sub Sta

Kempnough Hall

Bowling Green

Sanderson's Siding

CR

Sisley Cottage
Egerton Court

Dis
ma

ntl
ed

 R
ail

wa
y

112a

Cricket Ground

Kempnough Hall Road

Allotment Gardens

LYNDENE AVENUE

LUMBER LANE

PIN
E 

GR
OV

E

LYON GROVE301b
301a

ALFRED AVENUE

WALKDEN ROAD

MABEL AVENUE

OLD CLOUGH LANE

BE
AT

RI
CE

 R
OA

D

Mast

SA
ND

ER
SO

N 
CL

OS
E

GREENLEACH LANE

Track

MAYHILL DRIVE

CRAWFORD AVENUE

CROSSFIELD DRIVE

HAWTHORNE DRIVE

LEACONFIELD DRIVE

WOODLANDS ROAD

WARDLEY HALL LANE

MAN
TH

ORP
E A

VE
NU

E

Posts

1 to 9

KEMPNOUGH HALL ROAD

TCB

Sinks

Issues

ESS

Gantry

Stones

52.7m

53.0m

1

8

25

3

26

Path (um)

18

9

86

9

BEATRICE ROAD

17

48

11

728

M 
60

Pond

25

Pa
th

12

10

Gantry

50

1

2

8

2

28

1

21

2

1

5

ALFRED AVENUE

17

10

WA
RD

LE
Y 

HA
LL

 LA
NE

Pond

10

31

67

1

24

10

37

23

90

20

2

3

8a

22a

Path

15
23

21

2

11

26

1

Path

31

CR

20

22

2
2

31

GREENLEACH LANE

14

67

1

9

4

59

15

41

8

6

2

8

27

2

1

12

3

9
31

Path

46

21

7

15

23

13

Pond

3

5

2 1

691

Path (um)

10

28

23

TCB

6

22

1

7

21

55.2m

6

FB

15

1

4

3

Path

39
Drain

1

10

12

2

8

7

18

21

New Plantation

71

17

73

11

5

4

24

12

11

1

5
8

8

1

24

25

9

2

46

8

24

33

Pond

12

21

Drain

7

18

7

4

57

26

2

M 60

FB

5

2

M 60

1

Wardley Wood

10

12

22

1

1

40

4

Pond

12

1

TCB

34

Pond

2

11

1

12

2

5

2

15

30

1

1

1

9

14

8a

18

34

2

2

66

10

35

55.5m

1

11

24

6

8

2

11

38

9

M 60

15

7

92

19

CR

15

21

FB

1

Path

78

Pond

2
12

Kempnough

53

1

10

1

14

3

12

9

12

2

14

32

14

1

39

M 60

Path

2

8

38

29

36

2

1

30

41

14

M 60

34

2
Sinks

22

11

Dr
ain

3

5

11

M 
60

6

17

4

Path

22

5

30

18

13

2

LUMBER LANE

52.1m

17

39

Posts

18

13

Path

M 61

26

94

5

1

53.9m

Path

1

Path

Pa
th

M 61

3

2

2

11

19

3

11

29

8

2

1

3

24

25

32

1
5

14

6

19

47

Legend
Neutral impact
Negative impact
Conservation area boundary

Map 13 - Negative and neutral factors

1

2

3

3

4

5

5

6
6

1 - Roe Green Avenue apartments
2 - Housing at Summerfield Road and Parrfield Road

Neutral factors

Negative factors
3 - M60 noise and air pollution
4 - A580 East Lancashire Road noise and air pollution
5 - Car parking across Roe Green
6 - Rat-running along Greenleach Lane and Old Clough Lane

P
age 263



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Salford City Council

Roe Green / Beesley Green 
Conservation Area Appraisal

Consultation Statement
June 2019

Page 265



1

1 Introduction

1.1 This document has been prepared to set out how the community and 
other interested stakeholders have been engaged in informing the 
preparation of the Roe Green / Beesley Green conservation area 
appraisal and recommendations for associated changes to the 
boundary of the conservation area. 

1.2 Section 71 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 places a duty on local planning authorities to formulate and 
publish proposals for the preservation and enhancement of designated 
conservation areas. The legislation requires that such proposals be 
submitted for consideration to a public meeting in the area to which 
they relate, and that the authority shall have regard to any views 
concerning the proposals expressed by persons attending the meeting. 
In addition, section 70 of the Act requires authorities to give formal 
notice of any amendment to the boundary of a designated conservation 
area, by notifying Historic England and publishing a notice in the 
London Gazette and a local newspaper.

1.3 In addition, Historic England guidance1 identifies that it is good practice 
when undertaking a conservation area appraisal to set out:
 how community involvement and public consultation has been 

undertaken;
 how the input from the community was evaluated; and
 how it has influenced the final appraisal document and the 

recommendations.

1 “Conservation area designation, appraisal and management – Historic England Advice Note 
1”, Historic England (February 2019), paragraph 33.

Page 266



2

2 Background to the Roe Green / Beesley Green 
conservation area appraisal

2.1 The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
requires that authorities review conservation area designations from 
time to time.

2.2 Guidance published by Historic England identifies the benefits of 
undertaking a conservation area appraisal, in order to understand and 
articulate why the area is special and what elements within the area 
contribute to this special quality2. It recognises that an adopted 
conservation area appraisal will be a material consideration in planning 
decisions.

2.3 The purpose of a conservation area appraisal is to define what is 
important about the character and appearance of a conservation area 
and to identify its special characteristics. It provides a basis for making 
decisions about the future management of the conservation area, 
helping to determine what might be appropriate development in and 
around its boundary.

2.4 The Roe Green / Beesley Green conservation area appraisal will be 
used as a material consideration in decision making on all planning 
applications that could impact on the character or appearance of the 
conservation area. It identifies those elements that make a positive 
contribution to the conservation area, and provides a range of detailed 
information regarding its special interest. Regard will therefore be had 
to the conservation area appraisal as a whole in informing decision 
making on relevant planning applications. 

 

2 “Conservation area designation, appraisal and management – Historic England Advice Note 
1”, Historic England (February 2019).

Page 267



3

3 Consultation on draft conservation area appraisal

3.1 Between February and March 2016, the city council consulted on a 
draft conservation area appraisal for the Roe Green / Beesley Green 
conservation area. 

3.2 The city council notified 230 consultees via email or letter, including 
relevant consultees registered on the city council’s planning consultee 
database, together with other consultees who the city council 
considered may have an interest in the conservation area appraisal. A 
list of all those consulted via email or post is set out at Annex A, and a 
copy of the consultation letter which was sent to consultees is set out at 
Annex B.

3.3 In addition to this, approximately 380 flyers were distributed to all 
properties within the conservation area, together with those additional 
properties which were being proposed for inclusion within the 
conservation area boundary, and those properties adjoining the areas 
that were being proposed for inclusion or removal from the 
conservation area boundary. A copy of the flyer was also sent out with 
the notification to consultees via email or post. A copy of the flyer is set 
out at Annex C.

3.4 A series of posters informing local residents of the consultation on the 
draft conservation area appraisal were placed around the conservation 
area, including on each the community noticeboards across Roe Green 
and Beesley Green, and within a number of local shops and the 
Beesley Green Community Centre. A copy of the poster is set out at 
Annex D.

3.5 The city council’s Neighbourhood Management team for Worsley and 
Boothstown also distributed information regarding the consultation to a 
wide range of local contacts via email, and uploaded information to the 
Worsley and Boothstown neighbourhood page on Facebook (followed 
by approximately 1,600 people).

3.6 Copies of the draft conservation area appraisal were made available for 
reference during the consultation period at Worsley Library and at 
Beesley Green Community Centre. All documents relating to the 
conservation area appraisal were also available via a dedicated 
webpage on the city council’s website3, as shown at Annex E. 

3.7 A community drop-in event was held from 2 – 8pm on Wednesday 2 
March 2016 at Beesley Green Community Centre. This event was 
staffed by two of the city council’s planning officers and provided the 
opportunity for the local community to find out more about the 
conservation appraisal, review large scale plans, and raise any 

3 www.salford.gov.uk/roebeesley

Page 268

http://www.salford.gov.uk/roebeesley


4

questions. The drop-in event was publicised via the consultation letter, 
flyer and poster as detailed above. 

3.8 There was an extensive response to the consultation. Representations 
on the draft conservation area appraisal were submitted by over 380 
individuals or organisations, and the community drop-in event was 
attended by over 100 people. 

3.9 A schedule of all representations received is set out at Annex F.

3.10 A summary of the main issues raised by the representations and the 
views expressed at the community drop-in event, together with the city 
council’s position and how this has informed the conservation area 
appraisal, is set out on pages 7 – 15 below.

Page 269



5

4 Reconsultation on draft conservation area appraisal

4.1 Following consideration of all of the representations that were received 
in response to the public consultation in 2016, further amendments 
were proposed to be made to the conservation area boundary.  It was 
therefore considered appropriate to undertake a second consultation to 
provide interested parties with the opportunity to submit 
representations in response to the further proposed conservation area 
boundary amendments.  This consultation was undertaken between 
February and March 2018.

4.2 The consultation undertaken was very similar to the 2016 consultation.  
Everyone who lived within the conservation area, or adjoined the 
affected areas of change, together with anyone who had submitted a 
representation at the initial consultation stage were notified via email or 
letter.  A list of all those consulted is set out in Annex G.  The 
consultation letter set out the proposed further changes and was 
supplemented by plans showing the proposed further amendments to 
the conservation area boundary.  This letter can be viewed in Annex H. 

4.3 A series of posters informing local residents of this reconsultation on 
the draft conservation area appraisal were placed around the 
conservation area including on each of the community noticeboards 
and within a number of local shops and the Beesley Green Community 
Centre.  A copy of the poster is set out at Annex I.

4.4 The city’s Neighbourhood Management team for Worsley and 
Boothstown again cascaded notification about the consultation to their 
own contacts. 

4.5 Copies of the draft conservation area appraisal together with the 
consultation statement were made available for reference throughout 
the duration of the consultation period at both Worsley Library and 
Beesley Green Community Centre.  All documents were also available 
via the city council’s dedicated webpage which was updated for the 
consultation, see Annex J.

4.6 A community drop-in event was not held for this consultation, given the 
relatively minor nature and extent of the proposed further amendments 
to the conservation area boundary and the conservation area appraisal.

4.7 A total of 67 representations were received in response to this 
consultation.

4.8 A schedule of all representations received is set out in Annex K.

4.9 A summary of the main issues raised by the representations together 
with the city council’s position and how this has informed the draft 
conservation area appraisal is set out in pages 16 – 20 below.

Page 270



6
Page 271



7

Summary of representations submitted in response to the consultation in 2016 and the position of the city council

Ref Summary of representation Council position
1 Approximately 95% of all submitted representations objected to the 

proposed removal of the land east of Crossfield Drive from the 
conservation area. This view was also reinforced at the community drop-in 
event which was attended by over 100 local residents.

It was clear from many of the representations that the local community 
considered the proposed boundary change to be a precursor to future 
development of the site for housing. Many representations therefore 
expressed their objection in terms of the impacts of future housing 
development on the local area (in terms of increased traffic, pressure on 
local infrastructure and services, impact on local air quality, impact on 
flood risk, loss of green space / countryside, loss of agricultural land, loss 
of wildlife habitat etc). 

A number of representations did seek to provide evidence of the 
contribution that the land east of Crossfield Drive makes to the special 
architectural or historic interest of the conservation area.. The key issues 
raised in this context were:
a) the land is important in the setting of Kempnough Hall (Grade II listed 

building).
b) the land is important in the setting of Beesley Hall (Grade II listed 

building).
c) the land reflects historic field boundaries and has always been open 

land.
d) the land has historic association with the Kempnough Hall estate.
e) Worsley Woods are intrinsic to the special interest of the conservation 

area, and its character and appearance. The local community raised 
funds to purchase the Woods from Bridgewater Estates in 1950 and 
were officially opened to the public in 1951. In 1953 the Woods were 
transferred in Trust to Worsley Urban District Council and Swinton and 
Pendlebury Urban District Council. The Woods are at their narrowest 
point in this location, and the open nature of the land east of Crossfield 

In terms of the objections regarding the impacts of additional 
housing development on the local area, whilst these issues 
would be material in the determination of a planning 
application, they are not factors that can inform the definition 
of a conservation area boundary. The legislation is clear that 
decisions regarding conservation area designation must be 
based on special architectural or historic interest, the 
character or appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or 
enhance (s69 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

In response to each of the points whereby representations 
sought to demonstrate that the land east of Crossfield Drive 
makes a positive contribution to the special interest, character 
and appearance of the conservation area the city council does 
not consider that the land at Crossfield Drive is of special 
architectural or historic interest and therefore it should not be 
preserved or enhanced or included within the conservation 
area boundary.  However, the council’s response to each of 
the individual concerns received is set out below :
a) the setting of Kempnough Hall is largely defined by its own 

curtilage. Over the course of the 20th century, housing 
development has surrounded Kempnough Hall to the 
north, west, south, and south east. Whilst the setting of the 
Hall may originally have been framed by a wider area of 
open land, in the context of the 20th century housing which 
now surrounds it, the land east of Crossfield Drive is  
considered to make minimal contribution to the setting of 
Kempnough Hall.

b) the setting of Beesley Hall is formed by the open aspect of 
Beesley Green to the north, and by Worsley Woods to the 
south and west. There is limited intervisibility between the 

P
age 272



8

Ref Summary of representation Council position
Drive is important in protecting the setting of Worsley Woods and 
preventing encroachment on their naturalistic character and tranquillity 
in this location.

The representation submitted by Peel Holdings identified that they agree 
with the council’s assessment of the value of this land and support its 
proposed removal from the conservation area. 

land east of Crossfield Drive and Beesley Hall even in 
winter months when the trees are not in leaf. There is also 
no historical association between this land and Beesley 
Hall which was built as three adjoining cottages in the mid 
19th century. This land is therefore considered to make 
minimal contribution to the setting and significance of 
Beesley Hall.

c) historic mapping suggests that this land has always been 
open land in agricultural use. The current extent of the site 
does not however reflect historic field boundaries, as the 
western part of the field was developed for housing in the 
1930s (the even numbered properties on Crossfield Drive) 
and there was subsequent housing development at 21 and 
23 Kempnough Hall Road which has also encroached into 
the original extent of the field.

d) the land would historically have formed part of the 
Kempnough estate, in the ownership of the Starkie family 
until its purchase by the Bridgewater Trust towards the end 
of the 19th century. As set out in relation to point (a) above, 
whilst historically this field is likely to have framed the 
setting of Kempnough Hall the effect of subsequent 
housing development over the course of the 20th century 
has fundamentally altered the relationship between this 
land and the Hall, such that the land east of Crossfield 
Drive is considered to make minimal, if any, contribution to 
the setting of Kempnough Hall. The historic association 
that this land once formed part of the landholdings of the 
Kempnough estate is not of itself considered to be 
sufficient justification for its continued inclusion within the 
conservation area boundary. 

e) it is recognised that the open aspect of this land 
contributes to the setting of the adjacent part of Worsley 
Woods that is within the conservation area, maintaining a 
sense of openness, tranquillity and semi-rural character at 

P
age 273



9

Ref Summary of representation Council position
this narrowest point of the woodland. However the land is 
not of itself considered to be of sufficient special historic or 
architectural interest to justify continued inclusion with the 
conservation area boundary. The land does however 
contribute to the wider setting of the conservation area, in 
the context of its contribution to the setting of Worsley 
Woods.

2 A number of representations considered that the significance of Worsley 
Woods and its contribution to the special interest, character and 
appearance of the conservation area had been underplayed within the 
draft conservation area appraisal.

This is a valid point. That part of Worsley Woods which lies 
within the conservation area positively contributes to the 
special interest, character and appearance of the conservation 
area. The conservation area appraisal has therefore been 
updated to ensure that this is appropriately reflected within the 
document.

3 A number of representations objected to the proposed removal of the land 
at Manthorpe Avenue from the conservation area. The nature of some of 
the representations implies that this may in part have been motivated by 
concern that removing this land from the conservation area would remove 
a barrier to the development of housing on the triangle of woodland to the 
north east of Manthorpe Avenue. Some representations recognised the 
rationale for removing the Manthorpe Avenue housing estate from the 
conservation area, but considered that the woodland surrounding the 
estate should be retained within the conservation area. A number of 
representations also highlighted that historic mapping identifies the 
existence of a mill in this location. 

The 1848 map identifies ‘Saunderson Mill’ in this location, 
which may have been a small mill for cloth manufacture, 
powered by the nearby ‘Saunderson Dam’. The mill appears 
to have been demolished by 1894 with the associated 
cottages identified as ‘Barn Houses’ and ‘Mill House’ 
demolished by the middle of the 20th century. The location of 
the former mill and its associated cottages is now the location 
of the housing estate at Manthorpe Avenue and no built 
remains of the mill exist. 

The triangle of land to the north east of Manthorpe Avenue is 
shown as being open land up until around 1970, when it is 
likely that the land was planted with trees associated with the 
development of the motorway. The steep sided bank either 
side of the tributary of Kempnough Brook is wooded with 
mature trees, which are likely to have developed naturally 
over time rather than being plantation woodland. Both areas of 
woodland are protected by group tree preservation orders. 
The woodland is visible from parts of the conservation area 

P
age 274



10

Ref Summary of representation Council position
and clearly forms part of the setting of the conservation area. 
These areas of woodland are not however considered to 
contribute to the special interest of the conservation area.

On this basis, the land is not considered to contribute to the 
special interest of the conservation area and its removal from 
the conservation area boundary is considered to be justified.

4 A number of representations expressed support for the proposed 
extension of the conservation area to include the properties at Hardy 
Grove. A number of representations suggested that the pair of semi-
detached villas at 67 Lumber Lane and 1 Hardy Grove formed part of this 
development by the Tyldesleys and should therefore also be included as 
part of this extension to the conservation area. 

Peel Holdings objected to the proposed extension of the conservation area 
to include the properties at 69 & 71 Lumber Lane and 2 – 9 Hardy Grove. 
They considered that these properties are of low architectural value and 
are not well preserved with doors and windows having been replaced, and 
one of the properties having been extended to the side. They considered 
that the association with the local Tyldesley family was insufficient reason 
to include these properties within the conservation area. 

In response to these representations, the pair of semi-
detached villas at 67 Lumber Lane and 1 Hardy Grove was 
surveyed in April 2016. They share many design features and 
characteristics with the other pairs of villas at Hardy Grove / 
69 and 71 Lumber Lane, and are understood to have formed 
part of the same development. This pair of villas has therefore 
also been included within the revised conservation area 
boundary.

Whilst it is recognised that a number of the properties have 
had alterations including the replacement of windows and 
doors, and one property has had a side extension, they still 
retain much of their original character. A number of the 
properties retain their original timber frame windows with Art 
Nouveau glazed motif, and the majority of original external 
features remain intact. Taken together with their clear 
historical associations with one of Roe Green’s notable 
families, the properties are considered to positively contribute 
to the special interest of the conservation area.
 

5 A significant number of representations proposed the extension of the 
conservation area boundary to include all of the open agricultural land to 
the rear of Crossfield Drive, extending down towards St Mark’s CE 
Primary School.

This land comprises open agricultural land that is bounded by 
the rear gardens of properties on Crossfield Drive to the west, 
by Worsley Woods to the south, by Worsley Woods and the 
M60 to the east, and by a further area of open agricultural 
land to the north. Whilst it is likely that this land historically 
formed part of the landholdings of the Kempnough estate, this 

P
age 275



11

Ref Summary of representation Council position
is not of itself justification for the extension of the conservation 
area boundary. The land makes limited contribution to the 
setting of the conservation area, given that there are limited 
public views of the land from within and around the 
conservation area. Whilst the land adjoins Worsley Woods, it 
has limited visibility from the footpaths which run through the 
Woods due to the depth of the woodland in this location. The 
land is not considered to contribute to the special interest of 
the conservation area and it is not considered appropriate to 
extend the conservation area boundary to include this land. 

6 A number of representations proposed the extension of the conservation 
area boundary to include the triangle of open land lying between of 
Lumber Lane and the East Lancashire Road.

This triangle of open land lies to the north of Lumber Lane, 
and is bounded by the Roe Green and Tyldesley looplines and 
the A580 East Lancashire Road. The land is in private 
ownership but there is a public right of way across it. The land 
is relatively enclosed in character with the mature trees which 
line the looplines screening the land from the conservation 
area. Historic mapping suggests that this land has always 
been open agricultural land. Its extent does not reflect historic 
field boundaries, with its current triangular form having been 
defined in part by the cutting of the railway in the 1860s, and 
then by the construction of the East Lancashire Road in the 
1930s, which resulted in its enclosure within a triangle of 
infrastructure routes. The land is not considered to contribute 
to the special interest of the conservation area and it is not 
considered appropriate to extend the conservation area 
boundary to include this land.

7 A number of representations suggested that the conservation area should 
be extended to include the terrace of properties at 8 – 22 Lyon Grove as 
these form part of the series of terraces constructed across the area in the 
late Victorian period, and which are identified in the draft appraisal as 
making a positive contribution to the conservation area.  

In response to these representations, the terrace of properties 
at 8 – 22 Lyon Grove were surveyed in April 2016. The terrace 
was constructed at the same time as other terraces within the 
conservation area which are identified as making a positive 
contribution to the conservation area. As with the other 
terraces across the area, this terrace is considered to 

P
age 276



12

Ref Summary of representation Council position
contribute to the special interest of the conservation area by 
demonstrating its expansion during the Victorian period 
following the coming of the railway. On this basis, it is 
proposed to extend the boundary to include these properties.

The extension of the conservation area boundary to include 
this terrace results in the consequential retention of 6a Lyon 
Grove within the conservation area. The draft conservation 
area appraisal identified that this detached house built in the 
1970s makes a neutral contribution to the character of the 
area, and given its location on the edge of the conservation 
area it was proposed to remove it from the boundary. The 
extension of the boundary to include the terrace at 8 – 22 
Lyon Grove does however now mean that 6a should be 
retained within the conservation area in order to maintain a 
logical boundary.

8 A representation was submitted by Indigo Planning on behalf of their 
client. The nature of the client’s interest is not made clear within the 
representation, however it is likely that they own the triangle of land to the 
north east of Manthorpe Avenue. The representation supports the 
proposed removal of this land from the conservation area, however it 
notes that the extensive tree cover on this land will remain protected by a 
woodland tree preservation order, and therefore the removal of the site 
from the conservation area would not remove the trees’ protected status.

As cited within the representation, the trees on the triangle of 
land to the north east of Manthorpe Avenue are protected by a 
woodland tree preservation order.

9 The representation submitted by Peel Holdings considers that the 
southern boundary of the conservation area should be substantially 
redrawn to remove the land south and east of Beesley Green and that part 
of Worsley Woods which lies within the conservation area. In relation to 
the land south and east of Beesley Green, Peel Holdings consider that this 
land is not an essential component of a wider historic area, nor is it an 
open area where its character and appearance concerns historic fabric. As 
an area of privately owned land that is distinct and separate to the historic 

The land in question to the south and east of Beesley Green 
forms the majority of the Beesley Green and Worsley Woods 
character area which has been identified as having a 
predominantly rural character and feel in the conservation 
appraisal.  The expanse of this open land which is fringed by 
Worsley Woods is considered to be integral in and intrinsic to 
defining the character of Roe Green and Beesley Green as a 
district village within a wider conurbation.  It is also considered 

P
age 277



13

Ref Summary of representation Council position
Greens, they consider that any rural character of this land has been 
diminished by loss of field boundaries and the construction of the 
motorway. They also consider that the high level of enclosure around 
Beesley Green means that the land is not easily appreciable or 
experienced from the wider conservation area. Peel Holdings also 
consider that the contribution made by the land is limited to its value as an 
area of agricultural land that reflects the former rural origins and backdrop 
of the village. 

For these reasons Peel Holdings consider that the land is not of special 
architectural or historic interest and it does not meet the high test required 
for inclusion within the conservation area. They consider it forms part of 
the setting of the conservation area and to ensure that the designation is 
not devalued, consider it should be removed from the designated area. 

that this land played a key part in the rationale for the original 
conservation area designation in 1970 which was as a 
landscaped green area in contrast to the heavily developed 
areas of Lancashire.

The 1848 historic map identifies a narrow line of trees along 
the course of Kempnough Brook (with much of the land which 
now forms Worsley Woods being agricultural fields).  It is likely 
that most of the woodland was planted around the 1850s for 
the 1st Earl of Ellesmere as naturalistic landscaping across his 
estate to provide opportunities for hunting and shooting as a 
private leisure pursuit. 

Furthermore, the land serves to separate Roe Green and 
Beesley Green from Worsley and maintains the historic 
separation which has existed since the origins of a settlement 
at Roe Green in the Medieval period.

Finally, the land is clearly visible from the cricket ground and 
the tennis courts both of which are within the conservation 
area and both of which have been uncontested with regards to 
their location within the conservation area boundary.  The 
cricket ground in particular has a key place in the social 
history of Roe Green through the connections to the Tyldesley 
cricketing family and the open views from the cricket ground 
are an important dimension in defining the character of this 
historic area.

For the above reasons the city council consider that this land 
constitutes an “area designated because of the quality of the 
….spatial element – green spaces which are an essential 
component of a wider historic area”, in accordance with 
paragraph 11 of the Planning Advice Note produced by 
Historic England which sets out reasons for conservation area 

P
age 278



14

Ref Summary of representation Council position

As part of their submission, Peel Holdings commissioned the Centre for 
Applied Archaeology at the University of Salford to undertake an 
archaeological desk-based assessment report of the land to the south and 
east of Beesley Green. This concludes that on the evidence available, the 
archaeological remains identified within the study area are of negligible or 
little archaeological value and as such could not be considered to have 
national, regional or local significance. The assessment recognises that 
the significance of the site with regards to its contribution to the special 
interest of the Roe Green / Beesley Green conservation area is something 
which does not fall within the remit of the assessment and as such would 

designations.

The city council does not agree with Peel Holdings that the 
character of the area has been lost by the loss of field 
boundaries and the construction of the motorway.
It is noted that there was very little evidence of any remaining 
field boundaries in 1970 on the historic maps when the 
conservation area was designated and as the motorway was 
expanded during the 1960s, it was already very much part of 
the character of the area beyond the conservation area 
boundary at the time of designation.  It is acknowledged that 
the motorway will have increased in use since the 1960s but it 
is considered that the existence of Worsley Woods together 
with the higher land levels of the motorway mean that the 
motorway is effectively screened from views within the 
conservation area.  At the same time however, the very 
presence of the motorway to the immediate south of the 
conservation area only serves to reinforce  the importance of 
this area of open green space as an essential component of 
the wider historical area thereby contributing to the  village 
character of the area and the conservation area. 

The land may not have many archaeological remains of any 
real value but notwithstanding this the land has been 
demonstrated to have historical associations with the 
development and growth of Roe Green and Beesley Green 
and is therefore of special interest which the city council 
wishes to retain.

P
age 279



15

Ref Summary of representation Council position
require further specialist assessment.

The plan at Appendix 4 of Peel’s submission identifies their proposed 
amendments to the conservation area boundary.

10 The representation by Peel Holdings considers that the draft conservation 
area appraisal is flawed in fundamental respects, and that it has not been 
prepared (either properly or at all) in accordance with national planning 
policy and guidance, nor with Historic England guidance particularly in 
relation to the proposals for the land to the south of Beesley Green and 
the land and properties around Hardy Grove associated with the Tyldesley 
family neither of which they consider satisfy the test of being of “special 
architectural or historic interest” .  Furthermore, they consider that the 
appraisal has omitted to explore ways in which new development could be 
accommodated in such a way that the character and appearance of the 
conservation area would be preserved or enhanced. The representation 
also considers that the draft appraisal is contrary to section 69 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. It considers 
that the council has taken into account immaterial considerations when 
purporting to determine a revised boundary of the conservation area, that 
is contrary to established dicta in case law.

The city council considers that the conservation area appraisal 
has been prepared in full accordance with all relevant 
legislation, policy and guidance.  It has also been 
subsequently updated to reflect the recent Historic England 
Advice Note 1, which was published after the draft 
conservation area appraisal went out for consultation.

A number of considerations have been taken into account  in 
the reasoning for determining the proposed new boundary to 
the conservation area, all of which are considered to be 
material considerations.  These have been discussed fully 
above.

P
age 280



16

Summary of representations received following re-consultation in February/March 2018 and the position of city council 

Many representations that were received at this second consultation stage were very similar to those received at the first consultation in 2016.  In 
these cases, and where the position of the city council has not changed, reference has been made to the original response of the city council in 
2016 which can be found on pages 7 -15 above, in the interest of avoiding duplication.

Ref Summary Council position
1 The proposed removal of land from Crossfield Drive is a precursor to the 

future residential development of the land which would result in increased 
traffic and congestion especially at rush hour, loss of wildlife, loss of open 
space/green lung, pressure on existing infrastructure etc. 

See response to ref 1 on page 7 above of representations 
received at the first consultation stage which remains valid.  In 
addition to this, any future development proposal for this site 
would be assessed on its merits against the policies of the 
development plan and other material considerations, including 
any impact on the conservation area, at the time of an 
application submission.

2 This is a historic area that deserves to be included within the conservation 
area boundary and the city council have dismissed the numerous 
objections to the proposal to remove the land at Crossfield Drive.  
Furthermore, what has changed since the land was originally designated 
to mean that it should now be removed from the conservation area 
boundary?

See ref 1 on page 7 above of representations received at the 
first consultation stage which addresses clearly why the city 
council does not consider this land of sufficient special 
architectural or historic interest. The city council is also mindful 
of the requirement for local authorities to pay special attention 
to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of a conservation area and to review their 
conservation area designations from time to time in order to 
ensure that they do not undermine the value of other 
conservation areas, in accordance with paragraph 186 of the 
NPPF (February 2019).

 
3 The land to the east of Crossfield Drive contributes to the setting of 

Worsley Woods in the same way that the land to the rear of the cricket 
ground does that is to remain in the conservation area.

The significant difference between these two areas of land is 
their special historic or architectural interest and their location 
in relation to Worsley Woods.  Whilst the land to the east of 
Crossfield Drive which lies to the west of Worsley Woods does 

P
age 281



17

Ref Summary Council position
contribute to the character of Worsley Woods, it is not 
considered to be of sufficient special historic interest to the 
conservation area to merits its retention within the 
conservation area boundary.

In contrast, the land to the rear of the cricket ground lies to the 
north east of Worsley Woods and as set out under reference 9 
on page 12 above, is considered to be an area that should be 
retained as it is considered to be intrinsic to the rural character 
and quality of the area, it has historic interest and was also 
part of the rationale for the identification of the original 
conservation area boundary.  

4 The intention is to retain lawyers to challenge the proposed position 
regarding the land east of Crossfield Drive.

Noted. This is within the objector’s rights if they wish to do 
this.

5 Objection to the removal of Manthorpe Avenue from the conservation 
area boundary.

See response under ref 3 on page 9 received at the first 
consultation stage which remains valid here.

6 Support the proposed inclusion of the additional properties on Hardy 
Grove and Lumber Lane.

See reference 4 on page 10 above of representations 
received at the first consultation stage which are relevant 
again here.

7 Peel Holdings reiterated that they consider that the draft conservation 
area appraisal had not been prepared (either properly or at all) in 
accordance with i) national planning policy and guidance, per NPPF 
(2012 & 2014) and ii) the advice
“Conservation Area Designation, Appraisal and Management” as 
published by Historic England in February 2016.  They also remain of the 
opinion that the draft appraisal is contrary to section 69 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

See ref 10 on page 15 in response to these comments.  
Historic England has now produced a subsequent version of 
Historic England Advice Note 1 “Conservation Area Appraisal, 
Designation and Management”, published in February 2019.  
The advice note does not introduce any additional 
requirements and therefore it is considered that the 
conservation area appraisal has been produced in accordance 
with this most recent guidance.

P
age 282



18

Ref Summary Council position

 8 Peel Holdings reiterated their concerns about land at Beesley Green 
being retained within the conservation area boundary.  They do not agree 
with the city council’s assessment of the land in response to their 
representation from the 2016 consultation; they do not consider that it is 
an “essential component” of a wider historic area as referenced in the 
Historic England guidance and neither is it an open area where its 
character and appearance concerns historic fabric.  They do not consider 
that the land is of special architectural or historic interest and therefore do 
not consider that the land should be retained within the designated area.

The city council continues to consider that the land has 
special historic interest the character or appearance of which 
it is desirable to preserve or enhance, as set out in more detail 
in ref 9 on page 12 above.  

9 In support of their comments made above at ref 8, Peel Holdings Ltd have 
also stated that they do not agree with the importance the city council has 
sought to attach to the land at Beesley Green by reference to the views 
across the site to Worsley Woods.  They consider that these views are 
“not expansive” or “picturesque” and where views are possible they are of 
“an area of flat open land enclosed by a tree belt”.  

Having received specialist arboricultural advice Peel advise that the 
woodland around the permiter of this land at Beesley Green – originally 
planted by the Earl of Ellesmere – is significantly younger to the north of 
Kempnough Brook than those trees found within the known older part of 
the woodland.  In addition they note that the majority of the trees in the 
newer part of the woodland are lime trees which have been planted in 
straight lines and therefore do not form a traditional woodland structure.  
Peel also suggest that the trees have been included as a means of 
protecting veteran trees.  They refer to paragraph 13 of Historic England 
guidance “Conservation Area Designation, Appraisal and Management: 
Historic England Advice Note 1 which makes it clear that a designation 
solely to protect veteran trees is unlikely to meet the criteria of special 
architectural or historic interest.

The city council continues to consider that the land has 
special historic interest the character or appearance of which 
it is desirable to preserve or enhance, as set out in more detail 
in ref 9 on page 12 above 

The city council acknowledges that some of the trees within 
the woodland may be younger than others but consider that 
this should be expected, as without new trees being planted a 
woodland would have less chance of surviving.  This is 
particularly important given the importance of this area to 
contributing to the particularly strong green and leafy 
character of the conservation area.  The city council is not 
seeking to include these trees soley as a means of protecting 
veteran trees.  The city council maintains the importance and 
justification of retaining this land within the conservation area 
boundary as set out in the conservation area appraisal.

P
age 283



19

Ref Summary Council position

10 Peel also highlighted that land at Beesley Green cannot form part of the 
setting of the cricket ground in accordance with the definition in the NPPF 
as the cricket ground itself is not a heritage asset and therefore its setting 
does not justify protection in a heritage sense.  However, even if it did 
contribute to the significance of the cricket pavilion they do not consider 
this a valid reason for it to form part of the conservation area.  

The land is considered by the city council to be intrinsic to the 
rural village character of the conservation area and both the 
cricket ground, the cricket pavilion and the land in question 
contributes towards this character.

It is noted that the cricket ground itself is not currently a 
designated heritage asset, and it is considered appropriate to 
rectify this. Given the increasing status and importance of 
cricket historically to the development of the conservation 
area, it would be appropriate to include the cricket ground on 
the city council’s local list of heritage assets next time it is 
reviewed.  Once this happens, the land at Beesley Green 
would form part of the setting of the cricket ground, but this is 
not considered necessary in order for that land to form part of 
the conservation area, and the reference to this has been 
removed from the conservation area appraisal as the local list 
has not been updated as yet.  

11 Peel Holdings support the city council’s assessment of the land east of 
Crossfield Drive and that it makes a limited contribution to the character 
and appearance of the conservation area.

Noted.

12 Albeit that Peel Holdings agree with the proposed removal of land to the 
east of Crossfield Drive, they do not agree that the land contributes to the 
significance of the conservation area and therefore would request that this 
statement be removed.

Acknowledged.  Statement removed throughout document.  
Any proposal for development on this land in the future would 
have to be assessed on a case by case basis, as and when 
any proposal were to come in, as to whether it has an impact 
on the setting of the conservation area.  

13 Given their low architectural value, Peel do not accept that the association 
of the properties on Hardy Grove and Lumber Lane with the local 
Tyldesley family is sufficient reason to include these properties within the 

The response of the city council remains as set out under ref 4 
on page 10 above.

P
age 284



20

Ref Summary Council position
conservation area.  They do not consider that these properties and roads 
are of “special architectural or historic interest” and therefore should not 
be added to the conservation area.

14 Peel Holdings acknowledge that the draft appraisal includes a section on 
“Problems, Pressures and Capacity for Change” but do not consider that 
it adopts a “positive strategy” or identify opportunities for new 
development to make a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness.  Paragraph 127 of the NPPF is referred to that states that 
local authorities should “look for opportunities for new development within 
conservation areas…and within the setting of heritage assets to enhance 
or better reveal their significance”.

The city council acknowledges that this is not included within 
this draft conservation area appraisal but considers that it is 
more appropriate to be included within a separate 
Management Plan for the conservation area.  This is 
something that would be produced following adoption of the 
conservation area appraisal by the city council. Inevitably 
there would be some cross over between both documents.  
For example therefore, where key views have been identified 
in the conservation area appraisal (map 12 in conservation 
area appraisal) these views will seek to be maintained within 
any Management Plan.

15 In the draft local plan land north of Lumber Lane has been identified for 
housing development under policy H3/16 with access to be gained from 
Hardy Grove.  Peel consider that this proposed allocation and intended 
access should be acknowledged in the conservation area appraisal 
document.

  

Comments noted.  It is also noted that Policy H3/16 relating to 
land at Lumber Lane has now been taken forward in the 
Revised Draft local Plan under policy H9/12.  It would be 
inappropriate to refer to the proposed in the conservation area 
appraisal as the local plan has not been adopted, and 
objections have been received in relation to this policy so it 
has little weight in decision-making.  In this respect the policy 
may not form part of the finally adopted local plan and 
therefore it is not appropriate that it is included at this stage 
within the conservation area appraisal.

P
age 285



21

P
age 286



1 
 

 
 
 
 

Salford City Council 
 
 
 

Roe Green / Beesley Green 
Conservation Area Appraisal 

  
 

Consultation Statement 
Annexes A – E 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 287



2 
 

 
 
ANNEX A – List of consultees notified via email or post of the 
consultation on the draft conservation area appraisal1 
 
ORGANISATIONS 

ALDER KING PLANNING CONSULTANTS 

ANCIENT MONUMENTS SOCIETY 

ARMSTRONG BURTON PLANNING 

BARRATT HOMES 

BARTON WILMORE 

BEESLEY GREEN COMMUNITY CENTRE 

BELLWAY HOMES NORTH WEST 

BIDWELLS 

BNP PARIBAS 

BROADWAY MALYAN PLANNING 

BROCK CARMICHAEL ARCHITECTS 

BUSINESS CONSULTATIVE FORUM 

CA PLANNING 

CAMPAIGN FOR REAL ALE 

CANAL AND RIVER TRUST 

CBRE 

CHURCH OF ENGLAND DIOCESE OF MANCHESTER 

CITY WEST HOUSING 

COLLIERS CRE 

CONTOUR SYMPHONY HOUSING GROUP 

COOPERATIVE GROUP PROPERTY DIVISION 

COUNCIL FOR BRITISH ARCHAEOLOGY 

COUNTRYSIDE PROPERTIES PLC 

CPRE LANCASHIRE BRANCH 

DALTON WARNER DAVIES 

DAVID WILSON HOMES 

DELOITTE 

DPP ONE LTD 

DTZ 

ELAN HOMES 

ELECTRICITY NORTH WEST LTD 

ELLESMERE ENGINEERING CO LTD 

ENVIRONMENT AGENCY 

EON ENERGY LTD 

EVERGREEN CONSULTING 

EVERSHEDS LLP 

FAIRBRIDGE - THE PRINCE'S TRUST PROGRAMME 

FAIRHURST 

FIELDS IN TRUST 

FIRST PLAN 

FORESTRY COMMISSION NW 

FRAMPTONS 

FRIENDS OF ROE GREEN 

FUSION 

GL HEARN 

GM PEDESTRIANS ASSOCIATION 

                                                 
1 A total of 230 individual stakeholders were notified via email or letter regarding the 
consultation on the draft conservation area appraisal. It should however be noted that this 
number includes multiple stakeholders within the same organisation. To avoid duplication, this 
table therefore lists each organisation / individual only once.  

Page 288



3 
 

ORGANISATIONS 

GREAT PLACES HOUSING GROUP 

GREATER MANCHESTER ARCHAEOLOGICAL ADVISORY SERVICE 

GREATER MANCHESTER ECOLOGY UNIT 

GREATER MANCHESTER MINERALS AND WASTE PLANNING UNIT 

GROUNDWORK MANCHESTER SALFORD TRAFFORD 

GVA 

HEATON PLANNING LTD 

HIMOR GROUP 

HISTORIC ENGLAND 

HOME BUILDERS FEDERATION 

HOME START SALFORD 

HOURIGAN CONNOLLY 

HOW PLANNING 

INDIGO PLANNING 

IRWELL VALLEY HOUSING ASSOCIATION 

JASP PLANNING CONSUTANCY LTD 

JMP CONSULTING 

JONES LANG LA SALLE LLP 

JWPC LTD 

KIRKWELLS 

KNIGHT FRANK LLP 

LAMBERT SMITH HAMPTON 

LANCS CIRCUIT OF JEHOVAH'S WITNESSES 

LUDLAM ASSOCIATES 

MANCHESTER DIOCESAN BOARD FOR SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 

MILLER HOMES 

MISTER BLISTER LTD 

MORRIS HOMES (NORTH) LTD 

MORSTON ASSETS LTD 

MOSAIC TOWN PLANNING 

MVA LTD 

NATHANIEL LICHFIELD AND PARTNERS 

NATIONAL FARMERS UNION 

NATIONAL GRID 

NATURAL ENGLAND 

NETWORK RAIL (INFRASTRUCTURE) LTD 

NFU 

NJL CONSULTING 

OPEN SPACES SOCIETY 

PAUL BUTLER ASSOCIATES 

PEACOCK & SMITH 

PEEL HOLDINGS (LAND AND PROPERTY) LTD 

PEOPLE FIRST MANCHESTER 

PERSIMMON HOMES NW 

PLAN INFO 

PLANNING POTENTIAL 

PLANWARE LTD 

PRDS 

RAMBLERS ASSOCIATION 

RANDALL THORP 

RAPLEYS 

REDROW HOMES 

RG+P LTD 

ROE GREEN BOWLING AND SOCIAL CLUB 

ROE GREEN CRICKET CLUB 

ROE GREEN INDEPENDENT METHODIST CHURCH 

ROE GREEN PARK PLAY GROUP 

Page 289



4 
 

ORGANISATIONS 

ROE GREEN TENNIS CLUB 

RSPB 

SALFORD COMMUNITY LEISURE 

SALFORD COMMUNITY NETWORK 

SALFORD DISABILITY FORUM 

SALFORD FORUM OF OLDER PEOPLE 

SALFORD LINK PROJECT 

SALFORD YOUTH SERVICE 

SAVILLS 

SEDGWICK ASSOCIATES 

SLR CONSULTING LTD 

SPORT ENGLAND 

SSA PLANNING LTD 

STEVEN ABBOTT ASSOCIATES LLP 

STEWART ROSS ASSOCIATES 

TAYLOR WIMPEY UK LTD 

THE COOPERATIVE GROUP LTD 

THE EMERSON GROUP 

THE GEORGIAN GROUP 

THE LAWN TENNIS ASSOCIATION 

THE MANCHESTER SHIP CANAL COMPANY 

THE PLANNING BUREAU 

THE STABLES 

THE TWENTIETH CENTURY SOCIETY 

THE VICTORIAN SOCIETY 

THE WOODLAND TRUST 

TURLEY 

UNITED UTILITIES PLC 

UNITED UTILITIES PROPERTY SOLUTIONS LTD 

URS GLOBAL 

VINCENT AND GORBING 

WAINHOMES (NW) LTD 

WALSINGHAM PLANNING 

WALTON AND CO 

WHITE YOUNG GREEN PLANNING 

WORSLEY AND BOOTHSTOWN COMMUNITY COMMITTEE 

WORSLEY CIVIC TRUST & AMENITY SOCIETY 

WORSLEY RESIDENTS ASSOCIATION 

WORSLEY WOODLANDS ACTION GROUP 

YOUR HOUSING GROUP 

 
INDIVIDUALS 

MR P BALL 

MR P BIRD 

MR DJ BANKS 

MR G BRYAN 

MRS E DOYLE 

MR R FEARNALL 

MRS A FICKLING 

MRS B J GEE 

Mr C GRAY 

MR C GUEST 

BARBARA KEELEY MP 

MR J LEMMON 

MS E LYON 

MRS J MASON 

Page 290



5 
 

INDIVIDUALS 

MR NAZAR 

MRS J ROBINSON 

MR D SHARPLES 

MR P SHARPLES 

MR P TRAYNOR 

RT REVD DS WALKER 

MR J YOUNG 

Page 291



6 
 

ANNEX B – Consultation letter  

 

Page 292



7 
 

 
 

Page 293



8 
 

ANNEX C – Consultation flyer 

 

Page 294



 

9 
 

P
age 295



 

10 
 Page 296



 

11 
 

ANNEX D – Consultation poster 

Page 297



 

12 
 

ANNEX E – Webpage 

 
 

Page 298



 

13 
 Page 299



 

14 
 

 

P
age 300



 

1 
 

 
 
 
 

Salford City Council 
 
 
 

Roe Green / Beesley Green Conservation Area Appraisal 
 
 
 

Consultation Statement  
Annex F 

 
 

Schedule of Representations 2016 
  
 

P
age 301



 

2 
 

 
 
 
ANNEX F – Schedule of representations 
 
Representations received during the consultation period 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

001 Historic England Thank you for consulting Historic England on the Roe Green/Beesley Green Conservation Area 
Appraisal. Historic England is not a statutory consultee for such appraisals and on this occasion 
we have no comment to make. Please be aware of the requirement to notify Historic England if a 
boundary amendment arises from the re-appraisal process and the requirement to publish any 
conservation area designations, variations or cancellations in the London Gazette and a local 
news paper circulating in your local authority area (S70(8)) 
 

002 Ken Lowndes 1 I require to know under the freedom of information act which officer has formulated this 
ridiculous proposal.  
2 What input have Peel Holdings had to this proposal? They have proposed developing the area 
around the Cricket Club. 
3 The proposed removal of the West block of land from the Worsley woods area will leave the 
larger area bounded by Worsley Woods open to development. 
4 Worsley Woods was bought by PUBLIC subscription, and was decimated by the motorway with 
the promise to replace the trees removed for the motorway. 
This promise was never fulfilled. 
5 The proposal to approximately include one half hectare of developed land to compensate for the 
loss of over two hectares of Conservation Area is ludicrous. 
 

002A Ken Lowndes Having played in the Woods in my youth and later walked through Worsley Woods for a 
considerable number of years. I consider that the rather stupid statement in the proposals that 
states “the removal of the field from the conservation area on the right hand side two hundred 
yards from the Beesley Green entrance to the Woods would not affect any aspect of the Woods”. 
The area in question is shown as red on the West of the Conservation Area Plan. 
 
This open plot of agricultural land gives an open aspect to this part of the Woods, which is 

P
age 302



 

3 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

sparsely populated by woodland. The appraisal report has rightly given weight to the open aspect 
and sight lines in the Conservation Area. 
 
The open land sight lines across this field ameliorate the view to the rear of the houses on 
Crossfield Drive. 
 
Worsley Woods is the only feature of its kind in the Salford area and “my Council” have done very 
little to improve and expand it since it was donated by the residents of the Worsley area to “my 
Council” for the enjoyment of all the community. 
 
Worsley Woods suffered a catastrophic wound when the motorway was driven through with the 
promise given by the Council, it may have been the DOT who stated that the woods would be 
improved; nothing has been done to forfill this promise. 
 
I am strongly against attempts by anybody to further destroy the views around our Woods and 
lessen the enjoyment of a walk through the only area of its kind in Salford.  
 
In the vicinity of this area is one of the oldest and some of the most historically important buildings 
in the Salford area. 
 

004 Chris Wells Your extensive narrative captures the beauty and unique nature of the area. However, your final 
suggestions jar with the rest of the contents.  
 
I would strongly urge that you keep the whole area as it is without reducing the conservation area 
at all. 
 
This looks to me an entry into building dense new houses for profit. This is not a suitable place, 
and it is not even a good time to do this.  
 
Further building in the area will lead to deterioration of the ethos and value of the surrounding 
housing, and a loss of quality to all. 
 

005 Liezel Griffin I wish to strongly object to your proposal to change the conservation area around Roe Green, 

P
age 303



 

4 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

particularly the land behind Crossfield Drive (which is currently protected from development). 
 
It is clear to me that property developers wish to build houses on this site. This would be 
completely inappropriate. The Crossfield Drive/Beesley Green area is of high local importance, in 
part due to its proximity directly next to Worsley Woods. 
 
There are very few green spaces for families in Salford to use their leisure time; Worsley Woods 
and the land adjacent should be protected.  
 
Any development would destroy the natural beauty of the locality to the detriment of local 
residents and visitors alike. Many, many people enjoy Beesley Green and the woods as a 
beautiful green space.  
 
I do not understand why you would consider this for short term financial gain, surely you should 
be protecting the woods and surrounding areas for future generations to enjoy. 
 
If you allowed the conservation area to change, you would be opening the doors to developers. 
Allowing the field behind Crossfield Drive to be removed from the conservation area would be a 
disaster for the locality. 
 
A housing development would destroy the character of the area. You would also be adding to the 
horrendous traffic, which is already unmanageable at peak times. Not only that, there would be 
the noise pollution and traffic from construction vehicles which would make the woods and 
Beesley Green unusable. The area would not be safe for our children, who have very few open 
spaces to use. 
 
The view from the woods/Beesley Green across the stream to the rear of Crossfield Drive is 
unique and adds to the value of our neighbourhood. 
 
Air pollution levels are unacceptable already - you should be preserving what little open space we 
have left. 
 
Roe Green, Beesley Green and the woods are a unique asset to the city of Salford - please do not 

P
age 304



 

5 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

let us lose it. Please do not change the conservation area. 
 

005A Liezel Griffin I previously wrote to you in February regarding the proposed reducing of the Roe Green/Beesley 
Green conservation area. 
 
Since then I have attended the Council drop-in event at Beesley Green Community Centre and 
spoken to your colleagues. 
 
I would like to revise my objection in light of this, to ask very strongly that you extend the 
boundary of the conservation area to include all of the field behind Crossfield Drive. This also lies 
adjacent to the woods and contributes to the character of the area. Including it would also help to 
protect the local area from development, which none of the local residents want to happen. 
 
Salford is full of Brown field sites which would be suitable for new housing developments - this 
would enhance these sites, add value to the city and improve rather than destroy the particular 
area. 
 

006 Paul Burgess Thank you for the information that has been provided in the last few days relating to the above. In 
particular, the online Appraisal is comprehensive and professional and will eventually provide a 
landmark document for the area and its residents. 
 
However, as a resident on Crossfield Drive, I can advise you that from the reaction of my 
neighbours at this early stage, there will be a great deal of consternation in relation to the 
proposed removal of the top field from the Conservation Area.  I see from the Appraisal the stages 
of the rationale that reached this conclusion, but I believe the rationale to be seriously flawed for 
reasons I will elaborate in due course. 
 
In addition I have to say that the proposal comes at the worst possible time for it to be received by 
residents. You may not know that Peel Holdings recently bought 14 Crossfield Drive, which is 
adjacent to the southern boundary of the field. The property has the largest width on Crossfield 
Drive and would supply Peel with the best access to the field/fields should they seek to develop 
them.  Hence rumour is rife that this is Peel’s intentions.   
 

P
age 305



 

6 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

Unfortunately, the co-incidence of the Appraisal’s proposal and the purchase by Peel is 
suggesting to residents that it is the result of collaboration by the Council’s Officers and Peel 
Holdings. That an unexpected and seemingly unimportant Appraisal has been undertaken at a 
time when the Council’s financial position is dire due to reductions in Government funding, when 
only the highest priorities are surviving cutbacks, only serves to confirm residents’ suspicions. The 
circumstantial evidence is compelling, and I have every sympathy with my neighbours.  But as a 
former Local Government Officer this is not my starting point.  
 
The degree of research and detail in the Appraisal is impressive. So I am surprised to find no 
reference in the document to the special status of Worsley Woods. Is this an oversight? The full 
historical background is provided in my submission to the Council in support of the designation of 
the Crossfield Drive fields as Local Green Space, which the Council has adopted and included in 
the proposed Local Plan.   
 
In a nutshell, the local community raised over £3,000 in 1950 and bought Worsley Woods from 
Bridgewater Estates. The Woods were officially opened to the public in 1951 in a ceremony in the 
Woods attended by several hundred local residents with both Lord Mayors and the Civic Leaders 
on the temporary platform (I have the extraordinary photograph).  In 1953 the Woods were 
transferred in Trust to Worsley Urban District Council and Swinton and Pendlebury Urban District 
Council - I have a copy of the Deed of Transfer - and hence to Salford on reorganisation in 1974.  
In other words, it was, and is, a big deal that Worsley Woods are safeguarded in perpetuity as far 
as is possible.  And it is also to be emphasised, therefore, that the Council is the Trustee. 
 
As the Appraisal records, the Roe Green/Beesley Green Conservation Area was established by 
Lancashire County Council in 1970. Noticeably, the Appraisal remarks that it is “unclear” why the 
field was included in the Conservation Area by the County Council.  On the contrary, there is no 
reason to assume that the County Council did not have full knowledge of the heritage status of 
Worsley Woods when it included the whole of the woodlands in the Conservation Area.  
 
The field in question, in fact, clearly nestles next to the narrowest part of the Woods, south east of 
Kempnough Hall, and at the entrance due south of Beesley Hall, as you progress down the 
pathway from Beesley Green alongside the brook into the main body of the woodlands.  By 
including it in the Conservation Area the County Council was quite clearly seeking to ensure the 

P
age 306



 

7 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

preservation of this critical, westerly open aspect of the narrowest section of woodland, not least 
because it was bounded across the field by extant houses built on Crossfield Drive in 1936.  
 
The decision of the County Council is still absolutely valid therefore, in spite of poor woodland 
husbandry, and to answer the question posed by the closing section of the Appraisal, this part of 
the Conservation Area, namely the field, positively contributes to the character and appearance of 
Worsley Woods which is itself an indispensable part of the Roe Green/Beesley Green 
Conservation Area. 
 

006A Paul Burgess I was pleased to have had the opportunity to meet yourself and your colleague at the Consultation 
event.  I promised a copy of the picture of the official opening of Worsley Woods to the public in 
1951, following the purchase of the Woods by the local community the year before.  The full 
account of this remarkable venture is in my submission and I hope it persuades you that Worsley 
Woods not only has a considerable heritage status, but also that the City Council as Trustee 
should be actively seeking to preserve its rural character - which is secured by the open aspects 
provided by the fields on both the east and west.   
 
Furthermore, as the Woods are in the Conservation Area your map in Appendix 12 is inadequate 
in that it identifies views from the built area into the Woods but fails to appreciate the views 
outwards from the Woods, and inwards from the open fields.  The County Council established the 
Conservation Area in 1970 which is only 19 years before this picture was taken. LCC included the 
Woods in the Conservation Area and by including the field east of Crossfield Drive it seems clear 
(rather than ‘unclear’) that it had in mind its significance for the westerly aspects of the Woods.  
Conversely, it is unclear why the importance of the outlooks both from the rear of Beesley Hall 
and the front of Kempnough Hall is dismissed - on a fine day like today the open views 
unquestionably serve the heritage status of these two properties. 
 
A photograph of the public opening ceremony for Worsley Woods in 1951 was also submitted as 
part of this submission 
 

007 Susan Sollazzi I wish to object to the proposal to remove conservation area status from land in Roe Green and 
Beesley Green. Nothing has changed to justify an appraisal of these protected areas - they are as 
they always have been and as we wish them to remain. This land gives so much pleasure to 

P
age 307



 

8 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

people in Greater Manchester and provides a valuable wild habitat for flora and fauna. Please 
remember that people and wildlife need to breathe. 
 

008 Sarah Walton I refer to the consultation on the conservation area appraisal for the Roe Green/Beesley Green 
conservation area. 
 
I am supportive of the proposals to include Hardy Grove in the Roe Green/Beesley Green 
conservation area. 
 

009 Brian Gee Conservation Area Considerations 
 

 UK Government planning practice guidance states - “A Conservation area appraisal can be 
used to help local planning authorities develop a management plan and appropriate policies 
for the Local Plan. A good appraisal will consider what features make a positive or negative 
contribution to the significance of the conservation area, thereby identifying opportunities for 
beneficial change or the need for planning protection”. 

 

 The rationale for the Roe Green/Beesley Green Conservation area as set up in 1970 is stated 
in Section 3.1 of the appraisal as being:- 

      ”Roe Green was selected for conservation because its arrangement of open space and 
housing gives it the character of a village green, which together with the adjoining Beesley 
Green and undeveloped, and wooded land, comprises a well landscaped green area in marked 
contrast to the surrounding heavily developed areas of South East Lancashire.” 

 

 The current legislation in England and Wales, the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990(Section 69 and 70), defines the quality of a Conservation area as being: "the 
character or appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance". 

 

 In Conservation areas, it is the protection of the quality and special interest of the 
neighbourhood or area as a whole that is intended. 

 
Comments on the Proposed Boundary Changes 
 

P
age 308

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Planning_(Listed_Buildings_and_Conservation_Areas)_Act_1990
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Planning_(Listed_Buildings_and_Conservation_Areas)_Act_1990


 

9 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

Taking into account the above Conservation area considerations, I make the following comments 
on the proposed boundary changes contained in Section 7 of the appraisal:- 
 
1. Land proposed to be removed from the conservation area 

The Conservation area boundary should NOT be reduced for the following reasons:- 
 
a) The 1970 plan seems to be one of conservation of the Green land comprising the 

environs of Roe Green/Beesley Green to protect what remained following the motorway 
construction which had devastated the area. 

 
b) It is stated in Section 2.9 of the appraisal that Salford Council's planning policy CH3 

identifies that any development within Conservation areas will only be permitted where 
it would preserve or enhance the character or appearance of the Conservation area.   

 
c) If this is so, then any area of land where approved building work has been carried out 

within the conservation area must remain within the Conservation area boundary and 
not be removed, as the work would not have been approved unless it complied with the 
above policy. 

Accordingly the proposed removal of the following areas should be DENIED:- 

 6,8,10 & 12 Wardley Hall Lane 

 3,5 & 7 Mulgrave Road 

 2 & 4 Mulgrave Road 

 6a Lyon Grove 
 
a) Turning to 1 to 74 Manthorpe Avenue, the proposed removal should also be DENIED for the 

same reason as in 1.c) above. In addition, despite the comment in the review that “the design 
of the estate does not respect the character of the conservation area” but “does not detract 
from its character”, it would be wrong to remove this area of land from the Conservation area 
just because planning approval had apparently been wrongly given.  This would just 
compound the apparent error. Rather it should remain within the Conservation area to ensure 
it retains a protected status for the future and in particular to protect the area from any 
subsequent development plans. 

 

P
age 309



 

10 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

b) Following on from this Manthorpe Avenue retention, then the removal of the Triangle of 
woodland to the north east of Manthorpe Avenue should also be DENIED and it should 
be retained within the Conservation area, as this is an integral part of the land boundary 
in this section of the Conservation area. 

 
c) The house at 66 Greenleach Lane is again part of the land boundary in this part of the 

Conservation area and as a 1920 building, it should remain within the boundary as 
demonstrating another phase of the development history of Roe Green and its removal 
should be DENIED. 

 
d) The removal of Land east of Crossfield Drive should most definitely be DENIED for the 

following reasons:- 

 Section 6.46 and 6.47 of the appraisal make the following comments regarding Green 
spaces within the Conservation area “The Conservation area's green spaces are intrinsic to 
its character and a major component of its special interest “; “There are a wide a (sic) range 
of green spaces across the area which make a positive contribution to its character and 
appearance. These include spaces that are public spaces, and those that are privately 
owned and which may have no public access.”  
This is exactly the situation with regards to this area of land as it maintains a Green space 
area between Worsley woods and an area of developed housing on Crossfield Drive.  It is 
a section of land which links the frontage of the Grade II listed Kempnough Hall to Worsley 
woods and is land abutting the course of Kempnough Brook thereby forming part of a 
protected extended boundary for the length of Kempnough Brook. 
Hence this area of land makes a positive contribution to the character and appearance of 
the Conservation area. 
As stated in Section 6.16 of the appraisal “The semi-rural character of this area, with its 
expanse of open land fringed by woodland, makes a major contribution to the character of 
the conservation area as a whole. The open nature of this area is central to retaining the 
form of Roe Green and Beesley Green as a distinct village surrounded by open land.” 

 

 There is a threat to the Conservation area from development by landowner(s). The 
appraisal states in Section 6.73 that “as part of the plans published in 2012 the landowner 
made clear their aspiration to develop this land for housing. In addition, there are known 

P
age 310



 

11 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

development aspirations for the triangle of land to the north of Lumber Lane” to which I 
shall refer later in my comments (2.b) on additional land to be included in the Conservation 
area. This incursion into Green Belt land should be resisted and objections not weakened 
by the removal of the land from a Conservation area. 

 
     2.  Additional land proposed to be included within the conservation area 

The extension of the Conservation area boundary should be APPROVED for the following 
areas for the following reasons:- 
 

a) 69 & 71 Lumber Lane, and 2-9 Hardy Grove – I agree with the inclusion of this area for the 
reasons as stated in Section 7.2 of the appraisal. 
 
b) Triangle of land to the north of Lumber Lane - This should be included within the 
Conservation area boundary.  Section 6.73 of the appraisal states “there are known development 
aspirations for the triangle of land to the north of Lumber Lane which lies just outside the 
conservation area boundary. A potential access point to this land would be via Hardy Grove 
subject to the construction of a road bridge over the loopline.”   
As Hardy Grove would be in the Conservation area as in 2.a) above, it would seem appropriate to 
also include this area of land to resist any potential incursion into the Green Belt land and to 
strengthen the Roe Green/ Beesley Green Conservation area by enhancing its rural character. 
 
c) 8 to 22 Lyon Grove (even numbers) – This Victorian terrace of 8 houses likely to date from 
the 1870's appears to have been omitted from inclusion in the 1970's plan.  It is the only property 
of this age which is not included in the Conservation area of Roe Green. This is despite its 
involvement in the history in the evolution of housing in this area around Roe Green, seemingly 
being built around the same period as 64-70 Roe Green referred to in Section 6.31 of the 
appraisal. This terrace extends the housing development in this area of Roe Green from the 
cottages of 2, 4 & 6 Lyon Grove, which are within the Conservation area.   
For the sake of enhancing the completeness of housing history and development of Roe Green, 
this terrace row should also be brought within the Conservation area boundary. 
 
In summary, the Roe Green/ Beesley Green area has increasingly become subsumed within the 
wider conurbation of Greater Manchester as mentioned in Section 1.15 of the appraisal. 

P
age 311



 

12 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

 
This gradual urban creep needs to be held back and heritage assets within Salford should be 
protected.  The 1970's Conservation area has been a first step in this direction since the period of 
control by the Bridgewater Trust and the 1970's effort should not be undermined by any dilution of 
this Conservation area – rather the boundary set out then should be retained and enhanced. 
 
If the Los Angeles Police Department motto is “to protect and to serve”, then the motto of the 
Salford Council Planning Department should be “to protect and to conserve”. 
 
I trust you will take the above comments into consideration when finalising the Conservation area 
boundary revision. 
 

010 Ramblers Association We have no objection to the scheme as such. I do note that there are a number of Public Rights 
of Way (PROWs) within the conservation area boundary shown on Map 10. Presumably the 
appraisal will have no adverse impact on these PROWs? Perhaps they will even enjoy greater 
protection? If that were the case, the Ramblers' Association would welcome the appraisal. 
 

011 Ross Sollazzi I wish to make some very serious comments about the Roe Green / Beesley Green conservation 
area appraisal.  
 
Let me start with why I don’t believe there should be any changes to the conservation status of 
the land behind Beesley Green:  
 
This is one of the most beautiful parts of Salford, the entrance to the woods is truly stunning and 
set in a picturesque listed building area. I used to get out of my house and walk down to this spot, 
just look at it and breathe. It is a source of joy and relaxation. As a father, I often take my children 
for walks here and they love it too. It’s one of the few green areas that people can do this in 
Salford and to remove its conservation status would be madness.  
 
Now, were that not enough, let me move on to my more serious point which is one of health and 
safety. We know that UK air pollution is linked to 40,000 deaths per year in the UK( to put that in 
perspective that’s about a quarter as many people die from cancer). We also know that air 
pollution in this area is already dangerously high and the area is designated an Air Quality 

P
age 312



 

13 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

Management Area. So that’s means the people here are already at higher than normal and 
unacceptable risk. Despite this we are having discussion to remove conservation status which will 
lead to development, more houses, more cars, more standing traffic, more air pollution and more 
deaths. You might not look into the faces of the people who die as a direct result of the wrong 
decision on this, but that doesn’t mean making it won’t be a decision to kill people. If anyone is 
happy with that, I’d ask them to consider how happy they are knowing that there is a large primary 
school right in the middle of this.  
 
Those are my comments, but I’d also like a response I would like to know how it is possible given 
the health and safety issues that Salford council is even considering making decisions that will 
undoubtedly cost human lives. I’d like to add to my previous comments. Here is a picture taken 
from the entrance to Worsley woods. Behind the trees you can see nothing but fields. It's a 
wonderful and rare oasis of tranquility, you could be a million miles from the city. It's just 
wonderful. Develop the fields behind those trees and the whole place and is wonder will be utterly 
ruined for the many families that enjoy it every day.  
 
A photograph of the area was also submitted as part of this submission 
 

012 Mei-Ying Huang-Sollazzi I would like to comment that I completely agree with my husband's points in the email he sent to 
you. I am disgusted that this matter is being debated, as it shows an utter lack of respect for the 
health of my family. 
 
Same representation as 011 above. 
 

018 A and R Steven I refer to the proposal in above document that the field described as east of Crossfield Drive 
should be removed from the Conservation Area. I wish to register my opposition to this proposal. 
 
The Roe Green/Beesley Green Conservation includes the whole of Worsley Woods, which the 
Council holds in Trust for the local community. To use your own words, any objective assessment 
of the ' positive contribution' that the surrounding fields make to the 'character and appearance' of 
Worsley Woods can only conclude that they are fundamental, not only to its character and 
appearance, but to that also of the whole of the Conservation Area. In reality, far from removing 
the top field, both of the fields bounding the south west aspect of the Woods should be included in 

P
age 313



 

14 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

the Conservation Area. 
 
We were aware Peel Holdings recently purchased 14 Crossfield Drive (which had not been on the 
residential market to our knowledge) and were highly suspicious that proposed changes would 
follow. 
 
The previous reasons for opposition to any housing development still apply, traffic congestion, 
lack of capacity in infrastructure, pollution etc. Therefore to change conservation boundaries at 
this time not only ill-timed but totally unacceptable to local residents. 
 

026 Natalie Kennedy I refer to the proposal in the above document that the field described as east of Crossfield Drive 
should be removed from the conservation area and therefore wish to register my opposition to this 
proposal. 
 
I have recently purchased a property on Kempnough Hall Road and deeply disappointed to hear 
that Salford City Council are considering lifting the land behind both Crossfield Drive and 
Kempnough Hall Road as a conservation area.  
 
I am concerned that this information was not available at the time of purchase (December 2015) 
and was not picked up in the local searches.  
 
I purchased the property due to the quiet location and privacy due to the fact the road is closed at 
Crossfield Drive. Should the area no longer be held under the conservation area Peel Holdings 
will no doubt request planning permission to use the site for a housing development. They have 
previously made it clear they would require our road  (Kempnough Hall Road) to be opened which 
will ruin the character and appearance of the area. Not only will the area that I have recently 
moved to be spoilt but my investment in the area will also be devalued. 
 

028 B and P Sutherland We refer to the proposal in the above document that the field described as east of Crossfield 
Drive should be removed from the Conservation Area. 
 
We wish to register our opposition to this proposal. 
 

P
age 314



 

15 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

The Roe Green/Beesley Green Conservation includes the whole of Worsley Woods, which the 
Council holds in Trust for the local community. We understand that any objective assessment of 
the 'positive contribution' that the surrounding fields make to the 'character and appearance' of 
Worsley Woods can only conclude that they are fundamental, not only to its character and 
appearance, but to that also of the whole of the Conservation Area. 
 
We are aware that the field is owned by Peel Holdings and that you are aware of their plans to 
use it for a housing development. These plans have been consistently opposed by the local 
community. 
 
We understand that recently Peel Holdings purchased 14 Crossfield Drive, a large fronted 
property which is adjacent to the field, and which could provide access to the field for 
development purposes.  
 
The proposal therefore to remove the field's protective designation, by it's exclusion from the 
Conservation Area, is undesirable. 
 
At present there are major problems with traffic congestion on Walkden Road down to the slip 
roads to the M60 and M602. Also prior to and after the school day, traffic to and from St. Mark's C 
of E Primary School has a great affect on access to Woodlands Road, Aviary Road and those 
connecting to them. 
 
If the field was removed from the Conservation Area and Peel Holdings did build a housing estate, 
this would increase the congestion and have a marked impact on the local community. 
 

032 Kirsty Minshall I would like to register my opposition to the proposal regarding the above document which is 
describing the field directly behind my property. 
 
I really do not understand what positives can come from this modification to the conservation area 
and I may not be as strongly opposed if i did. I believe the reverse to be true and by actually 
including the field next to it, further up Crossfield drive would make a far greater 'positive 
contribution' to the Worsley area. 
 

P
age 315



 

16 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

I am fully aware that Peel Holdings own this land along with the large plot next door to me, and 
am also aware of their desire to build new properties. 
 
I was brought up in this house from being 6 years old. For as long as I can realistically remember 
(after the Peel purchase) there has always been some sort of development being proposed on the 
fields behind us. Thirty eight years on this is still the case and there remains strong opposition. 
 
As a child, my friends and I played in these fields and by the stream for hours and have many 
many happy memories. I have recently purchased my family home and have two young boys who 
also love playing down by the stream and will also forge many happy memories there too. 
 
By removing this field from the conservation area makes it much easier for development to take 
place making it far more dangerous in terms of traffic, and far less fun for not only my children, but 
many children within this area. 
 

033 Michael Stephens As a resident of Walkden Road Worsley, I would like to object to the removal of the conservation 
area that protects part of Roe Green and Beesley Green that is currently being consulted on with 
a draft appraisal.  
 
Myself and my family often use the woods for recreation in particular - walking. 
 
Any change would be a change for the worse, not only when changes (new housing) are 
established but the disruption before establishment, is unwelcome. Especially in an area that has 
just been through 12 months of traffic connection due to A580 guided busway. Please add this 
email to the volumes of OBJECTIONS THAT YOU WILL RECEIVE 
 

035 Nuala Rabbitt I am writing to express my concern about plans by Peel Holdings to remove the field at the top of 
Kempnough Hall Road from the conservation area. The conservation area was established in 
1970 by Lancashire County Council. All the fields in this area around Worsley Woods are crucial 
in giving Worsley its rural charm and should not be used for housing. 
 

037 Joseph Rabbitt I refer to the proposal in the above document that the field described as east of Crossfield Drive 
should be removed from the Conservation Area. I wish to register my opposition to this proposal. 

P
age 316



 

17 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

 
The Roe Green/Beesley Green Conservation includes the whole of Worsley Woods which the 
Council holds in Trust for the local community. To use your own words any objective assessment 
of the “positive contribution” that the surrounding fields make to the “character and appearance” of 
Worsley Woods can only conclude that they are fundamental, not only to its character and 
appearance but to that also of the whole of the Conservation Area. In reality, far from removing 
the top field, both of the fields bounding the south west aspect of the Woods should be included in 
the Conservation Area. 
 
As you know, the field is owned by Peel Holdings and you also know that for some time they have 
have had plans to use it for housing development which has been consistently strongly opposed 
by the local community. Recently Peel Holdings purchased 14 Crossfield Drive, a large fronted 
property which is adjacent to the field and which could provide access to the field for development 
purposes. This proposal therefore to remove the protective designation from the field which 
inclusion in the Conservation Area brings is, to say the least, particularly ill timed. 
 

061 Paula Binns I refer to the proposal in the above document that the field described as east of Crossfield Drive 
should be removed from the Conservation Area. I wish to register my opposition to that proposal. 
Far from taking out green areas surrounding Worsley Woods, I strongly believe that more land 
further south and west of the Woods should be included in the Conservation Area. 
 
It is vital for the existence of such woodland that corridors of undeveloped land be maintained to 
allow for natural run-off of rainwater to the woodland and to prevent any loss of natural sunlight. In 
addition to the great benefits that plant life gains from the above, it also provides a vital “buffer 
zone” for all the wildlife that exists within the area. 
 
Without this clear area surrounding the woods (that are held in Trust by the Council for the benefit 
of the local community) the fundamental well being of the woods and therefore its great character 
and appearance would inevitably be eroded. 
 
The original intention of conserving this area back in 1970 was not, I am sure, to see a decline to 
a couple of tree lined footpaths passing through a built up area. This must not be allowed to 
happen. 

P
age 317



 

18 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

 
I understand that the owners of the land have recently purchased a property on Crossfield Drive 
that adjoins this particular field. This gives them the opportunity to create additional access to the 
land which might otherwise be a problem for development of the site. To also take the land out of 
the Conservation Area almost seems like giving the green flag for development. 
 
I urge you to drop the proposal to take this field out of the Conservation Area to protect this 
valuable part of Worsley. 
 

062 Nicholas Binns Same representation as 061 above. 
 

065 Worsley Woods Action Group At the AGM of Worsley Woods Action Group proposed changes to the Roe Green Conservation 
Area were discussed and it was unanimously resolved to respond as an organisation to oppose 
the proposals.  
 
Specifically, we oppose the removal of the field at Kempnough on the grounds: 

 The field is part of an area of extensive historical significance. It lies close to Kempnough 

Hall, which is Grade II listed. Recent archaeological work has discovered that the 

Kempnough estate was founded in the thirteenth century, at the latest. Through its 

interesting history the hall has played a significant role in the local community. 

Neighbouring development would impact on its current setting. 

 The field lies just a few yards from Beesley Hall and is directly in view from the hall. This is 

listed as a building making a positive contribution to the area and would be affected by any 

change to the field. Beesley Green and Kempnough Brook is recorded as being an Area of 

Character in the area. 

 Our primary objection to the removal of the field from the conservation area is the effect on 

Worsley Woods. The woods are very narrow in this area: just a narrow path, with the 

stream alongside. The field at this point acts as a wildlife corridor and is assisted by the 

mature hedgerow. Any change to the field in this area would have a strong negative impact 

to the woods, especially as the field is higher than the path and stream and dominates the 

area. This is very noticeable during winter months when trees are without leaves. The 

P
age 318



 

19 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

Beesley Green entrance to the woods is the most heavily used by the public, due to the 

ease of parking on Beesley Green. There has been a big increase in visitors over recent 

years from all across the area, not just Roe Green. These include dog walkers, joggers, 

families, nature enthusiasts, orienteers, school groups, fitness walkers etc. There would be 

a decline in the value of the woods at this point if there is any change to the field.  

We would be happy to discuss matter further with council officers. 
 

066 Richard Cornthwaite My wife and I have resided in Worsley for over 20 years. 
 
I wish to register my opposition to the proposal to remove a field described as east of Crossfield 
Drive, Worsley from the conservation area. 
 
The roe green/beesley green conservation includes the whole of worsley woods which the council 
owns in trust for the local community. 
 
The surrounding fields are integral to the character and appearance of the whole conservation 
area. 
 
I am aware that the field in question is owned by peel holdings and that company, despite local 
community objections, is seeking to develop it for housing. 
 
The timing of peel holdings purchase of 14 Crossfield Drive, (which can be only for the sole 
purpose of giving additional access to the field for development purpose) is transparent. 
 
The proposal clearly is a precursor to a planning application. 
 
The loss of the field and the impact of more housing in that part of worsley will have a detrimental 
effect on persons enjoying the amenity of the woods. 
 
Additionally any further housing would add the all ready bad congestion on Walkden Road. 
 

081 G and J Clay My husband and I wish to object to the proposal to remove the field east of Crossfield Drive from 

P
age 319



 

20 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

the Draft Appraisal of Roe Green/Beesley Green Conservation Area. 
 
The whole of Worsley Woods was bought by the local residents, is owned by them and held in 
trust by the Council. The surrounding fields add to the character and appearance of the area and 
are the lungs to help with pollution from the motorway. The air quality already is very poor and to 
take this field out of the conservation area would not help the already polluted atmosphere. There 
seems to be an ulterior motive for this “appraisal” as Peel Holdings are eager to take all green 
areas (the few we have left) and fill them to capacity with more houses. 
 
This would lead to far less quality of life, movement and open recreation. A terrible legacy for our 
children. We object strongly to the proposal. 
 

082 Paul Acheson I note that there is a current appraisal/review of some land to be taken out of the Worsley 
conservation area. I wish to object to this proposal, in fact I would like MORE land to be included 
within the Conservation area!! It seems to me that there is a constant attack on land both within 
and outside the conservation area. This attack, mainly led by the Peel holding group, has the sole 
purpose of development with housing and 'making money' for their shareholders. There is never 
any consideration for 'Quality of life' for the residents. 
 
This morning 1st March, as it was raining I was asked by my eldest daughter if I could take her to 
catch a train from the Walkden station into Manchester. I drove from Roe Green to the Walkden 
Station, which took 7 minutes,, However, on my return journey was 30 minutes, ( a distance of 1.2 
miles), due to the stop start traffic on all highways back to Roe Green. This constant development 
of housing gives no consideration to the grid locked road infrastructure that we are already 
enduring. More housing, more cars, more schools, more traffic. This has a health consequence 
for the residents, with noise, air pollution (which the Government is already missing their targets 
on) and stress, as there were many impatient drivers noted this morning as they tried to get down 
to the Courthouse roundabouts. It seems like the only way to stop any more development is to 
voice ones concerns, which is now what I am doing by objecting to the removal of any land from 
the Conservation area currently in place. 
 

083 Councilor C Clarkson Following consideration of the proposed alterations to the Roe Green Conservation area and 
taking into account a high volume of representations from local residents in the Roe Green / 

P
age 320



 

21 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

Beesley Green area I am making this submission to the Council’s consultation.  

I would like to record my opposition to the plans, specifically the removal of the field at 
Kempnough.  

My principal objection to the removal of the field from the conservation area is the overarching 
impact on Worsley Woods.  

This part of the woods consists of a narrow path and an adjacent stream. The field, assisted by 
established hedges therefore provides a natural channel for local wildlife.  

Any alteration to the field in this area would have an adverse effect on the woods, in particular as 
the field is at a higher level than the path and stream and is a focal feature of the area. This is 
particularly evident in the autumn/winter months as the local trees are deciduous.  

There has been a steady increase in visitors to the conservation area over recent years from 
across Salford and the area is an important shared asset for all Salfordians who use the woods 
for a range of activities including exercise, nature appreciation, orienteering and similar sports as 
well as school groups and local families and dog walkers. There would be a decline in the value of 
the woods at this point if there is any change to the field.  

It is worth noting that the Beesley Green entrance to the woods is the most heavily used by the 
public, due to the relative ease of parking on Beesley Green.  

The appraisal contains details of buildings making a positive contribution, one such site being 
Beesley Hall – the field is within view of the hall and lies just a few metres away.  

Removing the land from the conservation area would, in my view, have a detrimental effect.  
Beesley Green and Kempnough Brook are recorded as being an ‘Area of Character‘ within in the 
area.  

Lastly, the field is part of an area of great historical value and contributes to the rich and 
constantly unfolding story of the area. It lies close the Grade II listed Kempnough Hall; recent 

P
age 321



 

22 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

archaeological work has discovered that the Kempnough estate was founded in the 13 th century, 
or possibly earlier. Throughout its history the hall has played an important role in the local 
community.  
 
It is the prevailing view in the communication I have received that the removal of the site from the 
conservation area would open up the possibility that development could take place in a manner 
unsympathetic to the area’s overall character.  
 
I would be keen for officers to meet with Councillors, local residents and community groups to in 
conjunction with the current appraisal and take serious note of the feedback and concerns of the 
local community.  
 

085 David Ashworth I am writing to register my opposition to the proposal to amend the boundary to the conservation 
area at Roe Green / Beesley Green. 
 
I extremely disappointed to hear that Salford City Council are considering changing the land 
behind both Crossfield Drive and Kempnough Hall Road from a conservation area. I see no other 
reason why this land would be taken out of the conservation area unless it was for development 
reasons. I’m shocked that Salford council believe that this is a step in the right direction for the 
area, and I am astonished that they feel the need to develop on land currently listed as a 
conservation area. I’m sure the City of Salford has many areas more suitable for development 
other than a current conservation area. 
 
I am also concerned that local residents outside of the conservation area have not notified directly 
by Salford City Council of the intend changes propossed. 
 

086 Larry Merryweather I wish to refer to the appraisal which includes the proposed removal of the field described as east 
of Crossfields drive I wish to register my objections to this proposed removal. 
 
The conservation area including Worsley woods is held in trust by the council for the local 
community. If Salford council apprecates the value of this area,"their jewel in the crown" they 
should resist any attempt to reduce any conservation area,if fact the field on the south west side 
of the woods should be brought into the conservation area. 

P
age 322



 

23 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

 
It is well known that Peel holdings own most of the land around Worsley and are only interested in 
capitalising their assets what ever the cost. 
 
For once can Salford council look long term to create a city to be proud of. 
 

092 B Hope Regarding the proposal to move the field adjacent to Crossfield Drive from the Conservation Area. 
Surely this is the thin edge of the wedge as this field is part of Worsley Woods and building on this 
field would destroy the whole aspect of the Conservation Area. Therefore I strongly oppose this 
proposal and would be pleased if you would register and take note of my objection. 
 

098 JM Leach News has just reached me about the proposal to build on the field to the east side of Crossfield 
Drive. This has always been designated as a Conservation Area so I am writing to express my 
total opposition to any development which would destroy the peace and quiet of the area. Many 
people use the pathways in the adjoining woods which would be adversely affected by houses or 
any other buildings on the site. 
 

130 JE Marginson I refer to the proposal in the above document that the field described as east of Crossfield Drive 
should be removed from the Conservation Area. I wish to register my opposition to this proposal. 
 
The Roe Green/Beesley Green Conservation Area includes the whole of Worsley Woods which 
the Council holds in Trust for the local community who in 1950 raised over £3000 to purchase the 
woods from Bridgewater Estates. The character of the Beesley Green and Kempnough Brook is 
defined by its openness with large expanses of open land and woodland as points 6.12 – 6.16 in 
the appraisal document highlights. To then state on page 80 that the field in question makes 
limited contribution to the character or appearance of the conservation area is contradictory as all 
the members of the public who walk through Worsley Woods via Beesley Green will testify. The 
open aspect to the west of the woods adds a buffer to Beesley Green and the woods from 
housing being on its border. Also, it must be remembered that Kempnough Hall stands opposite 
this field. 
 
In the Conservation Area the woodland and surrounding fields do evoke the aspect of a semi-rural 
village which is a key component of the special interest of the conservation area (see section 6.53 

P
age 323



 

24 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

in the appraisal document). Therefore, it must be concluded that the surrounding fields to the west 
of the Conservation Area, abutting Crossfield Drive, make a positive contribution to the character 
and appearance of Worsley Woods and to the whole of the area in question. In reality, far from 
removing the top field, both of the fields bounding the west and south west aspect of the Woods 
should be included in the Conservation Area. 
 
As you are aware these fields are owned by Peel Holdings and you also know that for some time 
they have had plans to use it for housing development which has been consistently opposed by 
the local community. Recently Peel Holdings purchased 14 Crossfield Drive Worsley, a wide 
fronted property which is adjacent to the field and which could provide access to the field for 
development purposes. In my view it is imperative that Salford council keep the top field in the 
conservation area and also adopt the same status to the other field behind Crossfield Drive to try 
and maintain the openness around Beesley Green and Worsley Woods.  
 
Photographs of the area were also submitted as part of this submission.                     
                                                                        

139 L Goodall I am writing to you regarding the proposal to amend the conservation area boundary around the 
field east of Crossfield Drive. 
 
I am a resident of Crossfield Drive, so I have first hand-knowledge of how busy this thoroughfare 
is throughout the day. 
 
I am objecting to the field being removed from the conservation area on the following points: 

1. In the consultation file, page 80 “The enclosed nature of the land means that it makes 

limited contribution to the character or appearance of the conservation area” I beg to differ. 

If one strolls down the woodland path from Beesley Green towards The Warke, you have green 
open land of Roe Green Cricket Club on the left side. Whilst on the right hand side, at the present 
you have a wonderful view of an agricultural field. During the year, you can see how the field 
changes colour with the growth of the crop. The houses on Crossfield Drive are only just visable 
because of the contour of the land. 
 
If this field is taken out of the conservation area, that vista will irrevocably change if houses are 
allowed to be built on it. The view will be of 2 metre high garden fencing. 

P
age 324



 

25 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

 
2. Crossfield Drive is a main pedestrian thoroughfare for parents walking their children to 

school to and from St Mark’s school at the other end of Crossfield. During term times, they 

can be seen from approximately 8.45 am until 9.15am, then 11.45am to 12.15pm – 

collecting the children from morning nursery. Similar, another 30 minutes either side of 

taking the children to the afternoon session of nursery. Then from 3.15pm to 3.45pm when  

parents are collecting children to and from school. 

3. Crossfield Drive is not a wide road. Friday mornings at 7am when the council refuse lorry 

comes to empty bins, the driver has to reverse down the full length of the road as there is 

no turning circle. 

It should be noted that that is how most HGV delivery drivers access the lower end of Crossfield 
Drive. 
 

4. Peel Holdings are the owners of the field in question. They have recently purchased 

number 14. That property is now being rented out through the estate agents Briscombe 

Nutter. Prior to the tenants moving into the property workmen were at the property. . The 

workmen drove over the grass verge churning it up outside number 7 and 9 Crossfield 

Drive. 

My husband contacted the estate agents who provided him with their contact at Peel Holdings. My 
husband emailed that person on a number of occasions asking them to repair the grass verge. To 
date he has not received any reply or acknowledgement from Peel Holdings. So much for building 
good will with the neighbours. 
 

5. There is a housing development at present in Boothstown, namely Vicars Hall Drive. The 

developers agreed at the time of the planning consent to certain restrictions regarding 

accessing the development after the local school had started. Once work commenced, the 

developers reneged on the restrictions and there was little the council could do to enforce 

the restrictions. 

As I have stated in paragraph 2, Crossfield Drive is a pedestrian thoroughfare for most of the day 
with parents walking to and from school. The road is narrow and there is nowhere for lorries or 

P
age 325



 

26 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

contractors to park without causing traffic congestion on the street. 
 
I have noticed also that there are two oak trees either side of the driveway of number 14. These 
trees I believe are subject to preservation orders. I ask the following question: If the planning 
permission is granted on the field, then to make access to the site would one or both of the trees 
have to be cut down? 
 
If the field were to remain in the Conservation Area, then planning permission would not be 
raised. 
 

147 H Bertenshaw I wish to make my concerns known to you regarding the above appraisal. 
 
I have lived in the area for 50 years and the last 36 years within the conservation area in a 
property listed as making a positive contribution to the area. Over the years we have seen the 
quality of life within the conservation area eroded away. As you can appreciate we wish to retain 
all the benefits we can of this area. This present appraisal seems to be presenting the possibility 
of reducing the area further. A large portion of Worsley Woods was destroyed by the siting of the 
Motorway through the Woods and although the Woods remain it is impossible to escape from the 
noise of traffic and the accompanying pollution. To remove the green field at the rear of Crossfield 
Drive from the conservation area is a step too far. Open spaces need a buffer zone from 
buildings, and if this field is removed there can be no other result than that it will be built on. This 
area cannot cope with any more development because of the resultant extra traffic, noise, 
pollution and congestion. 
 
Salford needs open spaces within its boundaries for the benefit of all its residents and to consider 
removing one of the remaining green areas from the conservation area is totally unacceptable. 
The residents of this area take a pride in living here and work to enhance the area hence "The 
Friends of Roe Green". This is not just for the residents but also for the multitude of visitors who 
arrive each week to enjoy a walk along the many footpaths, walk their dogs, view the historic 
buildings, have a picnic or watch their children playing football on The Green, play in the Play 
Area or on the Adventure Area within the Woods. This area cannot cope with any further erosion 
and still remain as a place where people can visit and enjoy some respite from the hurly burly of 
life. 

P
age 326



 

27 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

 
I would respectfully ask you to reconsider any thought of removing another piece of land from the 
conservation area. 
 

148 Dr Frank Howell Grandfather lived on Roe Green in the 1880s. Built the chapel and other properties. Father and 
uncle were four years in the trenches in WW1. Father subscribed to the fund to buy Worsley 
Woods (now owned by Salford in Trust). Some years ago Peel wanted to build in the fields, 
including conservation field. Before that public inquiry they withdrew the conservation field from 
their building application. 
 
Since then stumps put in Crossfield to stop Walkden Road rat run. Great traffic problems on 
Walkden Road. 
 
Worsley Woods conservation areas are proudly hailed by Salford as a jewel. Any gemstone cut 
into smaller parts is less valuable than the whole. 
 
Even if practical, sacrificing the conservation area for all times is a poor exchange for any short 
term profit for Peel. I think it would sully their reputation and I hope that the City of Salford and 
Peel Estates will preserve the conservation. 
 

148A Dr Frank Howell I have lived in the district for over 80 years. My first school was at Beesley Green. My parents 
contributed to the fund which brought Worsley Woods and was then taken in “Trust” by the city of 
Salford. I am a life member of the Civic Trust and I am keenly interested in local events. 
 
I am well aware that many objections have been raised by other residents. However, I only intend 
to draw your attention to the Conservation Area (your map 1). 
 
My house is identified on your map 10 and makes a positive contribution to the area. I am 
dismayed to find that your map 14 proposes to withdraw the conservation status from that field – 
the given reason for that is somewhat dismissive. 
 
The field was awarded conservation protection in 1970.  
 

P
age 327



 

28 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

It must be that the eminent planners recognised the vital nature of the field. Events since 1970 
have confirmed their wisdom and the protection afforded by conservation status has deterred 
developers. In the last public inquiry the developers withdrew a request for building permission 
even before the inquiry began! (They also failed permission in other areas). 
 
The great amenity value of the Worsley woodlands route is that it is continuous from Beesley 
Green conservation areas to those in the Worsley conservation areas. The route is protected on 
both flanks by woodland and the open spaces free of development. 
 
The conservation field now under threat supports this continuity (map12 – field 8). Loss of 
conservation status would be a gift to developers. 
 
Reference to map 11 (character areas) coloured area 3 – clearly indicates the field area is a 
keystone in preserving continuity of the route. 
 
I consider the proposal to withdraw conservation status is quite unacceptable and should be 
withdrawn. 
 
A simple walk along the pathway to see the situation at present would assist in visualising the 
consequence of development. I do hope the matter can be resolved. 
 

152 Denise Wade I was born and bred on Roe Green. I now live in Culcheth but regularly visit to walk my dog 
through Beesley Green and Worsley Woods and the removal of this conservation area on your 
planning draft would spoil this. The removal would spoil the view for my favourite visit/walk and 
that of many others. This conservation area is a whole and should not be disintegrated. 
 
I had a privileged childhood being brought up on Roe Green, schooled at Beesley Green and I 
would like to leave this legacy for the children of this area. 
 
The Woods were bought by the residents of Worsley and nobody has the right to take our 
heritage from us. 
 

153 John Baines I enjoy the open space, number of trees and character of the buildings. The motorway noise 

P
age 328



 

29 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

detracts from the enjoyment but I believe the trees and new acoustic fencing being installed along 
the new smart motorway works will have an impact. 
 
I’m not happy with removing the area of Manthorpe from the boundary. There is green space with 
trees to the rear of this boundary, part of which forms my garden. I trust the council planning 
department. I believe that by removing these areas from the conservation area boundary will free 
up development under permitted development, that will have no regard for the remaining 
environment. 
 
I have development proposals for my own property, that I am happy to do with consultation with 
planning department as part of a conservation area. 
 

153A John Baines I have concern that the removal of any of the areas from the conservation area boundary will 
result in development that will not be in keeping with the character of the area. The fact that ANY 
development within a Conservation Area requires planning permission is a good thing. I have 
concern that permitted development rights can create a free for all and removes one hurdle that 
any considerate development would not object to. 
 
I believe that if the Manthorpe Estate is to be removed from within the Conservation Area 
Boundary, then the boundary line should be moved to the rear of these properties, not the line of 
the Kempnough Brook. 
 

155 Mark Fox I don’t understand if the protected area of woodland behind Mulgrave Road is protected by tree 
orders why it doesn’t stay in the conservation area. If you want the estate to not be subject to the 
red tape then just take the estate out. 
 

156 Vincent Scott 1. In your proposal par 7.2 you state the rationale for change is neutral. Leave the status quo as 

exists from 1970. 

2. If you must make a change, make the boundary outside the conifers at the rear of number 8 to 

assist the control of growth onto our properties. 

3. The land east of Crossfield Drive should be encompassed into Worsley Woods. 

P
age 329



 

30 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

157 Isla Gray  Beautiful open views from Worsley Woods. 

 Makes Worsley feel more rural rather than being so close to Manchester and becoming 

numerous patches of housing. 

 I feel it’s pointless and a waste of time and money. No one could give me a concrete reason 

for why to remove parts of the conservation area. Why now? What has changed since 1970’s 

when it was decided upon. 

 Surely we should be cherishing these places and not offering them off to Peel for houses 

 If the land isn’t important then make it into something integral for the community eg Roe Green 

and Beesley Green. 

 I still challenge someone to tell me why the council are putting resources into changing the 

conservation area now 

158 Dave Chapman I refer to the proposal in the above document that the field described as East of Crossfield Drive 
should be removed from the conservation area. I wish to register my opposition to this proposal. 
 

159 R and C Evans I have had a look at the proposed changes to the Roe Green / Beesley Green conservation area 
and I would like to pass my thoughts for the consultation group . I appreciate that at Manthorpe 
Avenue has already been developed and the removal of the conservation area would allow 
extensions etc to dwellings that have already been built . 
 
I would like to object to the proposed changes for the removal of the Fields at the rear of 
Crossfield Drive from the protected area. 
 
My objections are on the following grounds  
 
1, The area is one of outstanding natural beauty and I walk through the Worsley Woods and along 
the paths at the sides of the fields on a regular basis and I wish to preserve it for future 
generations . 
 
2 , The removal of those fields can only mean that it would be available for planning permissions 

P
age 330



 

31 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

to be applied for and the building of houses on the land. It would appear to me that there can be 
no other reason for it to be removed . This land is under the control of Peel Estates and it would 
appear that this action would be to their financial gain and to the loss of the local community .  
 
Would you please register our objection and let us know of any further meetings and or 
consultations as and when they are planned 
 

174 John Mosley Yesterday I had an opportunity to review the draft proposals to change the Roe Green and 
Beesley Green conservation area. 
 
This is a significant area of historical interest. It was formerly Common land that was surrounded 
by many Victorian buildings that were constructed to provide accommodation for the coal miners 
at the adjacent mines. 
 
Principally the conservation area encloses a substantial area of green land which is limited in 
Salford. I object to the proposal in the area appraisal to removing Area 8 on Map 12 from the 
conservation area, it is currently a green field. I believe that all our existing green field sites should 
be conserved. 
 

175 Paul Hassall I wish to respond to your invitation to comment on the proposed changes to the Roe Green 
Conservation area. Many thanks for the opportunity to do so and for the explanations provided on 
the Salford Council website and the event at Beesley Green on 2nd March. 
 
With regards to the field at Kempnough Hall I wish to OBJECT to the proposal to remove the field 
from the conservation area. The field has a strong historical significance, being very close to 
Kempnough Hall, which is one of the main heritage sites in the area. Removal of the field from the 
Conservation Area could seriously impact on Worsley Woods. The field adjoins the woods, which 
is very narrow at this point. The field is higher than the path and stream and dominates the 
surrounding area. The view of the field from the woods is integral to the woods. 
 
With regards to the Manthorpe area I am NEUTRAL about the removal of the area from the 
conservation area. I live opposite the area on Greenleach Lane and have a few observations. The 
area has historical significance and the brook was the site of a water mill. This was probably the 

P
age 331



 

32 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

village mill and may have been the mill for Wardley Hall. I cannot find any trace of the mill or other 
old buildings. The Toad Lane area is very old, but I cannot find any evidence of an offshoot of the 
nearby Roman Road as the area was probably built up using spoil from the construction of the 
railway. The map (submitted with the comments) clearly shows Mill House in this area and other 
interesting features. (The map is dated 1848 but shows the railway, which was constructed much 
later). The area is currently blighted by the M60 motorway and I am concerned by air quality in the 
area. Any removal of trees may have a negative impact on air quality and increase noise pollution. 
 
The few cottages off Lumber Lane are proposed to add to the Conservation area. I am NEUTRAL 
about this. The cottages are in an important area historically as they lie opposite Sisley Cottage. 
There is a link with the Tyldesley family and one house bears a blue plaque.  
 
Also submitted was the response from the AGM of Worsley Woods Action Group (see 
representation 065). 
 

176 Chris Hall This letter registers my opposition to the proposal, deviously inserted at the end of the brochure 
(doubtless complied at a cost of £000’s to the rate payer) which is clearly designed to draw the 
reader’s attention away from the totally unacceptable and cynical efforts of Salford City Council to 
remove the field east of Crossfield Drive from the conservation area. I have lived in the 
Walkden/Worsley area for 65 years and this is the first time I have objected to a council proposal. 
The Council appears intent on robbing the area of its remaining green/quiet spots that residents 
can look at and enjoy. 
 
The Roe Green/Beesley Green includes the whole of Worsley Woods (which has been devalued 
already by the motorway which can be seen and heard from the woods) which the Council is 
charged with holding in trust for the local community. In your own words any objective 
assessment of the “positive contribution” that the surrounding fields make to the “character and 
appearance” of Worsley Woods can only conclude that they are fundamental not only to its 
character and appearance, but to that also of the whole of the Conservation Area. In reality far 
from removing the top field, both of the field bounding the south west aspect of the woods should 
be included in the Conservation area. 
 
As you know the field is owned by Peel Holdings and you also know that for some time they have 

P
age 332



 

33 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

plans to use it for housing development which has been consistently opposed by the local 
community. Recently Peel Holdings purchased 14 Crossfield Drive, a large fronted property 
adjacent to the field and which could provide access to the field for development purposes. The 
proposal therefore to remove the protective designation from the field which inclusion in the 
Conservation Area it brings is, to say the least, particularly ill-timed. 
 
Additionally, the fact that you contend that there is no historical association between the land and 
the rest of the conservation area. This contention is worthless and carries no weight in the 
proposal to remove it from the conservation area. It is clear that the Council has no regard for the 
wishes of local residents who continue to be dismayed at the increasing urban sprawl in the area. 
Indeed there are new housing developments planned/in train at Hilton Lane, bottom of Broadway, 
near the walkway, Birch Road School, Walkden Technical College amongst others. The 
infrastructure in the area is inadequate. Local residents are very angry at the daily gridlock of all 
the roads to/from motorways and major roads. Our local MP has already picked on this issue. 
Clearly the Council is blind to the issue and in particular, you as “Spatial Planner” have little or no 
concept of the problem (or as is the Council’s way – “that is another department’s responsibility”). 
The guided busway and intelligent motorway will have no impact on the problem. The issue is 
clear – too much traffic arises from too many cars – too many cars arise from too many people in 
the area. 
 
I require both an acknowledgement of this letter confirming receipt and meaningful consideration 
of the points raised (not just the usual avoidance tactics adopted by the hoards of staff attending 
regular meetings/liaising with Peel Holdings to find ways to duck the issues. 
 

186 Pat Sugden I refer to the proposal in the above document that the field described as east of Crossfield Drive 
should be removed from the Conservation Area. I wish to register my opposition to this proposal. 
The Roe Green/Beesley Green Conservation includes the whole of Worsley Woods, which the 
Council holds in Trust for the local community. It is fundamental that the surrounding fields make 
a “positive contribution” to the “character and appearance” of Worsley Woods and also to the 
whole of the Conservation Area. 
 
As these fields are held in Trust for the whole community the Council can’t suddenly decide to 
alter the designation of the fields. 

P
age 333



 

34 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

 
To many people in the City of Salford these fields and woodlands are their only available green 
spaces. So they will benefit everyone not only Salford City’s main rate payers. 
 
Your possible action in removing this field is high handed, manipulative and money grabbing! 
 

187 David Sugden Same representation as 186 above. 
 

195 G McMahon You have proposed for the removal of several properties and groups which all sit on the edge of 
the conservation area, in many cases you state these houses are of “neutral contribution”. I 
propose that any property on the edge of conservation area would be better kept in the 
conservation area so that any potential planning to alter properties can be controlled to at least 
some extent and help ensure any alterations are in the keeping of the area. 
 
I agree with the extra properties you propose to be included in the conservation area off Lumber 
Lane. 
 
I strongly disagree with your proposal to remove land east of Crossfield Drive from the 
conservation area; this piece of agricultural land needs to stay within the protection of 
conservation area. On page 80 of the appraisal this piece of land described with complete 
unimportance as a “small area of agricultural land”. When reading the appraisal I was in complete 
disbelief that the fact the land borders Worsley Woods down the entire east side for a 
considerable distance is completely omitted from its description, this is undeniably misleading. 
Fundamentally the description in the appraisal gives this piece of rural land zero significance, I 
quote “(the land) gives) limited contribution to the character or appearance of the conservation 
area”. 
 
I protest that this piece of land adds significantly to the semi rural aspect of the area you mention 
on page 5 of the appraisal, and specifically Worsley Woods which the land borders and is a large 
part of the conservation area. As you enter and exit the woods from Roe Green the field comes 
into view and plays as much a part with the open land to the south and east of Roe Green Cricket 
Club in creating an open aspect and a buffer zone from roads and houses. The boundary of the 
field then follows the brook into the woods helping to create the tranquil wellbeing of open space, 

P
age 334



 

35 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

flanked to both sides by the open fields (one being the field in question); as you meander 
following the brook through the woodland the field creates the feeling of being deep in the 
countryside. 
 
I have attached several photographs that back up my view and may I suggest you use Google 
Earth to look at this area from above to see the importance this area of land contributes so much 
to the conservation area of Roe Green and Beesley Green. 
 
I have spoken to many people (locals and visitors) using the woods over the weekend and I have 
put to them your proposal to remove this field from the protection, not one person has agreed with 
you proposal. 
 
The people that I have spoken with came from all over the general area, Walkden, Swinton, 
Winton, Salford, Eccles, Worsley and Roe Green, many had walked to the woods and many 
families had travelled by car from further afield. Worsley Woods is a popular natural area that is 
visited by many Salford residents – all of whom were completely unaware of the council’s 
proposal. 
 
As the council are guardians of Worsley Woods it is important that the green spaces and fields 
that surround the woods are protected in their entirety and kept in their rural state as it is these 
green spaces and open fields that make the woods a special recreational area to be enjoyed by 
all. 
 
Section 7.1 on page 78 mentions that there is a case to expand the boundary, myself and many 
others propose all the agricultural land that borders the woods is included in the conservation area 
including the land that runs between the woods and Crossfield Drive; thus giving the woodland a 
protected boundary to all sides. This would ensure that the “rural feeling” that you state on page 5 
can be secured for future generations. 
 
A picture submitted to the consultation was taken from the entrance into the field that is discussed 
on page 80 and that you propose to remove from the conservation area looking east. 
As can be seen, the fence line that runs down the left hand side forms the border of Worsley 
Woods and the trees you can see in the picture, is the section of the woodland people walk 

P
age 335



 

36 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

through when entering or exiting the woods from Roe Green and thus both fields playing their part 
on both sides of the woodland in making this a special place. In the distance just look over the red 
circle, you can see to the other side of the woods this is the land you mention on page 71 and as 
it states (open land to south and east of Beesley Green affording open views) behind the cricket 
ground. The write up on page 80 mentions that there is a clear separation between this land and 
the open land to the south and east of Roe Green cricket ground. I do not see a clear separation 
of these two pieces of land, to me it looks like a continuation with the woods nestling in the valley 
of the field. Looking at the picture I feel it is clear to see the reason why this field is included in the 
conservation area. The persons that included this land, I am sure, were of a sound mind. 
 
If you were to stand in that open land behind the cricket ground or in the woods and look back 
towards the entrance into the field in question you could make the same statement (open views to 
the west and north) I am confident that you would agree with my statements. This picture shows 
in true light the rural feel and impact on the woods that this field contributes to the character and 
appearance of the conservation area and therefore should continue within the boundary. 
 
Photographs of the area were also submitted as part of this submission 
 

213 Mr and Mrs G Ogden It was quite a surprise to hear about the proposed alterations. The timing seems odd when money 
is so short. 
 
However, although often sceptical of the council’s motives, on this occasion we feel it is on our 
side. With the ever present threat of development, from Peel particularly, it simply needs to gauge 
and gather support of the local community. We understand and support the Council’s desire to 
protect our open green spaces. On this occasion there is much more at stake. Worsley Woods 
are a precious asset, brought by public subscription and highly valued by the local community and 
visitors. They should be demarcated and protected from any development by the open land which 
currently exists and rather than remove the protection of conservation area status, this should be 
extended behind Crossfield Drive south towards the motorway. We all know of the very poor air 
quality in Worsley. 
 
The particular area at risk of removal is doubly important because of its close proximity to the 
ancient halls of Beesley and Kempnough which form a significant part of our local history. 

P
age 336



 

37 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

We vehemently oppose its removal but support the inclusion of Hardy Grove which is also 
historically important with its connection to the famous Tyldesley brothers, JT and Ernest, who 
played cricket for Lancashire and England and both named cricketer of the year. 
 

229 R and C Bentley I would like to lodge a formal objection to the removal of the field at the top of Kempnough Hall 
Road from the Roe Green/Beesley Green Conservation area. The removal of the field from the 
conservation area would have a significant impact on the outlook from the walks in the woods and 
the wider surrounding area.  
 
The only reason that I can see for this change is to allow for planning proposaIs to be passed for 
development of housing on the land. I understand that Peel Holdings have been planning to build 
on this land for some time and have recently purchased no 14 Crossfield Drive with a view to 
gaining access to the site. As a local resident I would be strongly opposed to any development on 
this land, our green space is already limited and further development would not be welcome. The 
removal of the site from the Conservation area is therefore not welcome at this time. 
 
Recent planning decisions, such as the granting of 3 story townhouses on the Boatyard next to 
Worsley Green have shown that we cannot rely on the Council to preserve the character of the 
area when development is granted therefore the retention of the field within the Conservation area 
is strong recommended. 
 

230 David Ashton Referring to the proposed changes to the boundary of the conservation area I would comment as 
follows. 
 
I wholly support the inclusion of Hardy Grove into the conservation area due to the historic interest 
it has to the area. 
 
However it would appear that two houses 67 Lumber Lane and 1 Hardy Grove which form a pair 
of semi detached houses on the corner of Hardy Grove have been omitted from the proposal. 
As these formed part of the original Hardy Grove development I would suggest that these 
properties should be included in the proposed change. 
 
I would also support the removal of the land adjacent to the M60 which contains the modern 

P
age 337



 

38 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

Manfield Avenue as the development is of no historical or architectural merit. 
 
Similarly I would suggest that the area containing houses in Summerfield Road and Parrfield 
Road should be removed from the conservation area as the properties in these two roads are no 
historical or architectural merit being of a similar style and age to properties in Wardley Hall Lane 
and Meadowgate which are not included in the conservation area.  
 
Regarding the removal of the area of land to the east of Crossfield Drive from the conservation 
area I would tend to support this proposal as the the land does not fall within the scope of a 
conservation area which is supposed to be for the preservation buildings of architectural and 
historic interest. However if this land is removed has the Planning Dept. yet considered what they 
would then designate the land as ie green belt or part of the local green way or indeed open for 
future development? Could you comment on this point please? 
 

231 Barbara Keeley MP  I am writing in response to Salford City Council’s consultation on a draft conservation area 
appraisal for the Roe Green/Beesley Green conservation area. 
 
I understand that this appraisal will be used as “a material consideration in decision making on all 
planning applications that could impact on the character and appearance of the Roe 
Green/Beesley Green conservation area”. 
 
The Roe Green Beesley Green conservation area has been in place for over 45 years, having 
been designated by Lancashire County Council in 1970. This area is the largest of Salford’s 
conservation areas and has great significance locally. 
 
I strongly oppose the proposals to amend the boundary of the conservation area by removing 
areas of land from it. I believe that the current conservation area boundary should remain intact. 
 
Importance of Worsley Woods 
 
A draft report on proposals for the conservation and improvement of the Roe Green/Beesley 
Green Conservation Area from approximately 1971/2 states that: 
“Roe Green was selected for conservation because its arrangement of open space and housing  

P
age 338



 

39 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

gives it the character of a village green, which together with the adjoining Beesley Green and 
underdeveloped and wooded land, comprises a well landscaped green area in marked contract to 
the surrounding heavily developed areas of South East Lancashire”. 
 
The Appraisal documents states: 
“There is however no record of any formal conservation area appraisal which may have informed 
the area’s designation. The appraisal therefore presents the opportunity to reassess the 
designated area and to evaluate and record its special interest”. 
 
Located within this conservation area are Worsley Woods, whose historical importance gives 
them special status and great value to the local community. However, no reference is made to this 
in the appraisal document. 
 
Worsley Woods have been highly valued historically, to the extent that in 1950 the local 
community raised a sum of £3,374 and purchased the Woods from Bridgewater Estates. An 
official opening ceremony was held in 1951, which opened the woods to the public and was 
attended by hundreds of local residents and both Lord Mayors and Civic Leaders. 
 
The Woods were later transferred “Upon Trust” to the Worsley Urban District and Swinton and 
Pendlebury local authorities and subsequently to Salford Council. I understand, therefore that the 
Council is a Trustee of Worsley Woods and considering this history, it is vital that Worsley Woods 
and the surrounding area continue to be safeguarded. 
 
Worsley Woods are designated as a Key Recreation Area by Policy R4 in the City of Salford 
Unitary Development Plan 2004 – 2016. According to Policy EN8, Worsley Woods are also 
considered a Site of Biological Importance and a Local Nature Reserve, endorsing their special 
character and significance for the City. 
 
It is more than likely that the status and significance of Worsley Woods was a primary 
consideration when Lancashire County Council made the decision to include the whole of the 
woodlands in the Conservation Area in 1970. 
 
Crossfield Drive 

P
age 339



 

40 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

 
I have been contacted by residents of Crossfield Drive in Worsley who are very concerned about 
the possibility of the removal of the top field adjacent to Crossfield Drive from the conservation 
area. 
 
I understand that Peel Holdings has aspirations to develop a number of areas of land within the 
conservation area. These aspirations include the land east of Crossfield Drive which is one of the 
areas being considered for removal from the conservation area. 
 
I understand that Peel Holdings recently purchased 14 Crossfield Drive. This property borders the 
field in question and would provide a convenient access point to this potential development. 
Local residents tell me that they believe that Peel’s plans, their purchase of this property and the 
timing of the Council’s consultation appear on the surface to be the result of collaboration 
between the Council and Peel Holdings. 
 
Local residents fear that if these areas were removed from the conservation area, attempts would 
be made to develop this area. Our valuable open green spaces need to be protected from 
development. 
 
One of the main reasons that Peel Holding’s recent appeal to build up to 600 houses at nearby 
Broadoak in Worsley was refused was because the area was protected by strong policies in 
Salford City Council’s Unitary Development Plan. 
 
Similarly, this area of open space is greatly valued by the local community. Removing areas of 
green space from this conservation area would make it more difficult to refuse inappropriate 
development and would weaken the conservation area as a whole, leaving it vulnerable to further 
incursions in the future. 
 
Local residents are concerned that by building such a large number of houses on this green open 
space, the character of Worsley would be changed forever. They do not want to see this happen 
and I share their concerns on this. 
 
Importance of green open space 

P
age 340



 

41 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

 
Paragraphs 76 to 78 of the National Planning Policy Framework introduce a new Local Green 
Space designation to protect local green areas of particular importance to local communities. The 
Framework says that a greenfield site must be: 

 In a reasonably close proximity to the community it serves 

 Demonstrably special to a local community and holds a particular local significance, for 
example because of its beauty, historic significance, recreational value, tranquillity or 
richness of its wildlife 

 Local in character and is not an extensive tract of land. 
 

It is obvious that the fields surrounding Worsley Woods satisfy each of the three criteria above. 
They are essential to the Woods’ rural character and to the character of the surrounding area. In 
relation to the Crossfield Drive fields, this has twice been the findings of Government inspectors in 
the past when housebuilding was refused. Finally, the Council itself has always been against the 
development of these fields. 
 
Green open space is very important to the local area. It supports a rich and vibrant variety of 
wildlife and makes the local area healthier and less stressful. Local residents, as well as people 
across the City and beyond, enjoy walking along Roe Green looplines (which run through the 
conservation area) and through Worsley Woods, because of the area’s beauty. 
 
One of the main attractions is that the Woods are surrounded by attractive green open spaces 
away from any development. People enjoy walking through this area to appreciate the views and 
woodlands. 
 
The removal of these areas from the conservation area and the potential development of these 
sites would be a great loss to the local area. 
 
Changing the boundary of the conservation area would affect the local environment and leave the 
area vulnerable to overdevelopment. This would spoil the unique character of the area. 
 
Summary 
 

P
age 341



 

42 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

Worsley Woods are an iconic and indispensable landmark for the whole City of Salford and 
Worsley in particular. The surrounding fields are essential to the integrity of the Woods. A major 
factor justifying the protection of the fields from development is Worsley Woods. 
 
These areas of land contribute greatly to the special interest of the conservation area and should 
not be removed. Local opposition to this application is very strong and I support the views of my 
constituents in this opposition. 
 
Please register these comments as part of the consultation process on behalf of my constituents. 
 

232 Pamela Edge I agree with the additional land proposed to be included within the conservation area, but strongly 
object to the exclusion of the land off Crossfield Drive. 
 
We need as much open land as possible in such a densely populated region. 
 
I strongly suspect that the owners of the land want to build on it and keeping the field as a 
conservation area may put the brake on such a development. 
 
The area has enough problems with traffic without adding to it. 
 
Large land owners have little thought for the people who live, work and play in the area and we 
have to fight to retain our green spaces. 
 
I know building can still take place in a conservation area but at the very least, in returning it’s 
status, there is an extra restraint on any developer’s plans. 
 
I cannot see any valid reason why the boundary of the conservation area needs to change, other 
than to include the additional land. 
 

233 A G Cheetham I write to record my objection to the proposal to remove the field described as East of Crossfield 
Drive from the Conservation Area. 
 
The field together with other surrounding fields, is an integral part of the Worsley Woods area. 

P
age 342



 

43 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

The pathway entrance to the woods from Beesley Green is a very popular route into the woods for 
local residents and visitors due to the parking availability on Beesley Green. As you walk down 
this narrow path with this field on one side and the field by Roe Green Cricket Club on the other 
there is an open aspect with views across both fields. This aspect is important as it conveys to the 
visitor a feeling of entering a nature area undisturbed by time. The field gives a positive 
contribution to the character and appearance of the woods at this point and any change to this 
field would have a negative impact on the Worsley Woods “experience”. 
 
Far from removing this “top” field from the conservation area I suggest that other fields to the east 
of Crossfield Drive bordering the south west aspect of the woods should be included. 
Additionally, the field is located very close to both Kempnough Hall and Beesley Hall and can be 
seen from both properties. Any change would also have a negative on the area surrounding these 
properties which have historical significance. 
 

254 Anne France Having attended the meeting to view the plans for the alteration of the conservation area, I must 
strongly protest. The fields to the rear of Crossfield Drive and the small wooded area at the side of 
Manthorpe Avenue are two of the few remaining green spaces in Worsley. 
 
The current legislation in England and Wales (the planning listed buildings and conservation 
areas Act 1990 sections 69 and 70) defines the quality of a conservation area as being – “the 
character or appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance”. 
 
It is plainly obvious that with this in mind no part of this conservation area is excluded. 
Also, the distinct possibility arises that Peel would want to build on the fields to the rear of 
Crossfield Drive, as they have already purchased a house which when demolished would make 
excellent access! 
 
I would ask you to revise these plans and allow some small areas of Worsley to remain green. 
 

255 Bernard Backhouse I am writing to register my profound concern to the proposal that the field described as east of 
Crossfield Drive should be removed from the conservation area. 
 
This area is vital to preserve the character and appearance of Worsley Woods and once removed 

P
age 343



 

44 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

could be vulnerable to subsequent applications for development that would have a permanent 
detrimental effect on an essential and precious facility that is of permanent benefit to the entire 
population of Salford. I wish to register my strongest opposition to this proposal. 
 

269 Susan Stanyard I wish to register my opposition to the above proposal. 
 
As I understand it “conservation” means that you keep something precious. This applies to the 
field behind Crossfield Drive. Its proximity to the motorway means that it acts as lungs, helping to 
protect people from the polluting effects of the motorway. The area around Worsley is already 
badly polluted to a dangerous level and we need to maintain all means of counteracting it. 
 
The proposal also sits uncomfortably with Peels’ attempts to secure planning permission to build 
on this field which has been consistently opposed by Worsley residents. The timing is in fact 
rather suspicious, particularly when the purchase of 14 Crossfield Drive by Peel Holdings is taken 
into account. 
 

271 Julie Lynch I wish to register my opposition to the proposal that the field described as east of Crossfield Drive 
in the above document should be removed from the Conservation Area. 
 
I have recently purchased a local property. Coincidently, this was bought from Peel Holdings 
when they appeared to be refused planning permission on the field directly behind the property. 
(Interestingly, they originally purchased the property via a vendor fronting as Peel rather than 
themselves). 
 
We are therefore very disappointed to hear about the proposals outlined in the document above 
given that the area being so green and seemingly rural is why we have chosen to move to here 
and also why people continue to live and aspire to live in the area. 
 
The field owned by Peel Holdings and for many years they have had plans to use it for housing 
development and this has always been opposed by the local community. Peel Holdings recently 
purchased 14 Crossfield Drive, a large fronted property which is adjacent to the field and which 
could provide access to the field for development purposes. The proposal to remove the 
protective designation of conservation from this field seems rather coincidental or perhaps it is just 

P
age 344



 

45 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

ill timed. 
 
Any removal of the conservation designation will inevitably lead to new development not only 
removing our green spaces but also leading to additional traffic with no infrastructure to cope with 
this. Crossfield Drive is already overrun at school times with traffic from St Marks School so 
additional traffic in this area would have a massive detrimental impact to the area but also to the 
environment through pollution which is already a concern in the area. 
 
I hope the Council will take on board the opposition to this proposal from the local community 
rather than seeking to dance to the power that Peel Holdings are. Whilst I know that the Council 
will say that these things are not directly related I do know that Peel will never give up their fight 
however removing Conservation designation will only fuel their fight for development on what is 
viewed to be a little piece of the countryside. 
 

275 J and E Hill I refer to the proposal about the roe green/conservation area. I would like to express my extreme 
concern that any building adjacent to worsley woods such as building on the fields in the areas of 
roe green/ beesley green will greatly alter the only area in the whole of salford that it's residents 
can call woods. I have spent a great deal of time over my working years as a health visitor in inner 
city salford, ferrying people to this area, who had never seen open spaces. The fields are part of 
the "woods" experience, to build would be a crime and destroy the area. 
 
I wish to register my absolute opposition to any use of these fields for building purposes, how 
underhand  are peel holdings, please do not destroy this area, as that is what would happen. I am 
now nearly70 and I remember this area when the woods were in their prime, before the motorway 
was built etc. Let us preserve this oasis for future generations. 
 

280 Greater Manchester Ecology Unit Thank you for consulting the GMEU 
 
Conservation area appraisals are not generally an area of planning policy that the unit engages in 
the GM Archaeology Service being better qualified. However in this instance as the Conservation 
area includes part of the Worsley Woods Site of biological importance and Local Nature Reserve, 
we have the following comments to make. 
 

P
age 345



 

46 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

1. We welcome the inclusion of part of the Worsley Woods SBI and Local Nature reserve in 
the Conservation area. We would however request that is statutory status as a Local 
Nature Reserve be noted at some point within the appraisal. I would also note that there is 
no explanation of the heritage origins of the Woodland along the Brook, which I believe is 
deliberate landscaping from the 19th century. Do we know why it was planted and by who? 
As the backdrop to the Conservation area, I would argue that it is a key part of the 
conservation areas chronological development. 

2. Will the appraisal lead on to the production of a Conservation area management plan. If 
yes we would welcome consultation on policies for the long term management of the 
woodland, as our experience from elsewhere where woodland forms part of a Conservation 
Area (Prestwich Clough part of the St Marys, Prestwich Conservation area) is that the 
Conservation area status is not well understood by Countryside managers such as the 
need for conservation status approval for any tree felling. My experience from Prestwich 
Clough was that the easiest way forward was to gain Conservation area approval for an 
agreed woodland management plan to circumvent the need to apply for approval each time 
it was decided that some thinning works were required.  

 
I attach the SBI description for your information. I would note that the site was revisited in 2015 
and a revised citation with map and schedule will be supplied sometime this year. I can however 
inform you that the SBI will be extended along the Kempnough Brook towards Beesley Green. 
The LNR status is separate from the SBI status. The GMEU does not have a copy of the legal 
declaration documentation which will be held by Salford City Council. 
 

281 David Tyldesley I am concerned, and not a little suspicious. as to the reason for the considerable effort being 
spent on attempting to change the status of land, in Roe Green. Land now designated as being in 
the conservation area. I attended the drop-in event held in Beesley Green Community Centre and 
still came away with no clear understanding as to why the change in status was being proposed. I 
am particularly concerned about the land adjacent to Crossfield Drive. Land on which Peel 
Holdings wish to build housing. 
 
One cannot escape coming to the conclusion that this exercise is mainly an attempt to remove 
one level of protection to prevent building. Support for this view is suggested by an indiation the 
Peel have purchased a property adjacent to the land in question. To provide access? I am 

P
age 346



 

47 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

naturally concenrd that an aggressive company, such as Peel, will wish to develop all the adjacent 
land if they get are eventually allowed to build on the land at present in the conservation area. 
This will provide further strain on our transport, schools, medical services etc.  
 

282 Eileen Nicholson I refer to the proposal in the above document that the field described as east of Crossfield Drive 
should be removed from the Conservation Area. I wish to register my opposition to this proposal. 
As far as I am aware, Salford Council holds the Roe Green / Beesley Green Conservation Area 
including the whole of Worsley Woods in Trust for the local community. The fields surrounding 
make a "positive contribution" to the "character and appearance" of Worsley Woods - a fact I 
understand you recognise yourself and they are fundamental not only to character and 
appearance of the Woods but also to the whole of the Conservation Area. Both fields bounding 
the south west aspect of the Woods should be included in the Conservation Area. 
 
I understand you are aware that Peel Holdings owns the field and that for some time  they have 
had plans to use it for housing development which has been consistently opposed by the local 
community. I have become aware that recently Peel Holdings have purchased 14 Crossfield Drive 
which is next to the field and which could provide access to the field for the purposes of 
development. The proposal therefore to remove the protective designation from the field which 
inclusion in the Conservation Area brings is, to say the least, particularly ill-timed. 
 

283 Salford Community Leisure I write to provide a response on behalf of Salford Community Leisure to the Roe Green/Beesley 
Green draft conservation area appraisal, with specific reference to Beesley Green Community 
Centre as a buildings that makes a positive contribution to the conservation area. 
 
Beesley Green Community Centre is managed by Salford Community Leisure and in 2015-16 
recorded over 39,000 attendances, a 10% increase compared to the previous year. Around 40 
groups use the Community Centre for groups and activities including (but not confined to) dance, 
yoga, art classes, photography society, slimming world, table tennis and a theatre group. The 
centre is also a popular venue for birthday parties.  
 
It is also the starting point for an independent health walk around Beesley Green and Roe Green 
– details at 
http://www.salfordcommunityleisure.co.uk/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/3%20Beesley%2

P
age 347

http://www.salfordcommunityleisure.co.uk/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/3%20Beesley%20Green%20Community%20Centre%20-%20Roe%20Green%204ppA6_Layout%201.pdf


 

48 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

0Green%20Community%20Centre%20-%20Roe%20Green%204ppA6_Layout%201.pdf 
 
 

284 M and J Watts I refer to the proposal in the above document that the field described as east of Crossfield Drive 
should be removed from the Conservation Area. Both my husband, Mark Watts, and I wish to 
register our opposition to this proposal. 
 
The Roe Green/Beesley Green Conservation includes the whole of Worsley Woods, which, as 
you know, the Council holds in trust for the local community. To use your own words, any 
objective assessment of the ‘positive contribution’ that the surrounding fields make to the 
‘character and appearance’ of Worsley Woods can only conclude that they are fundamental, not 
only to its character and appearance, but also to that of the whole of the Conservation Area. I 
strongly agree with this assessment. In my opinion, the surrounding fields, including the one 
which is the subject of this letter, are essential to the integrity of the Woods. 
 
As you know, the field is owned by Peel Holdings and that for some time they have had plans to 
use it for housing development which has been consistently opposed by the local community. I 
also believe it would not come as a surprise to you that Peel Holdings recently purchased 14 
Crossfield Drive, a large double fronted property which is adjacent to the field and which could 
provide access to the field for development purposes (This followed the earlier purchase by Peel 
Holdings of, I think, 28 Crossfield Drive, probably again for access to the field which they then 
subsequently sold on when they bought number 14.) 
 
In light of the above, the proposal to remove the protective designation from the field (because it 
is part of the Conservation area), is to say the least, particularly ill timed. 
 
If the Council does make the decision to remove the protective designation and Peel Holdings 
applied to build a housing development on the field, I think I can safely say that the local 
community would vigorously object to the application. As residents we know only too well how the 
congestion caused by the growing volume of traffic on Walkden Road and Junction 13 has 
adversely affected the quality of the local environment. Add to this the access required for 
possibly 200 via Woodlands Road, Aviary Road and Kempnough Hall Road and the existing 
traffic to and from St Mark’s School, and the whole area would be gridlocked for hours each day. 

P
age 348

http://www.salfordcommunityleisure.co.uk/sites/default/files/uploads/documents/3%20Beesley%20Green%20Community%20Centre%20-%20Roe%20Green%204ppA6_Layout%201.pdf


 

49 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

In addition, St Mark’s School is already oversubscribed (as are the medical practices); the 
additional housing would only exacerbate this problem. 
 
I would also make the point that the field in question is an integral part of the character of Worsley 
village. The primary reason my family and I (and many other families) moved to Worsley (from 
South Manchester) was because of the semi rural feeling of open space provided by the open 
fields which also contributes to the village atmosphere. If houses are built on this field (and if Peel 
Holdings had its way, the Greenfield land in Broadoak and behind Hazlehurst Road) that feeling of 
semi rural open space and the village atmosphere will be destroyed and Worsley will become just 
another built up, heavily congested City suburb with no attractive, distinguishing features to 
persuade people to live here. 
 

285 Kathleen Lees I refer to the above document and the proposal that the field described as east of Crossfield Drive 
should be removed from the conservation area. I wish to register my opposition to this proposal. 
The Roe Green/Beesley Green conservation area includes the whole of Worsley Woods which 
the council holds in Trust for the local community. The field in question was included in the 
conservation area to protect the westerly aspect of the woods from development and is crucial to 
its rural character. It is vital, therefore, that the field remains within the Roe Green/Beesley Green 
conservation area. 
 

286 Eric Hall I refer to the proposal in the above document that the field described as east of Crossfield Drive 
should be removed from the conservation area. I wish to register my opposition to this proposal. 
 
My opposition rests on the following major points: 
1. The area referred to enjoys sensibly no public transport facilities and will therefore generate 

considerable road traffic by owner vehicles, raising “rat runs” through residential streets. 
2. The Worsley Woods is in Trust held by the council following local resident’s interest in the 

early 1950’s. To do any work which impinges on this represents a breach of Trust. 
3. The area is currently used fro agricultural purposes and has included grain and sheep. To 

change use of land from agricultural to residential constitutes desecration. 
4. The council is currently quite properly spending money on the development of loop lines into 

recreational “non-combustion engine transport” area. To restrict this recreational facility by 
putting a housing estate as one of its terminations is to render valueless the currently enacted 

P
age 349



 

50 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

cycle and walking developments on the ex railways. 
5. The existence of green open spaces represents a facility to absorbing carbon dioxide to the 

world as a whole. The proximity to motorways in Worsley give particular benefit to local 
residents. 

6. The fields protect the woods. 
 

287 Nigel France I would like to register my objection to the proposed removal of the fields to the rear of Crossfield 
Drive from the conservation area. 
 
The exclusion of this land would leave it open to development and the loss of another “green lung” 
in Worsley. As you are well aware, the M60 located just nearby is used by some 150,000 vehicles 
a day! The idea of reducing the conservation area at all is without foundation. Traffic on this route 
will inevitably increase and so an expansion of the conservation area is the only way forward. 
With this in mind I propose that the conservation area be increased in a southerly direction to be 
bounded by the M60 to the east of Crossfield Drive/The Walke on the west, then south to include 
Worsley Church and its’ environs. 
 
Further more, a large tree planting scheme adjacent to the M60 should be commenced as soon 
as possible in an effort to clean up the air for the populous of Salford. 
 

305 R and L Gilbert We refer to the proposal in the above document that the field described as east of Crossfield 
Drive should be removed from the conservation area. We wish to register our opposition to this 
proposal. 
 
We would respectfully remind you that Worsley Woods was acquired from Bridgewater Estates 
many years ago after funds were raised by local people. The area was vested in the Local 
Authority on trust for the local community. In the Council’s own expressed view the surrounding 
fields make a positive contribution to the character and appearance of the woodland and the 
whole of the conservation area. Far from removing the top field from the conservation area it 
would be sensible to include both the fields bounding the south west aspect of the Woods. 
The field under consideration is owned by Peel Holdings who are seeking to use it for housing 
development. Peel Holdings acquired Bridgewater Estates and it would be particularly ironic if, 
having sold the woodlands, they were now allowed to profit in this way from the immediately 

P
age 350



 

51 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

adjoining land. 
 
 

311 DT Mattison I refer to the proposal in the above document namely that the field described as east of Crossfield 
Drive should be removed from the Conservation Area. I want to register my strong opposition and 
objection to the proposed amendment to the plan. 
 
The Roe Green/Beesley Green Conservation Area includes the whole of Worsley Woods which 
the Council hold in Trust for the local community. To use your own words any objective 
assessment of the “positive contribution” that the surrounding fields make to the character and 
appearance of Worsley Woods can only conclude that they are fundamental not only to its 
character and appearance but also that of the whole of the Conservation Area. In reality far from 
removing the top field, both of the fields bounding the south west aspect of the Woods should be 
included in the Conservation Area. 
 
As you know, the field is in the ownership of Peel Holdings and for some time they have had plans 
to use it for housing development which has been consistently opposed by the local community. 
Peel Holdings recently purchased number 14 Crossfield Drive, a large fronted property, which lies 
adjacent to the field and as such could provide access to the area for development purposes. 
The proposed amendment to remove the protected designation of this field would have a serious 
negative impact on the conservation area by way of facilitating the possible future development of 
the site. The protected designation of the field must remain part of the conservation area to 
ensure that the long-term future of the land is protected against development. 
 
It is important to recollect that the Roe Green/Beesley Green Conservation Area is held in Trust 
by the Council on behalf of the local community as a whole. It is not held in Trust for the Council 
as responsible guardians to facilitate the future development of the conservation area for the 
commercial gain or benefit of others. 
 

P
age 351



 

52 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

313 Sally Cooper I am writing with concern about the above document and the proposal to develop on fields that 
are currently denoted as a Conservation Area.  
 
I implore you to continue to protect this open space for the local community. Worsley Woods and 
the looplines are now enjoyed more than ever by the local community from every age group; 
which I am sure you will wholeheartedly support when local and central governments run frequent 
campaigns encouraging people to get outdoors and get healthy. Sadly, I doubt that the increasing 
number of walking groups I see visiting the Worsley area are aware of the threat from 
encroaching development. 
 
Worsley already has a huge amount of traffic and pollution from the motorway networks and so 
more than ever any remaining green space should be protected and planted with more trees. The 
specified area, in particular, already has its own fair share of car issues with the local primary 
school without adding any more. 
 
In addition the fields that join the woods help provide a buffer zone between the woods and the 
houses along Crossfield Drive, making the woods feel larger than they really are and thus more 
tranquil (not an easy thing to achieve in Salford). This atmosphere would be entirely lost if the 
development took place. 
 
Finally, if we are to maintain Worsley as a desirable place to live and to continue the character of 
a place of which the Community has been proud to enjoy, the remaining open spaces MUST be 
protected. We have been here before of course and the Community has no choice but to rely on 
you to be our voice and keep the present structure in place. 
 

314 Jean Barnes I attended the presentation and appreciate the opportunity for us to view the plans and give my 
comments. 
 
The area of Manthorpe Avenue – this is a historical area previously a Market Garden with many 
mature trees which I hope are protected. 
 
The four houses at the end of Hardy Grove should be included as they were built at the same 
time. 

P
age 352



 

53 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

 
More concerning is the land east of Crossfield Drive. Roe Green and Beesley was a farming 
community. Here is the only agricultural land left. The views from the woods and cricket club give 
the area a rural atmosphere appreciated by many of the walking groups and dog walkers as they 
exit the woods. The area and cricket club are part of the village character – a true village which is 
being explored more with our information board and Heritage Trail map. I do hope that the two 
fields will be kept as part of the conservation area for future generations to enjoy. I like to take my 
grandchildren walking in a safe pleasant place, where there are things to collect and nature to 
observe. 
 
A copy of the Roe Green Heritage Trail leaflet was enclosed with this submission. 
 

312 J R Cartwright I am writing to you in relation to the above and the proposal to remove the field described as at 
the top of Kempnough Hall Rd and east of Crossfield Drive from the existing conservation area 
and I am sure bearing in mind my address you will fully understand my objection to this. 
 
I am 88 years of age and have been a resident of Salford for all of that time and living in close 
proximity to the area of concern for the last 45 years. 
 
In those years I have been aware of the efforts that have been made for the preservation of the 
area and it's historical values by the residents and this has received support from the various 
councils concerned resulting in the establishment of the conservation areas which are now under 
threat should your proposals go ahead. 
 
I would suggest that in order to prevent the constant resurrection of the problems involved it 
should be accepted that if further developments would be damaging to the areas covered by the 
conservation area and it is clear that they would. Then that option is unacceptable. 
 
Such a decision which would be completely justified and appreciative of those who have worked 
hard to bring it about not least to those who in 1950 (a time of great austerity) collectively 
purchased Worsley Woods in order to preserve it for the future and in order to strengthen it even 
further passed it over to the councils at the time subsequently Salford City Council 'upon trust' I 
would point out that the field in question is at a point of most vulnerability. Trusting you will 

P
age 353



 

54 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

understand my concern on this matter. 
 

323 Mr Firaaz Majeed (submitted by 
Indigo Planning on behalf of) 

We are wholly supportive of the proposal to remove from the Conservation Area, land adjacent to 
the Brindley Court residential development, identified below.  
 
The Site 
The site is well-vegetated, bounded to the north by Mulgrave Road, a residential street of terraced 
and semi-detached dwellings, with further such dwellings beyond. The western boundary follows 
the Worsley Brook, beyond which lies a relatively recent three storey townhouse development 
known as Brindley Court. The eastern edge is bounded by a steep-sided embankment leading up 
to the M60 motorway. 
 
The Conservation Area  
Section 69 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires local  
authorities to designate as Conservation Areas those “areas of special architectural or historic 
interest, the character or appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance”. 
 
In identifying the Conservation Area’s special interest, the draft Appraisal focuses on the 
arrangement of houses around a village green, a rare example of a clear village evolution from 
medieval times. The band of open land to the south is important in separating the village from 
Worsley and maintaining a semi-rural village feel.  
 
Contribution of the Site  
Whilst open land and woodland fringe are identified as key characteristics in the setting of the 
Conservation Area, the draft Appraisal specifies that it is ‘the open land which lies to the south of 
the village’ which contributes significantly to the sense of Roe Green / Beesley Green as a defined 
village. The site adjacent to Brindley Court is located to the east. It plays no role in separating the 
Conservation Area from the adjoining built up area.  
 
It has no relationship to the main body of the Conservation Area. It contains only vegetation and is 
separated from the central focus of the Conservation Area by intervening built form and additional 
tree cover. It has no prominence in the Conservation Area and has a much stronger relationship 
with the adjacent residential areas of Mulgrave Road to the north and Brindley Court to the west. 

P
age 354



 

55 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

 
Retaining the site in the Conservation Area would not meet the legislative requirement to 
designate areas with ‘special architectural or historic interest’ which it is desirable to preserve or 
enhance.  
 
The tree cover will remain protected by a Woodland Tree Preservation Order, hence the removal 
of the site from the Conservation Area would not remove the trees’ protected status, nor would it 
have any impact on the Conservation Area.  
 
We therefore agree with the assessment of the Council, that the site should be removed from the 
Conservation Area. 
 

324 Alma Powell I feel I must add my voice to the protestors who oppose the removal of the field at the top of 
Kempnough Hall Road from the Beesley Green Conservation Area.It is part of the environ of the 
woods, losing the field from the conservation area will compromise the open air aspect. The field 
is part of the lung. The area is enjoyed by many Salfordians and people from further afield.  
 
Although I live in Roe Green, I have the East Lancs. road at the bottom of my garden. Therefore, I 
take advantage of the fresh air which comes across the field as often as possible. The cricket 
club, tennis and bowls clubs all need fresh air. 
 

325 EO Kennedy I would like to register my opposition to the proposal set out in the above document which 
recommends that the field described as east of Crossfield Drive should be removed from the 
Conservation Area. 
 
The Roe Green/Beesley Green Conservation Area includes the whole of Worsley Woods which 
the Council holds in Trust for the local community. The two fields which bound the south west 
aspect of the Woods should be included in the Conservation Area as they are fundamental to the 
character and appearance of the whole area. 
 
Peel Holdings, who own the field to the east of the houses on Crossfield Drive, are keen to use 
this land for housing development and in order to give access to the site they have purchased 
number 14, a large fronted property which is adjacent to the field. The proposal to remove the 

P
age 355



 

56 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

protective designation from the top field which inclusion in the Conservation Area brings is, I feel, 
particularly ill timed. 
 

326 Residents Against Inappropriate 
Developments (RAID) submitted by 
Councillor K Garrido (Chair of RAID) 

I wish to make the strongest possible objection on behalf RAID [Residents Against Inappropriate 
Developments] to the removal of part of the land south of Kempnough Hall Road, east of 
Crossfield Drive and bounded partly by Worsley Woods Marked as Site 2 on the plan at Annex A. 
 
There are three main reasons for our objections the first being....  
 
That in April 2012 Peel Holdings set out their development aspirations for this land they stated  
 
‘a unique development of family orientated housing where the existing woodland is celebrated and 
extended right into the development’  
 
if this area was removed from the Conservation Area it would allow an application on the 
remaining land for up to 200 houses running all along Worsley Wood.  
 
In your appraisal you state that the area will still be covered by councils Policy EN 2 Worsley 
Greenway which states  
 
‘Development will not be permitted where it would fragment or detract from the openness 
and continuity of the Greenway, or would cause unacceptable harm to its character or its 
value as an amenity, wildlife, agricultural or open recreation resource’. 
 
You also state no planning application has been received, possibly because of the pending the 
outcome of the High Court challenge on the Broadoak north and south site. In view of this we feel 
that the site could be left with no protection at all and we would ask that it is left within the 
conservation area. 
 
Our second point is that we have heard from our members who inform us that the field acts as a 
wildlife corridor which is helped by its closeness to Worsley Woods. Policy EN9 ‘Wildlife Corridors’ 
the policy stipulates that any development that would ‘affect any land that functions as a 
wildlife corridor, or that provides an important link or stepping stone between habitats’ 

P
age 356



 

57 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

should not be permitted. Given the policies identified in this statement and the obvious importance 
that this field has in terms of its value as a wildlife corridor, it is considered that taking it out of the 
Conservation Area could have a detrimental impact.  
 
Finally, The open nature of the land surrounding the conservation area is also key to its special 
interest. Whilst Roe Green witnessed significant expansion from the late 19th century to the mid 
20th century, the open land which lies to the south and east  of the village contributes significantly 
to the sense of Roe Green / Beesley Green as a defined village within the urban area. The 
expanse of open land fringed by woodland which characterises the east and southern half of the 
conservation area is integral in defining the character of Roe Green and Beesley Green as a 
distinct village within the wider conurbation.  
 
For the above reasons we would ask that you accept our objections to the removal of Site 2 on 
the plan and its retention within the Conservation Area.  
 

327 Councillor K Garrido and Councillor 
G Compton 

We understand that the Roe Green / Beesley Green conservation area was designated by 
Lancashire County Council in November 1970. The identified rationale for its designation as an 
area of special architectural or historic interest was as follows:  
 
“Roe Green was selected for conservation because its arrangement of open space and housing 
gives it the character of a village green, which together with the adjoining Beesley Green and 
undeveloped and wooded land, comprises a well landscaped green area in marked contrast to the 
surrounding heavily developed areas of South East Lancashire. 
 
The Roe Green / Beesley Green conservation area faces a significant development pressures. 
From known landowner aspirations for the development of large areas of open land within and 
adjoining the conservation area. These development pressures have the potential to negatively 
impact on the character and appearance of the conservation area, and cumulatively this could 
serve to undermine the special interest of the area as a whole. An up to date adopted  
conservation area appraisal would therefore provide a robust basis to inform decision making, and 
serve to preserve and enhance the special architectural and historic interest of the conservation 
area. 
 

P
age 357



 

58 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

Our comments with regards to this Appraisal will be in three parts. Firstly, we will deal with what 
we welcome within the Conservation Area Appraisal, Secondly, what we would like to add to the 
Conservation area Appraisal and Thirdly, what we are against within the Conservation Appraisal.     
 
Our First Point: 
 
We welcome the extension to the Conservation area of the Semi Detached Edwardian houses on 
Hardy Grove and Lumber Lane. Marked Site 4 at Annex A. 
 
Our Second Point: 
 
We would like the following to be included within the Conservation Area: 
 
Numbers, 1 Hardy Grove, 67 Lumber Lane there would seem to be no reason for there exclusion. 
The row of terrace houses 8 to 22 Lyon Grove are part of the established development which took 
place 100years ago.  
 
The Triangle of woodland to the north east and to the west of Manthorpe Avenue, this land is 
densely wooded with mature broadleaved trees which are at the moment protected by a group 
preservation order, Kempnough Brook runs through this site. Located as it is at the edge of the 
conservation area, the removal of the Manthorpe Avenue estate from the conservation area 
should not necessarily imply the removal of this small area of woodland in order to create a 
boundary. The boundary of Manthope Avenue estate could be the boundary.  
 
Our Final Point: 
 
We oppose totally the removal of the land off Kempnough Hall Road Marked Site 2 at Annex A. 
The field is part of what we believe to be the Kempnough estate and shown on some of the maps 
we have seen a tree lined avenue leading up to Kempnough Hall this would seem to be the line of 
Crossfield Drive. Not far way is Beesley Hall both these halls are Grade 2 Listed buildings.  
 
Our second objection to the removal of this field from the conservation area is the effect it will 
have on Worsley Woods. Worsley woods are entered here off Beesley Green and because of the 

P
age 358



 

59 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

work done in the woods by the ‘Friends of Worsley Woods’ is now very well used. This part of the 
woods in this area is very narrow with just a path which has Kempnough Brook running alongside 
it. Any change to the field in this area we feel would have a strong negative impact to the woods. 
The field is higher than the path and is very noticeable during winter months when the trees are 
without leaves. This area is also part of a larger piece of agricultural land which is still being 
farmed. Children within the Inner Cities have very little chance to see animals or crops in their 
natural habitat. 
 
So, for the above reasons, we would ask that this area of Agricultural land be left within the 
Conservation area. 
 
We hope you will be able to take on or suggestions to your consultation for the above Appraisal 
for Roe Green / Beesley Green Conservation Area. 
 

328 Margaret Johnson I refer to the proposal in the above document that the field described as east of Crossfield Drive 
should be removed from the Conservation Area. I wish to register my opposition to this proposal. 
 
The Roe Been/Beesley Green Conservation Area includes the whole of Worsley Woods which the 
council holds in trust for the local community. As a local resident, who walks in the woods daily 
and as a parent whose three children attended St Mark's Primary School, I strongly object to the 
removal of the top field from the conservation area, indeed I feel that both fields bounding the 
south west aspect of the woods should be included in the Conservation Area. 
 
I understand that removing the field from the Conservation Area does not equate to a planning 
application, but that is surely the next step, especially as Peel Holdings have purchased 14 
Crossfield Drive, a large wide fronted property the removal of which could easily provide access 
for development purposes. 
 
Any development of this area would undeniably alter beyond recognition the character and 
appearance of Worsley Woods and to use your own words the "positive contribution" of the woods 
to the local area would be severely impaired. Whilst walking through the woods, I often think how 
fantastic this would be without the ever present roar of the motorway. With housing development 
in the area, we are taking a retrograde step-more noise and more pollution, especially on a site 

P
age 359



 

60 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

adjacent to a primary school, to say nothing of raised traffic congestion on roads ( Crossfield 
Drive, Woodlands Road, Aviary Road) that are not fit for this purpose and which would pose an 
increased risk of harm to children and parents travelling to the school. 
 
Worsley Woods are the green lungs of a city that is seeing unprecedented housing development. 
They need to be protected, not to be steadily and stealthily eroded. 
 

331 John Knight Please take this as my formal response to the proposal to make changes to the designated 
Conservation Area of Roe Green and Beesley  Green. 
 
The removal of the field at the back of Crossfield Drive is an open invitation, and obvious 
precursor, for Peel Holdings, whom I believe owns the land in question, to attempt to build more 
houses - something I feel will overpopulate and denigrate the area.  However, this is not just 
another residents rant against the Peel machine, the  implications of reducing the size of the 
Conservation Area are wider than that.  The preservation of Worsley Woods  is most important to 
the character and appearance of the entire area. They are a focal point of recreation for many 
people in the Salford area, who do not enjoy the day to day benefits of living in a pleasant open 
space such as Roe Green, and the council should be determined to preserve that for the people it 
represents across all the borough, not allow insidious ‘chipping away’ at the boundaries of the 
legislation which protects this environment. On that basis I object to the draft proposals. 
 

332 Elizabeth Mather I moved to Manchester in the early eighties to study Textile Design at Manchester Polytechnic. 
 
As I have mainly lived in the Salford area I often drove through Roe Green and Worsley in my 
younger years wishing that I could one day live there. 
 
Now years later I am in my fifties and am in the fortunate position of being able to live in Roe 
Green and I absolutely love it. 
 
I love it more than anywhere I have lived in my adult life. 
 
One of the reasons I love it is due to the fact the area is so pretty , lots of great areas to walk with 
lots of trees , fields and wildlife and fabulous people. 

P
age 360



 

61 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

 
The house prices aren't cheap in a Conservation area and probably rightly so due to the pleasure 
the surrounding area brings. 
 
Worsley Woods and the surrounding area bring character and fundamentality to this beautiful 
Conservation area and therefore I believe that the field described as east of Crossfield Drive 
should not be removed from the Conservation area. 
 
This would be the start of a gradual erosion of the natural beauty of the area - field after field 
being bought for development purposes with the Conservation area becoming smaller and smaller 
over the years. 
 
I hadn't realised that Peel Holdings had purchased 14 Crossfield Drive (which is adjacent to the 
field in question ) providing access to the field for development  - until a letter arrived informing me 
of this. 
 
I think this is totally wrong ,underhand and immoral and am totally against the said field being 
removed from the Conservation area. 
 

336 GA Darlington My opinion is that the current conservation area should remain with the addition of the land 
proposed to be included, and, the cottages on Lyon Grove. 
 

337  John Gould Regarding the proposed changes in the conservation area in the vicinity of Roe Green/Beesley 
Green I wish to make the following observations:- 
 
I welcome most of the changes which to me seem logical, in that “newer properties” would come 
outside the conservation area and protecting the older properties thus maintaining historical 
character within the area. 
 
I also see the sense and reason in “tidying” up areas to form straight demarcation lines. 
 
I welcome the inclusion of Hardy Grove within the areas these houses are in excess of one 
hundred years old and have many features of the period which they were built. I do find it strange 

P
age 361



 

62 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

that no. 1 Hardy Grove and no. 67 Lumber Lane come outside the proposed area as this pair of 
semi-detached houses were constructed at the same time. 
 
The field behind Crossfield Drive which is in the existing conservation area is proposed to be 
taken out. Whilst I realise that open land does not usually come within the remit of a conservation 
area, I feel that it should be left in the conservation area if only to help preserve one of the last 
areas of open space within the area adjacent to the M60 motorway. 
 
Thank you for the opportunity of discussing the proposals with your colleagues at Beesley Green 
on March 2nd and passing on my comments. 
 

339 Jennifer Chapman How lucky those of us who live in Worsley and Roe Green are to have such wonderful amenities 
as Worsley Woods, the recently dredged dam belong side the Aviary and promenade or viewing 
platform – and all on our doorsteps and visited by many people from Salford in general. A fishing 
pond which I miss not having access to and surrounded by the very popular Roe Green cricket 
club and to crown it all the superbly renewed linear walkway and pathways throughout the woods 
and very few homes visible. 
 
Should you remove the large field behind Crossfield Drive, Peel Holdings would see this as a sign 
that the council see it as potential development land, thus putting the other large fields under 
pressure. One of the main negative features hanging over the many fields within all the 
conservation areas is the constant threat that they pose of building. The farms have already gone 
and how wonderful it would be to certain that the fields are sacrosanct and to award them higher 
protection levels. Building on virgin land in a scenic rural area would hardly provide reasonably 
priced housing does it whereas every encouragement for Peel Holdings to build and green up 
brown field sites would be welcome by all. The conservation area is one of Salford Council’s gems 
and needs no more development and well done for landing RHS and for persuading the BBC to 
the Quays, a real coup and brilliant development continues alongside Manchester Ship Canal. 
What a superb change from the oil laden and litter strewn derelict sites of years ago. The 
wonderful renovation and novel ideas on/around Langworthy Road, Pendleton and Eccles, so 
imaginative of the once so ugly tower blocks and new housing in Pendleton. Ordsall Hall and 
surrounding areas – absolute transformation and additional pockets of green – thank you so much 
for all you have done to put so much of Salford on the tourist map, apart from Roe Green and 

P
age 362



 

63 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

Worsley already a huge asset. Please, please, please do all you can to keep all the conservation 
areas in tact and to add where suggested with much appreciation. 
 
I am really proud of the major changes that Salford has already made and are still making – keep 
up the good innovative work. 
 
 

343 Albert and Joyce Proctor We wish to register our objection to the proposed removal of field areas from the Conservation 
Area. The field areas are essential in protecting the whole of the Conservation Area, a publicly 
owned area held in trust by the City Council, from encroachment by development. 
 

344 Friends of Roe Green We would like to comment on the above. As it was only created in 1970, we were not expecting 
any proposed changes. However, the most contentious area, in our view, is the field opposite 
Kempnough Hall, which is part of the Green Open Space surrounding our famous Worsley 
Woods. Our whole community and visitors value this amenity and feel it should have maximum 
protection from development. 
 
Worsley in general, including Roe Green is a regular target from developers, Peel in particular. 
There is real danger that the very character of the area, which attracts so many, is being 
destroyed. 
 
Its history, including its industrial heritage, is fascinating and precious. We have lost so much 
already and what remains must be protected and we need the support of the council. 
 

345 Worsley Civic Trust and Amenity 
Society 

Having considered the plans for changes to the Roe Green/Beesley Green conservation area and 
bearing in mind Section 69 and 70 of the Conservation Area Act 1990 in England and Wales 
which states; “the quality of a conservation area is the character or appearance of which it is 
desirable to preserve or enhance”, we wish to make the following comments: 
 

1. We question why any green spaces should be taken out of the conservation area. Also, we 
challenge the explanation given at the consultation day at Beesley Green that the land 
adjoining Crossfield Drive was “least valuable”. Why is this a reason for removing it? Which 
piece of land becomes least valuable next? Any green space in this heavily polluted area is 

P
age 363



 

64 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

vital and the aspect seen when walking through the narrow stretch of woodland would be 
ruined by anything other than green space. We consider this land to be vital to the 
character and appearance of the area. In fact, we suggest that the area of conservation is 
extended to be bound by the M60 to the East, Crossfield Drive and The Warke to the West 
and then South to the St Mark’s conservation area. 
 

2. The area of undeveloped land on Manthorpe Avenue should be retained in the 
conservation area. This area has trees which we desperately need in our heavily polluted 
atmosphere. In fact, more trees should be planted to help to alleviate the pollutants from 
the adjacent M60. Barbara Keeley MP for Worsley and Eccles South commented on a 
report by the Commons Environmental Audit Committee. She said “poor air quality has a 
serious impact on people’s health in Salford. We have significant problems with air 
pollution in Worsley and Eccles South because of the high volumes of traffic and traffic 
congestion on the M60, the M62, the M602 and the local road network. The current 
mortality figure for Salford attributable to air pollution is higher than average for England 
and much higher than figures for other parts of the country”. 

 
3. We would like to see the two Edwardian houses, 67 and 69 Lumber Lane included in 

Conservation Area, along with those on Hardy Grove as they are the same age. 
 
We do hope that you will consider all these points carefully when undertaking your review of the 
Roe Green/Beesley Green Conservation Area. 
 

358 Dee Bingham I do not agree with the exclusion of land to the east of Crossfield Drive.  This open green area is a 
vital part of the nature of the woodlands and the preservation of Roe Green's traditional local 
character.  I speak as a local resident and a member of the Worsley Woods Conservation Group. 
As local people are well aware, this is a highly vulnerable piece of land and the council should not 
encourage its risk of future development. 
 
I ask that it stay within the proposed redrawing of the Conservation Area. 
 

359 Peel Holdings (Land and Property) 
Ltd (submitted by Turley, and Clyde 

We act for Peel Holdings (Land & Property) Limited. 
 

P
age 364



 

65 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

and Co on behalf of) 
 

We refer to the draft appraisal (“the Draft Appraisal”) in respect of the Roe Green/Beesley Green 
Conservation Area (“the Conservation Area”), which was published by Salford City Council (“the 
Council”) for consultation in February 2016. Our client is the freehold owner of land within the 
Conservation Area. 
 
In response to the Draft Appraisal, our client has commissioned Turley Heritage to produce a 
comprehensive, expert heritage assessment (“the Heritage Assessment”), a copy of which is 
enclosed. 
 
For the reasons set out in the Heritage Assessment (which we need not repeat here), the Draft 
Appraisal is flawed in fundamental respects and should not be adopted in its current form. We 
refer specifically to appendix 4 to the Heritage Assessment (and related commentary in the main 
body of the text), which sets out our client’s case (in heritage terms) for amending the boundary of 
the Conservation Area. On this, we should emphasise that the Draft Appraisal has not been 
prepared (either properly or at all) in accordance with: (i) national planning policy and guidance, 
per the NPPF (2012) and the NPPG (2014); and (ii) the advice entitled ‘Conservation Area, 
Designation, Appraisal and Management’ as published by Heritage England in February 2016. 
 
More importantly, the Draft Appraisal is contrary to section 69 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. Specifically, it is plain that the Council has taken into account 
immaterial considerations when purporting to determine a revised boundary of the Conservation 
Area. This is contrary to the established dicta in (amongst others) R (on the application of Arndale 
Properties Limited) v Worcester City Council [2008] EWHC 678 (Admin).  
 
We strongly urge the Council to re-visit the basis upon which the Draft Appraisal (as a whole) has 
been predicated and the conclusions reached as to the proposed re-designation of the boundary 
of the Conservation Area, in each case having full and proper regard to the established 
policy/guidance and legal principles to which the Heritage Assessment refers. 
 
Finally, please provide us with: (i) the details (including qualifications) of those persons who were 
responsible for preparing the Draft Appraisal on behalf of the Council; and (ii) the letter of 
instruction(s), which was issued to these persons by, or on behalf of, the Council. 
 

P
age 365



 

66 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENT WAS SUBMITTED AS PART OF THIS REPRESENTATION 
AND CAN BE DOWNLOADED SEPARATELY: 
‘Heritage Assessment – Roe Green / Beesley Green Conservation Area” (Turley, March 2016). 
  

360 Marion Gray I refer to the proposal in the above document that the field described as east of Crossfield Drive 
should be removed from the Conservation Area.  
 
I wish to register my opposition to this proposal.  
 
Further to the drop-in event on Wednesday 2nd March, I was unable to be provided with a reason 
to why the appraisal is being conducted and furthermore a reason to why the area east of 
Crossfield Drive is suddenly not thought to have a ‘positive contribution’ to the surrounding 
area.The lack of explanation from the council officials forced me to draw my own conclusions to 
why this has come about. The fact that Peel Holdings own the field, plus they have a long history 
of wanting to build on the fields in-between Crossfield Drive and Worsley Woods. This plus the 
fact that Peel Holdings have now purchased 14 Crossfield Drive, is increasingly suspicious. To 
me the timing is too coincidental to be anything but to be a part of Peel Holding’s master plan.  
The field itself is crucial to the views around Worsley, including the Woods, adding to the country 
feel that the village has. I challenge the council to make it into something crucial to the local area 
if they believe it currently does not add to the village, rather than making it easier for a greedy 
property developer to ruin another beautiful landscape.  
 

361 Olivia Gray I refer to the proposal in the above document that the field described as east of Crossfield Drive 
should be removed from the Conservation Area.  
 
I wish to register my opposition to this proposal.  
 
Further to the drop-in event on Wednesday 2nd March, I was unable to be provided with a reason 
to why the appraisal is being conducted and furthermore a reason to why the area east of 
Crossfield Drive is suddenly not thought to have a ‘positive contribution’ to the surrounding 
area.The lack of explanation from the council officials forced me to draw my own conclusions to 
why this has come about. The fact that Peel Holdings own the field, plus they have a long history 
of wanting to build on the fields in-between Crossfield Drive and Worsley Woods. This plus the 

P
age 366



 

67 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

fact that Peel Holdings have now purchased 14 Crossfield Drive, is increasingly suspicious. To 
me the timing is too coincidental to be anything but to be a part of Peel Holding’s master plan.  
The field itself is crucial to the views around Worsley, including the Woods, adding to the country 
feel that the village has. I challenge the council to make it into something crucial to the local area 
if they believe it currently does not add to the village, rather than making it easier for a greedy 
property developer to ruin another beautiful landscape.  
 
I would also like to note that the city councillors at the drop in event were devoid of any empathy 
to the people living around the area, not seeming to care that this is our home so exceedingly 
important. A patronising air from both of them was clearly evident, not a great strategy when you 
are trying to get support from the locality.  
 

362 Dr Claudia Bool I wish to object in the strongest terms to the proposed removal of the field adjoining Kempnough 
Hall Road / Crossfield from the conservation area. 
 
Not only is this a valuable green space in terms of view, wildlife and conservation. The farmland is 
a vital buffer protecting the boundary of Worsley woods from traffic noise, fumes and nearby 
buildings. The woods are recognised as an important wildlife and recreation site, and are a very 
narrow strip at this point. The field therefore requires ongoing protection to avoid encroachment 
on this key wildlife haven. Indeed, as mentioned earlier the farmed field and the field margins are 
in themselves an important wildlife and green space and greatly valued by local residents. We 
have ourselves seen numerous species of birds and mammals on and around this site in the 
years which we have lived nearby. I see the benefits of green spaces - whether farmland, park or 
woodland - to my patients on a daily basis, and there is good evidence of the health benefits of 
simply looking out onto green space versus developed sites.  
 
Removing conservation status also opens up the risk of development and encroachment by 
housing and associated traffic noise and pollution into the site which would effectively destroy this 
green haven. I therefore trust that the planning committee will have the good sense to reject this 
proposal to remove conservation status from this site. 
 

363 Steve Fraser I wish to object in the strongest terms to the proposed removal of the field adjoining Kempnough 
Hall Road / Crossfield from the conservation area. 

P
age 367



 

68 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

 
Not only is this a valuable green space in terms of view, wildlife and conservation. The farmland is 
a vital buffer protecting the boundary of Worsley woods from traffic noise, fumes and nearby 
buildings. The woods are recognised as an important wildlife and recreation site, and are a very 
narrow strip at this point. The field therefore requires ongoing protection to avoid encroachment 
on this key wildlife haven. Indeed, as mentioned earlier the farmed field and the field margins are 
in themselves an important wildlife and green space and greatly valued by local residents. We 
have ourselves seen numerous species of birds and mammals on and around this site in the 
years which we have lived nearby. I see the benefits of green spaces - whether farmland, park or 
woodland - to my patients on a daily basis, and there is good evidence of the health benefits of 
simply looking out onto green space versus developed sites.  
 
Removing conservation status also opens up the risk of development and encroachment by 
housing and associated traffic noise and pollution into the site which would effectively destroy this 
green haven. I therefore trust that the planning committee will have the good sense to reject this 
proposal to remove conservation status from this site. 
 

364 Nigel Gray I refer to the above and I wish to register my opposition to the proposal. 
 
As you are aware the field is owned by Peel Holdings and they have recently purchased number 
14 Crossfield Drive giving them the potential to develop the said field. As you are fully aware Peel 
Holding continue to try and develop the field for a housing development. 
 
I fail to understand why the council have gone to the time and expense to carry out this review 
and can only surmise they have capitulated under the pressure from Peel Holdings. If this is 
accepted by the council this will give Peel a greater opportunity to put planning application for a 
housing development and will weaken the councils and residents position to counter their actions. 
 

013 Peter Dore I refer to the proposal in the above document that the field described as east of Crossfield Drive 
should be removed from the Conservation Area. I wish to register my opposition to this proposal. 
 
The Roe Green/Beesley Green Conservation includes the whole of Worsley Woods, which the 
Council holds in Trust for the local community. To use your own words, any objective assessment 

P
age 368



 

69 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

of the ‘positive contribution’ that the surrounding fields make to the ‘character and appearance’ of 
Worsley Woods can only conclude that they are fundamental, not only to its character and 
appearance, but to that also of the whole of the Conservation Area. In reality, far from removing 
the top field, both of the fields bounding the south west aspect of the Woods should be included in 
the Conservation Area. 
 
As you know, the field is owned by Peel Holdings and you also know that for some time they have 
had plans to use it for housing development which has been consistently opposed by the local 
community. Recently Peel Holdings purchased 14 Crossfield Drive, a large-fronted property which 
is adjacent to the field, and which could provide access to the field for development purposes. The 
proposal therefore to remove the protective designation from the field which inclusion in the 
Conservation Area brings is, to say the least, particularly ill-timed. 
 

014 Claire Hodgkinson Same representation as 013 above. 

015 Stephen Rennie Same representation as 013 above. 

017 Laura Fisher Same representation as 013 above. 

019 Louise Cowmeadow Same representation as 013 above. 

020 B and E Moult Same representation as 013 above. 

021 Catherine Dore Same representation as 013 above. 

022 Steven Blakeley Same representation as 013 above. 

023 E and P Turner Same representation as 013 above. 

024 Unknown Same representation as 013 above. 

027 F H Yates Same representation as 013 above. 

030 Lyndsey Furse Same representation as 013 above. 

031 Sarah Oldfield Same representation as 013 above. 

036  VM Blackburn Same representation as 013 above. 

038 I and I Bailey Same representation as 013 above. 

039 AD Clayson Same representation as 013 above. 

040 Carol Evans Same representation as 013 above. 

041 B Bolton Same representation as 013 above. 

042 J and D Wroe Same representation as 013 above. 

043 E Hardman Same representation as 013 above. 

044 Ernest Hatton Same representation as 013 above. 

P
age 369



 

70 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

045 Alan Titley Same representation as 013 above. 

046 AP Rowlett Same representation as 013 above. 

047 B Segal Same representation as 013 above. 

048 G and L Wiszmewslis Same representation as 013 above. 

049 Mr and Mrs P Dunn Same representation as 013 above. 

050 Angela Owen Spicer Same representation as 013 above. 

051 J Tyrrell Same representation as 013 above. 

052 J and EF Seddon Same representation as 013 above. 

053 Robin Stimson Same representation as 013 above. 

054 A and A Payne Same representation as 013 above. 

055 M Ireland Same representation as 013 above. 

056 J Ireland Same representation as 013 above. 

057 Muriel Dunn Same representation as 013 above. 

058 S and J Thompson Same representation as 013 above. 

059 I and K Chisnall Same representation as 013 above. 

060 Adrian O’Sullivan Same representation as 013 above. 

063 J Mason Same representation as 013 above. 

064 Mr and Mrs E Jones Same representation as 013 above. 

067 Beryl Gee Same representation as 013 above. 

068 Gillian Ruleman Same representation as 013 above. 

070 Sally Shepherd Same representation as 013 above. 

071 Neil Shepherd Same representation as 013 above. 

072 Doreen Grundy Same representation as 013 above. 

073 Mr and Mrs A Stall Same representation as 013 above. 

074 Susan Fielding Same representation as 013 above. 

075 Alma Moore Same representation as 013 above. 

076 Mr and Mrs C Bridgford Same representation as 013 above. 

077 Mr and Mrs N Chapman Same representation as 013 above. 

080 J and C Barlow Same representation as 013 above. 

084 Sarah Tweed Same representation as 013 above. 

087 Patricia Dawson Same representation as 013 above. 

088 Ann and Bob Malone Same representation as 013 above. 

P
age 370



 

71 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

089 C Walton Same representation as 013 above. 

090 David Royle Same representation as 013 above. 

091 Piers Griffin Same representation as 013 above. 

093 Yvonne Beesley Same representation as 013 above. 

094 Samantha Armstrong Same representation as 013 above. 

095 Allan Moore Same representation as 013 above. 

096 J Shaw Same representation as 013 above. 

097 P Hodgkinson Same representation as 013 above. 

099 Carole O’Brien Same representation as 013 above. 

100 A and W Goodehall Same representation as 013 above. 

101 David Buckley Same representation as 013 above. 

102 Margaret Waddecar Same representation as 013 above. 

103 Christopher Vickers Same representation as 013 above. 

104 Graham Fielding Same representation as 013 above. 

105 Maggie Lunn Same representation as 013 above. 

106 SH Parker Same representation as 013 above. 

107 M Preston Same representation as 013 above. 

108 Helen Forsyth Same representation as 013 above. 

109 Keith Forsyth Same representation as 013 above. 

110 Keith Stott Same representation as 013 above. 

111 M Wall Same representation as 013 above. 

112 Peter Hill Same representation as 013 above. 

113 Shelia Ferguson Same representation as 013 above. 

114 MJ Burgess Same representation as 013 above. 

115 Mr and Mrs D Stephens Same representation as 013 above. 

116 M Trevelyan Same representation as 013 above. 

117 R Franklin and N Whitehead Same representation as 013 above. 

118 RK Brown Same representation as 013 above. 

119 Anne Sutcliffe Same representation as 013 above. 

120 J Webb  Same representation as 013 above. 

121 Mr and Mrs McMahon Same representation as 013 above. 

123 E Greaves Same representation as 013 above. 

P
age 371



 

72 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

124 Susan Wraith Same representation as 013 above. 

125 EM Eckersley Same representation as 013 above. 

126 CD Caulfield Same representation as 013 above. 

127 K Barlow Same representation as 013 above. 

128 A Grant Same representation as 013 above. 

129 Peter Walkden Same representation as 013 above. 

131 AR Marginson Same representation as 013 above. 

132 WE Walsh Same representation as 013 above. 

133 Mr and Mrs C Hague Same representation as 013 above. 

134 Mr and Mrs R Booth Same representation as 013 above. 

135 S Sumner Same representation as 013 above. 

136 J Hazeldine Same representation as 013 above. 

137 Amanda Chadwick Same representation as 013 above. 

138 Judith Lyon Same representation as 013 above. 

140 Robert Goodall Same representation as 013 above. 

141 M Gordon Same representation as 013 above. 

142 Nicol Philbin Same representation as 013 above. 

143 Sylvia Hartley Same representation as 013 above. 

144 Mr and Mrs A Noone Same representation as 013 above. 

145 Claire Whalley-Livesey Same representation as 013 above. 

146 Kim Waite Same representation as 013 above. 

150 David Grennan Same representation as 013 above. 

151 N and S Boswell Same representation as 013 above. 

161 Peter Morrison Same representation as 013 above. 

162 David Hibbert Same representation as 013 above. 

163 Gillian McKenzie Same representation as 013 above. 

164 Ben Cain Same representation as 013 above. 

165 Peter Plowright Same representation as 013 above. 

166 Mr and Mrs G Steenson Same representation as 013 above. 

167 A Brigden Same representation as 013 above. 

169 Beryl Palmer Same representation as 013 above. 

170 DA Ball Same representation as 013 above. 

P
age 372



 

73 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

171 Vera Evans Same representation as 013 above. 

172 Lucy Berry Same representation as 013 above. 

173 S Adams Same representation as 013 above. 

177 Jane Baldwin Same representation as 013 above. 

178 L Abbott Same representation as 013 above. 

180 Mr and Mrs W Hogg Same representation as 013 above. 

182 U Smith Same representation as 013 above. 

183 Mr and Mrs Constable Same representation as 013 above. 

184 J Conway Same representation as 013 above. 

185  Mr and Mrs D Smith Same representation as 013 above. 

188 PA Seddon Same representation as 013 above. 

189 P Whalley Same representation as 013 above. 

190 Mr and Mrs Dodson Same representation as 013 above. 

191 Monica Cassidy Same representation as 013 above. 

192 Michael Smith Same representation as 013 above. 

193 J Andrews Same representation as 013 above. 

194 R Bradburn Same representation as 013 above. 

196 Andrea Hiorns Same representation as 013 above. 

198 E Mason Same representation as 013 above. 

199 GM Harvey Same representation as 013 above. 

200 John Sweeney Same representation as 013 above. 

201 Lisa Bromley Same representation as 013 above. 

202 Brian Rhodes Same representation as 013 above. 

203 Mary Ingham Same representation as 013 above. 

204 Mr and Mrs G Hardman Same representation as 013 above. 

205 Catherine Duff Same representation as 013 above. 

206 J and P Adams Same representation as 013 above. 

207 Trevor Kinch Same representation as 013 above. 

208 William Lo Same representation as 013 above. 

209 Shelia Wells Same representation as 013 above. 

210 Philip Sharples Same representation as 013 above. 

211 Ann Warrington Same representation as 013 above. 

P
age 373



 

74 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

212 Barbara Wood Same representation as 013 above. 

214 Marjorie Berry Same representation as 013 above. 

215 S Robinson Same representation as 013 above. 

216 Helen Bromley Same representation as 013 above. 

217 Katie Harris Same representation as 013 above. 

218 J Pattyson Same representation as 013 above. 

219 D Lennard Same representation as 013 above. 

220 SD Ward Same representation as 013 above. 

221 James Mollison Same representation as 013 above. 

222 Anthony Lee Same representation as 013 above. 

223 D McCormick Same representation as 013 above. 

224 V Wright and A Farley Same representation as 013 above. 

225 L Morris Same representation as 013 above. 

226 F and J Eyre Same representation as 013 above. 

227 Mr and Mrs S Lock Same representation as 013 above. 

228 Mr and Mrs T Monaghan Same representation as 013 above. 

234 Greta Barwise Same representation as 013 above. 

235 Gillian Birch Same representation as 013 above. 

236 Debbie Hall Same representation as 013 above. 

237 I Booth Same representation as 013 above. 

238 S Spiteri and L Buck Same representation as 013 above. 

239 A and D Entwistle Same representation as 013 above. 

240 G and J Ramsbotton Same representation as 013 above. 

241 Elizabeth Lyon Same representation as 013 above. 

242 Steve Birch Same representation as 013 above. 

243 EG Devereux Same representation as 013 above. 

245 M Deaton Same representation as 013 above. 

246 Mr Kenyon and Miss Longford Same representation as 013 above. 

248 Mr and Mrs JB Gregory Same representation as 013 above. 

249 M Corfield Same representation as 013 above. 

250 Mr and Mrs C Lomas Same representation as 013 above. 

251 Riccardo Boleto Same representation as 013 above. 

P
age 374



 

75 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

252 N and K Hyams Same representation as 013 above. 

256 G and L Matthews Same representation as 013 above. 

258 G Turnstall Same representation as 013 above. 

259 BM Statham Same representation as 013 above. 

260 Mr and Mrs JD Roberts Same representation as 013 above. 

261 EF Hodgson Same representation as 013 above. 

262 JB Baguley Same representation as 013 above. 

263 Louise Cruise Same representation as 013 above. 

264 DC Tomkinson Same representation as 013 above. 

265 Mr and Mrs Blake Same representation as 013 above. 

266 Mrs N Virtue Same representation as 013 above. 

267 Mr and Mrs M Nicholls Same representation as 013 above. 

268 T and L Gibson Same representation as 013 above. 

270 Mr S Green Same representation as 013 above. 

273 Mr AH Dawkins Same representation as 013 above. 

274 Miss RB Needs Same representation as 013 above. 

276 Helen Crowley Same representation as 013 above. 

277 K Schofield Same representation as 013 above. 

278 Mrs B Glass Same representation as 013 above. 

279 Daniel Crowley Same representation as 013 above. 

288 Mr P Goucher Same representation as 013 above. 

289 CE Seacombe Same representation as 013 above. 

290 Mr and Mrs D Ainsworth Same representation as 013 above. 

292 Miss G Clipsham Same representation as 013 above. 

293 Susan Prill Same representation as 013 above. 

294 CW Weatherstone Same representation as 013 above. 

295 Barbara Lyon Same representation as 013 above. 

296 David Naylor Same representation as 013 above. 

297 Simon Purlell Same representation as 013 above. 

298 James Anthony Wood Same representation as 013 above. 

299 L Goodwin Same representation as 013 above. 

301 Mary Walker Same representation as 013 above. 

P
age 375



 

76 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

302 Paul R Speakman Same representation as 013 above. 

303 B and D Marsh Same representation as 013 above. 

306 A Smith Same representation as 013 above. 

307 John White Same representation as 013 above. 

308 Matthew Lond Same representation as 013 above. 

309 Brian Newton Same representation as 013 above. 

315 G and F Sidis Same representation as 013 above. 

316 Karen Pearce Same representation as 013 above. 

317 Ian Pearce Same representation as 013 above. 

318 Mr and Mrs Kemp Same representation as 013 above. 

319 E and J Robinson Same representation as 013 above. 

320 AJ Barker Same representation as 013 above. 

321 JV Addison Same representation as 013 above. 

333 Jason Washington Same representation as 013 above. 

334 John Glover Same representation as 013 above. 

341 James Austin Same representation as 013 above. 

342 Judith Austin Same representation as 013 above. 

346 Brenda Cogwell Same representation as 013 above. 

347 LA Hall Same representation as 013 above. 

348 CM Bradley Same representation as 013 above. 

349 Mr and Mrs Cahill Same representation as 013 above. 

350 C Birchby Same representation as 013 above. 

351 Eilspeth Holman Same representation as 013 above. 

352 C and D Reynolds Same representation as 013 above. 

353 Barbara Leigh Same representation as 013 above. 

354 S Beavis Same representation as 013 above. 

355 R Beavis Same representation as 013 above. 

356 J Beavis Same representation as 013 above. 

357 M Beavis Same representation as 013 above. 

016 Susannah Kwok Same representation as 013 above, with the addition of: 
 
I wish to register my opposition to the proposal to remove the area around Manthorpe Avenue and 

P
age 376



 

77 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

the field described as east of Crossfield Drive from the Conservation Area. It also appears that the 
removal of Manthorpe Avenue would also lead the way to a new housing development on the 
vacant land at the end of the cul-de-sac. 
 

025 Mr and Mrs AJ Atwell Same representation as 013 above, with the addition of: 
 
We both fully endorse the comments in this letter. 
 

029 Ken and Fiona Ogg Same representation as 013 above, with the following text from the second paragraph omitted:  
 
In reality, far from removing the top field, both of the fields bounding the south west aspect of the 
Woods should be included in the Conservation Area. 
 

069 Michelle Flynn Same representation as 013 above, with the addition of: 
 
There has been excellent work done to the Worsley loop line, bringing a lot more people to 
Worsley/Roe Green to enjoy the outdoor space adjacent to the conservation area. Removing this 
conservation area would damage the hard work put into the loop line. 
 
Also there is a growing traffic problem on Greenleach Lane which has worsened in the last 6 
months. There are no crossings near the shop/post office and bus stops where children have to 
cross on this now very busy road. Removing conservation land would mean more houses and 
more traffic which the area cannot cope with.  
 

078 Rita Bowater Same representation as 013 above, with the addition of: 
 
No, no, no. 
 

079 Alan Woods Same representation as 013 above, with the addition of: 
 
Over the past few months we had heard rumours that the Peel Group were seeking permission to 
destroy the green belt, the wild life and the rural village of Worsley, proposing to build hundreds of 
houses in the Worsley Woods area, bringing more traffic to the already over crowded roads 

P
age 377



 

78 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

around our village of Worsley. 
 
Already, Walkden Road resembles the M1 most of the day and the thought of building hundreds 
of houses in this small village would definitely destroy the village completely, plus the people who 
purchased the new properties would also be trapped in daily gridlock. 
 
Worsley village is a rural village with open space, wild life, trees, Worsley Woods etc. People 
travel from miles away visiting our village and woods. Building hundreds of houses in the area 
would turn the village into a housing estate. It would be like living in the centre of New York with 
constant traffic, noise, pollution, no green belt, no trees, the wild life would disappear, it would be 
a complete disaster for our village, for the people who live here now and the new residents too, it 
would be an unbearable nightmare, plus it would devalue the whole area completely. 
 
The people who are seeking permission to build all these hundreds of houses and destroy the 
rural village do not live here, they all live in the Isle of Man tax haven. They couldn’t care less 
about destroying Worsley and the surrounding open spaces and wild life and turn the village into a 
car park, they are just looking at how much more profit they can make, they are lucky to have 
inherited the wonderful village of Worsley with all the open spaces and Worsley Woods etc and 
now they want to destroy it. 
 
I remember as a boy in the boy scouts being so excited at the thought of spending a week 
camping out in Worsley Woods and just walking around the area that was full of open spaces and 
wild life and believing one day I would return and live in this beautiful rural village and now after 
35 years as a resident, the Peel Group want to destroy it all for greed only. 
 
If they are allowed to obtain planning permission and build hundreds of houses on the open 
spaces and destroy the area I am sure there will be plenty of residents who have lived here for 
years and the new young residents who have recently moved into the rural village be looking 
elsewhere to move to. 
 
In the past people have worked hard, saved up and moved to Worsley because it is different than 
the big housing estates that are springing up all over, Worsley is a very old village with a tradition 
and history. Please do not let the greedy Peel Group kill this historic village and its open spaces 

P
age 378



 

79 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

and wild life etc. 
 
If Peel need to build houses without turning our village into a motorway all they need to do is turn 
left at the traffic light at Walkden Road and East Lancashire road on to the A580 and head 
towards Liverpool and between those lights and the roundabout at Leigh there are miles of open 
spaces on each side of the road with a very good road network. 
 
Please do not let them destroy Worsley village and its surrounding beauty and wild life, just for 
greed and profit. 
 

122 Dave Bartlett Same representation as 013 above, with the addition of: 
 
This smacks of a consolation prize for Peel after the last plans were rejected. 
 

149 Anne Grennan Same representation as 013 above, with the addition of: 
 
We have not been notified about this by Salford Council. Why not? Removal of agricultural land 
will increase flooding of brooks in the area and must be preserved and protected. Far from 
removing the field all the green space to the south should be included as protection is needed to 
preserve the area. Local schools, roads, GP’s cannot cope with more housing in this area of 
Worsley. 
 

160 J Lane Same representation as 013 above, with the addition of: 
 
If we continue covering green belt land with housing stock on this scale it will not be long if this 
was to go ahead that we will be living in a concrete jungle in Worsley. 
 

168 Ellen Cotogni Same representation as 013 above, with the addition of: 
 
Please do not let Peel Holdings try and build on our green spaces. Salford needs green spaces. 
 

179 JM Hart Same representation as 013 above, with the addition of: 
 

P
age 379



 

80 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

Nothing can be gained from removal of valuable open countryside from a conservation area, 
except from a developer’s perspective. 
 

181 Mr and Mrs J Harrison Same representation as 013 above, with the addition of: 
 
Like many others we bought our property in this area because of its rural ambience. Once this 
amenity is gone it can never return. 
 

197 H Lucero Same representation as 013 above, with the addition of: 
 
I like my children to be able to play in and around the woods in a safe environment. This includes 
walking the edge of the fields to experience a more open environment. The woods themselves are 
a very narrow strip that would feel very closed in if developments were to occur on any aspect. 
This would prove a detriment to the woods themselves and the entire area. 
 

224A V Wright and A Farley Same representation as 013 above, with the addition of: 
 
We agree with our property on Lumber Lane and Hardy Grove being included in the Conservation 
Area. It would seem a shame and great loss if the field by the woods, land east of Crossfield Drive 
was lost as the views enhance the rural nature of that part of the wooded area. 
 

244 Martin Anglesey Same representation as 013 above, with the addition of: 
 
The continued protection of open space/Greenfield sites is integral to the protection of the Roe 
Green/Beesley Green conservation area. I fully support the inclusion of both fields surrounding 
the south west aspect within the conservation area, in addition to the field which you propose to 
exclude. Furthermore all areas which make up the Worsley Greenway should have conservation 
area status to protect them from the risk of development which would irrevocably spoil the 
Worsley character. 
 

247 David Greaves Same representation as 013 above, with the addition of: 
 
Furthermore, I would like to take this opportunity also to point out that development of the field 

P
age 380



 

81 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

with access from Crossfield Drive would create major traffic problems since the traffic would have 
to use Crossfield Drive and then either Aviary Road or Woodlands Road to get onto Walkden 
Road and at peak times Walkden Road is already very heavily congested. This would add to 
future extra congestion produced by the proposed development of the Worsley New Hall site 
which it is said would generate hundreds of thousands, if not more visitors each year. 
 

253 Amanda Ashworth Same representation as 013 above, with the addition of: 
 
In addition, I believe two further points should be considered. Firstly, the cottages which sit on 
Beesley Green currently back onto the Woods and beyond onto the field and certainly in the 
winter when there are no leaves on the trees have a full view across the field. If houses are 
subsequently built on the field, this would almost certainly affect the character and outlook of 
Beesley Green, particularly in the winter months.  
 
Secondly, the field also borders the edge of the end of Kempnough Hall Rd and enhances the 
outlook  from and the sense of peace and space around  the recently restored Kempnough Hall, 
which is a Grade 2 listed building and an important part of the Conservation Area. I believe that by 
removing the field from the Conservation area, which would in turn increase the likelihood of Peel 
being successful in getting planning permission to build on the site, would not only be detrimental 
to the area around this listed building but also, given that the point of access to the field is directly 
across from this property, is likely to create traffic in this important part of the conservation area.  
I hope you take all these important points into consideration in your review. 
 

257 B and J McGrath Same representation as 013 above, with the addition of: 
 
We wish to support the proposal to include the additional land in the conservation area as we feel 
this area/houses have a unique and historic contribution to make to the area. 
 

272 A and M Smethurst Same representation as 013 above, with the addition of: 
 
We thank you for your letter regarding the Roe Green/Beesley Green conservation area and 
particularly the field at the rear of houses in Crossfield Drive. We believe it should stay as part of 
this conservation area. 

P
age 381



 

82 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

 
Several years ago, we, the people living in Crossfield Drive and others engaged a barrister to fight 
to stop the proposed building on the adjacent field. The decision went in our favour, in perpetuity. 
It was decided these fields were so close to the woodlands that constant human activity would 
disturb the animal and bird life in these woodlands and eventually be to the detriment of this whole 
area of natural beauty – photographs of which are regularly used in promotional material for 
Salford. 
 
Referring to the possible development on these fields (denied by your man in charge at the 
Beesley Green appraisal) – we and all our neighbours are appalled to find out that Peel Holdings 
have purchased 14 Crossfield Drive as a possible access area to these fields. This firm are only 
interested in financial reward and pleasing shareholders. No doubt their management all have 
their own acres of land far away from all building projects.  
 
From Greenleach Lane, the Spinney, Kempnough Hall area and Crossfield Drive have become a 
safe, healthy, daily walkway for the school children and parents as the attend St Marks School. 
Their alternative would be using cars adding to the regular traffic congestion, or walking alongside 
traffic on polluted Walkden Road. 
 
The comparative peace of the Crossfield Road cul-de-sac must not be destroyed. We have lived 
in this area since early 70’s and in Salford all our lives. We remember Worsley as a pretty, 
peaceful, historic village – but in the 60’s came the motorway, complete with roundabout and slip 
roads which destroyed the original village. We now live with lines of slow-moving traffic on Barton 
Road, Worsley Road, Walkden Road and Leigh Road, particularly at commuter times, 2-3 hours 
every morning and similarly in the evenings. Plus the inevitable pollution which we don’t think has 
ever been measured. 
 
We all feel duty bound to fight to keep this conservation area intact for the city of Salford. We 
certainly do not need any more traffic on our roads which more housing development would bring. 
We also maintain Peels’ other new project – the RHS garden which would bring national traffic, 
including coaches, into Worsley via our motorway. Much thought and action re traffic 
management required here! 
 

P
age 382



 

83 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

291 Alan D Leedham Same representation as 013 above, with the addition of: 
 
PS – I wonder, Mr Findley, if you would be supportive of the proposal if you lived in our area? 
 

300 C Jolley Same representation as 013 above, with the addition of: 
 
Pave paradise – put up a parking lot. Take all the trees and put them in a tree museum. Charge 
the people a dollar and half just to see ‘em. Don’t know what you’ve got ‘till it’s gone. Pave 
paradise and put up a parking lot. (Joni Mitchell – 1960’s– 1970’s) 
 
Please leave alone – think of our future generations. However the above song seems to be 
coming to fruition. 
 

304 Sheila Sidebotham Same representation as 013 above, with the addition of: 
 
I also want to say that we need all the breathing space we can get – we are surrounded by noise 
and pollution from motorways and roads. Our walks through the woods and the views resuscitate 
us. 
 

310 A Eccles Same representation as 013 above, with the addition of: 
 
PS. Our green lung is so important to Salford – please support us. 
 

322 Chris Harrison Same representation as 013 above, with the addition of: 
 
Please consider my opposition to the proposition that the field east of Crossfield Drive be 
removed from the protected conservation area status. I needn’t I’m sure have to raise the 
blindingly obvious concerns about traffic congestion (already chronic in this area thanks to the 
egregious lack of foresight and consideration by our inept local council). Seems to me and many 
other local residents that the council will not be satisfied until Peel Holdings have completely 
vandalised what little remaining green spaces we have left in this once lovely part of the 
conurbation of Greater Manchester. 
 

P
age 383



 

84 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

329 Michelle Drew Same representation as 013 above, with the addition of: 
 
Further to this the woods and surrounding green fields are fundamental to the character of 
Worsley and is what attracts so many people to the area and plays a huge role in the welfare of 
the community. Any erosion of this green space can only have a negative impact on the area. 
 

330 Jon Drew Same representation as 013 above, with the addition of: 
 
Further to this the woods and surrounding green fields are fundamental to the character of 
Worsley and is what attracts so many people to the area and plays a huge role in the welfare of 
the community. Any erosion of this green space can only have a negative impact on the area. 
 

335 Chris Ollerhead Same representation as 013 above, with the addition of: 
 
We strongly object to this proposal in a conservation area for many reasons including the local 
infrastructure - particularly roads and school scan not cope with more houses and people.  
 
On the face of it, with Peel already purchasing a property on Crossfield Drive to gain access to the 
filed they already own, it would appear this is already a done deal? 
 

338 Nicola Ollerhead Same representation as 013 above, with the addition of: 
 
We strongly object to this proposal in a conservation area for many reasons including the local 
infrastructure - particularly roads and school scan not cope with more houses and people.  
 
On the face of it, with Peel already purchasing a property on Crossfield Drive to gain access to the 
filed they already own, it would appear this is already a done deal? 
 

340 Sir Alan Cockshaw Same representation as 013 above, with the addition of: 
 
We are naturally very concerned about this proposal for the land which is immediately to the rear 
of our new home. 
 

P
age 384



 

85 
 

 

 

 

P
age 385



 

86 
 

Representations received following the close of the consultation period 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

381 Mr W Porritt I have, with great interest, visited your Conservation Area Appraisal on the web site, to view the 
changes you propose. I then arranged a local walk with my wife to view the suggested changes. 
The outcome was that we, in general, concur with the appraisal additions/deletions, but disagree 
on the deletion, from the conservation area, of the land to the east of Crossfuield Drive. 
 
The view across the field of Worsley Woods from the Crossfield Drive viewing point, is 
magnificent, the pasture, the ploughed field setting the Woods as an entity. All other boundaries 
are mainly roads/buildings were no appreciation can be made of the Woods beauty! Someone in 
the 1970’s must have appreciated this view, and reacted, with the positive decision, to include it in 
the Roe Green/Beesley Green Conservation Area. 
 
Please continue to include this area in the Conservation Area! 
 

382 Mr Nield and Miss Hannant You may well have by now had many letters from concerned local residents in the Roe Green and 
Worsley area in light of proposals to remove the conservation area to the east of Crossfield Drive 
in Worsley. No doubt, you will gather from my letter that both myself and my partner, who live on 
Crossfield Drive, oppose this move and therefore we wish to register this opposition to you. 
 
Without boring you with the finer details of the whys and wherefores, as no doubt you will have 
had many letters raising concern, the fact of the matter is simple. Crossfield Drive is a no through 
road used heavily in the mornings and afternoons by hundreds of parents and guardians walking 
their children to and from St Mark’s Primary school, to which both myself and my partner join them 
walking our daughter to school. 
 
I think it is pretty obvious that Peel Holdings recent purchase of 14 Crossfield Drive is another 
attempt to strengthen their position in looking to develop the land which is mentioned above. 
Come on Chris, is there really the demand in Worsley for more housing bearing in mind the 
further developments which are taking place in Boothstown and the surrounding areas? How 
much upset and controversy have those developments caused already, let alone the increase in 
traffic volumes in an already over used and over capacity transport network. If there was such a 
demand then surely the development at the Boat Yard in Worsley would have sold out in quick 

P
age 386



 

87 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

time instead of relying upon an auction to sell off the final plots on that development which was 
over time scale due to lack of interest and demand. 
 
Putting greed to one side here, giving Peel the potential opportunity to develop the land into 
housing, add several hundred cars to this already busy area is only going to cause more stress, 
anguish and unfortunately, accidents and surely death when routes are already used for walking 
by hundreds of children, many of which are at ages where they are not socially aware enough of 
traffic and moving vehicles and the consequences they bring. 
 
As stated, no doubt you have heard from many residents, we share their concerns and are 
disguised at the thought and prospect of further development in an already busy and over-
crowded part of Manchester. 
 

384 Andrew Aherne I am responding to the consultation regarding the appraisal of Roe Green and Beesley Green 
conservation area. I apologise for the late entry, this was due to Easter holidays. It is well 
recognised that this area is an important amenity to a large part of the Salford population and 
therefore should in my view be protected as much as possible.  
 
I live on Beesley Green overlooking the car parking area to the community centre and therefore 
can see first-hand the number of visitors the area receives including walkers dog, walkers, 
cyclists, children and adults alike.  
 
The conservation area is unique in that it provides a small amount of open space in an otherwise 
dense urban area and enables therefore local people to have some recreation on their doorstep in 
a very sustainable manner, otherwise they would have to travel further afield. 
 
I believe it is therefore inappropriate to declassify any of the conservation area and indeed to the 
contrary believe the open areas in the immediate vicinity should also be protected in order that 
this relatively small area is maintained as much as possible. I and you will be aware of the 
pressure to build on greenfield sites in the area. 
 
I therefore propose the fields to the south of the current boundary up to the back of the existing 
residential areas together with the field between the disused railway lines and the East Lancs 

P
age 387



 

88 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

Road to the north-east should be included to ensure that these open aspects can be maintained 
to the benefit of a large catchment area of Salford residents. All of these areas are currently 
intensively used by the general public and therefore are to the benefit of all. 
 
Notwithstanding this late entry I do hope you will be able to take on board my views and I do 
apologise for any inconvenience this may have caused. 
 

365 Mark Spavin I refer to the proposal in the above document that the field described as east of Crossfield Drive 
should be removed from the Conservation Area. I wish to register my opposition to this proposal. 
 
The Roe Green/Beesley Green Conservation includes the whole of Worsley Woods, which the 
Council holds in Trust for the local community. To use your own words, any objective assessment 
of the ‘positive contribution’ that the surrounding fields make to the ‘character and appearance’ of 
Worsley Woods can only conclude that they are fundamental, not only to its character and 
appearance, but to that also of the whole of the Conservation Area. In reality, far from removing 
the top field, both of the fields bounding the south west aspect of the Woods should be included in 
the Conservation Area. 
 
As you know, the field is owned by Peel Holdings and you also know that for some time they have 
had plans to use it for housing development which has been consistently opposed by the local 
community. Recently Peel Holdings purchased 14 Crossfield Drive, a large-fronted property which 
is adjacent to the field, and which could provide access to the field for development purposes. The 
proposal therefore to remove the protective designation from the field which inclusion in the 
Conservation Area brings is, to say the least, particularly ill-timed. 
 

366 SM Gosland Same representation as 365 above. 

368 Matthew Collins Same representation as 365 above. 

369 Lynne Newton Same representation as 365 above. 

370 Clare Fairhurst Same representation as 365 above. 

371 Elizabeth Lingard Same representation as 365 above. 

372 Joanna Britton Same representation as 365 above. 

373 Mrs G Langford Same representation as 365 above. 

374 Laura Adelman Same representation as 365 above. 

P
age 388



 

89 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

375 Kimberley Rowley Same representation as 365 above. 

376 M Sutton Kirkby Same representation as 365 above. 

377 Nicola Mountcastle Same representation as 365 above. 

378 Mr JA Haynes Same representation as 365 above. 

379 David Murphy Same representation as 365 above. 

380 Mrs A Potter Same representation as 365 above. 

367 Holly McMahon Same representation as 365 above, with the addition of: 
 
As a family we have always taken regular walks through the woods and I personally use this route 
for daily runs/bike rides. The land which is in question as part of the conservation area is vital to 
the character of Worsley and the feeling of being in the country therefore removing it and opening 
it up to being built on would have a detrimental effect on the appearance of Worsley and the 
woods. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 389



 

90 
 

 

P
age 390



 

Salford City Council 
 

 

 

Roe Green / Beesley Green  

Conservation Area Appraisal 

 

 

Consultation Statement 

Annexes G - J 

Page 391



Annex G – List of Consultees  

Page 392



ANNEX G 
ORGANISATION OR 
INDIVIDUAL 

L  ABBOTT 

P ACHESON 

J AND P ADAMS 

S ADAMS 

JV ADDISON 

L  ADELMAN 

A AHERNE 

J AHERNE 

D AINSWORTH 

J ANDREWS 

M ANGLESEY 

S ARMSTRONG 

D ASHTON 

D ASHWORTH 

A ASHWORTH 

AJ ATWELL 

J AUSTIN 

J AUSTIN 

JB BAGULEY 

I AND I BAILEY 

J BAINES 

J BALDWIN 

DA BALL 

AJ BARKER 

J AND C  BARLOW 

K BARLOW 

D BARLOW 

J AND C BARLOW 

D BARLOW 

J BARNES 

D BARTLETT 

BEAVIS 

R BEAVIS 

J BEAVIS 

M BEAVIS 

Y BEESLEY 

R AND C BENTLEY 

B BACKHOUSE 

B BERRY 

M BERRY 

H BERTENSHAW 

DT BINGHAM 

P BINNS 

N BINNS 

G BIRCH 

S BIRCH 

C BIRCHBY 

ORGANISATION OR 
INDIVIDUAL 

VM BLACKBURN 

MR BLAKE 

S BLAKELEY 

R BOLETO 

B BOLTON 

C BOOL 

R BOOTH 

I BOOTH 

N AND  S BOSWELL 

R BOWATER 

R BRADBURN 

CM BRADLEY 

V BREARLEY 

C BRIDGFORD 

A BRIGDEN 

J BRITTON 

L BROMLEY 

H BROMLEY 

RK BROWN 

D BUCKLEY 

P BURGESS 

MJ BURGESS 

N BURKE 

MR CAHILL 

B CAIN 

JR CARTWRIGHT 

M CASSIDY 

CD CAULFIELD 

A CHADWICK 

N CHAPMAN 

D CHAPMAN 

J CHAPMAN 

AG CHEETHAM 

K AND I CHISNALL 

C CLARKSON 

J AND G CLAY 

AD CLAYSON 

G CLIPSHAM 

A COCKSHAW 

B COGSWELL 

M COLLINS 

MR CONSTABLE 

J CONWAY 

S COOPER 

M CORFIELD 

M CORLESS 

R CORNTHWAITE 

ORGANISATION OR 
INDIVIDUAL 

E COTOGNI 

L COWMEADOW 

H CROWLEY 

D CROWLEY 

L CRUISE 

GA DARLINGTON 

A DARLINGTON 

AH DAWKINS 

P DAWSON 

R DEAN 

P DEARDEN 

M DEATON 

EG DEVEREUX 

DODSON 

P DORE 

C DORE 

M DREW 

J DREW 

P DRISCOLL 

D DRISCOLL 

C DUFF 

M DUFFIN 

P DUNN 

M DUNN 

A ECCLES 

EM ECKERSLEY 

P EDGE 

A AND D ENTWISTLE 

C EVANS 

R AND C EVANS 

V EVANS 

F AND J EYRE 

C FAIRHURST 

A FAIRLEY 

I FERENDENUS 

S FERGUSON 

S FIELDING 

G FIELDING 

L FISHER 

M FLYNN 

H FORSYTH 

K FORSYTH 

M FOX 

C FOX 

A FRANCE 

N FRANCE 

S FRASER Page 393



ANNEX G 
ORGANISATION OR 
INDIVIDUAL 

L FURSE 

R GARRIDO 

B GEE 

B GEE 

T AND L GIBSON 

R AND L GILBERT 

B GLASS 

J GLOVER 

L GOODALL 

R GOODALL 

A AND W GOODHALL 

L GOODWIN 

M GORDON 

SM GOSLAND 

P GOUCHER 

J GOULD 

A GRANT 

I GRAY 

M GRAY 

O GRAY 

N GRAY 

E GREAVES 

D GREAVES 

S GREEN 

JB GREGORY 

A GRENNAN 

D GRENNAN 

B GRETA 

L GRIFFIN 

P GRIFFIN 

D GRUNDY 

C HAGUE 

C HALL 

D HALL 

E HALL 

A HALL 

V HALLAM 

E HARDMAN 

G HARDMAN 

K HARRIS 

J HARRISON 

C HARRISON 

JM HART  

S HARTLEY 

GM HARVEY 

P HASSALL 

E HATTON 

ORGANISATION OR 
INDIVIDUAL 

DA HAYNES 

J HAZELDINE 

D HIBBERT 

P HILL 

J AND E HILL 

A HIORNS 

C HODGKINSON 

P HODGKINSON 

EF HODGSON 

W HOGG 

E HOLMAN 

B HOPE 

B HORNER 

F HOWELL 

MY HUANG-SOLLAZZI 

N AND K HYAMS 

M INGHAM 

M IRELAND 

J IRELAND 

M JOHNSON 

J JOLLEY 

E JONES 

MR KEMP 

N KENNEDY 

EO KENNEDY 

S AND G KENNEDY 

T KINCH 

J KNIGHT 

S KWOK 

J LANE 

G LANGFORD 

JM LEACH 

A LEE 

A LEEDHAM 

K LEES 

B LEIGH 

J LEMMON 

D LENNARD 

P LEWIS 

E LINGARD 

W LO 

S LOCK 

C LOMAS 

M LOND 

K LOWNDES 

H LUCERO 

M LUNN 

ORGANISATION OR 
INDIVIDUAL 

J LYNCH 

J LYON 

E LYON 

B LYON 

G MACKENZIE 

A AND B MALONE 

JE MARGINSON 

AR MARGINSON 

B AND D MARSH 

J MASON 

E MASON 

E MATHER 

G AND L MATTHEWS 

DT MATTISON 

D MCCORMICK 

B AND J MCGRATH 

G MCMAHON 

H MCMAHON 

J MCMAHON 

L MERRYWEATHER 

K MILLIGAN 

K MINSHALL 

J MOLLISON 

T MONAGHAN 

A MOORE 

A MOORE 

L MORRIS 

P MORRISON 

J MOSLEY 

B AND E MOULT 

N MOUNTCASTLE 

D MURPHY 

D NAYLOR 

SA NAZAR 

RB NEEDS 

B NEWTON 

L NEWTON 

M NICHOLLS 

E NICHOLSON 

A NOONE 

C O'BRIEN 

G OGDEN 

K AND F OGG 

S OLDFIELD 

C OLLERHEAD 

N OLLERHEAD 

A O'SULLIVAN Page 394



ANNEX G 
ORGANISATION OR 
INDIVIDUAL 

A OWEN SPICER 

B PALMER 

SH PARKER 

J PATTYSON 

A AND A PAYNE 

K PEARCE  

I PEARCE  

N PHILBIN 

P PLOWRIGHT 

W PORRITT 

A POTTER 

A POWELL 

M PRESTON 

S PRILL 

A ND J PROCTOR 

S PURLELL 

N RABBITT 

J RABBITT 

G AND J RAMSBOTTOM 

S RENNIE 

C AND D REYNOLDS 

B RHODES 

M RIGG 

JD ROBERTS 

S ROBINSON 

E AND J ROBINSON 

J ROBINSON 

AP ROWLETT 

K ROWLEY 

D ROYLE 

V ROYLE 

J ROYLE 

G RULEMAN 

K SCHOFIELD  

V SCOTT 

CE SEACOMBE 

J AND EF SEDDON 

PA SEDDON 

B SEGAL 

PSHARPLES 

J SHAW 

S SHEPHERD 

N SHEPHERD 

S SIDEBOTHAM 

G AND F SIDIS 

N SLINN 

AD AND M SMETHURST 

ORGANISATION OR 
INDIVIDUAL 

M SMETHURST 

U SMITH 

D SMITH 

M SMITH 

A SMITH 

S SOLLAZZI 

R SOLLAZZI 

M SPAVIN 

PR SPEAKMAN 

A STAAL 

S STANYARD  

BM STATHAM 

G STEENSON 

M STEPHENS 

D STEPHENS 

A AND R STEVEN 

AR STIMSON 

K STOTT 

P SUGDEN 

D SUGDEN 

S SUMNER 

A SUTCLIFFE 

B AND P SUTHERLAND 

M SUTTON KIRKBY 

J SWEENEY 

S AND J THOMPSON 

A TITLEY 

DC TOMKINSON 

M TREVELYAN 

E AND P TURNER 

G TURNSTALL  

SE TWEED 

D TYLDESLEY 

J TYRRELL 

C VICKERS 

N VIRTUE 

M WADDECAR 

D WADE 

K WAITE 

P WALKDEN 

M WALKER  

M WALL 

L WALLWORK 

WE WALSH 

S WALTON 

C WALTON 

SB WARD 

ORGANISATION OR 
INDIVIDUAL 

A WARRINGTON 

J WASHINGTON 

M AND J WATTS 

CW WEATHERSTONE 

J WEBB 

C WELLS 

S WELLS 

P WHALLEY 

C WHALLEY - LIVESEY 

J WHITE 

L WILLIAMS 

G AND L WISZMEWSLIS 

B WOOD 

JA WOOD 

A WOODS 

S WRAITH 

J AND D WROE 

FH YATES 

 

Page 395



ANNEX G 

ORGANISATION OR 
INDIVIDUAL 

ALDER KING PLANNING 
CONSULTANTS 

ANN MIDDLETON 

ANNE BROOMHEAD 

ARMSTRONG BURTON 
PLANNING 

BARRATT HOMES 

BARRATT HOMES 
MANCHESTER 

BARTON WILLMORE 
PARTNERSHIP 

BARTON WILMORE 

BELLWAY HOMES NORTH 
WEST 

BERYL HENSON 

BIDWELLS 

BNP PARIBAS 

BNP PARIBAS REAL 
ESTATE UK 

B SMITH 

BROADWAY MALYAN 
PLANNING 

BROCK CARMICHAEL 
ARCHITECTS 

BUSINESS CONSULTATIVE 
FORUM 

CA PLANNING 

CAMPAIGN FOR REAL ALE 
CAMRA 

CANAL AND RIVER TRUST 

CBRE 

CHURCH OF ENGLAND 
DIOCESE OF 
MANCHESTER 

CITY WEST HOUSING 

COLLIERS CRE 

COLLIERS 
INTERNATIONAL 

CONTOUR SYMPHONY 
HOUSING GROUP 

COOPERATIVE GROUP 
PROPERTY DIVISION 

COUNTRYSIDE 
PROPERTIES PLC 

CPRE LANCASHIRE 
BRANCH 

DALTON WARNER DAVIES 

DAVID WILSON HOMES 

DELOITTE 

DEVELOPMENT MANAGER 

DPP ONE LTD 

DTZ 

ELAN HOMES 

ELECTRICITY NORTH 
WEST LTD 

ORGANISATION OR 
INDIVIDUAL 

ELLESMERE 
ENGINEERING CO LTD 

ENVIRONMENT AGENCY 

EON ENERGY LTD 

EVERGREEN 
CONSULTING 

EVERSHEDS LLP 

FAIRBRIDGE - THE 
PRINCE'S TRUST 
PROGRAMME 

FAIRHURST 

FIELDS IN TRUST 

FIRST PLAN 

FORESTRY COMMISSION 
NW 

FRAMPTONS 

FRIENDS OF ROE GREEN 

FUSION 

G BRYAN 

GL HEARN 

GM PEDESTRIANS 
ASSOCIATION 

GREAT PLACES HOUSING 
GROUP 

GREATER MANCHESTER 
ARCHAEOLOGICAL 
ADVISORY SERVICE 

GREATER MANCHESTER 
ECOLOGY UNIT 

GREATER MANCHESTER 
MINERALS AND WASTE 
PLANNING UNIT 

GROUNDWORK 
MANCHESTER SALFORD 
TRAFFORD 

GVA 

GVA  LTD 

HEATON PLANNING LTD 

HIMOR GROUP 

HISTORIC ENGLAND 

HOME BUILDERS 
FEDERATION 

HOME START SALFORD 

HOURIGAN CONNOLLY 

HOW PLANNING 

HOW PLANNING LLP 

I MACDONALD 

INDIGO PLANNING 

IRWELL VALLEY HA 

J LEMMON 

J YOUNG 

JASP PLANNING 
CONSUTANCY LTD 

JMP CONSULTING 

JOHN MCGILL 

ORGANISATION OR 
INDIVIDUAL 

JONES LANG LA SALLE 
LLP 

JWPC LTD 

KIRKWELLS 

KNIGHT FRANK LLP 

LAMBERT SMITH 
HAMPTON 

LANCS CIRCUIT OF 
JEHOVAH'S WITNESSES 

LUDLAM ASSOCIATES 

MANCHESTER DIOCESAN 
BOARD FOR SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY 

MILLER HOMES 

MILLER HOMES NORTH 
WEST 

MISTER BLISTER LTD 

MORRIS HOMES (NORTH) 
LTD 

MORSTON ASSETS 
LIMITED 

MORSTON ASSETS LTD 

MOSAIC TOWN PLANNING 

MR C GUEST 

MR DJ BANKS 

MR P SHARPLES 

MR P TRAYNOR 

MRS A FICKLING 

MRS B J GEE 

MRS C  SMITH 

MRS E DOYLE 

MRS J MASON 

MRS J ROBINSON 

MRS J BARNES 

MS E LYON 

MVA LTD 

NATHANIEL LICHFIELD 
AND PARTNERS 

NATIONAL FARMERS 
UNION 

NATIONAL GRID 

NATURAL ENGLAND 

NEIGHBOURHOOD 
MANAGER 

NEIL STANYARD 

NETWORK RAIL 
(INFRASTRUCTURE) LTD 

NFU 

NJL CONSULTING 

NORMAN REDHEAD 

OFFICE OF BARBARA 
KEELEY MP 

OPEN SPACES SOCIETY 

PAUL BUTLER 
ASSOCIATES 

P OGDEN 

Page 396



ANNEX G 

ORGANISATION OR 
INDIVIDUAL 

PEACOCK & SMITH 

PEACOCK AND SMITH 

PEACOCK AND SMITH  

PEEL HOLDINGS 

PEEL HOLDINGS (LAND 
AND PROPERTY) LTD 

PEEL HOLDINGS LTD 

PEEL INVESTMENTS LTD 

PEOPLE FIRST 
MANCHESTER 

PERSIMMON HOMES NW 

P BALL 

P WALKER 

PLAN INFO (PART OF 
DPDS GROUP) 

PLANNING POTENTIAL 

PLANWARE LTD 

PRDS 

RAMBLERS ASSOCIATION 

RAID 

RANDALL THORP 

RAPLEYS 

RAPLEYS LLP 

REDROW HOMES 

REDROW HOMES (NORTH 
WEST) LTD. 

RG+P LTD 

RICHARD FEARNALL 

RSPB 

RT REVD DS WALKER 

R WOLSTENHOLME 

SALFORD COMMUNITY 
LEISURE 

SALFORD COMMUNITY 
NETWORK 

ORGANISATION OR 
INDIVIDUAL 

SALFORD DISABILITY 
FORUM 

SALFORD FORUM OF 
OLDER PEOPLE 

SALFORD LINK PROJECT 

SALFORD YOUTH 
SERVICE 

SAVILLS 

SEDGWICK ASSOCIATES 

SLR CONSULTING LTD 

SPORT ENGLAND 

SPORT ENGLAND 
(GENERIC EMAIL 
ADDRESS) 

SSA PLANNING LTD 

STEVEN ABBOTT 
ASSOCIATES LLP 

STEWART ROSS 
ASSOCIATES 

SUSAN STANYARD 

TAYLOR WIMPEY 
STRATEGIC LAND 

TAYLOR WIMPEY UK LTD 

THE COOPERATIVE 
GROUP LTD 

THE EMERSON GROUP 

THE LAWN TENNIS 
ASSOCIATION 

THE MANCHESTER SHIP 
CANAL COMPANY 

THE PLANNING BUREAU 

THE TWENTIETH 
CENTURY SOCIETY 

THE WOODLAND TRUST 

TURLEY 

UNITED UTILITIES PLC 

ORGANISATION OR 
INDIVIDUAL 

UNITED UTILITIES 
PROPERTY SERVICES 

UNITED UTILITIES 
PROPERTY SOLUTIONS 
LTD 

UNITED UTILITIES WATER 
PLC 

URS GLOBAL 

VINCENT AND GORBING 

WAINHOMES 

WAINHOMES (NW) LTD 

WALSINGHAM PLANNING 

WALTON AND CO 

WHITE YOUNG GREEN 
PLANNING 

WORSLEY CIVIC TRUST & 
AMENITY SOCIETY 

YOUR HOUSING GROUP 

WORSLEY WOODS 
ACTION GROUP 

MR NIELD AND MISS 
HANNANT 

MR KENYON AND MISS 
LONGFORD 

MR FRANKLIN AND MISS 
WHITEHEAD 

MR S SPITERI AND DR L 
BUCK 

DR V WRIGHT AND MR A 
FARLEY 
 

WORSLEY COUNCILLORS 

  

  

 

In addition to the above individuals and organisations a total of 387 households living 

within and adjoining the conservation area boundary were notified via letter about the 

reconsultation of the Roe Green Beesley Green draft conservation area appraisal.  

The addresses were generated using the city council’s Local Land and Property 

Gazetteer (LLPG). 

Page 397



Annex H – Letter to Consultees  

Page 398



 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

8 January 2014 

9th February 2018 

Dear Sir/Madam,                                     

Roe Green / Beesley Green draft conservation area appraisal 

You may recall that in February/March 2016 we undertook a public consultation on the Roe 
Green/Beesley Green draft conservation area appraisal.  We are writing now to inform you that 
the City Council is consulting again on an updated draft conservation area appraisal and to 
invite you to make comments.   
 
Since the last consultation we have considered and evaluated all representations received and 
have made some further minor changes to the draft conservation area appraisal.  A summary of 
all representations and how they have been addressed is set out in the consultation statement 
which accompanies the draft conservation area appraisal.  Alongside these changes to the 
appraisal document we are also proposing further changes to the conservation area boundary.  
 
At the time of the last consultation we were proposing a number of changes to the conservation 
area boundary including both the addition and removal of properties and land - as shown on 
Plan A overleaf. 
 
Having considered and evaluated all comments we are now proposing further amends to the 
conservation area boundary to include the following additional properties: 
 

 1 Hardy Grove and 67 Lumber Lane 

 6a, 8 – 22 (even numbers) Lyon Grove 
 

Plan B overleaf therefore shows the proposed amended conservation area boundary including 
all properties and land that would be added/removed.  

 
Consultation on the Draft conservation area appraisal is due to start on Friday 9th February and 
run until Friday 23rd March 2018 and we would welcome your views on the appraisal during this 
time.   
 

 Planning 
 Place 
 Salford City Council, Civic Centre 
 Chorley Road, Swinton, M27 5BY 

 Phone 0161 793 3782 

 
  email plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk 

 
  Web www.salford.gov.uk 

  
 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 399

mailto:???@salford.gov.uk
http://www.salford.gov.uk/


 
 
A full copy of the Roe Green/Beesley Green Conservation Area Appraisal and all the supporting 
documentation can be viewed on the City Council’s website at www.salford.gov.uk/roebeesley 
from the start of the consultation.  Paper copies will also be available to view at Worsley Village 
Library, at Beesley Green Community Centre and at the main reception at Salford Civic Centre 
during normal opening hours.   
 
If you wish to submit comments on the draft conservation area appraisal, these should be 
received by the City Council no later than 4.30pm on Friday 23rd March 2018 in order for them 
to be taken into consideration.  The City Council will have regard to all comments submitted 
during the consultation period in informing the preparation of the final version of the 
conservation area appraisal which it intends to adopt, and in informing any amendments to the 
conservation area boundary.  
 
Making comments 
 
Comments may be submitted by any of the following means: 
 

 By email to plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk 

 By post to: Spatial Planning, Salford City Council, Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton, 
Salford, M27 5BY 

 By hand to: Salford Civic Centre main reception, Chorley Road, Swinton Salford. 
        

If you have any queries, or need more information to assist you in making your comments, 
please contact the Spatial Planning team using the contact details set out at the top of this 
letter. 
 
The City Council’s preferred communication method is via email and therefore if you have 
received this letter by post, we would be grateful if you could provide an email address for all 
future correspondence about Salford to assist us in minimising our costs. 
 
We look forward to receiving your comments.  
 
Yours faithfully, 
 

 
 
Chris Findley 
Assistant Director for Planning 

Page 400

http://www.salford.gov.uk/roebeesley
mailto:plans.consultation@salford.gov.uk


P
age 401



P
age 402



Annex I – Consultation Poster 

Page 403



Roe Green/Beesley 
Green conservation 
area appraisal

Have your say

Salford City Council is re-consulting on a 
conservation area appraisal for the  
Roe Green/Beesley Green conservation area 
and we want to know what you think

To find out more visit www.salford.gov.uk/roebeesley

The documents can also be viewed at Worsley Village Library or Beesley 
Green Community Centre during normal opening hours.  

The consultation period ends on 23 March 2018 so it’s important that we 
receive your comments by this date. 

Page 404



Annex J – City of Salford Web Page 

Page 405



Page 406



Page 407



Page 408



 

1 
 

 
 
 
 

Salford City Council 
 
 
 

Roe Green / Beesley Green Conservation Area Appraisal 
 
 

Consultation Statement  
Annex K 

 
 

Schedule of Representations 2018 
 
 
 
 

P
age 409



 

2 
 

 
 
Representations received during the 2018 consultation period 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

001 Historic England Thank you for consulting Historic England on the Roe Green/Beesley Green Conservation Area 
Appraisal.  We are not a statutory consultee for conservation area appraisals and have no 
comments to make on this occasion. 
 

002 Ken Lowndes I most strongly object to the proposal to take the area of land east of Crossfield Drive from the 
conservation area. 
 
The unique character of Worsley Woods which is one of the only woodlands in England which has 
been bought by public donations and then passed to the local council, Worsley UDC to maintain, 
and from there to Salford Council to maintain for the community.  When the motorway was driven 
through Worsley Woods promises were made to replace the trees destroyed, this was never done.  
It would be more sensible to replace the trees lost by planting this small parcel of land to the east 
of Crossfield Drive. You may not be aware of the fact the Government has an active programme to 
encourage tree planting, where is Salford’s programme? 
 
Allowing this parcel of land to be built on would spoil the enjoyment of walking into the entrance of 
the woods past a babbling brook looking at trees and fields, and not to the back of million pound 
houses built by a builder who lives in the Isle of Man and who has no interest in the community’s 
quality of life.  This parcel of land IS in a historical area. 

009 Brian Gee I am pleased that the revised appraisal now includes the properties in Lyon Grove as I suggested 
in my previous comments. 
 
My over-riding concern with the updated draft conservation area appraisal is that despite the many 
comments and representations made by the community in the Roe Green/Beesley Green area to 
broadly retain and to an extent increase the boundary of the conservation area (including 
representations by the local MP and local Councillors), these representations appear to have been 
turned away and dismissed by the Salford Planning Department.  There appears to have been a 
blinkered or narrowed view towards the intention of the wording in the requirements of “S69 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990” towards an interpretation that 

P
age 410



 

3 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

excludes a wider concern by the local populace who wish to do the right thing and conserve what 
little areas remain from the past and preserve them for future generations.  This should be the duty 
of the present council who should not throw away the efforts made by those from the past who, in 
a similar position, created a conservation area that we have the benefit of today. 
 
If previous development is used as a criteria for dismissing the “historic setting” of the remaining 
land within the area, then ultimately there will be no land left to conserve……Each reduction in 
conservation will lead to development in the area and lead to a further reassessment and then to 
further development, ad infinitum. 
 
Unfortunately, this appears to be the exact position that the council is taking in dealing with the 
representations concerning, “the removal of the land east of Crossfield Drive from the 
conservation area”.  Here we have a situation where the majority of the hundreds of comments 
made by the community do not wish this land to be removed from the conservation area – your 
assessment is of 95% of the hundreds of submitted representations making this point.  However, 
reviewing the appendix of comments made it seems more like 99.99% making this viewpoint with 
only the landowner supporting the removal of the conservation protection.  In the face of such 
overwhelming view by the populace (to which the council is legally bound to take note), then the 
wider view in S69 of preserving and enhancing “historic interest” should take preference in the 
appraisal.  There is absolutely no point in requesting public consultation comments, getting such 
an overwhelming response, and then abrogating civic responsibility by not finding a way to take 
action to support such a view. 
 
I suggest the council look at again at the issue of “historic interest” relating to this “land east of 
Crossfield Drive” in the wider context of the Roe Green/Beesley Green area as a whole, with its 
historic property, common land, woodland and open fields creating a unique area within Salford 
which should be preserved as a whole.  This is “ special historic interest” as set out in S69. 
 
Turning to “historic interest”, I make the following points: 
 
1) Historic England’s definition states “In this relatively small country everywehere bears the 
marks of our predecessors’ efforts to sustain life and satisfy their needs.  That part of our 
surroundings that displays the interaction between people and palces through time is called the 

P
age 411



 

4 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

historic environment.  Some part of the historic environment are important to society as a whole or 
to a group within it and merit some level of protection or consideration.  These are called our 
heritage assets.  They are the elements of the historic environment that we value for more than 
their money’s worth.  The generations that follow us are most likely to value them too, for the same 
or similar reasons.  It has therefore been long accepted that we have a responsibility to look after 
them.”  It further defines the historic environment as “All aspects of the environment resulting from 
the interaction between people and places through time, including all surviving physical remains of 
past human activity, whether visible, buried or submerged, and landscaped an planted or 
managed flora”. 
2. Government guidance on conservation areas states: “Areas that include important 
examples of social, cultural and aesthetic history must be safeguarded from indiscriminate or ill-
considered change.  These areas often contain listed buildings.  However it is not always enough 
to protect these buildings in isolation.  Their surroundings and general environment are often of 
equal importance and conservation areas are intended to protect that environment.  Your local 
council has a responsibility to make sure that the character of these areas is not diminished. 
 
A conservation area will typically have a concentration of historic buildings but the area’s character 
and interest comes from more than just buildings alone.  The historic layout of property boundaries 
and roads, the spaces between buildings, mix of uses, characteristic materials, boundary 
treatments, shop fronts, views, trees and green spaces, street furniture, colours and textures all 
contribute to the special character of areas.  Conservation areas ptoect the whole area not just 
buildings.” 
 
3) NPPF para 126 states “local planning authorities (LPAs) should set out in their local plan a 
positive strategy for the conservation and enjoyment of the historic environment, including heritage 
assets most at risk through neglect, decay or other threats.  In doing so, they should recognise 
that heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource and conserve them in a manner appropriate to 
their significance.  In developing this strategy, LPAs should take into account i) the desirability of 
sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting them to viable uses 
consistent with their conservations; ii) the wider social, cultural, economic and environmental 
benefits that conservation of the historic environment can bring; iii) the desirability of new 
development making a positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness; and iv) 
opportunities to draw on the contribution made by the historic environment to the character of a 

P
age 412



 

5 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

place. 
 
I would submit that the Roe Green/Beesley Green area as a whole (including the land east of 
Crossfield Drive) fulfils the criteria for conservation as set out in the Historic England “Appraisal of 
conservation areas” and the NPPF 2012, together with meeting the S69 “historic interest” 
requirement. 
 
I would draw the council’s attention again to the comments made by the local MP which I contend 
give support to my above view and are set out in the January 2018 consultation statement Annex 
F. 
 
In conclusion, I would request the council to re-consider the draft conservation area appraisal in 
the light of the above comments and ideally take steps not to reduce the conservation area as a 
whole but, in the alternative, definitely take steps not to remove the land east of Crossfield Drive 
from the conservation area. 
 

015 Stephen Rennie I wish to make a strong objection to the removal of 2 tracts of land from the Roe Green/Beesley 
Green conservation area. 
 
The land in question are the areas highlighted in red on the map you provided, the area opposite 
Kempnough Hall and the area at the top of Manthorpe Avenue.  Removal of these 2 pieces of land 
is obviously for the purpose of allowing Peel or another developer to build houses.  The whole 
Worsley area is already gridlocked every single day with traffic, to build within the conservation 
area will only add to its destruction, plus put more pollution into the area right next to a primary 
school. 
 
Since the council made a complete abortion of the East Lancs with the failed guided bus land, 
traffic on Greenleach Lane has increased immensely with cars speeding from Walkden Road end 
to Worsley Road to get down onto the motorway at the Court House.  Adding more houses at the 
top of Manthorpe will grid lock Greenleach as well, causing more pollution and making the road 
totally unsafe for children to cross.  There are 20mph speed limit signs on Greenleach which most 
people ignore, every single day there are numerous drivers speeding up and down the land whilst 
I am trying to cross with my children. 

P
age 413



 

6 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

 
Both tracts of land should be left in the conservation area and should not be removed to be built 
on. 
  

016 Susannah Kwok I would like to submit my objection to the plans to remove Manthorpe Avenue from the 
conservation area. 
 
This is one of the nicest, quietest, uncluttered housing plots in Roe Green and should remain 
within the conservation area. 
 
It’s directly opposite the entrance to Worsley Woods – an area of natural beauty – so makes sense 
to keep it protected along with the rest of the proposed conservation area.  The houses in 
Greenleach Lane opposite will remain – so why not Manthorpe? 
 

020 Barry & Elizabeth Moult We were alarmed to find that the field described as east of Crossfield Drive may be removed form 
the conservation area.  We wish to register our opposition to this proposal. 
 
The conservation area includes the whole of Worsley Woods, which the council holds in trust for 
the local community.  The surrounding fields make an important contribution to the character and 
appearance of Worsley Woods, so should obviously be kept within the conservation area. 
 
If the concept of creating a conservation area was valid in the first place, what has changed?  
These vital green lungs are something that should be preserved for future generations.  This 
proposal is giving Peel “carte blanche” from the council to concrete over this field.  Once the green 
spaces have disappeared they have gone for ever. 
 
All the original objections to land development in Worsley regarding traffic congestion, poor air 
quality, pressure on local amenities and loss of wildlife, are still valid as they ever were. 
 

026 Natalie Kennedy Unfortunately, by adding a few areas that are already “built up” to lose green space does not 
justify your actions. 
 
By changing the status of the land behind Crossfield Drive gives Peel Holdings the green light to 

P
age 414



 

7 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

build on it leading to more traffic and congestion.  Walkden Road is already a bottleneck with 
traffic building up as early as 7am.  Why you are even considering this is just beyond me!!! 
 

030 Lyndsey Furse As a Worsley resident I would like to raise my concern and object to further removal of 
conservation area in Roe Green. 
 
I moved to Worsley so that I could raise my family here, it is one of the only places left with 
wooded areas for them to play and a countryside feel, whilst still being close to Manchester City 
Centre.  My kids get to see on a daily basis woodland animals in our garden or just walking down 
the street, removing the conservation land is going to decrease those experiences for my children 
and other residents in the village. 
 
Why would this land be removed from the conservation area.  The infrastructure is not in place if 
any building work is to take place on it eventually, traffic in the morning is horrendous and the 
schools are already full. 
 

048 Lesley Wiszniewski We would like to object to the land at the back of our house on Crossfield Drive, Worsley being 
removed from the conservation area.  At the moment we enjoy great views from our home, the 
building of any houses on this piece of land would ruin this plus add to the traffic which is already 
really busy and put a strain on all amenities. 
 

079 Alan Woods My wife and I strongly object to this proposed amendment on the grounds that if Peel Holdings get 
their way and turn the land into a building site and build lots of houses, it will make Worsley into a 
bigger car park than it is now. 
 
Have you or any of your staff, or any of the Peel Holdings people ever been in Worsley from 
6.30am until 9.30am or in the evening from 3pm until 7pm??? Obviously NOT because if you and 
your friends had they would have witnessed standing traffic for hours and hours on Walkden Road 
all the way up to Walkden town centre, plus Worsley Road almost to the East Lancs road plus all 
the roads joining these main roads…..its an absolute nightmare and getting worse every month.  
And if there is an accident any where near junction 13 (which there is almost every week) then the 
traffic doubles as the cars and trucks are diverted through Worsley off the motorway and it goes 
on for hours. 

P
age 415



 

8 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

 
Every morning and evening we can not get out of Kempnough Hall Road, and when we do we join 
the queue of bumper to bumper traffic and you are considering building more houses making more 
traffic, when will it end??? 
 
If any more hosues are built on the conservation area, we will have gridlock all day… East Lancs 
Road is gridlocked everyday and it now takes over an hour to get to Manchester centre if you are 
lucky. 
 
Apart from the traffic and the health hazards that come with more traffic, it will destroy the wildlife 
in the area, but of course The Directors of Peel Holdings are not concerned about the people and 
residents of Worsley, they just want to make more money and fly back home to their nice quite 
large homes in the Isles of Man…. 
 
This proposal must be cancelled or Worsley will perish … Pell Holdings will destroy Worsley.  It’s a 
car park now and its getting intolerable to live here now….It must not happen!!!! 
 

085 David Ashworth I am extremely disappointed to hear that Salford City Council are considering changing the land 
behind both Crossfield Drive and Kempnough Hall Road from a conservation area.  I see no other 
reason why this land would be taken out of the conservation area unless it was for development 
reasons.  I’m shocked that Salford council believe that this is a step in the right direction for the 
area, and I am astonished that they feel the need to develop on land currently listed as a 
conservation area.  I’m sure the City of Salford has many areas more suitable for development 
other than a current conservation area. 
 

086 Larry Merryweather Thanks for the conservation draft where you mention the additional inclusion of parts of Lumber 
Lane and Hardy Grove. 
 
However you do not highlight the removal of a parcel of alnd behind Crossfield Avenue which has 
been subject to objections previously.  Also the parcel of land west of the M60 morotway both as 
highlighted on the plan. 
 
Please give your new reasons for this to be excluded from the conservation area. 

P
age 416



 

9 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

 
 

0130 Dr JE Marginson I hereby record my objection to the proposal to remove the field described as East of Crossfield 
Drive from the conservation area. The grounds given are that this land is not considered to be of 
special architectural or historic interest. 
 
I agree the field has no architectural value but the historical relevance to Kempnough Hall, 
Beesley Hall and Worsley Woods is ongoing and therefore this land continues to have special 
interest with relevance to these three sites. It is a personal subjective assessment suggesting this 
field makes only a minimum contribution to the settings of Kempnough Hall and Beesley Hall. 
However, this is not the view of the many objectors who responded to the previous proposal to 
remove this field from the conservation area. 
 
The field in question provides an important buffer between the houses on Crossfield Drive and the 
woods at their narrowest point and is an integral part of the Worsley Woods “experience”. The 
pathway entrance to the woods from Beesley Green is a very popular route into the woods and to 
any visitor immediately transmits a sense of entering a peaceful woodland nature area. 
The appraisal recognises that at para 6.56 “The open aspect of the northern field does however 
contribute to the setting of Worsley Woods, maintaining a sense of openness, tranquillity and 
semi- rural character at this narrowest point of the woodland”. 
 
Any change in designation of this field along the lines of the proposal would have a negative 
impact on the Worsley Woods “experience”. For these reasons, I do submit that this field should 
be retained within the conservation area. 

 

0144 Justine Noone I am writing to you to object to the proposed Roe Green/ Beesley Green amendments to the 
conservation borders.  
Points listed below are just some of the reasons why I object 
 
Makes way for additional housing which takes away more green from Worsley.  
I moved to Worsley as it has a country feel even though it is so close to major roads.  
More traffic which is at its maximum already.  
Noise and pollution will affect wildlife Tourism will be affected which is bringing business to local 

P
age 417



 

10 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

businesses Removes field close to the woods which will disturb wildlife. 
Unnecessary and dangerous traffic close to St Marks School What if the houses are low cost, this 
will devalue the area 
 

0145 
(2) 

Claire Whalley Livesy  Please accept this note as a vote against and rejection of the proposed changes to the Roe Green 
conservation area boundary.  
 
Roe Green and the surrounding area provides much needed green space for families, dog walkers 
and children to play.  Any reduction in this green space would be a significant step backwards in 
your aim to provide green space and recreational areas for communities.  
 
I cannot understand why you would propose a conservation boundary change that reduces green 
space, i.e. removes a field from the conservation area - this seems illogical unless there are other 
factors at play that we are unaware of? 
 
Please accept this as my vote against the proposed boundary changes. 
 

0145 Claire Whalley Livesy I write to put forward my rejection to the proposed conservation area boundary changes.  The Roe 
Green area is one that provides green space for families and dog walkers, these free spaces are 
increasingly reducing in our area and therefore I strongly believe we should not be amending the 
current conservation boundary.  
 
Furthermore why would you pro-actively plan to remove a green field from a conservation area - 
what benefit does this bring to the local council? 
 
Please accept this note as a rejection and vote against your proposed changes. 
 

0146 Kim Waite As a resident of Brereton Drive, Worsley M28 I am notifying you of my strong objections to 
remove the field at the bottom of Kempenough Hall Road which runs behind Crossfield Drive. This 
must remain part of the conservation area. Lots of families walk along this area with small children 
to get access to Worsley schools and parks and so if this area was taken off the conservation it 
would allow it to be open for development of new houses and access points to these new 
developments which would mean more danger for those walking and living in the area as well as 

P
age 418



 

11 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

lots more congestion. 
 
Worsley is a Green belt area which is why people pay premiums to live in the area we must stop 
further unnecessary developments. 
 

0159 Richard Evans I’m amazed at the work that the council has undertaken which has led to the proposed changes. 
 
The reality is that while you have agreed to add some existing properties into the conservation 
area, the major changes are the removal of the fields at the back of Crossfield Drive and next to 
the M60 at Roe Green. 
 
I ask myself why the council has spent time and effort in doing so . The answer ,I fear ,is to 
remove the fields from the conservation area so that Peel Holdings can then apply for planning 
permission to build houses . If this is not the case then why bother at all ? 
 
I strongly object to the removal of the fields from the conservation area and the fields should be 
left as part of the Worsley landscape . 
 

0175 Paul Hassall I wish to respond to the Roe Green/Beesley Green draft conservation area appraisal. 
As the Chairman of Worsley Woods Action Group I am concerned at the removal of the field at 
Kempnough. I have been assured that the conservation area only applies to buildings and there 
are other protections on the field, but if this is the case why was it in the conservation area in the 
first place? Kempnough is a very historic area and the woodlands are very narrow at this point. 
Any development on the field would severely detract from the woods and the Kempnough area.  
I live on Greenleach Lane opposite the Manthorpe Drive area. I agree with the removal of this area 
from the conservation area.  
I also agree with the additional land (Hardy Grove?) proposed to add to the conservation area. 
I have lived in Roe Green all my life and am passionate about the local area. I am concerned at 
the protection of areas within conservation areas. I recently looked at an old copy of the 
conservation area at Barton. It seems to me, that apart from the canal and canal bridges, nothing 
has been conserved and the area has declined! It is important that conservation areas are 
contantly assessed and the area maintained to a high standard. 
 

P
age 419



 

12 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

0195 Gary McMahon I believe when you first proposed this land being removed from the conservation area, some time 
ago, you received a large response from the public and from organisations, in the area, as to 
reasons why this land should stay within the conservation area. It surprises me that you have 
chosen to ignore that public opinion. 
 
In your recent proposed draft on page 73 ref 6.56 you seem to state this land contributes to the 
setting of Worsley Woods maintaining a sense of openness and tranquillity and semi rural 
character of the woodland and then on page 82 you seem to play down the importance regards 
this piece of land. I feel if you take a walk in the woods, whilst there is no foliage on the trees, you 
would appreciate it has the same importance of the land behind the cricket ground ,that also 
borders the woods, that is a part of the Conservation Area. 
 
I can not agree with your reasoning as to why this land should be removed, and it seems the voice 
of a few, against the large public view that this land should stay within the conservation area. 
 
I have attached my original letter and photos regards the above. 
 

0197 Harriet Lucero The Roe Green conservation area is the largest in Manchester/Salford and was designated in 
1970. 
 
I am not sure why this is being changed now and I whole heartedly object. 
 
The area behind the community centre and cricket club is used by many in the community and it is 
the green space which makes Roe Green the place it is. The community spirit in the area has 
recently been demonstrated by the amount raised to fix the play park. 
 
It would be a shame to undermine the character of the area and potentially lose this. 
 
On another note there have been numerous applications to build on the conservation area and I 
presume this is why the area is been changed. 
 
These plans are not to build affordable housing which is desperately needed but rather for a 
company to make a profit by selling 'luxary' homes in an area known for high council tax bills. 

P
age 420



 

13 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

 
I do hope you consider the views of the residents before sacrificing our beautiful green spaces. 
Once gone they will never return. 
 

0213 Mr and Mrs G Ogden Considering how much we care about our precious open space in this area and how we have 
supported the designation of the fields from Roe Green C.C all the way to St Mark’s school as 
open green space, we are baffled by the proposal to exclude the field opposite Kempnough Hall 
from the above conservation area. There seems no logical explanation for this and we oppose it 
vehemently. 
 

0226 Judith & Fred Eyre We don’t think the areas proposed in Roe Green should be removed from the conservation area.  
 

0232 Pamela Edge Thank you for the information re the above. Having studied the proposed revised conservation 
area boundary - Plan B. I strongly object to the meadow land behind Crossfield Drive being 
removed from conservation area boundary – Plan B. This is part of our green corridor in Salford 
and needs to be preserved at all costs. 

0233 A G Cheetham I write again to record my objection to the proposal to remove the field described as East of 
Crossfield Drive from the conservation area. The grounds given are that this land is not considered 
to be of special architectural or historic interest. 
 
Clearly, being a field, it cannot have architectural interest but historical interest does not end 
simply because development has been allowed to occur on two of the boundaries to the field and 
the curtilage of Kempnough Hall has altered. The historical relevance to Kempnough Hall, Beesley 
Hall and Worsley Woods is everlasting and therefore this land continues to have special interest 
with relevance to these three sites. This presumably was why the field was included when the 
conservation area was created in 1970 (since when only one new dwelling has been built) and this 
is why the field’s status needs to be maintained. 
 
You assessment suggests this field makes only a minimum contribution to the settings of 
Kempnough Hall and Beesley Hall. That is your assessment but it is not the view of the many 
objectors who responded to the previous proposal to remove this field from the conservation area. 
In addition, the field provides an important buffer between the houses on Crossfield Drive and the 
woods at their narrowest point and is an integral part of the Worsley Woods “experience”. The 

P
age 421



 

14 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

pathway entrance to the woods from Beesley Green is a very popular route into the woods. As you 
walk down this narrow pathway with this field on one side and the field by Roe Green Cricket Club 
on the other it conveys to the visitor a feeling of entering a nature area undisturbed by time. The 
appraisal recognises this at para 6.56. “The open aspect of the northern field does however 
contribute to the setting of Worsley Woods, maintaining a sense of openness, tranquillity and 
semi-rural character at this narrowest point of the woodland”. 
 
Any change in designation of this field along the lines of the proposal would have a negative 
impact on the Worsley Woods “experience”, Worsley Woods being of course retained within the 
conservation area. 
 
Therefore, for the reasons given above, I submit that this field should be retained within the 
conservation area. 
 

 

0272 Alex Smethurst Firstly, I cannot understand the reason and the motives behind the proposal - to remove the pink 
areas would only invite building applications which we don’t need in this area. There are already a 
large number of houses on the outskirts of this small area which provides some relief and green 
space for the residents of Salford. 
 
We have a motorway running through the area together with the large volume of traffic along 
Walkden Road and Leigh Road which will only increase when the RHS garden is up and running. 
We do not need this or any other reduction in green space. Salford needs all the green space it 
can get. When Salford is promoted in brochures etc. where do they take pictures? Worsley. 
 

0280 Greater Manchester Ecology Unit 
 

We have no objection to the proposed boundary revision to the Roe Green/Beesley Green 
conservation area boundaries. 
 

0283 Salford Community Leisure Further to our previous response to the initial consultation please could I reiterate the information 
provided. Within the boundaries of the area Salford Community Leisure manage Beesley Green 
Community Centre which is a facility that makes a positive contribution to the conservation area. 
This building will soon be supplemented by the addition of public library services delivered from 
the site. 

P
age 422



 

15 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

The facility, and adjoining open space, makes a positive contribution to the health and well being 
of local people. 
 
In addition the area has important historical significance. The City’s archive and local history 
collection, held at Salford Museum & Art gallery, has many documents and papers relating to this 
area. We believe the historical links and attributes of the area are important elements to highlight 
and protect. 
 

0285 Kathleen Lees I wish to register my objection to the proposed removal of the land area behind Beesley Green and 
Crossfield Drive from the conservation area.  If this is removed, it will allow houses to be built there 
and it is an important green space that must be preserved as such. 
 
I totally agree with the proposal to include Hardy Grove within the conservation area. 
 

0304 Sheila Sidebotham I would like the area that is between Crossfield Drive and Beesley Green to be within the 
conservation area. (The area was marked “A” on a printed copy of the map submitted with the 
response). 
 
That area is lovely to look at as you walk along beside the stream. It would be a real shame were it 
not to be conserved along with the rest of such a precious area. It also is the backdrop to 
Kempnough Hall area. 
 
I hope you will give my sincere hopes full consideration. 
 

0314 Jean Barnes I am writing to oppose your proposal for the removal of properties and fields which, as you state, 
are of neutral contribution to the conservation area. 
 
I propose that all parts of this conservation area are of significant value to its continuation of an 
open green space, therefore should be preserved. 
 
It is part of an open rural aspect of Roe Green, Beesley Green, cricket club, tennis and bowling 
clubs and Worsley Woods. The whole area is enjoyed by many of its residents and many visitors 
for recreation, exercise and educational opportunities. 

P
age 423



 

16 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

 
In Salford our green spaces are being eroded by all the houses and estates being built around us. 
So very important for our health and wellbeing this conservation area should be preserved in its 
entirety as a breathing, tranquil space for all and future generations to enjoy. 
 
I agree that the properties off Lumber Lane should be included in the proposed conservation area. 
The building of houses and apartments at Manthorpe Avenue, off Greenleach Lane, already have 
encroached on the conservation area and should still be included, not used as a precedent for 
future building. 
 
Finally, I would like to register my complaints about the validity of this second appraisal. It has 
taken two years to get the report we were promised. This time there was no facility for a public 
meeting of residents and interested parties to attend a time at Beesley community centre to 
register their comments and views. There were only two notices put on our four notice boards with 
no address for a reply. Many people do not access the Salford website. As a member of Friends of 
Roe Green I printed copies of your intentions to put up around the Green and in shops for display 
with the necessary address. 
 
I recollect 380 representations made last time so I hope these will be referred to then will be 
included in this appraisal. 

 

0329 Michelle Drew I write to submit my comments regarding the draft conservation area appraisal. Roe green is the 
city’s largest conservation area and is key to the character of the area and a large part of why the 
area is such a popular and well loved area. As the council hasn’t stated any reason why the areas 
shown in red are going to be removed we can only assume that these areas which include a large 
area of green belt land are being earmarked to be built on.  
 
The councils approach to building and planning again appears to be haphazard there is still no 
plan in place for the city after initial plans were consulted two to three years ago. There doesn’t 
seem to be any transparency and it is essential that for roe green and the wider Worsley area to 
maintain it’s natural beauty iand heritage it should be protected. Before removing areas from 
conservation plans the council should publish its plan for housing in the city and where it plans to 
build new residential developments. 

P
age 424



 

17 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

 
Roe green has had a conservation for nearly 50 years and the areas to be removed are quite 
significant in size. The area off crossfield drive in particular is a field that acts as a buffer between 
the residential area on cross field drive and the woods at beesley green. Building in that area will 
not only have a huge effect on the character of historic beesley green but will also remove more 
green space in an area that has a Motorway and the east lancs road bordering it. The area needs 
as much green space as possible to retain its character and balance the huge amounts of traffic 
that pass through it. Developers see the area as prime for development as they feel they can sell 
houses in the area for a premium. However this is is short sighted and a short term gain for the 
developers only as more building and less conservation erodes the reason people choose to live 
in the area in the first place.  
 
The field off cross field drive is also on amain route for school children attending st marks primary 
school to use and removing the field from the conservation area and leaving it open to be built on 
could effect how a large number of children who currently use a very safe and car free route via 
kempnough hall road and cross field drive get to school.  
 
There appears to be no reason to remove the areas from the conservation plan. We welcome the 
additions to the plan as the area needs to be protected as much as possible. There are plenty of 
brownfield sites the council could earmark for housing but again no plan appears to be in place. 
 

0340 Sir Alan Cockshaw We have carefully considered your letter of the 9th February last concerning the Roe 
Green/Beesley Green draft conservation area appraisal. 
 
It is beyond our comprehension that the area to the rear of Crossfield Drive and Kempnough Hall 
Road is to be taken out of the conservation area and accessed as it must inevitably be from the 
end of Kempnough Hall Road if the plans are accurately set out. 
 
The Council has the responsibility for the long term development of the entire district which 
contains substantial areas of ‘brownfield’ land with easy access and yet you choose to allow 
development on prime ‘greenfield’ areas with limited access. This area is a vital part of the open 
space much enjoyed by the people of the area and its many visitors and therefore so essential to 
the social and economic wellbeing of the district as a whole. 

P
age 425



 

18 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

 
It must be an inevitable consequence of such a decision that the remaining land to the rear of 
Crossfield Drive will ultimately follow in the same way given that there is no logical reason why it 
will not, 
 
As someone who has given a great deal of his life to the encouragement of ‘brownfield’ 
redevelopment so as to allow as much as possible of our ‘green and pleasant land’ to survive I 
cannot conceive of any reasons at all for your decision save it is cheaper for the Council to permit 
such changes than manage the alternatives. 
 
This is a relatively small area which will have little or no effect on any long term housing strategy. 
Sadly we must also conclude that your decision was already known to the landowner and the 
farmer who has grown this field for some years before any consultation has been properly taken 
into account. Why else would no work have been carried out on it for almost a year? In short you 
appear to have pre-determined the outcome and communicated this to the owner. A wholly 
unacceptable conclusion and I must therefore object in the strongest possible terms to this wanton 
destruction of a beautiful and peaceful area. 
 
Given that I was personally responsible for the construction of the M62/M60 through this area in 
1967/68 and 1969, I am even more acutely aware of all of the environmental impact issues 
including the Council’s failure over these many years to maintain a whole series of undertakings 
which they entered into at the time of its construction. All of this gives me no confidence 
whatsoever in the process upon which you have embarked. 
 
I have every intention of retaining our lawyers to challenge that position you seek to have us 
accept. 
 
I have lived in the Salford District for most of my life and am fed up of decisions giving the easy 
options for developers. It is absolutely ridiculous in an area with so many alternative options. 
As a Past President of the Institution of Civil Engineers you will appreciate that I might equally take 
your decision to task on traffic and educational issues but will be happy to give evidence at the 
appropriate public enquiry which I have been pleased to do on previous occasions elsewhere. The 
traffic issues especially for St Mark’s School are often simply dangerous and you are seeking to 

P
age 426



 

19 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

make it even worse. 
 
This matter will not be allowed to rest and I suggest that you ask that the Chairman of your 
Planning Committee contact me as soon as possible to consider the issues referred to briefly 
above. 
 
In the absence of an appropriate response I will be happy to raise the matter at Ministerial level 
where my contribution to such matters in successive governments is well understood. 
 

0344 (Friends of Roe Green) Pauline 
Ogden 

The suggestion that the field behind Spinney Cottage, Kempnough Hall Road should be removed 
from the above conservation area has baffled many of our members who cannot understand the 
reasoning behind it. 
 
As far as we are aware, the field in question is currently designated as open green space, 
greenway, open land and possibly green belt. If this information is not correct, we would like to be 
informed. To remove it from this conservation area seems perverse as surely the more protection 
we can acquire for our few remaining fields the better. 
 
On behalf of Friends of Roe Green I oppose its removal and hope that common sense will prevail. 
 

0345 Worsley Civic Trust In drafting our response we have considered our correspondence dating back to 11th March 2016 
which reminded you of the Planning, Listed Building and Conservation Areas Act 1990 and 
specifically sections 69 and 70.  In addition we have taken into consideration the National Planning 
Policy Framework and specifically section 11 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
and Section 12 Conserving and enhancing the historic environment as well as the draft text of the 
NPPF and specifically section 15 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment and Section 
16 Conserving and enhancing the historic environment. 
 
Issues which we wish you to reconsider are: 
1) The area of Manthorpe Avenue and the undeveloped land to the north east of that avenue 
be retained wihin the conservation area.  The reason for our decision on this matter is that this is 
the only way of retaining the undeveloped lung of natural land to provide a small but vital guard 
against air pollution in one of the most polluted places in England.  The Smart motorway scheme 

P
age 427



 

20 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

has been reduced by one directive, to remain at three running lanes going south at this point. 
2) The area to the west of the pond which itself lies south of the Roe Green Cricket Club 
ground be retained. 
3) The area to the east of Crossfield Drive and north of the northern boundary of St Mark’s 
school be retained undeveloped or farming land.  Worsley Civic Trust in its opposition to any 
development on Broadoak would retain these packets of farmland within the Worsley Greenway. 
 
In seeking these to be retained within the conservation area and within the Worsley Greenway 
would make great sense as it would serve to retain the land immediately to thenorth of the 
northern boundary of St Mark’s School. 
 
The access to St Mark’s School is thus retained as a pedestrian-way fropm Roe Green and 
Beesley Green.  Worsley Civic Trust understands that local groups are seeking funding to 
enhanbce the footpaths in this area also. 
 
4) We acknowledge that our proposal to include Hardy Grove properties in the conservation 
area has been accomplished. 
 
5) As proposers of the original Worsley Conservation Areas in the 1960s and 1970s, we are 
pleased to see that you have acknowledged our local heritage plaque scheme within your Annex 
C. We hope that Worsley Civic Trust and Amenity Society and the Friends of Roe Green (which 
was formerly the Worsley Cvic Trust (Roe Green Branch)) will be able to acknowledge other 
notable buildings in the Roe Green and Beesley Green areas. Worsley Civic Trust is always 
considerate in financing such plaques in the past will continue to do so in the future. It would be 
appropriate to mark the launch of the new Conservation Area mapping with an appropriate plaque. 
The Council’s ideas of an appropriate positioning would be considered by Worsley Civic Trust. 
 

0359 Peel Holdings  

0383 Andrew Aherne I have considered the proposed changes to the boundary and am of the opinion that the fields 
close to Old Hall Lane which are proposed to be removed from the current conservation area is 
inappropriate. It is difficult to see the logic behind its removal unless to open the door for future 
development. 
 

P
age 428



 

21 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

This field Abuts the brook and public footpath which is extremely popular with local residents. It 
makes a significant contribution to the openness and amenity of this Green Wedge which is a 
strategic recreation area for local residents, but also residents of Salford as a whole. Its removal 
from the conservation area increases the risk that it will be developed for housing. This is 
particularly the case as the land is owned by the Bridgewater Estate who are commercial 
promoters of their land for development. They have been extremely successful on large tracts of 
their land Holdings within Salford and it is therefore of no doubt that they will seek to develop this 
site. This is particularly so as it is understood they have acquired one of the properties which 
would enable access to this site. 
 
I therefore propose that this field be retained within the conservation area to ensure to maintain 
the character and amenity afforded to so many members of the public benefit from one of the few 
remaining open areas within the central part of the borough. 
 

0384 Ben Farrelly I am a Roe Green resident and am proud of our wonderful green space.  I therefore strongly object 
to any plans to change this boundary.  Besides absolutely unnecessary and greedy housing 
development, I cannot fathom out any rationale reason for wanting to compromise our 
conservation space.  If you could enlighten me on this, that would be much appreciated. 
 

0385 David Grant I would like to oppose the changes to the Roe Green Beesley green conservation area. 
 
I live at (address redacted) and our property overlooks the area marked in red. The area marked 
red on the proposed plan are marked for removal and should not be removed as we feel that this 
will lead to development. The areas form a rare space of character of the area that deserves to be 
protected. It is a reason why we live in Roe Green. 
 
The area off Mulgrave road is wooded and should remain in place, to ensure that the character 
and boundary of Roe Green is protected. The area is perhaps the only area remaining of the 
original conservation area that has not been built on. The Roe Green conservation area is the 
largest in the Salford borough and everything should be done to retain it. All areas should remain 
protected not opened to future development. They form a natural barrier to the M60. 
 
Air pollution around the M60 is recorded as being high, Defra note that the m60 has high air 

P
age 429



 

22 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

pollution and science proves that these trees will help purify fine particles 
https://www.manchestereveningnews.co.uk/news/greater-manchester-news/m60-air-pollution-
defra-cars-13391849 

The M60 has been named as one of the major motorways in the UK which requires urgent 
measures to tackle air pollution. 
The Environment Department (Defra) has listed several roads which need action to tackle air 
pollution to address illegal levels of harmful pollutant nitrogen dioxide. 

Trees in Salford should not be removed and should remain protected, more should be planted not 
removed. 
 
It would be a mistake to allow these remaining areas to be removed, this would open the gateway 
for development especially when there are many areas of brown field, areas that should be re-
developed that should be prioritised over any reduction in the conservation area. 
 
Please do not remove the areas, we look to the council to expand and protect them in the interest 
of our future. 
 

0386 Duncan Mathews As a resident of Worsley I would like to strongly appeal any potential removal of conservation 
areas in the Roe Green and Beesley Green areas. The main one of concern is the highlighted 
area off Crossfield Drive.  
 
Firstly everyone knows the intention of Salford City Council with these proposals which no doubt 
has cost the tax payers of Salford a lot of money bringing to this stage! We can all go into details 
regards the ridiculous traffic congestion everyone has to put up with now that more houses are 
being constructed in the area and the gridlock every morning and evening ! Again we can write a 
book on other issues the area has with lack of school places, nothing in the community for our 
children out of the school hours etc but it will all fall on deaf ears as the only interest you have in 
these plans are to appease certain private companies in allowing further housing to be built! 
Kempnough Hall is one of the most historic locations in Greater Manchester where people travel 
from all over to visit. It has recently been restored magnificently by (details redacted) The worry is 
that you have done all your homework prior to submitting these proposals and you still include 

P
age 430

https://www.manchestereveningnews.co.uk/news/greater-manchester-news/m60-air-pollution-defra-cars-13391849
https://www.manchestereveningnews.co.uk/news/greater-manchester-news/m60-air-pollution-defra-cars-13391849


 

23 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

such an area to be removed! If any area of Worsley should be within the conservation area this is 
it! With the beauty of Beesley Green and Kempnough Hall we don’t want to see a selection of 
modern boxes installed which will add further to the chaos in the area.  
 
We are all intelligent people and understand you have obligations financially but if you start 
considering planning for new houses within these areas we may as well all give up! Start building 
on the greens, the woods and anywhere else you think can raise you much needed funds and 
keep your relationship with certain private companies on good terms! We all know every piece of 
land around this area is prime construction land where any houses built will provide a premium 
return so land costs are gold! But surely a committee of local councillors can see that there a very 
few historical areas of beauty within Salford and the ones we have should be kept undisturbed !  
 

0387 Patrick Farrelly Please don’t allow future generations to be denied the beauty of the gem that is the Road Green 
Conservation area, by allowing more building programmes on it.  You’re planning department will 
not be viewed as one that is sympathetic or in touch with those who live in the area, or the many 
folk who visit the area to enjoy its small but beautiful green space. 
 

0388 Emma Farrelly I am a Roe Green resident and am proud of our wonderful green space.  I therefore strongly object 
to any plans to change this boundary.  I would appreciate further communication to confirm the 
reasons for such proposals. 
 

0389 Catherine Hopkins I've lived in worsley all my life, and roe green for 17 years. Its community spirit and conservation 
status is what makes it so unique and a special place to live. I'd like to express my disappointment 
at the proposed changes to the conservation status, particularly those to the land on beesley 
green off greenleach lane. The green space in which the houses, community centre and then the 
cricket / tennis club nestle is too precious to amend, reduce or risk to building plans.  
 

0390 Emma Clay As a resident I am against the removal of any conservation areas in Roe Green as it sets a 
precedent for continued removal over the coming years. 
 
I believe many residents are against such action. 
 

0391 Ruth Mills I've recently moved to Roe Green/ Worsley and have found that the community spirit and 

P
age 431



 

24 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

conservation status is what makes it a unique and special place to live. I am disappointed at the 
proposed changes to the conservation area The green space in which the houses, community 
centre and then the cricket / tennis club nestle are (in my humble opinion) too precious to amend, 
reduce or risk to building plans.  
 

0392 Angela Mayol I'd like to express my disappointment at the proposed reduction to the current conservation area. 
The few green spaces in Salford that remain should be expanded, not reduced. Removing any 
green space will only serve to allow Peeling Holdings to build yet more houses. This will not only 
reduce precious greenery, but also add the the already chaotic traffic situation in Worsley. 
 

0393 Leanne Watts I have just become aware of the proposed changes to the Worsley conservation area. This is a 
huge concern to me and my family as we believe the only possible reason for this amendment to 
shrink the protected areas, is to allow housing to be built! 
 
Guys.... you are ruining our great place we call home. And for what, money?? There is plenty of 
free land as you travel 5 mins up the east lancs. Build tramlines and people happily buy them! 
 
Please don't let this happen when there are other solutions.  
 

0393A Leanne Watts Myself and my husband moved to Worsley 6 years ago and despite being sandwiched in by the 
east lancs and the M60 - the green space we have makes up for it. We now have 3 boys who all 
attend the local school and love spending weekends exploring fields and woodland areas. Roe 
Green and Worsley spirit and conservation status is what makes it so unique and a special place 
to live. I'd like to express my disappointment at the proposed changes to the conservation status, 
particularly those to the land behind crossfield drive. We love that farmers field and he trees in 
there help with all the air pollution, our eldest is asthmatic.   
 
Plus when the RHS opens traffic is going to increase to the area - it's already really bad. 
 
Please don't let them build on what little green space we have left. 
 

0394 Ann Middleton I strongly object to the removal of the green space land to the east of Crossfield Drive being 
removed from the conservation area. 

P
age 432



 

25 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

 
Any future potential development on that site would be detrimental to the area, with its close 
proximity to listed buildings and the historic Roe Green Cricket club and by removing the green 
space, spoiling the area. 
 

0395 Gaynor Ward I’m emailing to register my opposition to the proposals.  Salford is already a heavily populated and 
heavily congested Borough, with very little green space for residents to enjoy. The plans propose 
the removal of a significant area of green space, whilst offering very little new protected green 
space. 
 
Protecting the very limited green space left in the Borough is an essential precondition to 
improving the health and wellbeing of Salford residents and thereby helping to reduce the financial 
burden facing our current health and social care services. The Council and partners should be 
encouraging residents to take advantage of areas of natural beauty, not remove them. 
 
Litter seems to be particularly problematic in Salford. The Council should be proactively 
encouraging families and children to use their local green spaces as part of a wider programme to 
increase respect and appreciation of the local environment and thereby help to 'clean up Salford 
streets' 
 
In light of the new RHS Garden in development in Worsley,   the Council should be taking this 
opportunity to work with the RHS to protect our green spaces and local wildlife and encourage 
local residents to appreciate the natural environment.  
 
We need to clean up Salford, whilst protecting and making the most of the Borough's natural 
assets, ensure that residents are proud of their local area, and visitors to the Borough receive a 
favourable impression. 
 

0396 Joanne Egan I would like to registered my objection to the proposed changes to the Roe Green conservation 
area.  I live on Brereton Drive and this change would have a major effect on our area. 
 
This is obviously something that us residents do not want to happen for numerous reasons.  We 
like the fact that there are green fields around us.  At present the volume of traffic on Walkden 

P
age 433



 

26 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

Road down to the church roundabout is horrendous every morning and the thought of more traffic 
is something that really cannot happen.  Surely the infrastructure in the area is not sufficient for 
any future traffic, house and people. 

0397 Nigel Hopwood and Rita Mitchell 
 

Roe Green / Beesley Green draft conservation area appraisal Please note that we strongly object 
to the 2 areas highlighted in pink on the enclosed map being removed from the conversation area. 
 

0398 Andy and Barbara Attwell 
 

Thank you for your letter of the 9th of February 2018 concerning the Plan B “ proposed revised 
conservation area boundary”.  
 
We strongly object to the removal of the two large areas shown on plan B, as in our opinion they 
are obvious conservation areas as originally shown on you plan A 
 
We are particularly concerned about the area behind Crossfield Drive as you must be aware that 
Peel Holdings have been wanting to build on this land for many years.  
 
Is this why you are wanting to remove it? 
 

0399 Wayne Flanagan 
 

I've lived in worsley all my life, and roe green for 20 years. Its community spirit and conservation 
status is what makes it so unique and a special place to live. I'd like to express my disappointment 
at the proposed changes to the conservation status, particularly those to the land on beesley 
green off greenleach lane. The green space in which the houses, community centre and then the 
cricket / tennis club nestle is too precious to amend, reduce or risk to building plans.  
 

0400 Leighton Horsley I’m writing to object to the planned changes to the Roe Green/Beesley Green conservation area, 
in particular the land that is to be removed from the area at the end of Kempnough Hall Road and 
Crossfield Drive. This space field is a valuable, natural and open area that should be maintained 
for the benefit of Salford and Worsley residents and wildlife. The green and wooded land of 
Worsley is a green haven in the urban sprawl of Salford and Greater Manchester and it provides 
great pleasure for children and adults who live here.  
Please do not take this field out of the conservation area 

0401 Dawn Hoskinson I’m writing to object to the planned changes to the Roe Green/Beesley Green conservation area, 
in particular the land that is to be removed from the area at the end of Kempnough Hall Road and 
Crossfield Drive. This space field is a valuable, natural and open area that should be maintained 

P
age 434



 

27 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

for the benefit of Salford and Worsley residents and wildlife. The green and wooded land of 
Worsley is a green haven in the urban sprawl of Salford and Greater Manchester and it provides 
great pleasure for children and adults who live here.  
Please do not take this field out of the conservation area. 
 

0402 Scot Davies I’m writing to you to share my concern and strong views against the removal of the conservation 
area around Roe Green in Worsley that I have recently been made aware of.  
 
Roe Green is a small community and has had much disruption over the years with the motorway 
fiasco (something that is currently still ongoing disruption for people around my property (addess 
redacted). Work has already effected green areas, where trees have been cut down or destroyed 
due to ongoing disruption/work, not to mention damage to properties from building and ground 
distuption. The village cannot sustain more development on it.  
 
In addition, additional traffic and volume will only cause more issues should conservation areas be 
built on. Traffic us currently either at a standstill in the morning causing tailbacks, and journeys of 
30mins plus, just to get out of Roe Green onto the A580 or the Motorway roundabout, and of 
course this increases pollution directly effecting the residence and of course our schools that are 
directly on the exit roads. If that isn’t bad enough, when its not rush hour, we are effected by 
speeding cars using the village as more people use it as a through road to properties. This will get 
worse if we lose conservation land to developments. I myself was run over by a speeding car in 
December causing significant problems and disruption to my life.  
 
With conservation area dwindling, in general, my family and neighbors should not have to see 
these areas removed for new property’s or building to take place, the village cannot cope with the 
disruption, and does not want the added pollution or upheaval that will come with it. In addition, the 
proposed removal in your map, directly effects areas connected to my property, possibly brining 
more disruption, and an increase of crime.  
 
https://www.salford.gov.uk/…/conser…/roe-greenbeesley-green/ 
 
I therefore want my views to be documented for this plan to be reconsidered and for the plans to 
be revoked.  

P
age 435

https://www.salford.gov.uk/planning-building-and-regeneration/conservation-and-listed-buildings/salfords-heritage-assets/conservation-areas/roe-greenbeesley-green/


 

28 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

0403 Juliet Murray I am writing regarding the above and want to SUPPORT the above application to remove as a 
conservation the land off Greenleach Lane comprising of the Manthorpe Avenue Development 
 
I have lived here for 15 years and would like to add a single storey extension to my property but I 
am only allowed to build 3 meters out and must have a pitched roof and this is rather small and not 
worth my while 
 
I understand that there are over 400 signatures in protest of removing the conservation area and 
wondered if these 2 areas are being teated as one as I cannot see how the building of a small 
extension in my garden would affect the people who are petitioning 
 
If the conservation area is not lifted could any provision be made for the residents of Manthorpe 
Avenue to have the variation that it doesn’t apply to their gardens? 
 
Please can these points be addressed in the meeting on 23rd March 2018 and could you advise 
me accordingly 
 

0404 Paul Waite As a resident of (address redacted) Worsley M28 I am notifying you of my strong objections to 
remove the field at the bottom of Kempenough Hall Road which runs behind Crossfield Drive. This 
must remain part of the conservation area. Lots of families walk along this area with small children 
to get access to Worsley schools and parks and so if this area was taken off the conservation it 
would allow it to be open for development of new houses and access points to these new 
developments which would mean more danger for those walking and living in the area as well as 
lots more congestion. 
 
Equally the infrastructure and roads can’t cope with the current traffic flow, never mind any 
additional cars which again would present a greater danger to families and children.  
Worsley is a Green belt area which is why people pay premiums to live in the area. In my view the 
area is already over populated for be infrastructure which supports it.  
 

0405 Jonathan Wright I am writing to you to strongly reject the proposal for amending the conservation areas. I would like 
to reject to the proposal to remove the below highlighted areas in red being removed from the 
conservation area and and any further plans to reduce the conservation areas in Worsely .  

P
age 436



 

29 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

0406 Fiona & Wayne Flanagan 
 

We strongly object to any conservation areas being altered or removed from the Roe Green area 
of Worsley.  

0407 Mrs P Driscoll It has been brought to my attention that plans for the removal of conservation areas in Roe Green 
have been submitted with amendments. I am letting you know that I object to the removal of these 
such areas.  
 
I have lived in Roe Green for many years now and it having many conservation areas makes it 
what it is and a special place to live. I don’t understand why you would even be considering doing 
this? Why remove areas rather than add? I know there is a tiny pocket of houses you are thinking 
of adding but why remove?  
 
There have been talks of building houses on the 2 main sites or companies being given planning 
permission for this. Can you please confirm if this is part of the plan. If this is the case I’m sure it 
will be highly objected to.  
 
I feel that the removal of conservation areas will be detrimental to Roe Green. Myself and many 
others truly cannot understand why you would even consider this move other than for profit in 
some way. Removal of conservation status will be a sad loss to the area. 

0408 Steve Regan 
 

I object to building on green land near to me. I object as it will cause more traffic misery. As well as 
the environmental consequences 
 

0409 Mark Watts I have only just been alerted that Salford Council plan to make amendments to Roe Green 
Conservation Area, by removing some areas. And today is the final day for residents to send 
comments. 
 
Firstly, as a resident of Worsley/Roe Green I am shocked that I have NOT had any communication 
from the council about the proposed changes. 
 
Secondly, I strongly object to the changes. 
 
Finally I am seriously concerned by desire of Salford Council & Peel to build more houses of the 
beautiful green sites in and around Worsley/Broadoak/Roe Green. Traffic and pollution is awful in 
this area and more houses will only compound this. May I suggest that brownfield sites are used 

P
age 437



 

30 
 

Ref Respondent Representation 

for houses in Salford and there are proposals for a metrolink tram line to run down the Eastlancs 
Road or somewhere similar to improve traffic problems (the guided busway is just not good 
enough). 
 

0410 Mr D Driscoll I'm writing to object to the changes of conservation area in roe green, as of the map of the area 
the only few remaining green and woodland areas left in roe green bar the green itself you are 
planning to remove two of them from the conservation area one at the back of Manthorpe and the 
other a field at the back of the woods. Why would this be other than to better chances for future 
building applications. There is no other logical reason why the land would be removed, people are 
getting a bit tired of being walked over so developer's and the council can line their pockets  
Don't even start on the more affordable housing  
 

0411 Natural England Natural England does not consider that this Roe Green Beesley Green draft conservation area 
appraisal consultation poses any likely risk or opportunity in relation to our statutory purpose, and 
so does not wish to comment on this consultation.  
 

0412 Canal and River Trust The Canal and River Trust have considered the content of the document and have no comments 
to make in this case. This is because the Trust does not have any ownership within or close to the 
Roe Green/Beesley Green draft conservation area. 

   

 

P
age 438


	Agenda
	3a Roe Green / Beesley Green Conservation Area Appraisal.
	Appendix A LM report -Plan A – Proposed amendments to conservation area boundary Feb_March 2016y
	Appendix B LM report - Peel Holding's letter 2016
	Appendix C LM report - Plan B – Proposed revised conservation area boundary
	Appendix D LM report - Peel Holdings Representations 2018
	CIA Initial Screening 1
	FINAL CAA June 2019
	Map 1 - Existing conservation area boundary
	Map 2 - Location Plan
	Map 3 - 1764 map of Duke of Bridgewater's Estate
	Map 4 - 1848 Ordnance Survey map
	Map 5 - 1894 Ordnance Survey map
	Map 6 - 1909 Ordnance Survey map
	Map 7 - 1937 Ordnance Survey map
	Map 8 - 1970 Ordnance Survey map
	Map 9 - Historic Development
	Map 10 - Listed and Locally Listed Buildings and buildings that make a positive contribution
	Map 11 - Character areas
	Map 12 - Green spaces and key views
	Map 13 - Negative and neutral factors
	Consultation Statement June 2019
	Annexes A - E consultation statement
	Annex F Schedule of Reps 2016 consultation
	Annexes G - J Consultation Statement
	Annexes G - J Front Cover.pdf
	Annex G.pdf
	Annex G Consultation Statement.pdf
	ANNEX G190416 Consultees who submitted comments at previous stage.pdf
	ANNEX G 190416 Organisations or Individuals consulted from databasedocx.pdf

	Annex H front page.pdf
	Letter and plans merged.pdf
	Annex H Consultation letter 2018.pdf
	PLANS.pdf

	Annex I front cover.pdf
	Annex I - RoeGreen_poster Feb2018_v1.pdf
	Annex J front page.pdf
	Annex J - updated Web page.pdf

	Annex K Schedule of Reps 2018 consultation




